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Simonoff, Mark A (USUN) ~~LEASED IN PART TO CERTAIN PARTIESl 
jfL I 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 

Germain, Ellen J (USUN) 
Thursday, February 17, 2011 7:24 PM 
Sutphin, Paul A; Baily, Jess L; Naranjo, Brian A 
Simonoff, Mark A {USUN) 

Subject: FW: Request for a meeting: Ahmet Dogan, father of US citizen Furka!'I Dogan, killed in 
international waters in May 2010 aboard the Mavi Marmara 

Attachments: Dogan Letter and Enclosures to UN Liaison Kerry.pdf 

AttachmentsClassification: 
UNCLASSIFIED 

Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 

Paul, Jess, Brian, 

The father of the Turl<ish-American citizen killed in the Gaza flotilla incident will be ln NY and war~s to meet with someone 
from USUN. His lawyer. in the attached letter, says that Embassy Ankara refused to meet with h Im (there's an exchange 
of letters with Embassy Ankara in the attached package). He also apparently wants to meet with someone from the 
Department. 

Thanks very much, 
B ien 

This email is UNCLASSIFIED. 

I 

---· --- ---- ---------- ----------- - - - - -- --·-
from: Simonoff, Mark A (USUN) 
Sent: Thursday, February 17, 2011 4:05 PM 
To: Germain, Ellen J (USUN) 
Subject: FW: Request for a meeting: Ahmet Dogan, father of US citizen Furkan Dogan, killed In international waters in 
May 2010 aboard the Mavi Marmara 

Ellen, 

Here is the flotilla related meeting request. 

Many thanks. 

Best regards, 

Mark 

Mark A. Simonoff 

Acting Legal Adviser 
U.S. Mission to the United Nations 

799 United Nations Plaza 
New York, NY 10017 
(212)415-4220 [REVIEW AUTHORITY: Sharon Ahmad, Senior Revieweij 
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SBU 
This email is UNCLASSIFIED. 

Fton1: Kerry, Peggy 
Sent: Thursday, February 17, 2011 8:20 AM 
To: Simonoff, Mark A (USUN) 

---- -- - - ------- - ' --·- . - · 

Subject: FW: Request for a meeting: Ahmet Dogan, father of US citizen Furkan Dogan, killed in nternational waters in 
May 2010 aboqrd the Mavi Marmara 

!hanks, 
Peggy 

This email is UNCLASSIFIED. 

------ --------- - ·---
From: Katherine Gallagher [mailto:KGallagher@ccrjustice.org) 
Sent: Wednesday, February 16, 2011 6:38 PM 
To: Kerry, Peggy 
Subject: Request for a meeting: Ahmet Dogan, father of US citizen Furkan Dogan, killed in inte national waters in May 
2010 aboard the Mavi Marmara 

Dear Ms Kerry1 

Please find attached a letter sent on behalf of Abmet Dogan, the father ofFurkan Dogan, the 19-year old U.S. 
citizen killed in May 2010 in international waters, requesting a meeting wjtb you next w ek. Mr. Dogan will 
be travelling to the United States next week for the purpose of meeting with U.S. o 1cials to discuss his 
son's killing, and efforts to seek justice and accountability for Furkan's death. He i available to meet 
with you in New York on Thursday, February 24th. 

As I note in the attached letters, Mr. Dogan's efforts to secure a meeting with representa ives of the U.S. 
Embassy in Ankara, Turkey were unsuccessful, which is why he is travelling to Washin ton, D.C. to meet with 
officials here. Mr. Dogan is also seeking meetings in Washington, D.C. at the State De rtment and 
Department of Justice. 

Thank you for your assistance and I look forward to hearing from you. 

Sincerely, 

Katherine Gallagher 

2 
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KATHERINE GALLAGHER I SENIOR STAFFATIORNEY I 666BROADWAY, 7
1
l( FLOOR, NY, 

6455 If; 212-614-64991 

10012 IT: 212-614-

Tl<IS Mf.S.S.\<.;ECONJ'AINS CONFIDliNllAl.. INfORMATlON WJllO ·I M;<' 1iC LEC.\Ll,\" P11l\11~P.G£l1 ANl1 W~ll('.1115 lNJ"ENOliDt">Nl \' '}]( "11'1b USb Ol''n-11. AllDK.ESS(1'.~) 
NAMf.DAl!0\'1!. IF"l:OU AllE ~01 n u, tN11!NDl:P l:Frtl'n!N"TOFTnL~N"5SAG~. YOU Alll> MEJl~OY Nfl'llFIED 'fllA"r ,\N\' DISSEMINATIO N 0 ('()l'\'ING OE rill~ EMAii 1$ 

l'IU')IJ IHnFn. l fYOU llA\1' Rl;Cf1'"F.ll n us Mr.si.;.r;~ IN ~llNl•R, l'l.tA~' N(JTU·Y us llY ·n~,1,1•u0Nr" 

.J.. PLEASE CONSJOER THE ENVIFIONW£.NT DEFORE PAINTING THIS EMAIL 
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[RELEASED IN PARf85] 

Simonoff, Mark A CUSUN) 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

Mark __l 

Thx. Kevin 

Baumert, Kevin A 
Sunday, January 23. 2011 11 :38 AM 
Simonoff, Mark A (USUN) 
Re: Flotilla 

- Original Message --­
From: Simonoff. Mork A (USUNJ 
Sent: Sunday, January 23. 2011 10:03 AM 
To: Baumert. Kevin A 
Subject: Flotilla 

Hi Kevin, 

Are you planning to analyze LOS aspects of Israel's report on flotilla, in particular bloc kode aspects? 

Mork 

[REVIEW AUTHORITY: Sharon Ahmad, Senior Reviewed 
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UNCLASSIFIED U.S. Department of State Case No. F-2010-04163 Doc No. C05307593 Date: 05/03/2013 

jRELEASED IN PART BSI 

'Simonoff, Mark A USUN 

From: Balton, David A (OES) 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 

Categories: 

Tuesday, November 30, 2010 10:19 AM 
Cook, Nerissa J; Holt, Victoria K; Desjardins, Marc L 
Kim, Elizabeth AB (OES); Clune, Daniel A; Simonoff, Mark A (USUN 
RE: UNGA Oceans Resolution 

Working 

Yes. I'll stop by your office at 4: 15. 

Elizabeth- please come as well. 

From: C.ook, Nerissa J 
Sent: Tuesday, November 30, 2010 10:17 AM 
To: Balton, David A (OES); Holt, Victoria K; Desjardins, Marc L 
Cc: Kim, Elizabeth AB (OES); Clune, Daniel A; Simonoff, Mark A (USUN) 
Subject: f:lE: UNGA Oceans Resolution 

Dave: I have nonstop meetings until 4:15. Any possibility we could meet then 7 Nerissa 

SBU 

This email is UNCLASSIFIED _ _ _ ___ __________ _ 

From: Balton, David A (OES) 
Sent: Tuesday, November 30, 2010 9:32 AM 
To! Holt, Victoria K; Cook, Nerissa J; Desjardins, Marc L 
Cc: Kim, Elizabeth AB (OES); aune, Daniel A; Simonoff, Mark A (USUN) 
Subject: RE: UNGA Oceans Resolution 

Tori, Nerissa and Marc- I'm available this afternoon to chat any time 2-4. I'd b happy to swing by 
the 10 Front Office if that would make it easier. 

The slightly longer version of what is happening is this: 

Each year, the UNGA adopts a resolution on oceans and law of the sea. It's on of the longest 
UNGA resolutions every year. An informal negotiating group meets for two wee s each fall to 
hammer it out. OES sends two people typically; other agencies participate as w II. The US has 
always voted 1or the resolution; indeed, we usually co-sponsor. 

This year, Turkey proposed a paragraph using language from a recent Security ouncil resolution on 
the f lotilla incident. The US and others pushed back, saying that even though w agreed to similar 
language in the SC, we did not believe it was appropriate to include in this UNG resolution. Turkey 
withdrew the proposal. 

But there is at least a possibility that, when the UNGA votes on the resolution n xt Monday, Turkey 
will reintroduce it then. OES is t rying to clear an instruction l?Clble to USUN. Th draft cable says 

!REVIEW AUTHORITY: Sharon Ahmad, Senior Re~ 
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Dave 

PS for Marc - it's nice to be back in touch with you. 

From: Holt, Victoria K 
Sent: Monday, November 29, 2010 10>42 PM 
To: Batton, David A (OES); Cook, Nerissa J; Desjardins, Marc L 
Cc: Kim, Elizabeth AB (OES); Clune, Daniel A 
Subject: RE: UNGA Oceans Resolution 

David, 

Thanks for your message. I'm copying colleague DAS Nerissa Cook, who has more insight than I into OES issues, while I 
handle the Security Council and security issues. Let us know a bit more so we can work with yo 

Also copying Marc Desjardins who will know more about the flotilla angle. 

Tomorrow afternoon is better than the a.m. 
Thanks 
Tori 

Victoria K. Holt 
Deputy Assistant Secretary 
Bureau of International Organization Affairs 
US State Department 
2201 C Street, NW 

Washington, DC 2052(}-6319 
tel: 202.647.9604 I fax: 202.736.4116 

This email is UNCLASSIAED _________________ _ 
From: Balton, David A (OES) 
Sent: Monday, November 29, 2010 3:32 PM 
To: Holt, Victoria K 
Cc: Kim, Elizabeth AB (OES); Clune, Daniel A 
Subject: UNGA Oceans Resolution 

2 
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Victoria, 

Do you have a few minutes tomorrow (Tues) morning to chat about a UNGA reso ution on oceans 
and law of the sea? As you may have heard, there is a small chance that Turkey will seek to amend 
the resolution on the floor of the UNGA next week to introduce language on the fl tilla incident. At 
least OES, 10 and NEA should come to agreement on how to handle that eventu lity. I'd like to 
discuss this with you briefly. 

Many thanks, 

David Balton 
OAS for Oceans and Fisheries 
OES 

3 
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w UNCLASSIFIED U.S. Department of State Case No. F-2010-04163 Doc No. C05307590 Date: 05/0 . ..=:3/:..::2:.::.0..:.;13::.......--• , 

Slmonoff, Mark A (USUN) 
[REillseo tNPART es! 

From: Kim, Elizabeth AB (OES) 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

Categories: 

Thanks, Mark. 

Monday, November 22, 2010 4:36 PM 
Simonoff, Mark A (USUN) 
RE: Flotilla in Oceans Resolution 

Working 

From: Simonoff, Mark A (USUN) 
Sent: Friday, November 19, 2010 12:32 PM 
To: Kim, Elizabeth AB (OES) 
Cc: Masilko, Samara J {USUN); Germain, Ellen J (USUN) 
Subject: Flotilla in Oceans Resolution 

Elizabeth, 

I discussed flotilla with our front office. Here's USUN's view: 

2. 

The following people should clear the contingency guidance (with the EOV). 

10/UNP: Ken Zurcher 

USUN/W: Warren Bass 
NEA/IPA: Paul Sutphin (office director) 

SEMEP: Sahar Khoury-Kincannon 

Please let me know if you have any questions. 

Mark 

Mark A. Simonoff 
Acting Legal Adviser 

U.S. Mission to the United Nations 

799 United Nations Plaza 

New York, NY 10017 
(212)415-4220 

!REVIEW AUTHORITY: Sh~on Ahmad, Senior Reviewerj 

SBU 
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1 This email is UNCLASSIFIED. 
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!RELEASED IN PART B~ 

Simonoff, Mark A (USUN) 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 

Subject: 

Categories: 

From: Daley, John 0 

Jacobson, Linda 
Thursday, October 14, 2010 3:36 PM 
Daley, John D; Kim, John J (Kimm); Johnson, Karen K; Joyce, Anne 
Buchwald, Todd F; Simonoff, Mark A (USUN); Townley, Stephen G: Schwartz, Jonathan B; 
Perina, Alexandra H 
RE: flotilla incident - Comoros-flagged vessel ? 

Working 

Sent: Thursday, October 14, 2010 3:31 PM 
To: Kim, John J (Kimm); Johnson, Karen K; Jacobson, Linda; Joyce, Anne 
Cc: Buchwald, Todd F; Simonoff, Mark A (USUN); Townley, Stephen G; Schwartz, Jonathan B; Pei na, Alexandra H 
Subject: flotilla incident - Comoros-flagged vessel ? 

John/Karen -

The press is reporting today that lawyers for the families of those killed by Israeli forces in conne tion with the Flotilla 
, incident this sprin2 have s.ent a letter to the ICC Prosecutor urging him to take action.I 

L 
Thanks. 

!REVIEW AUTHORITY: Sharon Ahmad, Senior ReVlewerl 
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UNCLASSIFIED U.S. Department of State Case No. F-2010-04163 Doc No. C05307567 Date: 05/03/2013 - - -

[@@SEO IN PART esj 

Simonoff, Mark A (USUN) 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 

Subject: 

Categories: 

jon 

From: Daley, john D 

Schwartz, Jonathan B 
Thursday, October 14, 2010 3:43 PM 
Daley, John D: Kim, John J (Klmrn); Johnson, Karen K; Jacobson, Lini a; Joyce, Anne 
Buchwald, Todd F: Sirnonoff, Mark A (USUN); Townley, Stephen G; P~rina, Alexandra H; 
Gorove, Katherine M; Banos, Mariano H 
RE: flotilla incident -- Comoros-flagged vessel ? 

Working 

Sent: Thursday, October 14, 2010 3:31 PM 
To: Kim, John J (Kimm); Johnson, Karen K; Jacobson, Linda; Joyce, Anne 
Cc: Buchwald, Todd F; Simonoff, Mark A (USUN); Townley, Stephen G; Schwartz, Jonathan B; PE rina, Alexandra H 
Subject: flotilla incident -- Comoros-flagged vessel ? 

John/Karen -

The press is reporting today that lawyers for the families of those killed by Israeli forces in conni ction with the Flotilla 

incident this spring have sent a letter to the ICC Prosecutor urging hitn to take action. I 

Thanks. 

[!!fuEW AUTHORITY: Sharon Ahmad, Senior Reviewerj 
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Simonoff Mark A USUN 
[RELEASED IN PART "B5J 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 

Anderson, Brooke 0 (USUN) 
Tuesday, October 12, 2010 6:25 PM 
Simonoff, Mark A (USUN) 

Cc: 
Subject: 

Categories: 

Swiney, Gabriel; Germain, Ellen J (USUN); Masilko, Barbara J (USU 
RE: Kuwait attack on Israel in Sixth Committee Rule of Law Debate 

Working 

From: Simonoff, Mark A (USUN) 
Sent: Tuesday, October 12, 2010 5:31 PM 
To: Anderson, Brooke D (USUN) 
Cc: Swiney, Gabriel; Germain, Ellen J (USUN); Masilko, Barbara J (USUN) 
Subject: Kuwait attack on Israel in Sixth Committee Rule of Law Debate 

Brooke, 

During the Sixth Committee Rule of Law debate this afternoon, Kuwait just made an extensive st tement critical of 

Israel, calling the attack on the Turkish flotilla illegal, calling for return of Golan Heights to Syria, 1mong other things. 
Israel plans to exercise its right of reply. 

~~- ~~~ ~~ 

Best regards, 

Mark 

Mark A. Simonoff 
Acting legal Adviser 

U.S. Mission to the United Nations 
799 United Nations Plaza 
New York, NV 10017 
(212)415-4220 

SBU 
This email is UNCLASSIFIED. 

(REVfEw AUTHORITY: Sharon Ahmad, Senior Revieweti 
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~ELEASED IN PART Baj 

Simonoff, Mark A USUN 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

Gorove, Katherine M 
Friday, November 30, 2012 10:38 AM 
Simonoff, Mark A (USUN); Hill, Steven (USUN); Schwartz, Jonathan ; Jacobson, Linda 
Turkel Commission? 

Hi all,I has been asked to meet next week with the Coordinator for the Isteli Public 
Commission to Examine the Maritime incident of 31May2010 (the Turkish flotilla), hea ed by Justice (ret.) 
Jacob Turkel. Apparently, members of the Commission are meeting with international la scholars to enhance 
the public profile of the report and provide more details about the report, its operative onclusion and 
suggested reforms. She would like to know if the USG has any visibility into their report? o any of you know if 
someone is fQllowillg the Commission closely? Ideally, she would like to speak informally with whoever ows the status/likely 
conclusions of the report or to receive some informal guidance from us. She needs lo decide today if she w· I accept the meeting. 

Thanks, Kate 

From: Hoshea Goulieb I 
Sent: 11/20/2012 01:26 ~..,.......,.Z .... E"'2 ___ _ _ __, 
To: [ =:=.l 
Subject: Turkel Ci:lmmission upcoming Report 

Dear Professorl 
~--~ 

I hope this note finds you well. My name is Hoshea Gottlieb and I serve as the Coordina or forthe Israeli Public 
Commission to Examine the Maritime incident of 31 May 2010 (the Turkish flotllla), hea ed by Ju!i1:ice (ret.) 
Jacob Turkel. 

The Commission was established in June 2010, and was asked to examine several issue inter alia, the Gaza 
blockade and the IDF interdiction of the Turkish flotilla, as well as "whether the mecha ism for examining and 
investigating complaints and claims raised in relation to violations of the laws of armed onflict, as conducted 
in Israel generally, and as implemented with regard to the present incident (the Turkish flotilla], conform with 
the obligations of the State of Israel under the rules of international law". 

In January 2011 the Commission tabled its First Report, considering the Gaza blockade nd the IDF naval 
interdiction of the Turkish flotilla. That Report was largely adopted by the UN Review P nel, headed by Sir 
Geoffrey Palmer and by other International bodies. 

Currently, the Commission is completing its Second Report concerning investigation of ~lleged LOAC\IHL 
violations. The Report will be published in Mid December or January. The Report first o~tlines t he normative 
framework governing the issues according to the relevant bodies of international law. he Commission further 
conducted a comparative survey of the examination and investigation mechanisms of s x other countries (USA, 
Canada, Australia, UK, Germany, and the Netherlands), the conclusions of which are prisented in the report. 
The Report also details the relevant Israeli examination and investigat ion mechanisms, hot only of t he IOF, but 
also of other security branches, including the Israel Police, the Israeli General Security 4gency (the Shin Bet) 
and the Lsrael Prison Service, as well as the different mechanisms to investigate allegatrns leveled at senior 

decision-makers. Finally, the Commission compares the Israeli practices and policies wirh the identified 

!REVIEW AUTHORITY: Sharon Ahmad~nior Reviewerj 
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UNCLASSIFIED U.S. Department of State Case No. F-2010-04163 Doc No. C05307564 Date: 05/03/2013 --• 

int~rnational legal principles as well as with the accepted approaches in the countries suLyed and, where 
necessary, recommended changes and amendments to the prevailing Israeli system. 

The information in the Report was collected from government officials, Israeli human rig ts groups and Israeli 
academics, who both testified before the Commission and submitted written submission . The Commission's 
work was further assisted at different stages by many international scholars, including th Commission's 
international observers: lord David Trimble, Brigadier-General (Ret.} Kenneth Watkin an~ Professor Tim 
McCormack, as well as by Professors Mike Schmitt, Gaby Blum, and Claus KreB. Professo~ Sean Watts, Captain 

(Navy) (Ret.) Holly McDougal, Professors Peter Rowe, Wolff Heintschel von Heinegg, anjTerry Gill prepared 
the- country reports. 

Much work was invested in this Report and it aspires to be a meaningful and influential ocument that will 

make an impact both domestically and globally. In an effort to enhance the public profil1of the report, I am 
planning to meet a few leading international scholars with an interest in accountability echanisms, to 
provide more details about the report, its operative conclusion and suggested reforms. 

I've consulted wlthl -- Who holds very high regard for your work an your influence in the 86 
relevant international legal spheres. He suggested that I contact you in order to meet an brief you on the 
work we've done. 

I plan to be in NYC during the week of 2 December (accept for one day that I would like o be in DC). I would 
be delighted to meet with you and present more details about the upcoming Report, if ou have any interest 
and time in doing so. Should you be interested to schedule such a meeting, please cont ct me at this email 
address or if you prefer I can be reached at~ I 
Best, 

Hoshea Gottlieb, 

Turkel Commission Coordinator 

-----Original Message-----

From: '=--=--=-~--:c~--:---c=-,,--==-=,---:::---=--=---,--~--~__J 
Sent: Friday, November 30, 2012 7:36 AM 
To: Koh, Harold Hongju; Perina, Alexandra H; Gorove, Katherine M 
Subject: Turkel Conun 

Harold, AP, Kate --
2 
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I am supposed to be meeting with someone from the Turkel Comm•n next wee 
their forthcoming report . Does the USG have any visibility into this pr 
they are producing? If so, it would be very helpful for me to speak to 
background on this, if that is possible. 

Many thanks, and all the best, 

3 
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Delaurentis, Jeffrey 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: · 
Subject: 

Categories: 

!RELEASED IN PART BSI 

Mcleod, Mary E (USUN) 
Thursday, June 03, 2010 8:02 PM 
Germain, Ellen J (USUN) 
Delaurentis, Jeffrey 
RE: TOR for UN investigation 

Working 

And yet more. 
'--~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~---' 

From: Mcleod, Mary E (USUN) 
Sent: Thursday, June 03, 2010 7:41 PM 

Terms of Reference 

The Commission's tasks are: 

[REVIEW AUTHORITY: Sharon Ahmad, Senior Reviewerj 
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UN CONFIDENTIAL . . 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 
_ ---· - --· of the 
The Seeretary-General's Panel of Inquiry on the 31 May 2010 Flotill'll lflcldent 

Establish~ent of panel - I . 
1. In the light of the Statement of the Ptesident of the Security Council dateJ 1 ·June 

201 O (S/PRST/2010/9), the Secretary-General.has established a. panel off inquiry on 
the incident that occurred on 31 May 201 O in international Waters, in which an Israel! 

· military operation was conducted ~gainst a convoy sailing t.o Gaza and which 
resulted in the death of. nine civilians. . . T 

I 
' 

Tasks ~EASED IN PART I 
2 The panel: 

. I 

(a) ~ill. receive and review Interim and finaJ reports of national investigati~ns into the 
incident; . · 

1 

(b) may r~quest such clarifications and inf~rmation as it may require fron'i relevant 
national authorities. · I -

I 3. In the light of the information so gathered, the panel will: 
. ,. 

(a) examine and identify the_facts, circumstances and context of the inclpent; an~ 
I 

(b) consider and suggest ·ways of avoiding similar incigents In the future~ 

4. The panel ·will prepare a report including its f~s, c~ol")s and ; 
recommendations and submit it to the Secretary·Generat. . 

I 

I Composition of the panel 

------

5. The panel, to be appointed by_the Secretary General, will be composed:of a Chair, a 
Vice-Chair and one member each from Israel and Turkey, with recognizrd and 
relevant ,expertise. 

1 
' 

Time Frame 

I 
6. The panel will hold its first meeting on 10 August 2010 at United Nations 

Headquarters in New York. It will hold such further meetings as required in order to 
submit a preliminary report within three months. The panel will submit ib final report 
to the Secretary-General no later than three months after submission-of the 
preliminary report. This timeline may be adjusted by the Secretary-General 
depending on the progress of the panel's work. I 

Location 
. I 

I 
7. The panel will be based at United Nations Headquarters In New York I 

Secretarial 

UN CONFIDENTIAL 

!REVIEW AUTHORITY: Sharon Ahmad, Senior Revieweij 
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I 
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I 

UN CONFIDENTIAL 

8. The UN Secretariat will provide secretariat services for the panel. 

Dated: XX XXXX 2010 

Place: New York 

I 

I 

Vijay Nambiar 1 

Chet de Cabinet ·r 
Executive Office of the Secretary-General 

- United Nations / 

UN CONFIDENTIAL 

I 

· 1 

I 
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:J;J UN CONFIDENTIAL 

METHOD OF WORK ! 
of the I 

Secretary General's Panel of Inquiry on the 31 May 2010 Aotilla lnc!dent 
I 
I 
I 

. I 

. I 
1.. The panel will receive and review copies of the· natlonal investigations intoi the 

Incident from Israel and Turkey. I · 

2. Where the panel considers that it requires further information, olarit'icat;on~ or . 
meetings from lsraet and/or Turkey, it will make such request to the point$ of contact 
designated by those States. · . . I . 

. . I 
3. Where the panel considers it necessary to obtain information from other affected 

States, it may request such infonnation through appropriate diplomatic channels. 

4. The panel will .:O..ouct its work In a prompt, Impartial, credible and tran~e;J~----~ 
manner, in COnfOTlTlity with international Standard$. . I J 

5. The report and any ~g~~s and recomme~dations it may c~ntain are to 
be agreed by consenSus.'Where the members of the panel are unable tq reach . 
agreement on any element of the report or its findings, conclusions or • · 
recommendations, the Chair and Vice-Chair will use. their best efforts ~9>secure 
consensus among the members of the panel regarding that element(firv:J)ng;~ - - · 
c~n or recorrimendation. Wh.efe1 despite the best efforts of thectiairiind . f 
\nce-=Chair, it is not possible to achiev~con~nsus among the members bt the panel i' 
on a particular element or {inding, CQ.t!.cJusio . or recommendation, the Chair and 
Vice-Chair will agree oil an~ch ele1'iiem; finding, conclusion or recommendation in r 
the report. - . · · I · _.;..---1 . 

I 
5. The UN Secretariat will provide secr~tariat services to lhe panel and will !arrange for 

the provision of necessary administrative, logistic and ~ecurity support, iiilcluding 
transportation and accommodation. I 

6. The Archives and Records Management Section will prov.Ide records-m~nagement . 
support to .the paner. I 

. . I 

7 .. The re?ort of the panel shall be designated unclassified. The panel ma~ attach 
co11fidential annexes to its report. . I · 

. I 
8. The panel shall take the necessary steps to ensure that all documents and materials 

provided to it on the understanding of confidentiality are marked "third party 
confidentiar· and that ari necessary measures are taken to safeguard thf ir 
confidentiality. . 

I 

'REViEW- AUTHORITY: Sharon Ahmad, Senior Re'Vieweij 

UN CONFIDENTIAL 

• I 

UNCLASSIFIED U.S. Department of State Case No. F-2010-04163 Doc No. C05307503 Date: 05/03/2013 

85 



StateDept004616

UNCLASSIFIED U.S. Department of State Gase No. F-2010-04163 Doc No. C05307500 Date: 05/03/2013 
I 
I 

RELEASED IN PART 
85 

1. 2-719\z.o~ 
UN CONFIDENTIAL I . . . 

TERMS OF REFER.ENCE ., 
· ofthe 

1 
The Secretary-General 's Panel of lnq4iry on the 31 May 2010 f=lotilla lflcident 

I 
Establishment of panel · 

1. In the light of the Statement of the President of the Security Council dated ' e 
2010 (S/PRST/201019), the Secretary-General has estab!ished a ane of roqui n 
the incident that occurreq. con 3'! May 2010 in '.intemational wate involving jan ~r:aeli 

~r::v- ooeration.aaaio.stla .convov saOina o . unna_. . . J 
Tasks :; 

2 Tne p~ne!; 

(a} will receive and review interim and final .reports of national investigatio~s into the 
incident; 1 

I 
I 

(b) may request such clarifications and information as it may ·require from ·rrf(!vant 
national authorities. . · 

I 
3. In the iight·of the inf.ormation so gathered, the panel will: ! 

(a). examine and.identify th~ facts, circumsta~~ a11d context of the incide~t; and 

(b) consider and recommend ways of avoiding similar incidents in the futu~. · r===: 1· 

4. Tlle panel ·will· prepare ~ report includin.g its findings and recommendations] and 
submit it to the S~etary-General. I 1 

I 

C~tnposftion of the panel : 

5. The pane"1: to be appointed b; the Sec;retary General, will be composed of k _Chair, a 
. Vice-Chair and one member each from Israel and Turkey, '!Vith recognized iand 
relevant expertise. 1 

I 

Time Frame ) 

6. The panel will hold its first meeting on 10 August 2010 at United Nations ~ 
Headquarters in New York It will hold such further rneetings_ as required i~ ·order to 
submit a progress report within three rnonths·. The .panel will submit its final report to 
the Secretary-General no tater than three months after submission of the _progress 
report This timeline may ·be adjusted by the Secretary-General depending on the 
pro·gress of the panel's work. 

Location 

7. The pa_nel will be based at United Nationi; Headquarters in N~w York. 

Secretariat 

fREVl EW AUTHORITY: Sharon Ahmad, Senior Reviewe~ 
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8. The UN Secretariat will provide secretariat services for ·the panel. 

Dated: XX XXX:X 2010 

' 1· 
' 

Vijay Nambiar 1 

Chef de Cabinet · 1 

Executive Office of the Secretary-Oe~eraf . 
United Natiohs 

_,. . ·~.: 
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I 

=+ ir-110 UN CONFIDENTIAL 

· TERMS OF REFERENCE RELEASED IN PART 

i-- The Secretary-General's Pan :r:-~n the 31 M:: 2010 Flotilla l~cident ~ 

Establishment ~f panel ~'-----~------....-~-------.-J 
1. In the light of the Statement of the Preside:nt of the ~~uncil dated ~ June . 

201 O (S/PRST/2010/9), the Secretary-General-has establishecfa,panel of inquiry on 
. the incident that occurred on 3,1 May 20l01il international waters 'involving !a convoy 
saillng to Gaza. U I ' 

Tasks· l . 
2 The panel: 

I 
(a) will receive and review interim and final reports of national investigatio1s into the 

. incident; _ . · , 

(b} may request such clarifications and information as it may require from ~etevatif 
national authortties. · I 

3, In the light of the lnfonTiatiqn so gathered, the panel will: , 

(a) examine and.identify the fa~s. cir~urristan~s. and conte~ of the inc~d~nt; and 
. . . I 

(b} consider and recommend ways of avoiding similar incide.nts in the Mur~. · 
, - I 

4. Tlie. panel will prepare a report in'cluding its findings and recommendation~ and 
submit it to the Secretary~Genera1. 

. I 
Composition of the panel 

s: The panel, to be appointed by the Secretary General; will be composed ofla Chair, a 
Vice-Chair and one member each from Israel and Turkey, with recognized! and 
relevant eicpertise_ . 

. j 

Time Frame I 

. . I 
6. The panel will hold its first meeting on 10 August 2010 at United N~tions , 

Headquarters in New York. It will hold such further meetings at United Nations 
Headquarters in· New York as required. The panel will submit a progress ~eport 
within three months and thereafter as necessary. The panel will strive to submit its 
final report to the Secretary-General within six months taking into account ~he 

· progress of the national investigations. This tfmeline may be adjusted by the 
Secretary-General depending on the progress of the panel's work. 1 

. I 
Location 

7. The panel will be based at United Nations Headquarters in New York. 

Secretariat 

UN CONFIDENTIAL 
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8. The UN Secretariat will provide ~ecretariat services for the panel. 

r" 

Dated: XX XXXX 2010 

Place: New Yori< · 

Vijay Nambiar 
Chef.de Cabinet 
. Executive Office of the Secretary-Ge~eral 
United Nations 1 
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UN CONFIDENTIAL I 

1::LEASED IN PART I 
~!=THOO·~WORK . . . I . 

. · '/.-; of the, '\ · 
Secretary Generars Panel · f tnquiry .o 'J~ 31 May 2010 f:lotilla lnci · ent 

~ 
1. The panel will receive and review copies of the national investigations into the 

incident from Israel and Turkey. I . I 

2. Where the panel considers that it requires further information, clarfficationslor 
meetings from Israel and/or Turkey, it will make such request to the points pf contact 

. · _designated by tho.se S!ates. . I~ j 
I 3 .. ~ere t~e panel considers it necessary to obtain inf~mnation from other affected 
~te~;, irl'T}av requ~~ such information through ~ppropriate diplomatic channels. 

4. The panel will condu.ct its work In a prompt, impartial, credible and transp~ 
manner, in confonnity with international standa.rds. 

I 

5. The panel is to operate by consensus and the findings of the report and a11y 
recommendations it may contain are to be agreed by consensus. Where the 
members ofthe panel are unable to reach agreement o·n a procedural iss~e or on 
any finding or recommendation, the Chair and Vice-Chair will use their best efforts to 
try to secure consensus among the members of the panel ori th~t pr9cedural issue. 
finding or recommendation. Where, despite the best efforts ofthe Chair and Vice­
Chair, it is not possible to achieve cpnsensus amc:>ng the members of the panel on a 
particular procedural issue, finding or recommendation. the Chair and Vij-Chair will 
agree on that procedural issue, finding or recommendation. · . · 

I ' 
I 

6. The UN Secretariat will provide secretariat services to the panel and will arrange for 
the provision. of necessary admlryisfrafive, logistic and' security suppott, inqluding 
transportation and accommodation. · I 

7. )he Archives and R~cords Management Section will.provide records-man'agement 
support I? the pai:iel. I 

I 

8. The report of the panel shall be designated uncla~sified. The panel may attach 
confident.ial annexes to ~ts report. · · I 

. I 
9. The panefshall take. the necessary. steps to ensure that all documents an~ materials 

provided to it on the understanding of confidentiality are marked 'third part'f 
confidential" and that all necessary measures are taken to safeguard their 
confidentiality. I 
. I 
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Luther, Lorre M 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 

[RELEASED IN FULQ 

Townley, Stephen G 
Tuesday, July 13, 2010 8:38 AM 
Buchwald, Todd F; Daley, John D; Schwartz, Jonathan B 
Jacobson, Linda; Dolan. JoAnn 
Malaysia !CJ/flotilla 

Harold asked this morning whether we had heard the latest on the Malaysian effort in the UNGA. Does this have legs? 

Many thanks, Stephen 

[REVIEW AUTHORITY: Sharon Ahmad, Senior Reviewerj 
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:RELEASED IN FULL! 

Luther, Lorre M 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 

Cc: 
Subject: 

Zelinsky, Aaron 
Thursday, April 07, 2011 11 :51 AM 
Koh, Harold Hongju; Schwartz, Jonathah B; Biniaz, Susan N; Mcleod, Mary; Thessin, James 
H 
Townley, Stephen G; Spector, Phil lip M; Pozen. David 
Mary Davis Report 

The Davis Report on Cast Lead was cited by Goldstone in his Oped as the critical report which influenced his 
thinking: 

"The final report by the U.N. committee of independent experts - chaired by former New York judge Mary 
McGowan Davis - that followed up on the recommendations of the Goldstone Report has found that "Israel 
has dedicated significant resources to investigate over 400 allegations of operational misconduct in Gaza" while 
"the de facto authorities (i.e., Hamas) have not conducted any investigations into the launching ofrocket and 
mortar attacks against Israel." 

Davis has said that Goldstone's oped has no influence on her report, which was submitted to the HRC last 
month. 

The Davis Report favorably mentions the Turkel Comrrussion Report on the flotilla (see paragraph 38-39), for 
showing that "Israel does have a mechanism for carrying out inquiries into decisions and policies adopted by 
high-level officials" 

The full text of the Davis report is here: 
http://www2.ohcbr.org/english/bodies/hrcouncil/docs/l 6session/ A.HRC.16.24 AUV .pdf 

Aaron 

This email is UNCLASSIFIED. 
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Q: Flotillas ofvessels sponsored by a variety of groups, including some like 
IHH with terrorist links, continue to try to break Israel's security blockade of 
Gau. We all remember the tragic events with the Mavi Marmara last May. 
What is your assessment of the current efforts to break the blockade set for 
the anniversary of these events? What is the United States doing to prevent 
another tragedy? 

A: We are closely monitoring the planned Mavi Marmara incident "anniversary 
flotilla." We currently understand that the next Gaza flotilla is being organized by 
several different groups, including IHH, the Gaza Freedom Flotilla, U.S. Ship to 
Gaza, and others. They could be organizing around 15 or more ships to sail from 
various ports on May 15 with plans to rendezvous in the Mediterranean and then 
arrive in Gaza around May 30. 

We are currently reviewing our options to avoid another deadly confrontation like 
the one last May. We will be urging all flotilla participants to utilize existing 
mechanisms to deliver goods to Gaza, partner countries to take any necessary 
measures to ensure the safety of their citizens, and urging all parties to avoid 
violence at all costs. 

As we have made clear in the past, mechanisms exist for the transfer of 
humanitarian assistance to Gaza. These non-provocative and non-confrontational 
mechanisms should be the ones used for the benefit of all those in Gaza. Direct 
delivery by sea is neither appropriate nor responsible, and certainly not effective, 
under the circumstances. 

All cargo bound for Gaza, including those delivered by ship, need to be inspected 
to protect Israel ' s security from illegal arms smuggling to terrorist groups. 
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-Luther, Lorre M 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

[RELEASED IN FULL) 

Townley, Stephen G 
Tuesday, July 06, 2010 12:16 PM 
Khan, Naveed J 
RE: flotilla meeting next Thursday 

Pis try to find time other than Friday as Jon is out Friday and he's key. Thanks, Stephen 

From: Khan, Naveed J 
Sent: Tuesday, Juty 06, 2010 12:07 PM 
To: Townley, Stephen G 
Subject: FW: flotilla meeting next Thursday 

Shall I move this ta Friday at 4:30? 

·--·- - --- - -·---- -- - ------------ --·- ----- - -- -----~---- ----------

From: Wright, Elizabeth B 
Sent: Tuesday, July 06, 2010 8:35 AM 
To: Khan, Naveed J; Townley, Stephen G; Jacobson, Linda; Dolan, JoAnn; Schwartz, Jonathan B; Banos, Mariano H; 
Gorove, Katherine M; Cleveland, Sarah H; Pomper, Stephen E; Perina, Alexandra H 
Cc: Chabora, Paige E 
Subject: RE: flotilla meeting next Thursday 

I'll note it on Jonathan's Schedule, 

From: Khan, Naveed J 
Sent: Thursday, July 01, 2010 11:15 AM 
To: Townley, Stephen G; Jacobson, Linda; Dolan, JoAnn; Schwartz, Jonathan B; Banos, Mariano H; Gorove, Katherine M; 
develand, Sarah H; Wright, Elizabeth B; Pomper, Stephen E; Perina, Alexandra H 
Cc: Chabora, Paige E 
Subject: RE: flotilla meeting next Thursday 

I have 4:00 pm available on Thursday, July ffh. Let me know If it is ok. Thank you. 

Naveed 

from: Townley, Stephen G 
Sent: Thursday, July 01, 2010 11:11 AM 
To: Jacobson, Linda; Dolan, JoAnn; Sctiwartz, Jonathan B; Banos, Mariano H; Gorove, Katherine M; Cleveland, Sarah H; 
Khan, Naveed J; Wright, Elizabeth B; Pamper, Stephen E; Perina, Alexandra H 
Cc: Chabora, Paige E 
Subject: flotilla meeting next Thursday 

Naveed, c:ould yoLJ please help us find an hour to meet with HHK next Thursday to discuss next steps? Thanks, Stephen 

ll_!_~VIEW AUTHORITY: Sharon Ahmad, Senior Re~ie~E!~ 
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Luther, Lorre M 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 

[RELEASED IN ~ 

Townley, Stephen G 
Tuesday, July 20, 2010 3:19 PM 
Schwartz, Jonathan B; Dolan, JoAnn 
Gorove, Katherine M 
RE: flotilla-gram 

So we can push back on this perhaps, but the Secretariat is actually asking if there's any way we could produce the paper 

tomorrow night. I think they are aware of the possible Strip Harold referenced this morning and are wondering if this 

could be produced before then. We can engage f urther to see about deadlines, but there is definitely interest in moving 

this forward soon. Thanks, Stephen 

From: Schwartz, Jonathan B 
Sent: Tuesday, July 20, 2010 2:58 PM 
To: Townley, Stephen G; Dolan, JoAnn 
Cc: Gorove, Katherine M 
Subject RE: flotilla-gram 

Linda Jacobson did a draft on Friday and Kate is p lanning to jazz it up when she finishes her sanctions conference today; 

then l/PM and others might be asked to look at particular pieces. So we may have something for Harold to look at later 

this week. But it would be useful if you have any further insights into what the clients think Harold has promised. 

From: Townley, Stephen G 
Sent: Tuesday, July 20, 2010 2:16 PM 
To: Schwartz, Jonathan B; Dolan, JoAnn 
Subject: fiotllla-gram 

Jon and JoAnn, I thihk I may have overheard some discussion prior to the OPEC meeting of the flotilla paper. The Line 

has said that senior clients are quite interested (and aspirationally had noted in their system that they might get the 

paper today). So I just thought I would check on where this stood and whether there was anything I could do. Since 

neither O nor 5 is here this week, not sure it's urgent that it go up in the next few days, but maybe we could aim for by 

the end of the week so that it's ready when clients return next week? Thanks, Stephen 

lfu@[Ew AUTHORITY: Sharon Ahmad, Senior Revieweij 
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Luther, Lorre M 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

That would be great. 

(RELEASED IN FULL! 

Townley, Stephen G 
Friday, July 23, 2010 4:00 PM 
Schwartz, Jonathan B; Cleveland, Sarah H 
Re: L Note Due to Executive Secretary Today 

From: Schwartz, Jonathan B 
To: Townley, Stephen G; Cleveland, 5arah H 
Sent: Fri Jul 23 15:57:39 2010 
Subject: RE: L Note Due to Executive Secretary Today 

Stephen - I sent a message to Harold last night suggesting this be deferred but have not heard back. Should I call 
someone in S/S to explain the situation? 

From: Townley, Stephen G 
Sent: Friday, July 23, 2010 3:56 PM 
To: Cleveland, Sarah H; Schwartz, Jonathan 8 
Subject: Fw: L Note Due to Executive Secretary Today 
Importance: High 

Sorry to ask, but do we know if Harold managed to get this postponed until next week? 

From: Mills, Pamela G 
To: Townley, Stephen G; Williams, Veronica 
Cc: S_SpecialAsslstants 
Sent: Fri Jul 23 15:54:20 2010 
Subject: L Note Due to EXecutive Secretary Today 

Dear L Colleagues, 

We have not been able to reach you on the phone today, and have not seen any response from you on the high side to 
the list of paper due. S staff is looking to receive the L note on the flotilla today. 

Please call or e-mail the Line to advise us of the paper's status. 

Best wishes, 

Pamela 

Pamela G. Mills 
Executive Secretariat 
ext. 7-8542 

JREVIEW AUTHORITY: Sharon Ahmad, Senior Reviewed 

UNCLASSIFIED U.S. Department of State Case No. F-2010-04163 Doc No. C05329924 Date: 05/2112013 



UNCLASSIFIED U.S. Department of State Case No. F-2010-04163 Doc No. C05329862 Date: 05/21/2013 

[RELEA~ED IN PART BS,NRj 

United States Department of State 

Washington, D.C 20520 

SENSITIVE BUT UNCLASSIFIED August 30, 2010 

INFORMATION MEMO FOR THE SECRET ARY 

FROM: 10 - Esther Brimmer 
DRL - Michael Posner 
L - Harold Hongju Koh 

SUBJECT: United Nations Human Rights Council 15tli Session Preview 

The UN Human Rights Council (HRC) will hold its 15th regular session in Geneva 
from September 13 to October I, 20 I 0. As with previous sessions, we are 
lobbying select governments to obtain their views and support on our priorities 
(see Tab). Top U.S. priorities include: 

SENSITIVE BUT UNCLASSIFIED 

[REVIEW AUTHORITY: Sharon Ahmad, Senior Reviewerj 
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SENSITIVE BUT UNCLASSIFIED 

NR 

(5) Limitation of HRC action on Israel. B!: 

NR 

Attachment: 

[~_ 
NR 

SENSITIVE BUT UNCLASSlFIED 
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Approved: 10/FO: £Brimmer 
DRL/FO: MPosner 
L/PO: HKoh 

Drafted: lO/HR: GPatel, ext. 73902 and cell: (301) 509-9571 

Cleared: 
D(S): MAshraf (OK-provisional) 
D(L): SCarlYoder (OK) 
P: MCarpenter (OK) 
SIP: CPowel! (OK) 
G: ERichardson (OK) 
10/FO: GAnderson 
10/FO: SNosse! 
IO/HR: JLaperm (OK) 
JO/HR: MHonigstein (OK) 
10/MPR: LSpratt (OK) 
DRL/MLGA: SChase (OK) 
UHRR: EAswad/EWoodhouse ~ wants FO approval 

I L:RHarris (QK) 

NENIPA: JDoutrich (OK) 
AF/RSA: LDees (OK) 
WHNPPC: PReilly (OK) 
S/OWI: SKotok (OK) 
USUN/W: EBarks-Ruggles (OK) 
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Luther, Lorre M 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 

Cc: 
Subject: 
Attachments: 

[RELEASED IN PART NR,8s; 

Townley, Stephen G 
Monday, July 26, 201 O 5:20 PM 
Koh, Harold Hongju; Thessin, James H; Cleveland, Sarah H; Schwartz, Jonathan B; Harris, 
Robert K 
Chabora, Paige E 
July 23 Weekly Update 
Weekly Update July 23.docx 

Attached and below please find last week's update. Thanks, Stephen 

WEEKLY UPDATE - JULY 23 
L/UNA 

NR 

Flotilla: We worked on a draft of your Note to S and participated in a conference caII with [ ~ B6 
[ ] It's clear that although the Israelis have put together a thorough report for the SYG on the status of 
their investigations and that changes to some of their military practices are being made. At the same time, it 
sounds like there continues to be an internal battle on how many changes to make and whether to make public 
some of their changes to operational orders for security reasons; Posner pressed hard during the conference call 
that the. I~raelis needed to ml!lt~s.J?o?d o_ fa public defense as possible and that the over'.111 operational changes 
were cnucal elements. ) ~aid he would take our requests back to the IDF's Chief of Staff and thankt:d 
Posner for 

[REVIEW AUTHORITY: Sharon Ahmad, Senior RevieweJJ 
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!RELEASED IN PART 85,NRJ 

Luther, Lorre M 

From: Aswad, Evelyn M 
Sent: Wednesday, September 22, 2010 10:26 PM 

Koh, Harold Hongju To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 

Harris, Robert K; Cleveland, Sarah H; Townley, Stephen G; Banos, Mariano H 
Night note re HRC Flotilla & Burn a Koran resolution 

Harold-

Here is an update on HRC matters in case they get raised in the morning staff meeting: 

I) Flotilla - We just received the HRC's Fact Finding Mission (FFM) report on the Flotilla on an extremely 
close hold basis. Wh.ile the re.port did not make any recommendations, it was very unfavorable for 
Israel. In terms of its formal conclusions, the FFM detemuned that, because the Gaza blockade was 
unlawful, the interception of the flotilla was also unlawful, as well as any use of force resulting from the 
blockade. The FFM also determined that, even if the use of force had been legitimate, the force used by 
the Israelis was "unnecessary, disproportionate, excessive and inappropriate." Lethal force was 
employed in a "widespread and arbitrary manner." Based 011 the facts, the FFM concluded that the 
Israelis' use of force and post-boarding detention had violated the right to life, the right to liberty, the 
right to freedom from torture, the right to humane treatment in detention, the right to freedom of 85 
expression and the Fourth Geneva Convention. The report will almost certainly be taken up by a 
resolution at the HRC._I 

~------

2) N 

3) 

It's not a dull session. 

Best, 
EA 

!REVIEW AUTHORITY: Sharon Ahmad, Senior Reviewerj 
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Luther, Lorre M 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 

[RELEASEOIN PART BS) 

Townley, Stephen G 
Thursday, July 29, 2010 4:12 PM 
Gorove, Katherine M 
Schwartz, Jonathan B 
RE: flotilla memo 

- ----- -- ------ ------- --------- ·-·-- - -------· - - -
From: Gorove, Katherine M 
Sent: Thursday, July 29, 2010 3:47 PM 
To: Townley, Stephen G 
CC: Schwartz, Jonathan B 
Subject: RE: flotilla memo 

From: Townley, Stephen G 
Sent: Thursday, July 29, 2010 3:36 PM 
To: Gorove, Katherine M 
Cc: Schwartz, Jonathan B 
Subject: RE: flotilla memo 

From: Gorove, Katherine M 
Sent: Thursday, July 29, 2010 1:51 PM 
To: Townley, Stephen G 
Subject: flotilla memo 

Stevel 

I ---~Thanks, Kate 

From: Schwartz, Jonathan B 
Sent: Wednesday, July 28, 2010 8:01 PM 
To: Koh, Harold Hongju 
Cc: Cleveland, Sarah H; Townley, Stephen G; Gorove, Katherine M 
Subject: LEGAL ·#258419-v2-Flotilla_to_S_(2).docx 

- - --? 

Harold - Kate has updated this draft note on the flotilla to reflect what she learned during recent briefings by the 

Israelis.[ ____ ~ .---.,--.-- ,~-..... --.-~ __ _ 

Jon ~_v_!__E_ylJ AUTHORITY: Sharon Ahmad, Senior Reviewerj 
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!RELEASED IN PART BS) 

Luther, Lorre M 

From: Schwartz, Jonathan B 
Sent: Friday, July 30, 2010 2:36 PM 
To: 
Subject: 

Gorove, Katherine M; Townley, Stephen G 
RE: Flotilla 

-----Original Message----­
From: Gorove, Katherine M 
Sent : Friday, July 30, 2010 2:25 PM 
To: Townley, Stephen G; Schwartz, Jonathan B 
Subject: RE: Flotilla 

Yes, just got green light. They hope the Israel is and Turks will reach agt with thF-S~ 
the "not hideously distant future", but no objection to Note moving forward today. L _J 

---- -Original Message- ---­
From: Townley, Stephen G 
Sent : Friday, July 30, 2010 2:21 PM 
To: Gorove, Katherine M 
Subject: Flotilla 

Have we heard further from USUN? Thanks, St ephen 

([EVIEW AUTHORITY: Sharon Ahmad, Senior Review~ 
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Luther, Lorre M 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

[RELEASED IN PART 85,NRI 

Townley, Stephen G 
Friday, June 18, 201011:04 PM 
Cleveland, Sarah H 
Re: FW: Pascoe press remarks in SL 

Not really. The PRST called for a prompt impartial credible and transparent investigation. We've supported an inti 
component. but we've also said that thejsraeli mechanism with inti observers/ artici ants could satisfy the PRST. 

From: Cleveland, Sarah H 
To: Townley, Stephen G 
Sent: Fri Jun 18 22:21:02 2010 
Subject: Fw: FW: Pascoe press remarks in SL 

Have we said anything re a UN role for the flotilla? See below. 

From: Renzulli, Anthony F 
To: Renzulli, Anthony F; Prosser, Sarah E; Coughlin, Shaun (S/WO); Richelsoph, David N 
Cc: Sweeney, Peter J; Cleveland, Sarah H; Woodhouse, Erik J; Rajpal, Sabeena 
Sent: Fri Jun 18 18:52:20 2010 
Subject: RE: FW: Pascoe press remarks in SL 

Is there comparable guidance for Gaza flotilla? 

From: Renzulli, Anthony F 
Sent: Friday, June 18, 2010 6:47 PM 
To: Prosser, Sarah E; Coughlin, Shaun (S/WO); Richelsoph, David N 
Cc: Sweeney, Peter J; Oeveland, Sarah H; Woodhouse, Erik J; Rajpal, Sabeena 
Subject: R~: FW: Pascoe press remarks in SL 

[ 
From: Prosser, Sarah E 
Sent: Friday, June 18, 2010 4:28 PM 
To: Renzulli, Anthony F; Coughlin, Shaun (S/WCI); Richelsoph, David N 
Cc: Sweeney, Peter J; Cleveland, Sarah H; Woodhouse, Erik J; Rajpal, Sabeena 
Subject: RE: FW: Pascoe press remarks in SL 

My two cents: !REVIEW AUTHORITY: Sharon Ahmad, Senior Re~iewerj 

·1 _ _ _ _ ___ _ _ 
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From: Pan, Michael {USUN) 
Sent: Thursday, June 17, 2010 4:13 PM 
To: Anderson, Brooke D (USUN); Pelofsky, Eric J; Finerty, Tressa R (USUN) 
Subject: FW: Pascoe press remarks 

Press Conference 
Opening Remarks by B. Lynn Pascoe 
United Nations Under-Secretary-General for Political Affairs 
Colombo, 17 June 2010 

3 

UNCLASSIFIED U.S. Department of State Case No. F-2010-04163 Doc No. C05329907 Date: 05/21/2013 

N 



UNCLASSIFIED U.S. Department of State Case No. F-2010-04163 Doc No. C05329907 Date: 05/21/2013 NR 

'--_ UNCLASSIFIED U.S. Department of State Case No. F-2010-04163 Doc No. C05329907 Date: 05/21/2013 



UNCLASSIFIED U.S. Department of State Case No. F-2010-04163 Doc No. C05329916 Date: 05/21/2013 

~ELEASED IN PART B5J 

Luther, Lorre M 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 

Subject : 

From: Gorove, Katherine M 

Townley, Stephen G 
Friday, October 15, 2010 6:41 PM 
Gorove, Katherine M; Buchwald, Todd F; Pomper, Stephen E; Daley, John D; Schwartz, 
Jonathan B 
RE; ICC flotilla 

·------ ------ - - - - -- ---- -·---·------

Sent: Friday, October 15, 2010 6:36 PM 
To: Townley, Stephen G; Buchwald, Todd F; Pomper, Stephen E; Daley, John D; Schwartz, Jonathan B 
Subject: Re: ICC flotilla 

From: Townley, Stephen G 
To: Buchwald, Todd F; Pamper, Stephen E; Gorove, Katherine M; Daley, John D; Schwartz, Jonathan B 
Sent: Fri Oct 15 18:21:35 2010 
Subject: RE: ICC flotilla 

From: Buchwald, Todd F 
Sent: Friday, October 15, 2010 5:41 PM 
To: Pamper, Stephen E; Gorove, Katherine M; Daley, John D; Townley, Stephen G; Schwartz, Jonathan B 
Subject: RE: ICC flotilla 

------···--- -·-- -· - ----- . --- ------ ·----- - -· - -- ·- - - ------
From: Pomper, Stephen E 
Sent: Friday, October 15, 2010 5:28 PM 
To: Gorove, Katherine M; Buchwald, Todd F; Daley, John D; Townley, Stephen G; Schwartz, Jonathan B 
Subject: Re: ICC flotilla 

From: Gorove, Katherine M 
To: Buchwald, Todd F; Daley, John D; Pomper, Stephen E; Townley, Stephen G; Schwartz, Jonathan B 
Sent: Fri Oct 15 17:24:09 2010 
Subject: ICC flotilla 

Is this how we agreed to phrase it? Any further changes? 

REVIEW AUTHORITY: Sharon Ahmad, Senior Reviewe 
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!RELEASED IN PART esl 

Luther, Lorre M 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

Will do. 

Townley, Stephen G 
Monday, June 14, 2010 10:10 AM 
Banos, Mariano H 
RE: Israeli Flotilla Panel 

-----Original Message----­
From: Banos, Mariano H 
Sent: Monday, June 14, 2010 10:07 AM 
To: Townley, Stephen G 
Subject: FW: Israeli Flotilla Panel 

Steve, 

I don't know if we still have a small L email group on Flotilla developments, but if we do, 
please keep me in the loop. I 

I 85 

Thanks, 

Mariano 

-----Original Message----­
From: Nossel, Suzanne F 
Sent: Monday, June 14, 2010 9 :58 AM 
To: Cassayre, Mark J; Khanna, Melanie J; Donahoe, Eileen C; Ostermeier, Arny A; Cassidy, 
Joseph P; Fitzpatrick, Kathleen M; Banos, Mariano H 
Subject: FW: Israeli Flotilla Panel 

-----Original Message--- -­
From: Goldberger, Thomas H 
Sent~ Monday, June 14, 2010 8:53 AM 
To: Nossel, Suzanne F; Connelly, Maura; Giauque, Jeffrey G; Knopf, Payton L 
Subject: Re: Israeli Flotilla Panel 

I'm at FSI, but apparently the WH put out the below yesterday 

]REVIEW AUTHORITY: Sharon Ahmad, Senior Reviewe~ 
THE WHITE HOUSE 

Office of the Press Secretary 

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE 
June 13, 2010 

Statement by the Press Secretary on Israel's investigation into the flotilla incident 

Today, the Government of Israel took an important step forward in proposing an independent 
public commission to investigate the circumstances of the recent tragic events on board the 
flotilla headed for Gaza. Through a presidential statement of the United Nations Security 
Council, the United States joined the international community in condemning those acts which 

1 
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led to nine fatalities and many injuries on board the flotilla, and supporting the completion 
of a prompt, impartial, credible, and transparent investigation. 

We believe that Israel, like any other nation, should be allowed to undertake an 
investigation into events that involve its national security. Israel has a military justice 
system that meets international standards and is capable of conducting a serious and credible 
investigation, and the structure and terms of reference of Israel's proposed independent 
public commission can meet the standard of a prompt, impartial, credible, and transparent 
investigation. But we will not prejudge the process or its outcome, and will await the 
conduct and findings of the investigation before drawing further conclusions. Whi le Israel 
should be afforded the time to complete its process, we expect Israel's commission and 
military investigation will be carried out promptly. We also expect that, upon completion, 
its findings will be presented publicly and will be presented to the international 
community. 

### 

Original Message ----­
From: Nossel, Suzanne F 
To: Goldberger, Thomas H; Connelly, Maura; Giauque, Jeffrey G; Knopf, Payton L 
Sent: Sun Jun 13 22:36:27 2010 
Subject : Israeli Flotilla Panel 

Are there talkers/a background paper on that. 
~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~-; 

Thanks 

2 
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jRELEASED IN FULQ 

Luther, Lorre M 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 

Subject: 

Townley, Stephen G 
Monday, July 12, 2010 2:00 PM 
Schwartz, Jonathan B; Jacobson, Linda; Dolan, JoAnn 
Pomper, Stephen E; Banos, Mariano H; Baumert, Kevin A; Cleveland. Sarah H; Harris, Robert 
K 
RE: LEGAL-#256164-v1-Flotilla_Outline.DOC 

Also, has anyone reviewed what apparently came out today 

(http://www.nvtimes.com/2010/07 /13/world/middleeast/13flotilla.html? r=l&hp)? 

Thanks, Stephen 

From: Townley, Stephen G 
Sent: Monday, July 12, 2010 1:56 PM 
To: Schwartz, Jonathan B; Jacobson, Linda; Dolan, JoAnn 
Cc: Pomper, Stephen E; Banos, Mariano H; Baumert, Kevin A; Cleveland, Sarah H; Harris, Robert K 
Subject: RE: LEGAL·#256164•vl·Flotilla_Out:line.OOC 

All, Have there been any further comments on this? I'd like to give a version of the paper to HHK overnight to think 

about before our meeting with him tomorrow. Thanks, Stephen 

From: Schwartz, Jonathan B 
Sent: Thursday, July 01, 2010 3:01 PM 
To: Jacobsol), Linda; Dola_n, JoAnn 
Cc: Pomper, Stephen E; Townley, Stephen G; Banos, Mariano H; Baumert, Kevin A; Cleveland, Sarah H; Harris, Robert K 
Subject: LEGAL-#256164-v1-Flotilla_Outline.DOC 

linda/JoAnn - as I foolishly promised Steve Pamper, here is a quick strawman outline for the "10 pager" that Harold is 
thinking of preparing for S. If you'd like to take ownership of this, get something to Steve during his one w indow 
tomorrow to review, and elicit reactions from the broader group (including those who are out but will be back next 

week like Kate Gorove and Alexandra Perina), I'd be grateful. (l see that Steve Townley and Naveed are conspiring for a 
Thursday meeting with Harold, so that should probably be our target to revise this for discussion purposes.) Thanks. 

Jon. 

(REVIEW AUTHORITY: Sharon Ahmad, Senior Reviewerl 
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[RELEASED IN FUllJ 

Luther, Lorre M 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 

Subject: 
Attachments: 

Some brief comments. 

Mariano 

From: Gorove, Katherine M 

Banos, Mariano H 
Thursday, July 22, 2010 2:10 PM 
Gorove, Katherine M; Dolan, JoAnn; Pomper, Stephen E; Perina, Alexandra H; Townley, 
Stephen G; Cleveland, Sarah H: Schwartz, Jonathan B; Jacobson, Linda 
RE: LEGAL-#258297-v1-Flotilla Note.docx 
LEGAL-#258297-v1-Flotilla_Note (3).docx 

Sent: Thursday, July 22, 2010 12:54 PM 
To: Dolan, JoAnn; Banos, Mariano H; Pomper, Stephen E; Perina, Alexandra H; Townley, Stephen G; Cleveland, Sarah H 
Subject: RE: LEGAL-#258297-vl-Flotilla_Note.dooc 

Here is latest version, incorporating L/AN and my edits, for everyone's editing/comments. 

Thanks, Kate 

From: Dolan, JoAnn 
sent: Thursday, July 22, 2010 12:01 PM 
To: Schwartz, Jonathan B; Gorove, Katherine M; Banos, Mariano H; Pomper, Stephen E; Perina, Alexandra H; Townley, 
Stephen G; Cleveland, Sarah H 
Cc: Jacobson, Linda 
Subject: RE: LEGAL-#258297-vl-Flotilla_Note.docx 

A few comments/clarifications noted. This looks good to me_ 

From: Schwartz, Jonathan B 
sent: Wednesday, July 21, 2010 7:03 PM 
To: Gorove, Katherine M; Dolan, JoAnn; Banos, Mariano H; Pamper, Stephen E; Perina, Alexandra H; Townley, Stephen 
G; Cleveland, Sarah H 
Cc: Jacobson, Linda 
Subject: LEGAL-#258297-vl-Fiotilla_Note.docx 

I understand from Stephen that "the line" is agitating for Harold's memo on the flotilla, though there may not be an 
objective reason for this and Harold may decide to let the Secretary first enjoy the wedding. But just in case, I have 
drawn on some helpful drafting by Linda and Kate to put together an initial strawman. It would be much appreciated if 
the relevant experts could offer comments tomorrow {Thursday) on the sections that pertain to them - Kate would be in 
the best position to collate them to generate a further draft for Harold's review in the event he wants to move 

something on Friday. 

Thanks. 

Joni 

[REVIEW AUTHORITY: Sharon Ahmad, Senior Reviewerj 
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Luther, Lorre M 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 

Cc: 
Subject: 
Attachments: 

!RELEASED IN FULL, 

Gorove, Katherine M 
Thursday, July 22, 2010 6:00 PM 
Perina, Alexandra H; Banos, Mariano H; Dolan, JoAnn; Pomper, Stephen E; Townley, 
Stephen G; Cleveland, Sarah H; Schwartz, Jonathan B; Jacobson, Linda; Sharon, Chelsea C 
Johnson, Clifton M 
RE; LEGAL-#258297-v1-Flotilla Note.docx 
LEGAL-#258297-v1-Flotilla_Note, revs. accpeted.docx; LEGAL-#258297-v1-Ftotilla_Note (3) 
(2).docx 

Jon, Attached is a clean version and a version with tracked changes, for you to review and forward to Harold for his 
review. A few others may chime in later. Thanks, Kate 

iREVIEW AUTHORITY: Sharon Ahmad, Senior Review@ 
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!RELEASED IN PART 85,BSj 

Luther, Lorre M 

From: Townley, Stephen G 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

Thursday, July 22, 2010 3:15 PM 
Schwartz Jonath:4 
RE: I meeting 

Seems quite reasonable. I suggest flagging this for him tonight when you send the draft and he can raise with Jake/Joe 
tomorrow morning. I think if he makes the suggestion, we can get this pushed back further. 

From: Schwartz, Jonathan B 
Sent: Thursday, July 22, 2010 3:09 PM 
To: Townley, rephen G 
Subject: FW ===i meeting 

What do you think? 

From: Gorove, Katherine M 
Sent: Thursday, July 22, 2010 2:15 PM 
To: Schwartz, Jonatha=n"'""'B"-----. 
subject: RE:C meeting 

OK, I'll send you draft as it is at end of day. Here is DRAFT EMAIL FOR HAROLD from you. 

From: Schwartz, Jonathan B 
Sent: Thursday, July 22, 2010 1:23 PM 
To: Gorove, Ka~her.:.:.in,_,,,e_,_M_,__ __ 
Subject: RE: meeting 

Perhaps we could give Harold a draft tonight with a note on why he may want to wait and why there is no urgency? 

From: Gorove, Katherine M 
Sent: Thursday, July 22, 2010 12:57 PM 
To: schwCcithan s 
Subject: J eting !REVIEW AUTHORITY: Sharon Ahmad, Senior I 

~eviewer 
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From: Schwartz, Jonathan B 
Sent: Thursday, July 22, 2010 12:51 PM 
To: Gorove, Katherine M; Dolan, JoAnn; Perina, Alexandra H; Pamper, Stephen E; Oeveland, 5arah H; Townley, Stephen 
G; Banos, Mariano H 
Subject: FW: Briefing with I I-7/26, 10:30 A~ 86 

FYl. L - 85 

From: Tsou, Leslie M 
Sent: Thursday, July 22, 2010 12:46 PM 
To: Schwartz, Jonathan B 
Subject: FW: Briefing with[ I-7/26, 10:30 AM 

You can ask him about thel,_ ____ _J 

From: 5altzman, Amy J 
Sent: Thursday, July 22, 2010 12:45 PM 
To: Fitzpatrick, Kathleen M; Harris, Robert K; cassidy, Joseph P; Banos, Mariano H; Knopf, Payton L; Bass, Warren; 
Walles, Jacob; Enav, Cari R; Ostermeier, Amy A; Honigstein, Michael D; Dautrich, Jack T; Tsou, Leslie M; Sicade, Lynn M 
(DRL); Johnston-Gardner, Sarah R (DRL); Germain, Ellen J (USUN); Masilko, Barbara J (USUN); Ried, Curtis R (USUN); 
Schedlbauer, Amy W; Andris, Matthew R; Gorove, Katherine M; Morrison, Andrew L 

85 

Cc:: Ifill, Donna G (DRL); Weaver, Patricia A 
Subject: Briefing with[ I- 7/26, 10:30 AM 86 

----------~ 
will be at DOS to brief 

interested parties on Monday, July 26 at 10:30 AM. This is intended to be a working level meeting, but I understand that 
there may be broader interest in attending after today's briefing with[ ---------. I have reserved the 10/FO 

conference room, 6323. If joining by phone, you may call [ _ I Please let me know if you plan to 86 
attend. 

Thanks, 
Amy 

Amy Saltzman 
Bureau for International Organizations (IO) 
SaltzrnanAI@slate.gov 
(202) 647-9431 

SBU 
This email is UNCLASSIFIED. 

2. 

UNCLASSIFIED U.S. Department of State Case No. F-2010-04163 Doc No. C05330870 Date: 05/24/2013 



UNCLASSIFIED U.S. Department of State Case No. F-2010-04163 Doc No. C05330871 Date: 05/24/2013 

Luther, Lorre M 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 

Subject: 
Attachments: 

(RELEASED IN PART B5] 

Gorove, Katherine M 
Wednesday, June 02, 2010 8:32 PM 
Jacobson, Linda; Dolan, JoAnn; Townley, Stephen G; Thessin, James H; Pamper, Stephen E; 
Eichensehr, Kristen E; Cleveland, Sarah H; Baumert, Kevin A: Harris, Robert K; Mcleod, 
Mary (USUN} 
RE: new version of options paper 
LEGAL-#239056-v1-flotilla _investigation_options.doc 

A few edits and comments on the old version of the investigations paper. 

From: Jacobson, Linda 
Sent: Wednesday, June 02, 2010 8:24 PM 
To: Dolan, JoAnn; Townley, Stephen G; Thessin, James H; Pomper, Stephen E; Gorove, Katherine M; Eichensehr, Kristen 
E; Cleveland, Sarah H; Baumert, Kevin A; Harris, Robert K; Mcleod, Mary (USUN) 
Subject: new version of options paper 

This is Jim's reordered paper, with Steve T's comments and includes info that JoAnn gave me on 85 
'--~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~----' 

JoAnn, could you please check the accuracy. I've also included 
another sentence on East Timar in the UN led investigation section. Steve, pis let me know whether you will now take 
this over. Thanks, Linda 

!REVIEW AUTHORITY: Sharon Ahmad, Senior Reviewefl 
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_L_u_th_e_r_,_L_o_r_re_M __ ~EASED IN~1 

From: Dolan, JoAnn 
Sent: Wednesday, June 02, 2010 8:35 PM 
To: Jacobson, Linda; Townley, Stephen G; Thessin, James H; Pamper, Stephen E; Gorove, 

Katherine M; Eichensehr, Kristen E; Cleveland, Sarah H; Baumert, Kevin A; Harris, Robert K; 
Mcleod, Mary (USUN} 

Subject: 
Attachments: 

RE: new version of options paper 
LEGAL-#239074-v1-lsraeli_flotilla_investigations_options_paper.doc 

One revision toL==---------~ 

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

This is Jim's reordered AQ~r. with Steve T's comments and includes info that JoAnn 

L j5teve, p s et me now w et er you w1 now ta e c:_ ----------'· 
this over. Thanks, Linda 

ave me on 

!REVIEW AUTHORITY: Sharon Ahmad, Senior Reviewed 
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Luther, Lorre M 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 

;RELEASED IN PART 85,NR) 

Prosser, Sarah E 
Tuesday, June 08, 2010 3:07 PM 
Townley, Stephen G 
Cleveland, Sarah H; Draemel, Sharla; E1chensehr, Kristen E 
RE: Options Paper on Flotilla Investigation 

!n case the scope of "similar investigations" isn't limited to flotilla incidents,-===============-~ NR 

Let me know if you are interested in further info. 

Sarah 

From: Townley, Stephen G 
Sent: Thursday, June 03, 2010 9:42 AM 
To: Mitchell, Mary T; Jacobson, Linda; Ramish, Timothy E; Prosser, Sarah E; Joyce, Anne 
Cc: Eichensehr, Kristen E; Cleveland, Satah H; Thessin, James H; Mcleod, Mary (USUN); Buchwald, Todd F 
Subject: FW: Options Paper on Flotilla Investigation 

All, attached is an options p~per we {by that I mean Linda!) prepared atJake Sullivan's request on possible ways t~c=J-

1 -=-_] I I Do any of you have other ideas we could add? We have not-shared 
this outside of L yet. Thanks, Stephen 

From: Townley, Stephen G 
Sent: Thursday, June 03, 2010 8:10 AM 
To: Sullivan, Jacob J 
Cc: Donoghue, Joan E; Eichensehr, Kristen E; Cleveland, Sarah H; Thessin, James H; Jacobson, Linda; Schwartz, 
Jonathan B; Harris, Robert K 
Subject: Options Paper on Flotilla Investigation 

Jake, Attached please find the latest draft of our paper on.-"[ =~======'-~-n_i_nv_e_s---=tigatio~ into the flotilla incident. 

[ I Thanks, Stephen 

~W AUTHORITY: Sharon Ahmad, Senior Reviewed 
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!RELEASED IN FULL] 

Statement by Ambassador Eileen Chamberlain Donahoe 
Special Sitting of the Human Rights Council 

on the Recent Incident in the Eastern Mediterranean 

June 1, 2010 

Thank you, Mr. President. 

As we made clear yesterday at the Security Council, the United States government 
is deeply disturbed by the recent violence and regrets the tragic loss of life and 
injuries suffered among those involved in the May 31 incident aboard the Gaza­
bound ships. We are working to ascertain the facts. We expect a credible and 
transparent investigation and strongly urge the Israeli government to investigate 

the incident fully. 

The United States remains deeply concerned by the suffering of civilians in Gaza, 
and the deterioration of the situation there, including the humanitarian and 
human rights situation. We urge all parties to behave responsibly and uphold 
their international obligations. We continue to believe the situation in Gaza is 
unsustainable and is not in the interest of any of those concerned. As we have 
pointed out in the past, mechanisms are in place for the transfer of humanitarian 
assistance to Gaza. These non-provocative and non-confrontational mechanisms 
should be the ones used for the benefit of all those in Gaza. We will continue to 
engage the Israelis on a daily basis to expand the scope and type of goods allowed 
into Gaza to address the full range of the population's humanitarian and recovery 

needs. 

We will continue to work closely with the Government of Israel and the 
Palestinian Authority, along with international NGOs and the UN, to provide 
adequate access for humanitarian goods, including reconstruction materials, 
through the border crossings, while bearing in mind the Government of Israel's 
legitimate security concerns. 

Hamas' interference with international assistance shipments and the work of 
nongovernmental organizations complicates efforts in Gaza. Its continued arms 
smuggling and commitment to terrorism undermines security and prosperity for 
Palestinians and Israelis alike. 

[REVIEW AUTHORITY~haron Ahmad, Senior_ Revie~ 
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Uftimately, this incident underscores the need to move ahead quickly with 
negotiations that can lead to a comprehensive peace in the region. The only 
viable solution to the Israeli-Palestinian conflict is an agreement, negotiated 
between the parties, that ends the occupation that began in 1967 and fulfills the 
aspirations of both parties for independent homelands through two states for two 
peoples - Israel and an independent, contiguous, and viable state of Palestine, 
living side by side in peace and security. We call again on our international 
partners - both inside and outside this Council - to promote an atmosphere of 
cooperation between·the parties and throughout the entire region. 

Thank you, Mr. President. 
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[RELEASED l~:iQQd 

United Nations S tl'RST/10111/1) 

~-~ Security Council 
~ ~ 
~~ 

Dislr.: Gcncrnl 
I June 20JO 

~ 

Origioal: English 

Statement by the President of the Security Council 

Al lhc Ci32'11h mcc1ing nf lhc Security Council. held on I June 2010, in 
con111:c1ion wi1h the Council's considtnuion of lhc ih:m enti1led ""ll1c situation in 
the Middle East, includin~ 1hc Palcslinian qucs1ion" . the Pr..-sit.le111 tlf 1he Security 
('oundl mat.le 1hc fulluwing slmcmcm on hchalf of 1hc Council: 

' ' !"he Security Council deeply regrets the loss of lift: and injuries 
rcsuhing from 1hc use o f force during the Israeli military opcrn1ion in 
intcrn:itio11;il waic"' again~• thi.: cnnvoy sailing 10 Gaz;1. The Council, in this 
c"1111cx1. crnakmns 1hos1.: acts which resulted in the ln~s of a l least ten civil inns 
;111tl many wnundcd, <UHi llXpn:sscs i1s cumlulcnccs Ill their f;unilics. 

"The Security Council requests the immctliute release of the ships as wcl I 
as 1hc civi li:1ns held hy lsrncl. The Council urge~ Israel 1u rcrmi1 full <:nnsular 
!ICCC~~- 10 allow the counlries cunccrnllll to retrieve their tlccc:1sc<I and 
wnundcd immcdi:itcly. and 10 cusurt: the delivery of bumanicarian ns~isiancc 
from 1hc cnnvny In ils tlcs1iruuinn 

··The Securi1y Council lakes nocc of 1hc s l:i1cment of chc UN Sc<.:rccary­
Gcneral 110 1hc need co have a full invcstiga1iun inlo the m;rncr nnd it calls for 
a pmmpl. impartial, crcdihlc ;111d lrans[rnrenl invcstig:Llinn conforming 10 
1111crntt1it111al s1andards. 

·'The Security (ounoi I stresses thttt the si1umion. in t;u1.a is nol 
susrninahlc. The - Council rt:-cmph<isizes 1hc importance of the full 
implc1ric111a1in11 llf Rcsolu1i<111s JX!iO nnd 1860. In that t:un1cx1. it rci1cr:11cs i1s 
grave ~unccrn :ti 1hc. huin:uti[arian sitU:llion in Gaza and slri.:s.."'cs ti\.: fh!\.!t.I for 
susiaincll unt.I regular flow uf gnolls and pcorh.! 10 Gmm as well as unimrctled 
provision anll dis1rihu1i.111 llf hum;111i1nrian assislam:e 1hmugh11u1 Gaza. 

··Thc S.:curity Council underscores thal the only viabl~ solution 10 

lsradi-Pnlcscinian conllict is an agreement ncgotial~d hc1wcc11 the parlics ;rnd 
re-emphasizes that only a 1wo-S1atc solution, with an inll.:penllcnt an<l viable 
Palestinian Staie livins s ide hy side in peace and sec.:urily with lsrnd ~nd ils 
other ncighlmurs, could bring peace 1n lhe region. 

·'The Security Counci l cxprcssc~ support for lhc prnxiinity 1alks und 
vuii::cs concern thu1 this inddcm touk rh11.:e while lhc proximity uilks arc 
u11tlcrway irnd urges the purlics tu uc t wilh rcs1rait11., avoiding any unila1cral 
;11\ll pmvoc:ttiv1.: :1l:linns, anll all i111crn;11ional partners tu prnmn1c an 
annosphcrl' or coopaatiou between the panics and rhroughout the region:· 

'.REVIEW AUTHORJTY: Sharon Ahmad, Senior Reviewe~ 
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jRELEASED IN FULL] 

HRCl4 
Explanation of Vote: The Grave Attacks by Israeli Porces Against the 

Humanitarian Boal Convoy 

We regret having to c.:all a vote and vote no on this resolution. 1t is our hope that, 

over time, this Council will be ahle lo unite around balanced and appropriate 

n.:spnnscs lo urgent situations that deserve our allen!ion. We have engaged intcncly 

in discussions here in Geneva and in forums around the world in response to the 
events addressed in this resoluLion, and are deeply committed to working with 

partners to ensure a full and appropriate response to 1hjs incident and the 
circumstances that led 10 it. 

As noted in our statement in this chamber yesterday, the United States is deeply 

disturbed by the rec.:cnt violence and regrets the tragic loss of life and injuries 
suffered among those involved in the incident aboard the Gaza-bound ships . We 
condemn the acrs that resulted in the loss of at least ten lives and many wounded, 

and we express our condolences to their families. 

We call attention to the Security Council statement adopted on June 1. lt is 

important to ensure a prompt, credible, impartial, and transparent investigation. 

Israel has a very strong i nlercst in conducting such an investigation that meets 
international standards <Jnd exposes all the facts. There are, of course, a number of 

ways to ensure suc.:h an outcome. 

The United States continues to be deeply concerned by the suffering of civilians in 

Gaza and the deteriorating humanitarian and human rights situation there. The 

situation in Gaza is unsustainable and unacceptable. In line with the Security 

Counci l statement adopted yesterday, we strl:!ss the need for sustained and regular 

flow of goods and provision and distribution or humanitarian access throughout 

Gaza, and we will continue our work towards this end while bearing in mind the 

Government of Israel's legitimate security concerns. 

In the context of today's debate, it is important to once again stress that the only 

viable solution to the Israeli-Palestinian conflict is an agreement, negotiated 

between the parties, that ends the occupation that began in 1967 and fulfills the 

[fu@w AUTHORITY: Sharon Ahmad, Senior Reviewe~ 
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aspirations of both parties for independent homelands through two states for two 

peoples, Israel and an independent, contiguous, and viable state of Palestine, living 

side hy side in peace and security. 

Unfortunately, the resolution before us rushes lo judgment on a set of facts that, as 

our debate over the last day makes clear, are only beginning to be discovered and 

understood. It creates an international mechanism before giving the responsible 

government an opportunity to investigate this incident itself and thereby risks 

further politicizing a sensitive and volatile situation. We understand the impelus lo 

respond quickly to a troubling set of events. But we have an obligation to 

determine facts and make considered judgments on how to best address what b a 

cornplt.:x and difficult situation. 

For these rl!asons, we must vote againsl this resolution. 
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jRELEASED IN FULL) 

Luther, Lorre M [NoN-RESPONSIVE PORTIONS I 
-------------------------------------------l~C~T~E~D~~~~~~~·-------

From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 

Townley, Stephen G 
Friday, September 10, 2010 7:47 PM 
Mcleod, Mary (USUN) 
Buchwald, Todd F 

Attachments: (°"'next installment - - - - - __ ] 

LEGAL-#263937-v1-CAHDl_Background_Paper_Gaza_and_Flotilla_lssues.doc 

Mary, attached are some additional items for your CAHDI book: 

b. A paper on Goldstone/flotilla 

We also have coming over the weekend or Monday morning papers for.__ ___ _ ________ _ _ ___, 
I f I will also try to dig up press guidance, etc., on other items of possible interest. 

Thanks, and sorry to inundate you with this! 

Stephen 

jREVIEW AUTHORITY: Sharon Ahmad, Senior Rev~ 
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Luther, Lorre M 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 
Attachments: 

Bob, Kate, et al -

!RELEASED IN PART B5J 

Cleveland, Sarah H 
Thursday, June 03, 201 O 11 :24 AM 
Harris, Robert K; Gorove, Katherine M; Aswad, Evelyn M; Rajpal, Sabeena; Banos, Mariano H 
Townley, Stephen G 
FW: Options Paper on Flotilla Investigation 
Israel Investigation Options Paper v3.doc 

Does this reflect the knowledge that Kate accumulated ast fall? 
'----------' 

From: Townley, Stephen G 
Sent: Thursday, June 03, 2010 9:42 AM 
To: Mitchell, Mary T; Jacobson, Linda; Ramish, Timothy E; Prosser, Sarah E; Joyce, Anne 
Cc: Eichensehr, Kristen E; Cleveland, Sarah H; Thessin, James H; Mcleod, Mary (USUN); Buchwald, Todd F 
Subject: FW: Options Paper on Flotilla Investigation 

85 

All,_~!ta~hed is an options paper we (by that I mean Linda!} prepared at Jake Sullivan's request on possible ways toc=J 85 

· · - L . :1 
---:----:-:---::----=-.,..---::----,-~~~~~~ 

this outside of L yet. Thanks, Stephen 

Do any of you have other ideas we could add? We nave not shared 

- - - _ ..... ·-· - - ---- - ·- - -- · -. - - --
From: Townley, Stephen G 
sent: Thursday, June 03, 2010 8:10 AM 
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

Jake, Attached please find the latest draft of our paper o I 
r1 ~.:.:=::~!::::.:::~=-=::..:=::::..:.~:.:..:..::..!:.:.!:=-=.~============-~-~~~====:=i 

I lrhanks, Stephen 

!REVIEW-AUTHORITY: Sharon Ahmad, Senior Revieweli 
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[REL°EASED IN PART B5j 

Luther, Lorre M 

From: Jacobson, Linda 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 

From: Dolan, JoAnn 

Wednesday, June 02, 2010 2:35 PM 
Dolan, JoAnn; Gutherie, Peter A; Mortlock, David JL 
Townley, Stephen G 
RE: CLEAR THIS VERSION ASAP: IHH PRESS GUIDANCE 

Sent: Wednesday, June 02, 2010 2:21 PM 
To: Jacobson, Linda 
Cc: Townley, Stephen G 
Subject: FW: CLEAR THIS VERSION ASAP: IHH PRESS GUIDANCE 

Should have included you both. 

From: Dolan, JoAnn 
Sent: Wednesday, June 02, 2010 2:19 PM 
To: Gutherie, Peter A; Shore, Rhonda H; P-NEA Duty; Rana, Gautam A; Hatcher, J Nathaniel; Reasor, Lonni H; Vasquez, 
Edgar J; Cohen, Jared A 
Cc: Mortlock, David JL 
Subject: RE: CLEAR THIS VERSION ASAP: IHH PRESS GUIDANCE 

I am okay with Peter's revision but thought Press offices might want to include in Background [ 

(attached herewith) 
http:Uwww.telegraph.co.uk/news/worldnews/middleeast/israel/7790919/Gaza-flotilla-the-Free-Gaza-Movement-and­
the-IHH.html 

-- - - -- ----- --·· - - ---- - · 
From: Gutherie, Peter A 
Sent: Wednesday, June 02, 2010 12:37 PM 
To: Shore, Rhonda H; P-NEA Duty; Rana, Gautam A; Hatcher, J Nathaniel; Reasor, Lonni H; Vasquez, Edgar J; Cohen, 
Jared A 
Cc: Mortlock, David JL; Dolan, JoAnn 
Subject: RE: CLEAR THIS VERSION ASAP: IHH PRESS GUIDANCE 

Edits attached. The questions are fairly similar, so I also think they (and the bullets) could be combined into one Q & A. 

Copying David Mortlock on the 13224 reference and L/AN. 

From: Shore, Rhonda H · 
Sent: Wednesday, June 02, 2010 11:41 AM 
To: P-NEA Duty; Rana, Gautam A; Hatcher, J Nathaniel; Gutherie, Peter A; Reasor, Lonni H; Vasquez, Edgar J; Cohen, 
Jared A 
Subject: CLEAR THIS VERSION ASAP: IHH PRESS GUIDANCE 

[REVIEW AUTHORITY: Sharon Ahmad, Senior Reviewerj 
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Luther, Lorre M 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 

Cc: 
Subject: 
Attachments: 

Hi, 

[RELEASED IN PAf!T B5,B6I 

Gallegos, Adriana M 
Monday, June 07, 2010 12:19 PM 
Thompson, Nicole A; NEA-Press-DL; Macray, Rosemary R; Prosser, Sarah E; Townley, 
Stephen G; Giauque, lvna 
Laine, Andrew J; Duckworth, Karl E 
RE: Death of Farkun Dogan 
Amcit on Free Gaza Flotilla 06-04-10 (6).docx 

We answered question # 3 in red. As for the question about the investigation of his death we are sticking to our 

attached guidance which states that "We have made no decisions at this point on any U.S. Government actions." 

Thanks, 
Adriana 

From: Thompson, Nicole A [mailto:ThompsonNA@state.gov] 
Sent: Monday, June 07, 2010 10:00 AM 
To: NEA-Press-DL; CAPRESSREQUESTS; Prosser, Sarah E; Townley, Stephen G 
Cc: Laine, Andrew J; Duckworth, Karl E 
Subject: FW: Death of Farkun Dogan 

CA/NEAil: 

Questions below are from LaRouche's on-line media publication (yes, I know). This is one of three inquiries of 
this nature (focusing on autopsy and whether or not we've seen it) we've received. Can we have a couple of 
standard points for response to questions regarding the status of the autopsy? Most recent query on this 
subject is from Al Jazeera English. 

-Nicole [REVIEW-AUTHORITY: Sharon Ahmad, Senior Reviewe~ 

.From:. Michefe ~~i~b~~~· C:.:.m-=a=iit=·~"-j ________ ___,1-. ·--
Sent: Friday, June 04, 2010 3:49 PM 
To: Thompson, Nicole A 
Subject: Death of Farkun Dogan 

1 

d 
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To: Ms. Thompson 

Following up to our conversation Friday afternoon, here are my 
questions: 

1. Can you tell me what is the cause of death of young American citizen Farkun Dogan, who was killed on 
the Mavi Marmara sh ip by Israelis? 

2. Can you confirm that Farkun Dogan was shot five t imes as is being reported by the Christian Science 
Monitor, Anatolian News agency and others? 

3. Who is preparing the "consular 'Report of Death of an American Citizen Abroad" which your 
http://travel.state.gov website says Is prepared in the death of an American abroad? Please specify if this 
Report is going to come from the American Embassy in Israel, or in Turkey, where the boy was buried. 
Reports of death are provided by U.S. embassies and consulates in the countries where local death 
certificates have been issued. The Consular Report of the Death of an American Citizen Abroad is 
provided to next of kin. It is not a public document. 

4. How can my news service access the Report of Death of an American Citizen in the case of Farkun 
Dogan? 

5. Will there be an American investigation of his death? If so, what agency (e.g., the FBI ) would 
investigate his death? 

6. Under the Rome Convention for the Suppression of Unlawful Acts against t he Safety of Maritime 
Navigation, Article 3, it is an international crime for any person to seize or exercise control over a ship by 
force, and also a crime to injure or kill any person in the process--would this Convention apply to the 
Israeli raids on the Mavi Marmara and the taking of other ships by the government on the high seas. If 
not, why would it not apply? 

thank you. 

The New Busy think 9 to 5 is a cute idea. Combine multiple calendars with Hotmail. Get busy. 

2 
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!RELEASED IN PART 86] 

CA I EUR I NEA I TURKEY I IS/PAL Press Guidance 

June 7, 2010 

U.S. Citizen Death on the Free Gaza Flotilla 

Key Message 

• As Secretary Clinton mentioned last week, "Protecting the welfare of 
American citizens is a fundamental responsibility of our government 
and one that we take very seriously." 

• Our Mission in Turkey is in contact with the family of deceased U.S.­
Turkish dual national Furkan Dogan (Dough-un). Our Ambassador to 
Turkey, Jim Jeffrey, as well as the Consul General have spoken with 
Mr. Dogan's father and expressed our condolences and conveyed offers 
of consular assistance to the family. 

• American Citizen Emily Henochowicz was released from the hospital 
over the weekend and is now back in the states. 

• We are in contact with the Israeli government to obtain more 
information. 

• We expect the Israeli government to conduct a prompt, impartial 
credible and transparent investigation into the incident on the Mavi 
Marmara that meets international standards. We are open to all 
possible methods to ensure a credible investigation, including 
international participation . . We will continue to discuss these ideas with 
the Israelis and our international partners in the days ahead. 

• As the Secretary said, while Israel has legitimate security needs, the 
situation in Gaza is unacceptable and unsustainable. This difficult 
situation requires careful, thoughtful responses from all concerned. 

i!'!futlEW AUTHORITY: Sharon Ahmad, S~_!lior RevieweB 
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This is something that we are looking into with all our international 
partners. 

Details of U.S. Citizen Death 

• Mr. Dogan's father identified his son's remains when they were repatriated 
to Turkey. 

o The Turkish Ministry of Foreign Affairs confirmed his death and dual 
citizenship to our Embassy in Ankara. 

ct A funeral took place in Turkey on Friday, June 4. We will provide no 
further details out of respect for the family. 

If asked: 

o We have made no decisions at this point on any U.S. Government actions. 

Detained Amcit at a Demonstration 

• We have seen the reports about the release of a detained US citizen and 
are following up as necessary. 

Background for the Briefer Only: 

On June l, Mr. Dogan's family notified the Embassy in Ankara that Furkan was aboard the Mavi 
Mannara. This information was passed to Embassy Tel Aviv. Consular officials in Tel Aviv 
sought to locate Mr. Dogan at the morgue and among detainees at the Ella prison, all the while 
seeking assistance from the Israeli Foreign Ministry. Before Mr. Dogan could be located, the 
media reported his death on June 2. 

Born in Troy, NY, Mr. Dogan was 19 years old at the time of his death. 

Amcit Emily Henochowicz has been released from the hospital over the weekend ofJune 5-6. 

She is back in the states with her family. 
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Drafted by: CA/P: AGallegos and RMacray 

Cleared by: 

NEA/PPD: E Pelton ok 
CG Ankara: Rappleton (info) 
CG Tel Aviv: AParker (info) 
CA/OCS: :MEHickey ok 
CNOCS/EUR: AMiller ( ok) 
CNOCSI ACS/NESCA: V Lopatk.iewicz ( ok) 
L/CA: KYouel-Page ( ok) 
PRM: SQuinn ok 
DRL: J Lieberman ok 
EUR: B Ellis ok 
P: P Aguilera ok 
SIP: D Rand ok 
D(S): G Rana ok 
D(L): NShepherd ok 
NSC:BBrink ok 
Jerusalem RThomas ok 
NSC MENA: PKumar ok 

X7-2979 
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Luther, Lorre M jRELEASED IN PART B5J 

From: Donoghue, Joan E 
Sent: 
To: 

Wednesday, June 02, 2010 9:56 PM 
Townley, Stephen G 

Subject: RE: Gaza email 

I thought it looked ready and sent it and cc'd HHK. Do I also need to send the one about the investigation options or is 
that going thru another channel? 

From: Townley, Stephen G 
Sent : Wednesday, June 02, 2010 9:32 PM 
To: Donoghue, Joan E 
Subject: FW: Gaza email 

Joan, Also wanted to check whether it would make sense to shoot to Harold now for his situational awareness? 
Whether we should do so after you've gone through again? 

Thanks, Stephen 

From: Townley, Stephen G 
Sent: Wednesday, June 02, 2010 9:01 PM 
To: Donoghue, Joan E 
Cc: Pomper, Stephen E; Oeveland, Sarah H; Eichensehr, Kristen E; Jacobson, Linda 
Subject: Gaza email 

Joan, Attached and p~stec!_!>~!9w for your review_ is one further iteration of the proposed email, reflecting comments 
from various offices.I · J 
I I 
I - - 1 Thanks, Stephen 

Dear Jake--

1 

jREVIEW AUTHORITY: Sharon Ahmad, Senior Reviewetj 
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I hope you find this helpful. Please let me know if you have any questions. 

Regards, 

Joan 

4 
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freedom of movement as stated in article12 of the International Covenant 
on Civil.and Political Rights (ICCPR)."' Jn this respect, it should be noted 
that one of the legal coi:<iitions stipull\ted by the lex speciolis regarding the 
imposition of a naval blockade is the condition of 'effectiveness'"' and 
its impartial implementatioA with regard to the s!\lpping vessels of all 
States.'" Therefore, the concept of a 'naval blockade' inherently includes 
the re5.triction of all movement by $ea. Moreover, the right of Ille citizens 
ofone state to croS!! the borders of the state into another st.ate with whi,ch 
they are at war is -not unlhnited. A state may, without doubt, re.strict the 
freedom ofmovenient of persons beyond its borders in order to protect 
national secrtrity and public order."' 

Therefore, the Commission has reached the conclusion that most 
of the issues that were raised within this framework have already been 
addressed above pursuant to the le.< specialis that applies here, namely the 
rules of international h\1-inailitarian,law. 

Further, there is nothing in the evidence !hat suggests that concerns 
raised regarding the realizaffon of human rights norms would ril;e to a 
level that renders the naval blockade and the accompanying land closure 
contrary to international law because it is disproportionate. 

Claims regarding 'collective punishment' 

101. An issue that has to be addressed is whether the blockade and 
Israel's land croS!!ings policy are a for111 of 'collective punishment' that 
is contrary to the rules. of international humanitarian law. This is a very 
serious claim.'" Under tlte drcumstance5, it is important to analyze the 
concept of 'collective punishment' to understand its basis in law and 
potential relevance to the case .at hand. 

370 GislU1:_ Gn~ Cfos11re Dtftned: Colltcli~ Punishment, Position Paper Ql'J the Jnfenmtional law 
Definition of 1$mefi R __ esltictfons on.Mot't'.menf.i11 tmd out of the Gaza Strip, nvaiinblt al www. 
gisha.org/ UserFiles/File/pu~lirations/GazactosureDefinedEng.pdi (2008), at 10. 

371 San Ren!o-Mnmml, supra note 110, al rule 93. 
3n Jd.;atru1e100. 
313 ln!eroational Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, Dec. 16, 1966, S. Treaty Doc. No. 95-

20, 61.Ll\!. 368 (1967), 999 U.N.T-5.171. 
374 Collective pWli.slurtenl is not t?nl.unemt(!d as a war crime In Ai:tide 147 of Convention 

(IV} r~_lative to the_ l'rotectio_n Qf Civilian Persons in 'rime of War. Geneva, 12 August 
1949 [herelna(ler Geneva ConVt!ntion IV]. However, while- grave breaclres of the 
(;eneva-ConVenHo~ ar~ th_e most serious war, crimes, other violations of internal:ional 
humanitarian law are also categorized as such. Itis unclear whE?ther the ac:cusal:ion leveled 
at Ista~l by Ce_rlaill patties~ according to which the naval blockade a1nounts lo a breach of 
international law - also implies that thfa C(l(tSt:ihttcs a war ctime. 

104 I Turkel Commission Report 
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102. The suggested b.asis in treaty law for this concept is found in 
article 33 of the Fourth.Geneva Convention"' and article 50 of the Hague 
Regulations pf 1907; which prohibit the punishment of a protected person 
because of acts that he did not colnmit independently or for which he is 
not otheiwise responsible.'" This prohibition was also recognized in the 
First AddjtionalProtocol.and the Se<:ond Additional Protocol as a basic 
guarantee for aUdvilJans and injured members of the armed. forces that 
can no longer act as combatants (lwrs de combat)."' Although collective 
punishment has been recognized as a war crime in the constitution of the 
International Criminal Tribunal for Rwanda and in the Special Tribunal 
for Sierra Leone,318 it is not·incluQ.ed~in the list of ciimes enumerated in 
the Rome Statute of 199$ of the International Criminal Court, unlike, 
for example, the crime of 'intentionally usJng starvation ·of civilians as 
a method of warfare by depriving them ofobjects indispensable to their 
survival, including willfully impeding relief supplies as provided for 
under the G~neva Conyentions', which is stipulated in article 8(2)(b) 
{XXV} of the R,qrnc Convention. 

103. The varfous commentaries of the International Conunittee of 
the Red Cross provide a particularly broad interpretation to the term 
'collective punislµnent.' The Commentary to article 33 of Geneva 
Convention IV indicates that collective penalties refers not to sentences 
pronounced by a court but ratherpenalties of any kind inflicted on persons 
or entire groupsforacts those persons have not con\mitted. Similarly, the 
commentary on artide 75 of the First Additional l'rotocol proposes that 
'the concept of collective punishment rnust be understood in the broad.est 
sense: it covers not only legal sentences but sanctions. and harassment 
of any sort, administrative, by police action or otherwise."' Finally, the 

375 Girrfvn Coiwttttio11 IV, supra note 374, at para. 33, stat_es the follQwing: 
~No protected person may be punished for an offence he or she has not personalty 
«in:(M.ittc~t Colled_ive pcrndties and likewise all m~asutes of inHmidation Qr of terrorism 
are prohibited. 
PJllage is prohibited. 
_Rep_riSals a&afust prote<=ted persons nnd their property ate.prohibited~. 

376 The Hague Convention (1907); at para. 50,_siates the following: 
"No general penalt;r; pecuniary or Otherwise, shall be inflicted upon the population 
on account of the acts of individuals for which they cannot be regarded as jointly 
and severally resporlsible~'. 

3'11 See C>mmtnfmy on ProtocolJ of t1ie Gtneva Conventians1 supra note 285, at 225, art. 33, para. 
t. 

378 See art. 4{b) of the lntetnational Criminal Tribunal ol Rwanda (ICrR), "Violations- of 
Article_3 COmmon fu the-Geneva Conventions and of Additionaf Protocol 11" and art 3(b} 
of the Statute of the Sped._al Court-for Sierra Leone. 

379 See lCRC Commeiitnry oi1 Pro-toc-01 l of tire Ge11wii C011ventio11s, supra note 285, at225, art. 751 
para. ~055. 

Turkel Commission Report I 105 

UNCLASSIFIED U.S. Department of S!a.t<? ... Case No. F-2Q:1_0Jl4j63 p~c ill_O. C0533085LDate: __ 0§/£5/2013 

StateDept005002 



UNCLASSIFIED U.S. Department of State Case No. F-2010-04163 Doo No. C05330857 Date: 0612512013 

proposed interpretatio!I of article 4(2)(b) in the (:onunentary on the 
Second Additional Protocol is that collective punishment "is virtually 
equivalent to prohibiting "reprisals" against protected persons" although 
such a prohibition is clearly found elsewhere in the law.'"' In this respect 
it should be noted that the case iha.t ill most often identified wlih the issue 
of collective punishment· tJ:ie Prieb/<e .case • dealt with a conviction for acts 
ofrepril!al that were coID,I!\itted by German forces agafr\st Italian civilians 
during the Second World War."'·The Conunentary oll. the First Additional 
Protocol proposes that 'the prohibi\jon (of collective punishment] is 
actually concerned with ill.\jmldation,''" even though attempts to extend 
th~ ·provisi~ns tq. the ·us.e of physiCal and t;noral coercion havg not been 
successful, sill.ce similar articles already exist with regard to prisoners of 
War and Civilians.383 

This. is where the difficulty lies from the viewpoint of those 
who claim that imposing: a naval blockade and adopting a method of 
econbrnic warfare is 'collective punishment'; too br()ad an interpretation 
of the coricePt of 'collective pUnishment' can result in a conflict wit11 
add.itional and more srecific provisions of international humanitarian 
law, such as the laws. that govern the imposition of a naval blockade. A 
broad ill.terpretation of what constitutes collective punishment has to be 
reconciled with both the nature of naval blockade as a lawful form of 
warfare and the specific customary Jaw provisioiis regulati!\g the conduct 
of such a blockade. If the cnstomary rules regarding the imposition of a 
nav•l blockade are followed, it is difficult to see how this could constitute 
collective punishment. 

104. Since one of the p1:Uposes of imposing a naval blockade is to 
use coercion against a hostile state or entity that is a party to an armed 
conflict, the affected population will gerterally feel the effects of this 

380 See JCRC Commentary on PtotocoJs Additional to the Gen·eva Conventions of 12_ Au~t 
1949, ·and Relating to the Protection of Victims in· Armed Conflicts (Protcxol U)1 Jun. 8, 
1977 (hereinafter ICRCComme11tnry_on Protocol If Cf the Geneva CottVtniionsJ, at para. 4536, 

381 Sergio ¥ar<hi$i.i?; _The Prlcbke Ca;:ie btfore3be 1t'1fitlt1 Mitiftlry TrUnmals: A Rtiiffirmntion of 
tlte. Pri111:1"ple. of NDttwApp,iQJbillly of Sf11tuttiry Lfmitntil)WI_ fQ War Crimes aiuf Crimes '1gninst 
Humnuity, 1 v.a. INT'L tiUM· LAw 344, 3SO (1998) (it_·should be noted that the Military 
Tribunal rejected. the claim that the killingt> constituted "collective pUl'lis~~nt" arguing 
that '1accordlng to the d_octri.neT collective punislunent can affect only a community and 
notihdlyidli~ls: ih that sense a dassjcal example of ooll~tlvepuitishrri.entil'l th~ req_uisition 
of properties of- the slate such as librari~, museums, etc", see Francesca Martines The 
f?ef(mcf~ of RepriSlil!!, Superfor Orders an~ Ditr(S$ in ihe. Priebke Case Before the lltili'an M_ititary 
Tribimal, 1 va·oF' IN'r'L HUM. LAw354-,356(1998)) .. 

382 See ICRC Coimmmtmy on Protocol I of the Gt;netia Canventfotts, supra r1ote 285, at 22.S, arL 75, 
pat-a. 3056. 

383 Jd., at para; 3057. 
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pressure. The issue is not that there is coercive action which impacts the 
population collaterally, but ratherwhat that impact is and what mitigating 
hwnanitarian measures are put in place. 1his reality is reflected in the 
asSessment of economic sanctiOns even in situationS that do not amooot 
to an armed conJliCt. As the Economic and Social Council of the United 
Nations.said ln 1997i · 

'In <onsidtmng sanctions, it is essential to distinguish b.etween the 
basic objective of applying political and economic pressµre upon 
the governing eUte of the country to persuade them to conform to 
international law, and the collateral infliction of suffering upon 
the mo.9t vulllerable groupswithih the targeted country. For that 
reason, the sanctions regimes established by the Seeutity Council 
now include humanitarian e~emptions desimed to permit the 
flow of essentia.1 goods and services destined for humanitarian 
purposes. It ii? C';)rnmonly assumed that these exemptions ensure 
basic respect for economic, social and cultural rights within the 
targeted country.'"' 

The issue is not that there is coercive action impacting the 
population collatetally, but rather whatthatimpact is and what mitigating 
humanitarian measµres are put in place. Therefore, the fact that the fabric 
of economic life of the civilian population is adversely affected as.a result 
of economic W(ltfare doe$ not, in itself, amoun,t to 'collectiv_e punishment.' 

105. When referring to 'collective punishment', a sharp distinction 
should be made ih regards to two types of policy: (i) an authority 
punishes a group known to comprise innocent individuals, and (ii) an 
al!thority punishes a guilty individuaL but in doing so, unintentionally 
or unavoidably causes a harmful effect upon innocent third parties. The 
second policy is accepted in the humanitarian legal system as long as 
the effect is not di$proportionate compared to the military advantage. 
The key issue is therefore whethe.r hai:m is intentionally-directed at the 
civilian population or an urdntended outcome."' For example, the Special 
Court for Sierra Leone has provided that the elements of the crime of 
collective punishments include "the intent on the part of the perpetrator 
to indiscrlmlnately and collectively punish the persons for acts whith 

384 SeE! CESCR, O>m1!ftrtt 8, supm note 343, at 2, para. 4 (the report then wel:"l.t on to lndkatc 
that the exemptions .do itot l\{lve the desired effect prompting recommendations for 
reform}. 

385 1,n leitrt.~ ()f ~nalyzing: th.e alleged "rollecl:ive-punishment" as-a war criine, it .should be 
noted that crimin_al responslbiUty _general_ly requires a mental el!!ment. The principle that 
criminal responsibility cannot be incu"rrec\ WUhOut the ~quisite intent can be derived 
from Artide 30 in the ICC Statutl!', which provides that a person should be liable for a 
crime only i€ the mt1Wrlal elements ar~ combined with intent and knowledge. 
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form the subject of the punishment""' Another example is article 51(2) 
of Additional Protocol l, which prohibits "acts or threats of violence the 
primary p11rpos11 of which is to spread terror among the civilian population 
[emphasis added]." 

106. As to the effects of the blockade and the land crossings policy 
on the civilian population In the Gaza. Strip, there is no doubt that the 
ecorton)ic warfare Israel carries out with an. intention of weakening the 
J:Iamas has an adverse impact on the daily life of the civilian population 
in Gaza. However, a number of the restrictions identified as evidence of 
the alleged collective punishment are imposed for a security rea$oris (i.e. 
restrictions on n:\aterialssuch as concrete and certain medical supplies that 
can have a military t1Se)."7 Furtheri consistent with its obligations under 
international l;umanitarfan.law, Israel has set up a system for monitoring 
and coo.rdJnating humanitarian aid in Gaza in order to alleviate those 
effects.'" There is nothing in the evidence, including that found in the 
numerous humariitarian and human rights reports, that suggest that 
Israel is intentionally placing restrictions on goods for the sole or primary 
purpose of denying them to the population of Gaza. 

107. As for the naval blockade itself, within the framework of the rules 
. iliat govern the imposition and enforcement of such a blockade, there is no 
basisJor an allegation of 'collective punishment.' There is nothing in ilie 
Red Cross' Cusfomarylnternational Law Study that in any way connects 
· ilie idea of 'cbllective punishment' with a naval blockade or siege warfare. 
Oh the contrary, ilie Study states that 'the prohibition of starvation as a 
method of warfare does not prohibit the imposition of a naval blockade 
a.s long as the purpose is to achieve a military objective and. not to starve a 
civilian population.''" Similarly, with regard to a siege, which is another 
coercive method of warfare, the Red Cross' Customary International Law 
Study reiterates the fact that the prohibition of starvation as a means of 
warfare does not automatically prohibit a siege as long as the purpose 
is to achieve a military goal railier than the starvation of the dvilian 
population."' It is hard to reconcile iliese statements wiU1 the notion.that 
the naval blockade on the Gaza Strip, even when considered in conjunction 
with the border policy, falls within the meaning of collective punishment. 

386 Prostcutorv. Bni11a, J<amnrn, and Ktin11, Case No. SCSL--2004-16-T, Trlal Ch11imber Judgment, 
para. 676_ aun. 20, 2007). 

387 Prime Minlster's-Opt_11 Door Testimony, supra note 82;_ at 25; Undet of tht Opposition Tupi 
Livni's oiJett doot teitlmony, supra no_te 117, at 12; The Military Advocate·Generq/'s tesfimany, 
supra note-98, at 60. 

388 Testimony of G(nMrnmrnl Adivity Coordina.lor in the Ttr_riforits, supra note 162, at 38. 
389 CUSTOMARY INTl::RNATIONAL HUMANITARIAN LAw,supra nOle 146, at 189. 
390 Id., at 188. 
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The.re is nothing on the facts that would suggest either operation was put 
into effect as a reprisal or directed at the Civilian population.'" 

In conclusion, the Commission is of the v.iew that the imposition 
and enforcement of the navalblockade and the land crossings policy on 
the Gaza Strip do not collstitllte 'collective punishment' of the civilian 
population. 

Means of J;esolving disputes regarding the legality of a 
naval blockade 

108. Even if the naval blockade against the Gaza Strip had ·been 
considered not to meetth.e requirements of international law, individuais 
or groups do not hav.e the right to takes the law into their own hands 
and breach the blockade. lndMduals or groups do not have the rightto 
exercise onliinited "self-help" measures in the face· of state authorities. 
This could result in the eventual justification of uses of force external to 
the reaim of the U.N. Charter, 

109. Moreover, the claim that neutral shipping is free to ignore the 
existence of a nava.l blockade for the reason that it prima facie breaches 
the provisions o.1 •rticle :102 of the San Remo Manual amounts to a claim 
that the blockade - an act of a sovereign state - is null and void. The 
Commission is of the opinion that the cases in inte;rnational law where 
acts of a state are regarded as void - as opposed to illegal or unjust- are 
rare. Iri general, it is possible that the actions of a state that amount to a 
violation of 'the binding norms.of international law' (jus cogens) will be 
defined as void ab initi9 and therefore they may be ignored. Titis is clearly 
the content of international treaties,'" and it may be deduced from the 
International Law Commission's Draft Articles on State Responsibility, in 
cases where thete is a gross violation of jus cogens norms.'" Admittedly, 
there is some degree of consensus on the question of the content of jus 
cogens norms, but these norms are not authoritatively enumerated. The 
note~ to the Intemal:lonal Law Commission's Dra(t Articles, which is a 
non--exhaustive liSt, mention the prohibitions of aggtession, slavery, 
genocide, racial discrimination and Apartheid, torture and the right to 

391 Ste ICRC Commentary 011 Protocol t of the Gent1111 Conventlon$1 supra note 285, 225: 
"Reprisals _~e meas.Ur~ contrary to law, bUt which, when taken by one State with reg;~rd 
to_attcither Sta_te _to ensure the cessation of ¢'.!rtain acts or to o_~tain c<:>xnpenli-aiion for them, 
;ire roris_idered as lawful in Ute parlintlar condttions und~r which they are carried out". 

392 Vienna CQnvention on the Law of Treaties. May 13, 19691 1155 U.N.T.S. 331, artide53, 
393 Id.; mn L. Comin'n {ILCJ, Draft Arlicle$ <111 (kspt:nisibility far lnlemalionally Wrongful 

Acls, with Comme"taries, 2 v·.a. INT'L. L. CoMM'N (2001) articles 4041 _[heieinaftflr JLC 
OmftJ. 
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self-dete;mination.'" In the·case at hand case, there is no basis for saying 
that these norms have been violated. 

110. The mies that govern the imposition of a naval blockade, as 
reflected in leading navaJ:mantlals, as well as in the San Remo Manual, 
contains nortnS. designated to protect the interests of three groups: the 
blockadmg party; neutrals; and the population of the blockaded state or 
entity. Among the norms protecting n'!Utrals' interest are the requirements 
that a blockade be dedaredf'' specified?" effective;"' impartial;"' and 
that it must not bar access to ports' ofneutral states."' These requirements 
protect mostly the reliance interest of neutral powers and vessels. The 
interests of the po'pulationwithin the blockaded territory, conversely, are 
protected in the aforementioned article 102 .. 

Furthermore, in the situation at hand, it is indisputable that the 
vessels were offered to deliver the aid into Gaza thro\lgh the Ashdod 
port, pendmg security inspection and under the supervision of relevant 
and impartial iX(temationalagencies. Thus, and in the relation between the 
l;>lockading power and the J;leutral vessels, Israel has acted according to 
the provisions of article 103 of the San Remo Manual. Therefore; even 
were We to accept, arguendiJ, that a neutral shipping vessel has a right 
to brea.ch a naval blockade because lt Is disproportionate, in the specific 
circumstances of the case before us, it can be said that the illegality was 
repaired by Israel's offer to transfer the humanitarian supplies to the Gaza 
Strip, which was transmitted to the shippmg ves5els that participated in 
the flolilla. In truth, the attempt to breach the blockade could not have 
had any other purpose than a political one. The Commission is convmced 
that a political purpose in itself cannot give a shipping vessel the right to 
breach the blockade. 

111. Therefore, the Commission finds that there is no basis to the claim 
thatintemation;tl law grants mdivlduals or groups the liberty to disregard 
a declared, specified, effective, and impartial blockade - meaning, one 
that fulfills its' obligations vis-iHis neutrals- solely oil cotints of its view of 
the alleged violation of obligations vis-a-vis the elttity subject to the bluckade. 
Such an approach can lead to chaos in the relations between states and 
between states and mdividuals. 

394 Id,, at paras. 34. 
395 Stln Re1flo_·Ma1111at, Suprn note 110, at rule 93. 
396 Id., at rule 94. 
397 fd.,atnile95. 
398 fd.,atrule 100. 
399 Id., at .ruli! 99. 
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Chapter A: Conclusions 
112. Here we shall summarize the conclusions that the Commission 
has reached irt this part of the report: 

• The conflict between Israel and the Gaza Strip is an international 
armed conflict. 

• Israel's 'effective control' of the Gaza Strip ended when !he 
disengagement was foJJ:lpleted. 

• The pt.repose of th~ naval blockade imposed by Israel on the Gaza Strip 
was primarily a military-security one. 

• The naval blockade was imposecl on the G<>Za Strip lawfully, with 
Israel complying with the conditions for imposing it. 

• Israel is complying with the humanitarian obligations imposed on Ute 
blockading party, including the prolu']:Jition of starving Ute civilian 
population or preventing the supply of objects essential for the survival 
of the civilian population and medical supplies, and the requirement 
that the damage to the civilian population is not excessive in relation 
to the concrete and direct military advantage anticipated from the 
blockade. 

• The imposition and enforcement of the naval blockade on the Gaza 
Strip does not constitute 'collective pttnishment' of the population of 
the Gaza Strip. 

• International law does not give indiVlduals or groups the freedom lo 
ignore the imposition of a naval.blockade .that satisfies the conditions 
for imposin15 it and that is enfor10ed accordingly, eSjJecially where a 
blockade satisfies obllgations to neutral patties, merely because in the 
opinion of those individuals or groups it violates Ute duties of the party 
imposing the blockade vis-a-vis the entity subject to the blockade. 
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Chapter B: The ac:tions undertaken by 
Israel to enforce the naval blockade on 
May31,2010 

General 

113. On lvlay 31, 2010,.a flotilla of six ships whose stated destination 
was the Gaza Strip approached the coast of the State of Israel. During May, 
the six ships of the flotilla left the ports of Ireland, Turkey and Greece, and 
they joined together at a meeting point approximately 30 miles south of 
CY]Jriis."" The largest of Ute ships in the floJ;illa was the Mavi. Mannara, 
whi<;h s.tarted out from the port of Is.tanbul and picked up most of its 
passengers at .the port ofAntalya; it had approximately 590 passengers 
and crew ott board1 who were primarily of Turkish nationality. 

Reports about the organizatipn Of the fl9tilla began at the end of 
January and the beginning of February 2010. The IDF's assessment was 
that this flotilla Was different from !hose that preceded it, since from !he 
initial information that it received, it tranSpired that !he flotilla would be 
particularly large; both in lerII\$ of size (there was talk of approximately 
ten ships), and the quantity of passengers and equipment that the various 
ships could carry. Israel therefore made preparations, bo!h from a 
diplomatic viewpoint in: order to prevent the departure of the flotilla from 
the ports of origin, and from a military viewpoint, in order to enforce the 
naval blockade and prevent the flotilla from reaching the Gaza Strip. The 

400, Jn fact, eight veSsels departed with the purpose of joining up and reaching Gaza 
tog~ther, 1'wo vessels were detained along the way for variotis reasons-&nd it was 
decided not to_ wait_ for th_em: one of the V4}Ssel1>, the CHALLENGER 21 did not take 
part in theflo~ill~ due ~o a ~echnical malfunctio~ and some of its passengers transferred 
tO the Mavl Marmara's deck) i;ee para._ A of IDF comp/eJion resp·Qnse (Nov. 15, 
.2010), the folder containing th13 exhibit has been marked.by the Commission as 
folder 145 [hereinafter IDF co1nplelion response af /5.li.2010); the second vessel, 
the Rachel Corrie, _tried to reach the Gaza Strip at a later stage, following the events 
of the flotilla in question. The ship reached Jsrael's shores on Jun. S, 20 t 0 and after 
it was requested to stop, by the,IDF it was offered to unload its cargo at the port of 
A_shd6d and th'at the merchandise on board would be transferred to Gaza,fOllowing 
inspection, through the li.1,nd border crossings and this was the case, see decision 
L 759 of32n4 Goven:iment Treatment of Rachel Corrie Flotilla to Gaza (Jun. 6, 20 I 0) 
as well as the Chief of Staff's Open Door Testimpny of 1/.8.2010, supra note 70, at 
15. 
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diplqrnatic efforts were unsuccessful, and, consequently, the flotilla set 
sail with six shlps as noted. 

Shortly before the fl~tiUa reached the coast of Israel, seve.ral warnings 
were senfto the shiJ?ll• whjch stated that the ships were approaching 
the area Of a I\OVa! blod1ade and they Were requested to tum back. 
T\le warnings al.so stated that insofar as the ships did not comply with 
this instruction, the Israeli.navy wollld adopt all of the meastlf!'S at its 
disposal in order ti> enforce the naval blqckade, and each of the warnings 
also stated that after security inspection, it would be possible to send 
the humanitarim cargo OJ:\ b.oard the ships to the Gaza Sttip via the llllld 
crossings: When the·shlps reached .a distance of approximately 70 miles 
from the coast of Atlit and still did not respond to the warnings, a military 
operation was s.t0rted at 4:26 0.m. to lake con!)"ol of the sl)ips with forces 
of 111.e Shayetet 13 unitj;.ist-roping from l\elicopters and boarding th• 
ships frPrn More11a speedboats of the !sraelinavy (a Morena speedboat is 
a.vessel for carrying: servicemen that is made in the United States, where 
it is.called.RHIB for rigid-hulled inflatable boat, is used by the American 
special forces, and is charact.erized by advanced maneuvering capabilities 
and reaching higl\ speeds; )jereafter.: Morena spee>iP();lts). On the deck 
of Ute· ~.vi ¥l~rmar4;· the IOF.soldiers-w!!re··m.et with extreme_ violence. 
The events th•t followedled to the deaths.of nine of the participants of 
the flotilla, injuries to Jiffy-five others and injuries to J:line IDF soldiers. 
On the cl•ckS qf the other. ships, the IDF soldiers encountered less or no 
re_sis~c_e,_· an'd __ th_ere W~_re rt_o loi;s (Jf lives. 

After the takeover. of the ships was completed, the injured were 
taken to the vari9us hospltab;, and the.bodies of the dead were taken to 
the Abu Kabir Forensic Ins\itute, where only "" e~t~fll<'l ex;•mfnation 
was ca!'fied out, and tl\ey wl!re transferred toTwkey,.atTurkey's request, 
withoµtautopsies being performed., The ships and the:other participants 
of the flotilla were taken to.Ashdod port, where: they began.to arrive on 
May 3l, 2010, at 1:00 p.m; The diseinbarking ofthe pailicipmts of the 
flotilla (rom!:he s.\tlps q>ntinued until aroU11d 9;45 a.m. QnJune 1, 2010. At 
Ashdod, thepart;icipants of the flotilla und.erwent a process that.included 
a S\'<:urity cl1eck, i.s.suing a detention order (in the lan8'1age of each of 
!:he partidpllll1$ of the flotilla), and a medical examination, and some of 
them. underwent tile taking of biometric measurements (the taking of 
firigerpdnts and a phoiogritph). Subsequently, the parlicipanw of the 
flotilla ;yern transferred to several prisonswl\ere they wern detained. On 
Jnne2, 2Ql0, a(t~r the Attpmey-General dedded. to terminate the crimiIIOI 
investigation that he had ordered on June 1, 2010, and after the approval 
of the Supreme Court was given in thls regard, the participants were 
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during the takeover operation, includirig their use of both lethal and less­
lethal weapons. 

In the seventh part (paras; 227-234), we present the conclusions of 
the detai,le!i analysis conducted by the Commission with respect to each 
irtstance of the use of force in this event. As stated above, the Commission 
approached the IDF and requested the testimonies of all of the soldiers 
and commanders. who llSed .forced during the takeover of the vessels. 
These statements were analyzed by the Commission pursuant to the 
principles of international law. 

Finally, ll,I the eighth plil't of this chapter, we e~amine the plarmillg 
and organization of the military operation in general, as well as the training 
and preparations forit that were undertaken by the!DF soldiers, with the 
goal ofdetemilning the extentto Which these preparations influenced the 
use olforce during the events under consideration. 

The facts 

The preparation stage 

The situation before the operation from an intelligence perspective 

115, At the beginning of this part, we shall present an overview of the 
intelligence that the politi<;al e\:helon and the IDF had in ilieir possession 
before the 'Winds of Heaven 7' operation began. Within this framework, 
we shall provide some of ilie details that were known before the operation 
began and on ilie basis of whkh the preparations for it were made."' 

116. In Mardi 2010, naval intelligence in the IDF began to produce 
intelligence information withregard to the.flotilla."' In view of initial public 
information about the organization of the flotilla that began· to. appear 
at the end of January 2010, intelligence items we.re published on March 
4, 2010, with regard to the involvement in the fl9tilla of an organization 

401 It should be mruitiort~ that infonnat:lon gathering sources in addition to the ones 
m~ntloned beli:,iw deci't with ·gathering an· intelligence pichu:e of the event: See fot 
ex~mple.Gilad Cohen 'Th~ F1otnla to Breach the Siege on Gaza" {May 17, 2010), the folder 
(Qnt!'lnlng the exhibit has bttn marked by the Commission as folder 28. 

402 See" Winds of Heaven T' (G_ener_~l _Slaff experts inquiry by Ciora EiJand,Jul._ ll, 20_10), at 
29, marked by- the Commission as eih.ibit 5- [hereh:iafter-Tht Eiland Report]; for intelllgenct 
compilations see··• Winds of Heaven 7-~ preserltaliol'I of combat plan principles" (sununary 
by IDF _operatio~ branch, October 2010) marked by the. Commission as exhibit 106 
{hereina(ter Operations Branch Sum1t1aryJ; Defense Mh1ist~r-'s Memora11f1µ111 Appe.m/i>;,s, suprn 
note 209, a.t appendixes 35-37, 43-45, 49. 
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called Insani Yardim Vakfi, or Humanitarian Relief Foundation in English 
(hereafter: IHH), a Turkish organization t:hat is prohibited in Israel by 
law. Additional _naval intelligence information concerned the number 
of participants in the flotilla, the agreement of human rights acl;ivists 
and public figures to participate in the flotilla, the dates planned for 
t:he departure .of the flqtilla, and statements of )1$ organizers that they 
attached great importance to tl1e involvement of theTurkish govenunent, 
they inten<led to create a media event in real time and they were aware 
of Israel's intention of stopping the flotilla from reaching G_aza and their 
ambiguity regarding _their ~spoµse to St\ch an operation by Israel."' On 
May 26, 20~0, the intelligence. included a •t\ltement ;i.ttributed to the 
prirneni,inister of Turkey that any step th.at would be taken in order to 
prevent the flotilla from reaching Gaza. would lead to a response whose 
narurewas unclear. On May 29, 2010, intelligence was published that the 
chairman ofJHH, Bfilent Yil<;lirim, who was on the MalJi Marmara itself, 
said that the participants of the floti)Ia did not haveillly weapons in their 
possession, \Jut they intended to resist any takeover of th!! ship by force. It 
was also reported that there were divers on: hoard the ship for the purpose 
of locating any darMge to the ship. On May 30, 2010, intelligence was 
distributed to the effect that the ships in the flotilla had begun to move in 
the direction of the Gaza Strip, and that, inter a)ia, the activists on /3oat 8000 
intended to tie th_emselves with chains and start a hunger strike."' On 
May.30, 2010, at 10:45 p.m., a special intelligence reportwas written and 
<listributed by Israeli naval intelligence, which stated that in the last few 
hours,the statements regarding an intention to use physical force to resist 
the takeover had increased, an<I th•t while the participants of the flotilla 
emphasized t:hat there was no intention of using guns or knives, they had 
warned of spontaneous responses to the use of force against them and 
declared that 'it would be difficult' for the naval forces to board the ship."' 

403 l(f.; on Apr. 6; 2010 _it was 'Stated that there is a. possibility that the flotilla would be 
accompanled_ byTuddsh vessels. On Apr. 26, 2010 th_e inte_n~on _tQ create a media event 
in real time was mentk~iled, along with _i:he extreme impodilncl!' attributed by the flotilla 
organizers to the lil.volve_merit of the Turkish- Govectl1;(lent. On May 23, 2010 it was 
mehtioned. that a day-earlier; a demonstration with mu16ple participants was Ot(_hestrated 
by lhe mtt al Istanbul's port and that the Rolilla :organlzers-menti9ned that they are 
aware of the N~vy'_s intention tCJ prevent the ships' arriV-~I in Gaza, thoU:gh Uu,1y remahtcd 
vag'1e regardiri~- their conduct when facing the to:P soldiers. on Feb 25, 2010 it was 
me1l~ion~d- in __ the i":te!Jlg~ ga_thru-lng _that the _otgitnizatiOris taking pit rt iii. the fl6t1lla 
have Wgun operating dirt?(t broadcasts via satellite and that the Marmara has entered the 
port of An_tal}>-a to co!Ject passengers:. On-May 27, 2010 a i:on:ipil_alion was published which 
mentioned that at lhe tiril~rit is unknown Whethet the passengeM are preparing a ba(kup 
plan to_pre_vent our fO_rces~ tikf:lovet of lht:: participating veiisels. 

404 ld.,incompilationo!May29,2Cil0. 
405 See '1telegram form for operation "Winds of Heaven 7"-by the Naval fnteUigence Division", 
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The research division 9f naval inteUigence also distributed several 
documents; but this infonnationwas relatively sparse and did not change 
the inte).ligi>nce picturec'°' Additional open infelligence II)llterial was 
published by the lnte)llgence and Terrorism Wormation Center of the 
Israel Intelligence Heritage &: Commemoration Center (hereafter: IlCC) 
back in January, 2010. A document published by nee on January 19, 
2010; mentioned I<hata.in Bawalha, a Hamas operative in Britain who 
led the campaign lo break the"])lackl!de on Gaza and who ls connected 
with the Turkish IHH organization, who said on January 17, 2010, on a 
site identified with Hezbollah, that 'a new convoy of aid would leave 
for Gaza ])y sea' and that this time (apparenUy unlike the incident that 
occurred in January 2010, iu an attempt of one of the la.rtd convoys to 
enter Gaza via the Rafah qos5ing, during which a confrontation with 
the Egyptians developed), 'the confrontation would be directly against 
the Zionist en:emyi"' A document dated April 7, 2010, mentioned the 
possibility th~t the organizers of the flotilla took into account a possible 
scenario of.confrontations w;th the Israeli Navy, and that they intended 
to 'provoke lsrnel.''Da .On May 26, 2010, the !ICC distributed a document 
outlining the character of JHH and indicating the organization's links 
with Islamic extremists, including the Hamas and iutemanonal Jihadists. 
The report diseussed how the IHH was an organization with a radical 
Islamic orientation th.at had relations with the Hamas, inter alia thtough its 
membership of the 'Union of Good ~oalition' (a.rt umbrella organization 
of more than fifty Islamic funds around the world that transfer money, 
inter a/in, to the Hamas) and that helped Hamas's propaganda machine 
in Turkey.'" A document was distributed on May 30; 2010, in which 
Billent. Yildirirn was quoted as saying, while on the Mavi Marmara, that 
the youngest person on the Mavi Mannara was one year old, and the 

the folder containing the exhibit'was marked by the Commission a$.folder 90. 
406 See Defense ,MinisJer~.s·Memorandum AfJU'!dixes,.sup'ra note 209, at appendix!?$ 36, 43. On 

Apr. l~ io10 a genera~_ notice r~ardmg the organization of a humanitarian flotilla was 
made publi'c. Tlje,flo_tllla orga.riluts' preparation for·a_:Conlro_n_ta_tiori with lDF !Ot'Ces which 
woWd be covered by the mediii was mentioned on May 16, 2010. TwQ moh,\ dixuments 
were distjib_uted in l:nte~l ~is_tti~ution only (~at ~, th~ d_ocumen_ts _onJy dtculate(;{ 
within the research department HsclO: a document dealing with the activities of the U-U-J 
org~iµtion-was publis_hed on May.24, 2010. The dl)cumerit dis_cuss~ the organization1s 
a_ctivities_:a$_a non-govemmenl;i\ organization intended .to aid Muslim communities 
throug~out the world .. On May 26, 2010 a document was distril;iuted whkh meoti.oned the 
sta_tement_a_ttribule.d lo-Turkish Prlrne _Minister Recep Tayyip Erdo_gnn that steps 1111dertnken 
to hnfl tl1tflo_lilla t1xmld mee_f toith a rencUon. 

407 See UCC rep0rl (Jan, 19, 2010),supra-J\ote 83, at S; IICC reporl (Jan. '31, 2010), fd.1 at1;-IICC 
report (_Apr_. 7,_20l0), Yr/,, at3. 

408 IICC_ ;epOrl (Apt. 7, 2010), II/., at3. 
409 IICC r~porl (May 261 2010), Id.-; see nlso identical report distribufed on Mily 27, 2010. 
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o1\\est were eighty years .old, and that although their resistance would 
not be violent, they would not allow Israeli forces to. board the ship.'" 
The document also said that the organizers of.the flotilla expressed their 
desire that .the conflict with the Navy would take place in dayllght .so 
that U1e m.edia .collld docµment it and In ord.er to create waves in the 
international media.•11 AdO,itional reports which were distributed relate 
mostly to humailitatian aid issues, the equipment that the organizers of 
the flotilla intended to bring totheGa~a Strip, and the public figures and 
activists that would take part m the flotilla."' 

The Mossad was asked by Israeli Na'/al futelligence to send it 
infoonation, which it did. 

On May 11, 2010, a report was received from the National Security 
Council that according to a report in the Palestinian media, the prime 
minister of Turkey, Recep Erdogan, met with the organizers of the flotilla 
and said 'removing the blockade was top of Turkey's priorities.'"' 

Decision Qf the political echelon 

117, As a rule, 'Winds of Heaven' operations - a procedure that was 
formulated by the IDF in order to deal with the phenomenon of flotillas 
to Gaza'" • were approved by the political echelon, namely the Prime 
Mirlister and the Minister. of Defense. In the course of formulating the 
plan for the 'Winds of Heaven' operation, the IDF had considered various 
alternatives for seiZing the vessels, and the possibilities for performing a 
"cold stop'' of the vessels had proven to be impractical. However, the navy 
had been succeosful in stopping ships by taking control of them, whether 
by climbing aboard their decks from small boats that crune alongside the 
ships, and by rappelling from a helicopter directly onto the deck or the 
bridge (a drill called "fast-rope"). 

Therefore, on April 22, 2010, a discussion was held on the question 
of the flotilla which is the sul)ject of this report, against a background of 

410 ltCC report (May 30,_2010}, Id., at 2, which refetefl(€!S the IHH organization's official 
website. See_alsO.Thr Eila11d Report,stJprtt note-402,at32. 

411 ~ IICC rq;Ort (May 30, '2010)) ~upra nole 83, at 2, which references a news story on.Al 
Jaz_~ra from May 29, 2010 as well as an interview on the IHH organization's.open channel 
fron\ May 30, 2010. 

412 $ec, for example /1CC rt~rt {May 11, 2010) 1d.;See also Tiie ER1111d Report, supra n.ote 402, al 
32. 

413 See Dtft11se Mi11fsftr's Mt.momndi1111 Appe,ndixes,_s11pra nQle 209,at appendl,x 39. 
414 See- pal as. i4~21 above in lhis repott; see also j~'Winds of. Heaven'; -General Staff Plan", ln 

re~pOnse to the oomplction request of Dec. 29, 2010,_ the folder containing the exhibit was 
marked by the Commission ;i.s folder 167[hereinafter T/11~ Ct11erar Stt1ff Plt1n]. 
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intc].Jigence surveys th{itwere prepan,<:1, at the weekly meeting that took 
place at the office of the Minister of Defense with the participation of IDF 
officers.'" The IDF's position at the meeting was that if the diplomatic 
effort to Prevent the flotilla setting sa.11 was unsuccessful, there would 
be no •.ltemative b.ut to prevent the flotilla frqm reaching the Gaza Strip 
in a military operation, which would require taking control of the ships. 
At an additional meeting that tookplilce on May 6, 2010, the Minl$ter of 
Defense approved the overall forinat of the operation, even though he 
gave instructions that the. prep~rations for the flotilla should be submitted 
for.the approval of the Prime Minister, together with the Minister of Public 
Security, the Minister oflloreign Affairs, and the Minister of the Interior.'" 
At the.meeting that took place on M~y 13, 2010, the operation order was 
presented to the Minister of Defense."' 

On May 26, 2010, the Prime Minister, Mr. Benjamin Netanyahu, 
raised the issue of the flotilla for discussion in the forum of the 'Septet' 
(an inner cabinet that includes the senior political-security echelon and 
persons with experience in these fields)."' This discussion was not 
planned in advance. The ministexs that participated in the discussion 
supporte(l preventing the fiotilla from reaching the Gaza Strip. At the 
end of the discussion, the Prime Minister asked the Minister pf Defense to 
concentrate upon the inter-ministerial preparations and the preparations 
of all of Ute parties in the operation; as a result of his expected trip abroad 
a short lline after that meeting-'" 

On the same day, a meeting took place at the office of the Minl$ti!r 
of Defense With representatives of various entities and Government 
ministries that were involved in the preparations for the operation, 
incktding the Ministry of Foreign Affairs; the Ministry of the Interior, the 
Ministry of Public Security, the Ministry of Justice, IDF officers and public 
relationspersonnel.'"At thls meeting; the Commander of the Israel Navy 
reviewed the preparations of the forces for the operation. An additional 
meeting that took place at the office of the Minister of Defense on the 
Same day addressed the issue of public relations in the context of the 

41S Def~11je Mi11ister's Memorandum, supra note 176, at 32·34. 
416 Id., at 34·35. 
417 !tl.1 at3S. 
418 "DISct®i_On regarding preparation for the flotilla to Gaza" (Protocol of septet forum 

meeting, May26,2010). 
41.9 Id., at45. 
420 See summary of meeHng at Defense Minister's office "Preparation _ancj Readiness of Forces 

(or·''Wlnds of Hef' ven" - Defl!nOO: MWste:r's Summ11.ry" (May 26, 2010); protocol of meeting 
""Winds of fJeaven" ·Patt A"1 lh~ fQlder. whert.d:he e>::hiblts .are found Was marked by the 
Commission as folder 28. See also Deftilse Minister's Mtmdrnndum, supra note 176, at 53. 
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preparations Md deployment for the operation."' Following this, on May 
27,2010, fue Ministry of Foreign Affairs sent a do.ctullent to. all of Israel's 
representations abroad."' On May 27, 2010, at a weekly update meeting 
fuat took place at fue office of fue Minister of Defense, the Minister of 
Defense said l;l)at he was impressed by fue high level of preparation of 
fue forces an(! entities for (leallng wifu fue flotilla, discussed fue expected 
confrontation wifu the flotilla activists and the public relations difficulty 
presented by the incident.'" 

The diplomatic attempts to prevent theflotillafrom departing 

ns, From fue matetials before fue Commission, it can clearly be seen 
thatduring•fue period before.the flotilla set sail, many diplomatic moves 
were-made,'atvatious levels and to various countries, in order to prevent 
the flotilla's departure for Gaza. 

Thus, for example, !he Prime Minister, Mr. Benjamin Netanyahu, 
said in his testimony before the Commission that in view of the expected 
scale of !he flotilla,. a 'Special diplomatic effort' was made to try to prevent 
it from reaching the Gau coast and to divert it to Ashdod or the El-Arish 
port where it would unload the hµmanitarian equipment and transport it 
vi;l the land crossings.''' The Prime Minister went on to say !hat in May 
diplomatic moves were m.ade continuously to many countries, including 
countries. whose citizens were on board lhe ve,;sels in the flotilla, or 
whose ports were tised at any stage by fue ves5els in fue flotilla. The 
Prime Minister furfuet said that diplomatic efforts were also made to fue 
United Nations and Turkey, since many of fue flotilla's participants were 
Turkish citizens. Jn this context, fue Prime Minister said fuat his office 
made direct contacts with 'fue highest levels of the Turkish Government,' 
including Turkish Prime Minister, Rccep Erdogan, himself; moreov.er, fue 
Pdrrte Minister said !hat on May 27, 2010, he personally contacted a senior 
figure in the Egyptian Government, with a request that Egypt would 
speak wifu the Tlirkish Government.'" In his classified testimony before 

421 See_sum(nary of n1eeting at Defense M_inister's office "''Wiitds of l'Ieaven" - Publidty ~ 
Defoni;c Minister's Sur:run;uy'' (May 2'7, 2010}; protocol of meeting ""Sky Winds" .. Part A", 
the Jo)de:r where the_ exhi~its are ftt:Ctnd ~a~rinarked by the Co1nmissio11 ·as folder 28; See 
also Defense Mfnister's MtH101m1du1J1, supra note 176, at 53. 

422 A_nnouncement by the Foreign Office spok~person to Jsr<\eli representatives {May 27, 
2010~, Dtftnst Ml11l$_t~r's Memt)taJ1dtuttAj;pendixts, supra note 209, at appendix 60/2. 

423. See protocol of weekly situation estimate at Def~ Minister's offit;e ''Operati~ and 
Exwrslons + weekly Situation Estµnate'' (May ?.7, 2010), the folder where the exhibits 
an: found was marked by the ComlTlissfon <i.s folder 28; ~ also Defense Mfr1isfer's 
Memo11111d1tm, s_11prQ riote 176, at 54. 

424 Prime Minisler's Open Door Tt!$tim,my, sµpra note 82, at 6. 
425 ld.,at9. 
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the Commission, the. Pri\ne Mil)ister gave precise details of the nature 
and timing of the diplomatic moves.'" Despite these actions, the Pritne 
Mil)ister ended by saying.that' All the efforts led to nothing.''" 

The l\1illisler of Defense, Lleutenant-Get\eral (res.) llhud Barak, also 
testified regarding the diplomatic moves that were intended to prevent 
the flotilla fmrn setting sail; 

'Throughou,ttlw afoll'Saiq period, there was.extet\Sive diplomal:\c 
activity on the part of the Prime.Minister, the Ministry ofForeign 
Affairs, senior officials in the Mlnistry of DefCt\Se and the IDF 
and also by me, in at\ effort to bring about the cancellation of 
the flotlUa; to stop it or lhnit it. In the two weeks prior to the 
arrival of the Turkish flotilla, I discussed the matter with U1e 
represenfative of the-Quartet,. Tony-BI_air, the envoy of the UN 
Seeretary-Ceneral, Robert Serry, the head of Egypt's General 
Intelligence, :he Greek Foreign Minister, the Turkish Foreign 
Minister, the ltish Foreign Minister, the Tw\<.ish Ambassador 
in. ISrael -and _several others who, because of the n_ature of their 
diplomatic contacts requested that their names should not be 
mentioned. Regrettably, these. major diplomatic efforts did not 
lead to the result thatwe wanted.'"' 

In his classified testlrnony, the Minister of Defense went on to give 
detalls of the diplomatic contacts with Tmkey immediately before the 
flotilla set sail in an attempt.to prevent its departure. Here, he discussed 
the diplomatic contacts with the Turkish representatives. in the United 
States, with senior offidals in Egypt, Cyprus and the United States, and 
with senior officials in the Turkish Government itself."' 

Additional detaUs of the purposes, nature, and dates of the 
diplomatic contactswere given to the Commission in the testimony of the 
former director•general of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Ambassador 
Yos9i Gal. In his testinlony, the d~ector-general of the Ministry of Foreign 
Affairs discussed how during the whole period of the diplomatic efforts 
Israel emphasized tinle and again the existence of the naval blockade and 
the fact that; as a rule, Israel dqes not prevent the entry of humanitarian 
equipmentintoGaza,subjecttoasecurltyinspectionatthe!andcrossings."0 

446 Trn~ript·of ~ion110. 2 ''Testimony or the Prime· Minister, Close doors" (Aug. 26; 2010) 
[hereinafter Prime Minister's Closed Door TtstimQnyJ. 

427 Prlmi Mi~tl$ttr'$ Optn D_oor Tesfilnony, supra riote 82, at 9. 
428 Defe11se MinfS_ftr's Open DoorTesHmany,Jup~a no_te 701 _at4~. 
429 Transcript of session no. 3 "Defense Miriister's Ct~ D_oor Testht1Qny" (Aug. 10, 2~10), 

at 7-8~. marked by the Commission as exhibit 85 (hereinafter Defense Minister's Closed Door 
Tdtimouy]. 

430 Transcript of session no. 10 'Testimony of the Oireclor General of the Ministry of Foreign 
Affaµ-s" (Sep. 15, 2010}, at 5, 7, {her~inaftcr Open Door Testimony Qjtfre Dfrei:lor Gencml of the. 
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'!he director-general of the. Ministry of Foreign Affairs described in his 
testimony the scope of the contacts that were made with representatives 
in various capftals (including WashJngton, Nicosia, Athens, Dublin, 
London, Stockholm and other. capitals), contacts which, according to his 
testimony, began many weeks before the maritime incident and continued 
until a short time be.fore th.e flotilla arrived-"' He went on to say that at 
a meeting with ambassadors ot Ute twenty-seven member states of the 
European l.Jnion on May 23, 2010, he raised the iss11e of the flotilla with 
thern,and that even after this another round of approaches was made, in 
which dip!omatic letters were sent to representatives ofcountries that were 
prlmajacie able to help."' The director-general of the Ministry of Foreign 
Affairs alj;o said that shortly before the flotilla set sail, the am\)assadors of 
the countries .from whidt the flotilla ships departed were summoned by 
him and _another mes_sage was sent to these conntries. These efforts were 
not fruitful, except with respect to Cyprus, which announced in May that 
it would not pennit the flotilla's vessels to anchor in its ports.'" 

']'he director-general of the Mb.tis try of Foreign Affairs dls!:ussed in 
his testimony the intensive diplomatic activity that was directed at Turkey 
itself, at all levels and in all spheres.'" The directol'general of the Mb.tis try 
of Foreign Affairs ;yent on to describe in his testimony several proposals 
~hat wer~ sent- that w~ made b~twe_en Israel, and Turkey, in~luding 
Israel's.consent to the proposal of the Turldsh ambassador to the United 
States (which was made to the Israeli Embassy in the United States) 
that it would be the Red Crescent that would receive the humanitarian 
equipment from it at the land crossings, but these proposals were also 
rejected."' The director-general of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs also 
said that the scale of the contacts with Turkey was exceptional. In his 
words: 

Ministry of Foreign Affairs}._ 
431 Id., at7. 
432 See a~ letter fT~m_Gilad Cohe_n, Coordination m_anager, Foreign tyiinistry,, to The Public 

Col)'\triisslon to Exainlrie the Maritime !nddet:1t of May 31, 2010{Nc;>v. 22; 2010). 
433 Se~ ~c;:oncenhll_tion ol Officitd Address~$ to.-5'.yptus ~d i'1d4ilio_na,L mal_erial_s"_submitted 

to the Commission by the Forei~ Ministry, marked by the Commission aa exhibit 60; see 
Ch ft/ fJf Staff's Opt11 Door _TesUmotiy o/11.8.2010, supra note 70~ at-14. 

4;u Tia_nsropt of seSsion 'no. tO "Clo_~ d9or T{!stimony Qf the Dii'ector General of the Ministry 
of Foreign Ar£alrs (Sep. 15; 2010) (hereln11fter Cfosi:d Vwr Testimony of the Direttor Gent!ral 
of tire Minislryoffo;eign Affair$]. 

435 Id.; A docwnent whi(h ieSHfies to this offer was sent by the lsrjteJj aw.bas.sador to 
Wash~glori·D.C.'s Offite di~eC:tof, on Mai'.19, '4010, named Subject_: Ute Flotilla, to Gaza, see 
letter from-Li or Weintraub,-_Washington D.C Ambassador's office-director to the Director 
General of J:hf.!" Ministry _o~ Foreign Affairs (Mar. 19, 2010)~ Defense Minister's Memorandum 
Appendixes, sriprll note·209. 
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'We trie.d every possible channel to prevent the flotilla from 
departing ... Jn each of the very many conversations, the Minister 
of Defense and the Turkish Foreign Mhnster, from me to my 
Turkish c<>witezpart, the embassies in Washinf;!on and Ankara, 
and all of the other contacts, there was a clear attempt to propose 
a solution for the ships; to propose a solution for the equipment 
on ~he-ships, and at no-stage Was a·pi:>Sitive response i"i?ceived.'436 

It shoul<:l also be note.d that diplomatic efforts were also made. by 
the military. The Commander of the Israeli Navy held a personal meeting 
with the lllilitary attaclies of Turkey and Greece and wrote personal 
letters to the Commanders of their navies; senior officers held meetings 
with military attach~s; a briefing was held with all IDF attaches, and so 
forth."' In the two weeks before the flotilla arrived, the Planning. Division 
of .the IDF also increased its involvement. The Liaison Department 
ill the !'Janning DMsion began a series of discussions with vatious 
international organizations, including the Red Cross, UNIFIL (the United 
Nations Interim Force in Lebanon) and UNDOF (the United Nations 
Disengagement Observer Force that is stationed on the Israeli~Syrian 
border), as well as disc';'SSions with several countries, mallily Egypt and 
Jordan. The purpose of these was to prepare the way for the possibility 
that these countries would need to assist ill receiving participants of the 
flotilla after they would be deported from ls ta el, and alternatively in 
dealing with any of the participants who is a citizen of a country with 
whom Israel has not diplomatic relations, The Planning Division also sent 
communications to all of the foreign lllilitary attaclies in Israel and the 
IDF attaclies abroad.'" 

The ID F's preparations for the 'Winds ofHea:ven 7' operation 

1l9. The military preparations carried out by the IDF to enforce the 
naval blockade will be reviewed from two main perspectives: (1) the 
legal preparations, whicli were an integral part of the preparatory work 
prior to the operation; (2) the military preparations themselves, i.e., the 
operation order; the s_oldiers' briefings and the rules of engagement 
that were determined for the operation, with special attention to the 
importance attaclied to the value of hwna_n life in the preparations for the 
operatiOn. It should be clarified that this Chapter will not review all of the 

436 See CliJsed Door Testimony of tlit Director Gttleraf af Ille Minislry tJfForeign Affairs, supra note 
434,at 1fL 

437 Tl1~ Eiland Report, sr1pm note 402, at 49; For details of militar}"'diplomatic cQntacts see 
Operatiotis Briindt Si1111mnty, supra note 402. 

438 Tlit Eillmd Reporl, supra note 462. 
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pteparationil for the operation, but only the aspects that are relevant to 
the questions before the Commission. 

As can be seen from the material before the Commission, the IDF 
carried outpreparatorywork before the flotilla arrived, an<l it emphasized 
the need t.o avoi<l, insofar as possible, the use Of force for the puxpose of 
st9pping.the ships participatingin it, It is clear that the Military Advocate­
General's Office was very much involved in the preparation process and 
that its recommendations were noted and incorp9rated ln the operation 
orders and the various procedures that were determined prior to the 
operatiQn. We see from the docum.ents.and the testimonies a high level of 
awareness of al.I of the persons involved, at all levels, of the need to carry 
out !he op'eration without any injuries to the participants of the flotilla. 
However, It should be noted that we see from the material before the 
Commission that the level ofviolent resistance on the part of the flotilla 
participants that was anticipated by the IDF prior to the operation was 
clearly underestin:Wed. 

120. The legal preparations. As noted in chapter A, the use of a nav.al 
blockade in order to give the IDF all of the tools and powers required 
to prevent the passage ofships to the Gaza Strip was recommended by 
the Military Advocate-General backin 2008, when the preparations for 
the 'Winds of Heaven 1' operation began. In that context, the Military 
Advocate-General requested the opinion of the Attorney-General."' 

Within the context of the preparationil for the 'Winds of Heaven 
7' operation, we dearly see the involvement of the Military Advocate­
General's Oifice in the planning process carried out by the Chief of Staff 
level and the Navy,inpreparinglegalopinionson various military issues, in 
formulating a legal annex for the operation orders and in coordinating the 
legal position with parties outside the ID!'.'" The opinions surveyed, inter 
alia, the authority the Navy could use vis-ii-vis foreign ships off the coast 
of Gaza, the confiscation of ships pursuant to the laws of war in general, 
and because of a breach of the naval blockade in particular, procedures 
for dealing with humanitarian equipment that was seized on a ship that 

439 Lettet from the: Chief Military Advocate General, Brigadier General Avichai Mendelblit to 
the Government's Attorney General (Aug. 11, 2008}; The Eiln!fd Report, $tfpm note 402, at 
151. 

440 SE:e Chief nf Staffs Ope1_1 Door Teslimo11y of 11.8.2010, suprt1 note 70, at 51: "I tl).ink, but it 
must b_iJ. ~!ear lli\tt we, ~ll the activity, frorii the stage of combat protocol, horn the stage of 
pfanning., an~ lhrC?ughout alt _the stages Qf the operaf.iOn aJ:'l,d its various stages, irtducling 
questions lh_a_t sterllmed from ex~ution and including prepa~Hon afterward, as a set 
method. Dy the way, and not in a special way. th~ ¥11Hary Advocate Gert er al l_s integrated 
in in_to the operational planning cilmponents of the IDF, a day to day mntfer, They are part 
of our operational presentations. ln the branches and in th_e General Staff'. 
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breached a naval blockade, and so forth.Moreover, the Military Advocate­
General' s Office addressed the question of the use of less-lethal weapons 
during !he operation, and it gave specific approval for the weapons !hat 
were used in !he operation.m The Military Advocate-General's Office 
als9 addressed !he question of imposing communications blackouts 
during the operation"' and the issue of the IDF receiving assistance from 

44l See.al~ ,The Eilai1d Rqwrt, supra note 402, at 152·1!53. 
The Military.-Advocate General _was the one that drew the attention of the relevant IDF 
authorities to:_the tteed to,·cQmplete appro.val proce.~s for_ th\? use of Iess~lethal weap·oJls 
·tntended _for use in the operation_, As._ part of a discussion that took elace on May 17, 2010 
An~ .Whkh_ dMl_~ 1<-'lth th~ use of les_s·l~tha_I weapons within_ the _·_~Winds of Heav~n 7" 
operaJion, the·:representativ~ ·of MAG presented the legal framework for the use of the 
fess-lethal weapons withlh theoperatiQn in.light of thendes o_f combat and the three terms 
which mt.ist be-met as a; coilditiciil (or employing such m~riS, that Is, the approval that 
such mt>ans·11re.norleUia_J; _de_tenrtlning of approprlate safe_ty and operational rules for 
the. sitµati01) _where ft is bltern;led kl be used; and the· qll\llifkation o_f soldiers expected to 
nlake use of the means;_seeMAG position paptr-Appcndfx, supra note "/'l; see also The Eiland 
Repl)rt, sitprh note 402, at l55w15_6. -

442 On the Specific le_vel, MAG sources expressed their opinion that it is possible, withln the 
operation, t()- tnake- UJ11? of _a number of means regulatly employed by the IDF and the 
use of "palntb_alls" and "talc- balls" was ruled out. Sometime after the said discussion, 
thti'<:ip_ern~o_n.afet~·ments _asked_ tha_t l:h_e fu;C ol these two meanS be: allowed, in order to 
eriabl~ a graded ·operaHon of less-lethal weapona {among the means approved In sald 
disrussjOn p_o_ne p( th~ _m_ea,ns cou_ld have been employed against specific people unless 
employed at zero range, ex'cludi°' the "soft'bag". But thfs was a. relatively aggressive 
means ·and :so the Qp.erationaJ .elements preferred not to use Jt as a.first means). On May 
271 2010 the MAG. distrll;luted a _detailed opinion where the legality-of li!Mploying these 
means was.examined. ln light'of the: Chic_f Medical _Officer's po:slt:lon_that the llkellhood 
th<tl the etnployrri.ent- of th'ese ,we~pons,_ ln accordl'ln<:e w~th. the operational irtstruc:t:ions 
determined,_ would c~use an irrevocable or'fatal injury is low~ the use of these means 
wa_s .approved, while_ definirtg the rules of Opj!ration determined_ for them, the 'appto'lal 
for their.use by soldiers frorri specific: unih> only, and an instruction to train-the soldiers 
equipped With th!$ w~apon. Attht:S<'ln'.le-time i.tw<1sinentloned thatd.ue to time constraints 
a fornial professional order regarding_the use of th~ weapons wa_s not consolidated, nor 
was a formal profess.iort~I or#et C01t5?1idated regaJ4ing the trainin_g_ o! the sOldiers, and 
thp,t this:is not the TMMer- in which the process o( rerefving a less-lethal we<1pon into the 
IDF sho_uld be'cond.ucted-111.l?refore, .approv~I WJl_S gtanted fQt th~ empl9yrn~nl of these 
weapons wilhin operation "Winds of Heaven 7" only and it was reronunended that an 
()fganized _p_rocess of tet"eiving th_ese means be _set into motion. See summary of meeting 
headed by lht:·N~vy's In!orm11tion Stturity Ornilch.Head "Legal Aspects lri the Issue of 
Using LewLe~~J _.Weapons in Op_etatiol\ 'Winds of Heaven ·7'" {27.5.2010), Appendix 14 
of the MAG position papir- Appendix, supra note 77. 

On May-18~ 2010 the Military Ad~ocate General's Department of 
InJettiaUonal Lav .. released a first legal refernnc~ to the possibilify of executing such 
blocks where-it was rne~tioned .'that there .ls no fundamental lega.l hin_drance in ferms 
of inteinatiori.al law from _performing- blocks / diSntptiri.g the ·specific con_ununlcations 
detailed, excluding _the blocking of Global Positioning Sy_ste_ms {GPS) broadcasts_, 
regarding wltkh'it was mentlonec.t' that in the absence-of a sufficieht'factual basis their 
legality can.not be q_uestioo.ed. The relevant legalappendixwas~Jso attached lo the opinion 
r_eg,ardi,ng the variqus _aspects of blocking communication. This ap~ndix was attached 
to the legal appendix to the order, but not to th~ communic11tion bloddng appendix o! 

126 I Turkel Commission Report 

UNCLASSIFIED U.S. Department of State Case No. F~2010·04163 Doc No. C05330857 Date: 06/25/2013 

StateDept005022 



UNCLASSIFIED U.S. DepartmenTofState Case No. F-2010-04163 Doc No. C05330857 Date: 06125/2013 

the Israel l'rison Service ;md the Israel l'olice during the operation."' The 
Military At:Ivocate.,General's Office was alsp involved in formulating the 
final wording of!he communications that were transmitted to the ships 
before they were taken over. The Military Adv«xate-General's Office 
also. prepared a legal a!lJlex to the operation order that included rules 
of conduct for the forces, rules of engagement for the operation, ;md 
also rules for carrying out eJectron:ic screenfug measures, including ;m 
approved ~tof blackouts that could be implemented."' 

the_:order;_see-"Comm.unkatiori Bl?CkS:wJthln Operalion 'Winds of Heaven 7'" (MAG 
opinion, M~y ~_8, 201_0),_apP'?.Pdl,x 12 of th~ MAG pogifimt paper - Apptndix!_supra note 'l'l. 
It shr,>µId aJso bf: rrie_ntion_~ that.on May)O, 2010 the Ad.;tlah organization approached 
the _Covemrnent's Attomcy·General and the ChfefMi1tta_ry Advi:xate Gener(!.} te&'rd\ng 
lhe "ele.ctrqnk $<;reening_againsr the Dotilh1 tQ Ga~."- Jri the organization's letter a claim 
was raised that tltls screening was intended to prevel\t the broadcast of harsh images 
from the takoov_tu' of the fl Otilia _ve_ssel:S which <:oi.dd harm ts·raeJ.'s image-and lhat,. as far 
as trus·screenfug·harm$: 'the a,bility tO bioadcast d.iStreSs signals or hinders the ~bHity to 
navigate~ it_co~tjtlftes_·q_ threat to the lives of the pa_~enters _o_n tht:rJ1hlps. Following this, 
and_ at the r(lql~cst_of the-MAG, an_urg:ent discusSion_was h·itld WiUlJhe participation of 
variQUS_elements In th_e Navy and headed-by the_ Navy's Chief (If Staff. In the discussion 
the operitioi;irit·capabiJit{\!S of _the Navy were presented regardin$ the blocking of the 
vesse:l'sco_mmunicalion chaIUJ~ls and tl,lem.atmer in which thew capahiliticsa:re e)(ercised 
during th'eop·eratlon; Jt wa_s eioiJhasiZOO that th.t_oughout the ope ratio[\ th~ vessel'S ability 
lo move safely would n_ot be hi"_dereQ-and tha_t in '·case of c:lis_tres$ a te5R0nse w()ttld be 
gi-Ve_n by a nearby Nav:_y vessel. _In light of these the MAG's:Deparbnent of lnti!tn8tiQnal 
Law released a-response l_eHer- lo i:he Adalah.organization that_ same day where it was 
mentioned that therQ ia no·posslbllity tor(!Veal the·op~rattonal means <'lt'td methods which 
will be employed ~y _the IDF in its actions, but within the <ra01ework of employ;ing lhe 
v_arloti.$ means aJthe.JDF's-diSposal, the "diief c-o'nslderatio!l is preventing the risk to 
human life at sea, and the possibility to call !or help at times of distress." TM Eiland Rt port, 
$Upra note.4QZ, at 158_. 

443 In its_OpinionofMay-171-2010 MAG's Department of Consultation and ~gislatlon stated 
that in its opinl_on there-,is 110 prevention from the Pol,ice ~d Pt~li. SerYice·forces assist 
the Il)f ln·execuling a·ctions to enforce the blockade since the Jaws of war do not limit a 
state_in the tj'\Oic~,of armed. f(!rces p11irlicipatmg on its ~ehaU in the enfo~cement of the 
laW_S of war; ~ "lsraeU P<:1lite and _Pilson Service Assistance to JDF Ou.rlng __ Operation 
'Winds of H_eaven 7''' (Opt,nion by t4e h:fA.G, M~y 17, 2010), at ap~ndix 11 of the_ MAG 
position paper .. Apfleridii; suprit note 77. In light of diffel'ences <if opinion that ha(I broken 
out behVeen thf! MAG_wd elements_ in the Minislry of Justice and the Ministry of Deferuie 
reg_ard.h1g the ln(9rporntiorf of the Mt1Sl1da unit, a sp~al unit of the Prison Service, the 
Chief Military_ Adv.<x;ate General approached the·Auomey General on May __ 24~ 2010 in 
.order to _receive his_ leg~! approval to incorporate the M~sada unit into the operation; see 
letter from th'! Chief Milit<:icy Advocate General, Srigadicr General Avkhai Mimdefblit to 
Atto_mey Yehuda WeiJ:istein, A_Uomey_ Ge1t_eral (May :Z4, 2010), at appendix 13 of the MAG 
posUlon ptiper - Appendix1 supra note 77. Said approval, b~d on the, n1les of combat, .was 
glven oil May 26;- 2010, buronly in relation to action& executed oUtside ISrael' s territorial 
wat~s (while: Inside the tetrltorlal'wateni it WA_t> determined that Masada fottes could 
only assist iq,esc9rting and_ guarding the Ships~ paSsengets); see letter from.-AttomC)' Raz 
Nlzrt, senior assistant lo the Government's Attorney General, to attorney Benny fokhek, 
Prison Service Commissionership (May 26, 2010), at tippe_ndiii; 13 qf the MAG position pnptr 
~ Appe11d{X, supra note-'/7. 

444 See MAGposill'o11 P"Per ~ Apptndb:, supra note 77, at appendix 14. 
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121. The militanJ preparations. As previously noted, the IDF began its 
preparations back in February 2010, when it received the information 
regarding the steps taken to organize the departure of the flotilla. The 
Cp~ion .was provided with the operation orders of the Chiefof Staff 
(comn1artd no. 1 and cortUnarid no. 3), !he naval command (no. 3), and the 
land command (no. 2), which were prepared by the IDF before the flotilla 
arrived."' The CommiSsion a.lso received .the briefing that the Commander 
of the Navy gave to the commanders and soldiers on May20, 2010, and 
a sununary of the 'situation analysis' headed by !he Commander of the 
Navy,.which took place on May 26, 2010."' 

The last Chief of Staff's 9peraµon <mler that was issued before 
the incident (hereafter: the Chief of Staff's prder) defines the goal as 
follows: 'The IDF shall prevent unauthorized vessels reaching the Gaza 
Strip."" The mission is defined as follows: 'The Navy shall enforce the 
naval blockade imposed on the Gaza Strip and shall prevent vessels from 
entering the Gaza Strip, while maintaining as low a media profile as 
possible.""'. The Chief of Staff's order reviews the deployment of forces 
and the division of ta$ks and is it accompanied by-seven annexes dealing 
with various issues, fucluding the division of responsibility for dealing 
with the deportation from Israel of foreign nationals that participated in 
the flotilla, !he seizure 9f equipment belonging to foreign nation$ that 
are deported against a background of cpmm!tting se<:urlty offences, legal 
emphases and artnexes that concern subjects such as operating electronic 
screening, IDF spokespeison's statements, teleprocessing and logistics. 
TI1e annex that concerns the seizure of personal equipment belonging to 
th• flotilla participants placed an emphasis on carrying out checks from 
the viewpoint of data security and states the competent authority to 
approve various actions with regard to the seizure of the equipment and 
its treatment. 

445 For !,he most_ updated command, see General Staff Opetational Otdet 3 "Winds of Heaven 
7 · SitUation ~ootn Order", ln tesponse to the- completion request of Nov. -7, 2.010, the 
folder conlalltlng _the exn,ibit_was marked as· folder 136 by the C0:ITllll4;sion [hereinafter 
Gentrnf Stiif!Ojitratjonal_Oidei 3J; Naval:operitional Ofder3 "'Winds of Hea'ven 7", the 
folder contatning the exhibit was marked _as fc1lder 90 by Ute Com.rl\ission· [hereinafter 
NaV(ll Optmtfoirnl Order JJ; Land Opera.tional Order '2 "Win¢; of Hea~en 7", in response 
to the.t:ompletiOn reqqest ~~Nov. 7, 4010, th~ foldec ('Qntaining the exhibit was markt!d as 
fotder_ 136 by th~ COmmlS$:ion {hereinafter lAnd Operalitinnl Ordu' 2]. 

446 Summary of situation anal)'sls hea_de_d by N_avy rommandet 'Wincfs ()f Heaven' Situation 
Annlysfa May 26 •. 2010 • Nav.y Co~ndei:'_s s\.uninary-" .<May 26, 2010), the folder 
containing the exfllbJt Wi1S marked as folder 9_0 by the Commission. 

447 Grnern,I Staff Ope'taliOhfll Order·3, supra note 445, at· para. p; $<?<!also para. 4 of.General 
Staff Operational Order- 1 "Winds of Heaven .. Situation Room Order''t Deftt1$e Minister's 
Me1noni11dmn Appe11dlXt$, $Upra QQte 209 lhereinafter Genrraf- Stajf operat/Onal Order 1). 

448 Gtnrml Staff Operatio1111I Order 3, supra note 445, at para. 6. 
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The naval operation order defines the mission as follows: 'A 
combined force of Shayetet 13 With the assistance of "second wave" forces 
... will prevent !he entry ofsh.ipping vessel$ into the Gaz~ Strip "Winds 
of Heaven 7" while rnairttall)ing legitimacy.'"' The naval order is very 
detailed. We shall discusir hete in brief certain aspects thereof that are 
relevant to our concerns, mirinly from the viewpoint of the use of force 
and the treal:ritent of the participants of fue flotiJJa. 

From the viewpoint of deploying the forces for the naval stage of the 
operatiort, it was 4ecided that the c9rnrnand level Would be very senior, 
including the Commander of the Navy hlmself.450 In the naval stage, the 
force was divided lt\to two IJ'Pes:. (1} th.e takeover force, whose Junction 
wasto take control of the ships if they would not respond to the radio 
cornniunkations. The takeover force was made up of three independent 
"centers", under the cornniand of a senior commander holding the rank of 
lieutenant-colonel: "center A" was designated to take control of the Mavi 
Marmara, "center B" was desig<U!ted to toke control of Boat B.000 and the 
Gazze, and "center C" was designated to take control of the c;hall<mger 1 and 
the Sofia. Art additional force was designated to take control of the Defne Y. 
Each of these "centers" was intended to be completely Independent at the 
operation stag0; in other words, it was given its own independent medical 
personnel,. navigators a_nd reserves.451 (2) The second wave_force, which 
would be comprised of four teams commanded by lieutenant-colonels 
and whose taskswere: (a} to bring fue flotilla vessels to Israeli ports; (b) to 
make a list of the persofu; on boatd and to deal with the magnetic media 
that would be found on board the vessels. 

In the paragraph entitled 'details of the general method/ the order 
states that operations should be carried out to enforce the naval blockade 
according to an 'order of escalation - warning I prevention I bringing 

449 Nrn1t1/, Opem_lionnl (Jrder 3, supm not_e 445, at para. 4. 
450 As part of ·the pr~sentation of the operation's prlndples to the Chief of Staff prior to the 

operation, the Chief of Staff determined that the conunander of the Navy is th~ command et 
of the operation. This ins1ruction .was given as part of the Chief of Staff's operaliori.~ and 
~curslons_ of May 6, _2_010; Sl!e JDP ccmpretlon respou~e QI 1_s.11.io10, ~upnr note 400, at 
para. C. 1liis_ instruction was intorporated into lhe orders, see General Staff Opemlfonal 
Order 1, s11pra not(! 44-7, at para. 8; N'wal Operational-Order 3, supra note-445, at para. 1_3. In 
addition, in Operations and Excursit;>t"IS summa'ry of May ~3, 2010, para. E, sub-para. 4- it is 
mentioned that: ''1he Chlef of Staff stressed the importance of senior command's presence­
at t;he anticipat~ points o! frktidn while conducting a se.risitive <ind measur'ed acti<lr\ -
responslbllify-oflhe tQmmandero( lhe Navy." lOF romplr:tion rr:sponseof 15.11.2010, s11prn 
noteMJ(l,_at Pa_ra. G. _ 

451 See the testimony of the commander of Shayetet 13, "Deepening and Broadening the 
General Sta ct·~ experts inquiry (Sep. 20, 2010}", at 3, markied by the Commission ;i~_exhibit 
104 [hereinafter fl-iquiry Expansion of20.9.2010J. 
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the vessels to a halt/ takms control of them.' In the 'details of method' 
paragraph, \lnder the operation stage dealing with 'identification, 
monitoring and sen<:lfug mes$ages to the vessels/ in the special instructions 
paragraph, it was stated that before \he stage of taking control of the 
vessels and after re<;eiving approval from the Navy Conurtander, the 
force commander was permitted to employ varioµs measures to stop tl)e 
vessels, including firing 'skunl<: bombs' or water from water cannons, 
forting the vessels to. change their course of' ~top by mea,ns of missile 
ships, crossing bows, firing warning shots into the air and 'white lighting' 
(blindinguSirtga large projector)."' The legal annex to the order contained 
legal einphases for the use of these measures and the manner of operating 
thern. In this regard, it should be stated from the outset that in practice, no 
use was· made of these measures.453 

The following irtstructions,-iriter <ilia, are also outlined in the naval 
order: 

a. Instructions regardii:ls ·communications and warnings that 
would be trat\Smitted by a loudspeaker system: according to the Navy's 
operation order;- five cOm:rru.uUcations were planned- with ascending 
levels of warning as .the flotilla. v.essels approached the area of the naval 
blockade. The 1'11\guage of the five communications, ;md the points at 
which it. was determined they would be sent to the flotilla vessels, as 
stated in the Navy's operation order, were the following: 

Communication no. 1- first communication from the Government, 
intended ft.Jr transmission at the time of interception (attached to the list 
of communicati9ns the day before tl)e operation at the request of the 
Prime Minister):'" 

'This is. the rsraeli Navy. You are approaching an area of hostilities 
which is under: a naval blockade. The Gaza area1 coast_al region 
and Gaza Harbor are dosed to all maritime traffic. The Israeli 
govenunent supports delivery of humanitarian supplies to the 
civilian population ln the Gaza strip and invites you to enter the 
Ashdod port. Delivery of the supplies in accordance with the 
authorities' regulations will be through the formal land crossings 

452 General Stnff Opernl1imal'Order 31 $Upro riote 445. 
453 ~ Triinsc:rlpt_ of_ session.no. 13 "close door testimony of the Chief·of Staff" (Dec. 24, 

2010), a_l 14-15. The Chief of Staff me_nlione,d in his _testimony that "the order does ttot 
obligate.tQe me Qf all the means, The order mentions all llie mearurthat may be used 
and the consideratfons regardtng. the employment of the mea~ are in ClCCOrdance with 
the:situatii'>r.; the n'il~fons { ... ) tlj.ere-is no.obligation.to go.through al_l lhe_ means, bul the 
means suitable for the matter must be U$ed". In this CQJltext, see expfanation presented in 
para. 227'for the negati9n Qf the possibility.of using some of the means discussed. 

454 See )DF-compldio11 rapcmse o/15.11.2010, supm note 400, at para. D. 
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and under your obServation, after which you can return to your 
home ports abbard the vessels oil w,hich-you arrived.'455 

Coliln\unlcation no. 2 - intended for transmission at the time of 
interception: 

'This is the Israeli Navy. You are approaching an area of hostilities 
which is under a naval blockade. The Gaza area, coastal regiOn 
and Gaza Harbor are dosed to all maritime traffic. 
You are hereby requested to change your course and refrain 
'from ent~ring the area. 
Delivery of humanitarian supplies to the dvUian population 
in the Gaza strip is possible through the formal land crossing 
between Israel and the Gaza strip, subject to prior coordination 
_wi_th the Israeli authorities.''™ 

Communication no. 3 - intermediate communication: 
1'J:Us is the Israel! Navy. You are approaching an area of hostilities 
which is under a naval bloekade, The· Gaza area, coastal region 
and Gaza Harbor. are closed to all maritime traffic. 
You are hereby·ordered to change your course and refrain from 
entering the area. If you ignore this .order and attempt to enter 
the blockaded area, the Israeli Navy will be forced to take.all the 
necessary tneasµrf:!-S.in-orderto enforce this blockade. 
By ignoring this order, you a.re putting your crew members 
and your motor vessel at risk. You alone are responsible for the 
coilsequenCes of your action. 
Delivery of humanitarian supplies to the dvilian population 
.ln the Gaza strip is possible through the formal land crossings 
between Israel and the Gaza strip subject to prior coordination 
with the Israeli authorities.'"' 

Fourth c.ommunlcation - Jntencled as a loudspeaker announcement 
before the ve,ssels entered a range of 20 miles from the area of the naval 
blockade: 

'This .is thelsra.e!i Navy. You are approaching an area of hostilities 
which-is nnd~r a naval blockade. The Gaza a:rea is a coinbat Zone, 
by e_ntering this zone you are put_ti_ng yotU' vessel af risk. 
You are hereby ordered to change your course and refrain from 
entering the area. If you ignore this order and attempt to enter 
the blockaded area, the Israeli Navy will be forced to take all 

455 Nava! Oport1lfrmal Order 3, supra note 445, at 54, append.ix F. 
4S6 Id, 
45'7 Id., at 55. 
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the necessary measures: including boarding yotJr ve_ssel in order 
to enforce his blockade. Be aware that you are violating a legal 
naval blockade and that the organizers and captains of this sail 
will b.e held responsible. 
Delivery of humanitarian supplies to the civilian population 
in the .Gaza stdfi is possible through the fonnal land crossings 
between lsr11el and the Gaza strip subject to prior coordination 
with the-I_staeli authotities.'458 

Optional fifth communication - after entering the area of the 
blockade: 

'This.is the Israeli Navy; You.are sailing in a blockaded area 
according to international law. You -were ordered _several times 
to avoid entering this area. Due to your refusal to obey !his order 
and your intent to violate a Jegalnaval blockade, th.e Israeli Navy 
is obliged to take all necessary_measures in order to enforce this 
blockade. By Ignoring !his order, you are putting your crew 
members and your motor vessel -at risl<, If you do not change 
your course Imrredlately, you alone will be responsible for the 
conSeq_uen:ces of your actiohs/459 

b. Theweapo11S that were permitted for use - the safety annex 
stales that tl)e combat personnel w01tld be armed .only in accordance 
with the inStructions of the Military Advocate-General's Office and the 
instructions of the Chief Medical Officer's Office.'"' It was also decided 
that the commanders would ensure, af~ isst\ing the weapons, th.at the 
co.mbat persoru:iel would only have in their possession weapons that were 
permitted for use pursuant to thes.,instructions.'61 

According to the operation order, the less· lethal weapons that were 
approved for use in the. operatiot) included the following: 

(1) A Taser gun .in the form of a shocker, without firing- a device 
that works like a shocker, by forming an electric circuit on the 
target from short range. Works on batteries. Type of ammunition: 
electric current. 

(2) Remington 870 shotgun • a firearm that can be used, inter alia, 
as a less-lethal weapon. It is loaded manually, with a three shell 
internal tube magazine (in addition to one shell in the barrel). It 
is possiple to attach sights and a device for breaking windows. 

458 ld.,et56. 
459 ld.,at57, 
460 Nin'fll O~ralionfll Order 3, supra note 445, at 3,3, appendix C, para. 4(c}(J). 
461 Id., a_t 33, appendiX C, para, 4(c){4). 
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The ammunition that was approved for using this weapon was 12 
gauge bean bag shells.'" 

(3} Tippman 98 paintball gnn - a weapon that is designed to fill 
paintbal)s, with a semi-automatic firing capacity. lt operates on 
the basis <:>f a ·pneUD:1<1tic mechanism that is operated by an air 
pressure .calllster of up to 2000 PSI. The ammunition that was 
approved for use in this weapon; 0.68 inch caliber paint balls. 

(4) Stun grenade4- a stu.n grenade is a grenade that when detonated 
create8 a flare up to a distance of 30 cm from !ls base (i.e. a ''flash 
bang" grenaP,e). Delay of 1.5 seconds. It was emphasized that 
grenades of this kind should be used without gas .and without 
smoke. 

The order's safety annex dearly emphasized that the use of less-lethal 
weapons or ammunition other than those that appear in the instructions 
was prohibited,"' and. they slated that all of the combat personnel would 
undergotraining anP. drills with regard to instructions for the use of the 
weapons,'" that live ammunition would be clearly separated from less­
letl:ial atninWlition and dear operating procedures would be defined in 
order to prevent mistakes occurring between live ammut\ltion and less­
lethal ammunition."' Moreover, the instructions for !he use of paintball 
guns provided that insofar as there would be any need to use them, they 
should be fireP. .first at the feet, and then aimed higher if necessary (but 
not at the groin)."' They also stated that the painlball g=s should not be 
used if as a result' a child under the age of 14 or women who appeared to 
be pregnant rlllght be hit.'461 

c. Rules of Engagement - the rules of engagement can be 
found in the legal annex to the IO)ld anP. sea operation order. The 'rules 
of conduct .for the forces' (for tl:ie purposes of this report, these rules 
will be referred. to as 'the rules of engagement') state that, as a matter 
of principle, in 'the .scenario under discussion', i.e., 'dealing with foreign 
citizens who, according to the existing information, are not combatants' • 
the authority and measure that inv.olve the use of force shall not be used 

462 There arc two typ~ of $hells USJ:!d b}' the IOF which differ in the amount of gunpowder 
they contain: a soft bag and a hard bag, the lattero{whlch was not used in the op_eration. 
Sel::! IDF compfefit;n1 respanse·o/15.11.2010, :lUprtl n,o_te400, nt para. E. 

463 Id., at33,_para.4{f). 
464 Nat>nl OpeTufiotui_f Order 3, supra riote445, at 35, appendix D, para. 6(6)1 6(8}. 
465 Id" at appelidix D, ·para. 6(10}, 
466 Id., at append_ix C, para. 4{h). 
467 Gtneri11 Staff Operational Dtder-J, supra note 445, at 19, appendix C, para. 2(g)(b)(9); Navnl 

Opemtlunaf Order 3, supra note 445, at 62, appendix_ C, para. 2(g){b)(9). 
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against citizens, beyond the minimum required lo fulfill the mission, i.e. 
stopping the vessels. The general rules for the use of force provided that, 
in general, force would not be used, and that it would be used only as 
a last resort, for the purpose of 'preventing danger of injury to human 
beings or to deal with an attempt to thwart brin~g the vessels to an 
lsra.eli port.''"' It was. clarified that the use qf force must be minimal and 
proportionate, and weapqns sho.uldbe used on an increasing scale."' 'The 
operation order pertnits use of less-lethal weapons only when this use 
ls required in ord.er to 'neutralize a real danger to the safety or Jives of 
human beings that comes froma specific person, and states that insofar 
as i_t is possible to neutralize the cause of the danger without using less­
lethal weapons, this should be done.'" It also states that it is permissible 
to use Jess-lethal weapons if there ls a real anticipation that U\e event 
could deteriorate into a situation in which a real aod frrunediate threat to 
life is foreseeable; and. the use of less-lethal weapons is likely to prevent 
this deterioration; it further states that less-letl\al weapons could only be 
used by those who have been trained. to do so, and in accordance with the 
operating instructions and safety designations that had been formulated. 

Regarding the use of lethal weapons, the operation order also stales 
that, as a rule, live amrnUnition should not be tised.471 The use of letl\al 
weapons was-permitted in one situation Only, namely in self-defense, for 
the pu;pose of averting a real and inmu:!diate danger lo life, when it is not 
possible to avert the danger by less harmful means. It .should be noted 
U\at the definition of 'danger to life' in the operation order is: 'a real and 
immediaJe danger of the loss of human Ji{e or serious physical injury.''" It 
should als.o be noted that the order states that lethal weapons should be 
used only as a last resort, after warnings have been given to the person 
against whom a 1.ethal weapon ls going .. to be used. It also states, with 
respect to the use ()flethal weapQns, that if !here is a real concern that the 
gradual action "wpuld endanger life, then it is permissible to shoot at the 
one creating the. danger in order to eliminate the danger immediately, 
even without enga~g in all of the stages set forth above.""' The order 

468 Gtner:«I Staff Opero/lonal.Oftfer 3, supra note 445, at 17, appendix C, para.1(g)(l)(11); Nnval 
OptmUonaf'Order 3, suprn note 445, at'60, ap~ndix G, p~r~~ 2(g){1X~). 

469 Griitraf $laff Opemtfo;u1/ Otder 3, 011pra. note.445, at 18, appendix C, para. l(g)(l}{b); Navnl 
Optration(l( Ordu 3, supra not.e 445, a_t 60,- appendix G,-pa.ra, 2(g)(l)(b). 

470 (Jenera I Stoff Qperat{d111d Or(let 3,sttpra nQt~ 445, at 18, appertc{hc'C, para. 2(g){2}(b)(3); Naval 
Opem.tlonal Ordtr 3, suprn .note <l4?, at 61, ap~ndix G, para. 2{g)(2)(b)(3}. 

471 General Staff Operalir)nat Order 3,supra notfl,445,at_181 appendix C, para. 2{g)(2)(a){2)i Nnval 
0112mliom1! Order 31 s11pra note 445, at 61, appendix G, para. 2(g)(2)(a)(2). 

4'12 Gtnerat Sf(J/f O~TtJl/o1111l_Otder 3,_sllprn no~ 445,at 16, appendix: C, para, 2(g)(2)(a)(2); Naunl 
Operntiom11 Order 3, supra note 445, at 59, appendix G, para. 4(g)(2Xa)(2). 

473 For an: expanded version of the rules o( engagement see para. 206 below. 
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also provides that after the danger has been averted, an attempt should 
be made to capture the party endangering life in another manner without 
the use of weapons, that harm to those not involve(! should be avoided, 
that· !here should be no use of fori:e at a person Who has surrendered or 
has ceased to constitute a thieat, and !hat medical treatment should be 
given to the wounded immediately upon !he cessation of _use of force. 

From !he statements of the commanders and soldiers at all levels 
it cart be seen that these rules were made clear to the fortea that took 
part in the operation!" At an operational briefing on May 20, 2010, the 
Navy Commander said !h~t there. was no intention to injure or punish 
the person,~ on board, and he .went on to say that the Israel Navy's goal 
was lo carry out the mission 'as professionals and in accordance with IDF 
ethical code.'"' Moreover, it was a!So stated at that briefing that 'opening 
fire should only rake place in a life threatening situation, to neutralize 
!he person presenting the danger, but nonetheless, 'where possible, the 
benefit of doubt should b_e given.'"' 

Thus, the first soldier who fast-roped down from the first helicopter 
(hereafter( the first soldier or soldier no. 1) stated in the additional 
investigations of the Eiland Committee that were carried out at the 
request of .the Commission: 'In the briefings, including tny personal talk 
with the commander of my team, it was emphasized that the use of live 
weapons was the last option and. a response to an immediate danger to 
life.'417 The second sol<lier who fast-roped down from the first helicopter 
(hereafter: the second.soldier or soldier no. 2) a!So stated: 'The mies of 

474 &le _the J~timony of lli(! cOmman_der_ ofSha~lel 13, Jnqui'ry f.xJ111nslo11 ef 20.9.2010, supra 
nQte_451,- at 2, and~ _also the _ieSHmony of the commander_of the TakeQve~ Force, l; and 
fh.e tesli$ony of QUestioner2, Id'. llsliould be rn_entiohed that from the material before the 
Commission !t arises that lha forces re<elved extens~ve_numtal pl'tparation which induded 
gatl\eting infQrm~tioO. and writing i~ighls towards preparation, and the preparation of 
the co_mtnanders to_per(orm the_preparation-(by the Navy's behavioral 'sd\!11<:e branch); 
the conver$aliort of_ th_1::-Shayetet commander wiU1 all the eommanders in the operation; 
IWo_ Company-Command talks' with all the commanders; 2 lt?<:ti.rres by-a Masada unit 
combatanfabo-tit ways to deal_ with riotS (one l(!c_ture to the conunandf!t's and one-to the 
~(dfors); a _t<iJk-by each center rornmander with the forces in the Cenltir; am.~lysis and 
investigation of the inodel 1I}. light o_f mental con_dttd (in this context see lDF compl~tion 
rtsp_onse._ of 15.11.-2010, puptn note 400, at para. F). On the imporl_ance of thfs prepari"IHon in 
relation to the Open· Fire instructions, see also th~ Chief of Staff's' Optn Door T11sflmony of 
11.8.20~0, S11prt1.- nOte ?_0, i"lt-38. 

475 The summ~ry-otmeeiing headed_by Navy Command.er "Final Priefing fur Operation 
'-Winds_ of Heaven 7' - Navy.cott'Utitrnd~r's _SllillffiaryN {summary of meeting headed by 
Navy Co1nmander, Jul. it_2010), at pa ta. 2(a)(5), the folder oontai[\ing the exhibit has been 
marked ~~ foldei' 90 by_ the Com.inlssion. 

476 !11., at par11. 2(c)(8){b); See also IDF C4mpletion usponse o/ 15.11.2010,_i;itpra note 400, at para. 
F. 

477 Testin\ony of soldier no. J, ltl., at 1. 
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engagement were very strict, and the emphasis was that changing over to 
liv.e ammunition would be a very exceptional event and only ifwe faced 
a real and immediate danger to life and it would not be possible to avoid 
harming him should we use live ammunition in order to neutralize the 
thteat.'478 

d. Communications blackout - the insttuctions that were 
given in the operation order were to allow distress broadcasts, insofar as 
these .did not ~danger the military operati()):I. Emphasis \Vas also placed 
on th.e duty of care in this regard, the need to limit the blackouts insofar 
as possible and to terminate the blackouts when the military need ended. 
It was also determined that in a case of distress, insofar as a broadcast 
was not possible, as$is!Mce would be provided to the flotilla vessels by 
Navy ships.'" Thusit w.as also determined that any eJectronlc blackout or 
disruption of communications that was not one of the types of blackouts 
approved in the operation order required specific, separate, and detailed 
legal consideration, and that any such additional blackouts would be 
carried out only with the approval of the Chief of Staff's offke. 

e. Procedure for treating the injured - the medical annex to 
the order addresses, in its objective dause, both the treatment of combat 
personnel and ptoviding medical treatment for civilians on the various 
flotilla vessels.'MTheprocedure itselfgives details of the medical personnel 
and medical equipment for the op¢ration, the methods of evaC11ating 
and treating the injured and other professional details. The procedure 
relates, htteralia, to the subject of examining persons who are detained, a 
process whose purpose is to ensure that there is no medical condition that 
requires treabnent in the emergency room."' The procedure also states 
that detained persons should not be examined without their consent and 
that if a detainee refuses an examination, a physician should explain to 
him the importance thereofand his refusal should be docunwnted. In the 
legal annex to the order; it is state.d that the injured and skk should be 
givenmedica] treatment and be.allowed lobe evacuated from the incident 
site, and insofar as combatis taking place in the area where the injured are 
located, the evacuation should be allowed as soon as possible."' 

f. Treatment of civilians - the legal annex to the operation 
order .outlines rules of condt1ct for the forces and it states, inter alia, that 

478 Testimony of .soklfor m;i. 2, fd.,at 1. 
47!} Ge11eml-StaffOpem_lio1111l Ordtr 3, Supra t1ote 445, at 21~22, appendix C, pa[a. 3(a}(4); Nawl 

Optr{ltiOn!lf Order 3, s11pta note 445, at Ql-64, appet1dix G, pnra. 3{a)(4}. 
48{) Nnttfll Optralional Order 3, supra:_ rtote 445, at 29, appendix B, para. 1. 
481 Id., atappen9ix B1 para. 6: 
482 Geneml Staf!Op_eratfo11nl Order 3,suprn note 445,_at 17, appendix G, para. 2(c). 
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civilians should be (rea~d 'at all. times in a dignified and polite manner, 
while protecting their dignity and property.' It also states that sensitivity 
should be displayed to fue basic needs of the civilians: where necessary, 
tl\eyshotdd be given water and food• no threats should be made to them 
and they sl)pu]c\ not be called up0n to assist in carrying out military 
activity. It emphasizes the prohibition of making use of civilians as a 
'human shield' or as 'hostages,' and that civilian property may not be 
damagedorused,and thattakingit constitutes a seriou_s criminal offence.'" 

g. . Dealing with persons suspected of military I terrorist 
activity or assisting such activity- the legal annex instructs the forces 
th;it when the flotilla ves<>els enter the temtorial waters 9f the State of 
Israel; the treatment of suspects, iitcl\lding the question of arresting 
them, _should be referred to the Israel Police or the Israel Prison Servke. 
The irtsttuctions aisb state that persons suspected of sUclt activity may 
be arrested, but for !his purpose reasonable force may be used only to 
the extent required to carry 'out the arrest. The procedure goes on to 
emphasize that arrestees .shoµld not be harmed after they are arrested 
and their dignity and security should be safeguarded. The procedure also 
states that the circumstances of the arrest and the identity of the arrested 
persons should be documenteM" 

The ln$tructions for the land operation defiite the mission as follows: 
'Navy - the theatre of Ashdod, in cooperation with the other forces, Will 
prepare for receipt of the 'Winds of Heaven' vessels (cargo and passengers) 
and their transfer for the rest of their handling by the authorized entities." 
The order defiites f9ur stages in the handling of the flotilla participants: 
the entry of the ve5seli! into the port; debarking of the flotilla participants 
iitto a facility for absorption and classification; the flotilla participants 
leaving the port area (board mg buses and arrivirtg at a detention facility); 
the stage from their detention until they leave the borders of the country. 
The order is <l,etailed and it specifies the tasks and the division of 
responsibility be_tween the vari.ous entities includiitg, inter alia, the Navy, 
the intelligence division, the planniltg division, the telec.omrnunications 
division, the land command branch, the IDF spokesperson, COGAT, the 
chief military prosecutor command, the Military Police, the Israeli police, 
the Ministry of the Interior, the Foreign Ministry, the Priso1' Service, the 
Miitistry of Transportatio1', etc.). The order contains, inter alia, a1)llexes 
regarding se<:urity,-medical care, information security, as well as an annex 

483 Nat_'fll' Operah"o1111l _Ortfer J, supra note 445, at 59, appendix G, para. 2(b); Gtnrrof Staff 
Optmtionirf Oi'der 3,..sttpfa note 445;at 16-17, appendlle C, para. 2(b). 

484- NIWfll _ Operafio11r# Order 3, supra_ note 445, ·at 73, appendix (;, para. 2(d); General Staff 
Oper.ntional Ordtr J, supra note 445, at 17, appendix C, para. 2(d). 
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conceming the seizure of equipment belonging to the flotilla participants 
and a legal annex identical to ilie legal annex attached to the naval order, 
which defines rules of conduct for the forces. 

The military operation for enforcing the naval 
blockade on Ma:y $1, 2010 - the implementation stage 

122. The military operation cartied out in order to stop the aforesaid 
flotilla will be reviewed below according to the following stages: (1) The 
communications and waming stage; (2) giving the order to carry out the 
takeover; (3) the takeover stage and brlnfllng the flotilla vess.els to Ashdod 
port- first We shall. review the takeover of the Ma vi Marmara, and then we 
shall address, in brief, the takeover of the other vessels; (4) from arrival at 
Ashdod p<:>rt until the deportation of the flofilla participants from Israel 
on June 2, 2010. 

The inquiry and warning stage 

123. The.inquiry stage for the flotilla vessels began on May 30, 2010, at 
around 9.:00 p;m."' The stage of transmitting comn\unications began on 
May 30, 2010, at 10:40 p.m., when the flotilla ve8sels, which were moving 
close to one another, were in the area of the latitude of Sidon (Lebanon), 
at a dis.tance of eighty na11tkal miles from the shore. This. stage concluded 
on May 31, 2010, at 12:41 a.m., when the vessels were in the area of the 
l•titude ofNakuta (Lebanon), at a distance of eighty nautical miles from 
the shore.486 J:he communications were sent by operators designated 
for. this purpose (naval offkers located on the command ship dµrlng the 
operation who transmitted communications to the vessels in the flotilla 
in accordance with the <>feration command). The communications were 
transmitted by means o a Sailo~ radio device (an international dVllian 
radio device for communication between vessels at sea and between 
vessels and coastal stations. The Sailor device has fixed channels not 
subject to alteration, including the intemation<>I distress channel [channel 
16]). 

The recordings from the radio network that were submitted to the 
Commlsslon show thatfoµr communications were indeed transmitted in 
full and according to the prepared text. The optional fifth communication 
was not transmitted. As stated, the warnings emphasized the fact that 

485 Tue-Chief of St(lffS Ofei1 Do.er Testimonyo/11.8.2010, supm note 70, at 24. 
486 "IOF Answer to Completion Request" (Nov. 7,_2010), at 5, the fo_lder containing th~ exhibit 

was nµt_ked- as folder 136 by the Conunlssipn [herelna(tet IDF Complttio11 Response of 
7.ll.20lOJ. 
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the vessels were about to enter an area in which a naval \>lockade had 
been imposed and a cladfication that there was nothing that prevented 
the humanitarian supplies on the vessels entering the Caza Strip via the 
land µossings, and the vessels were invited lo go .to Ashdod port for this 
purpose. The third warning included a notice thatalllegal measures would 
be taken in order to prevent the vessels entering the area of the naval 
blockade, and th.e fourth warning included a notice that, if necessary, !DP 
soldiers would board tl)e vessels}\!7 

Two of the radio operators, whose function was to transmit the 
communications, state.;! in the supplementary investigations.'" 

The fitst radio operator stated: 
'We began with the standard inquiry to every vessel at sea. After 
that we "Vent on to the reqµest of the Israeli Government to enter 
Ashdod port and transfer the supplies to Gaza. 
Next we-went on to the communication that says that the area is 
closed and according to lntemationol law it is prohibite!l to enter 
the area, and __ we:s_al~ lhat th(! vessel was in danger. The captain 
himself and, the Jl.otnia organizers were warned that they were 
responsiblefor any hann to the vessel an.ct the persons and cargo 
on _hoard. At no stage 'vas there a break in communications and 
the message was transmitted clearly .. 

The transmission of the messages began a long way from the coast 
of Gaza_and there-was enough tbp!_? to respond ... Mavi Marmara 
repeatedly transmitted a fixed. message that the Navy <lid not 
have power to stop \hem and that they were sailing to Gaza ... In 
my opinion,.all of the Conuriu:nications were transmitted clearly 
and in clear-and unambiguous lariguage.'489 

124. All of the flo!llla vessels, apart frol):I the Sofia, responded to the 
ra<lio communications.'"' The recordings from the radio network show 
the character of the responses that were received from the flotilla vessels. 
The captain of the MaviMarmara said that he refused to stop since the 
purpose of the flotilla was humanitarian only, and because Israel did not 
have authority to act against the ship <:>utslde its temtorial waters. When 
the captain of the MaviMarmara was warned that if the ship did not stop, 

487 Questioner_ 2's testimony, l11q1firY Expa1~!ot1 of20.9.2010,supr17 note_451,;it 1~2. 
488 _for the exact wording of the warning::;, tee para, 121 of th.ls report. Qu_estfoner 2 testified 

that the me&Mg~s were transmitted "word for word I;\$ they appear in the order, see 
Questioner 2's tei;timony,-Jd,, at 2. 

489 Id., testimonyofin~rrogatQr L 
491} Stt l:he Chirjof Stnffs. qpen Doot Tt$li/11Qny o/11.8.~010, supra ni>te 70, at 25;See also IDF 

Completio11.Response ofl.11.2010, supra note486, at6. 
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it would be responsible fot the consequences, a response was heard on 
the radio network that if the Israeli Navy attacked .the ship, it would be 
the Israeli Navy that would sufler the consequences. Subsequently two 
other responses were heard on the radio: '$hut up, Israeli Navy, shut up!'"' 
an(! "Shut up, go bac_k to Auschwitz,'' followed by: "We're helping Arabs 
to go and get the US, don't forget 9 /11,. guys." !Jue to the fact that the 
ra4io was operated on chal\llel 16, the international frequency; it is not 
possible to de.termine which of the vessels made these statements. 

The second radio operator also stated in this .regard: 
'The responses [that were received from the flotilla vessels] 
w_ere that we were prohibited from doing wl:Jat we were doing. 
'.they always finished by emphasizing the fact that they were on· 
the way to_ G<;Ua._As: Hine passed,,_ the response~.bt;?came more 
ex_t[eme;. as our commwUcations became· more resolute. They 
said all the time that they would reach Gaza but they did not 
say at any stage that there would be resistance to the takeover 
althotigh they were told we were about to take them over. In one 
olthe responses they said in English: "Co back to Auschwitz".'"' 

The first radio operator said in his statem!!Ilt: 'From the responses of 
the vessels It was possiple fo understand that there was a determination 
to hold a confrontation and to try to reach Gaza at any cost.'493 

12!i. It should be noted that apart from the responses that were received 
by radio communications, there was no noticeable attempt to change 
course. The aerial lookout watching the video monitorduringthe incident 
(hereafter: the aerial lookoµt) stated: 'I began my shift at approximately 
3:00 a.m, ... Puring the whole voyage and my monitoring of the ships I 
did not identify any change in the course of the Mnvi Marrlrara or any of 
the .other v'f'.SSeis. '4~ 

491 See video file "Shtd Up.wav", in folder 663 on Navy Dotn Disc, supro note 5. See also the 
rec:ordi~gs in the "Adtl H(lnif~ fold et within the "Wlnds of He.ave_n 7'' folder, fr/.; in his 
inVl.?$tigallon by an TDF investigative wilt following the event, the captain of the Mllui 
Marmam testified ._that during th_e questioning he answeced the Israeli Navy's questions, 
changed course tq about 1_80-degrecs and sailed south· about 75 miles from the Israeli 
shore. A<.:ror_ding toJUs da.hn thiSY•'i'IS the-last time where c(lntact was established with 
him until the tj.me o_f the raid and at this tlme he did not teceive any additional warning; 
see .;irtkle; 03/06/10/825/5092 Military I11tel1igence Repctls ijun. 3, 2010), the foldet 
containing the e_xhibit was iriatked b}' the Corri.mi.Sliion as folder 89 [hereinafter Military 
lnlef/ig_ence &ports). 

492: ltf.;_for the recording of thewotds spoken over the radio see CD From Peace Flotilla !O Ttrror 
Flotllrn $Ubrrtitted by _the am_1y (rnin\l.te 3:00), found in a folder marked by the Comrnl~ioo 
as exhibit 89 of the ConvrtiSsion's exhibits. 

493 QUestloner l's testimony, Inquiry Exptmsiott of 20.9.2010, Gupn1 note 451, at 2; see also the 
floUl!a di<1grams (Ound in folder 89. 

494 Id., testimony of the aerial look-out, as well as testimo11y of questioner 1, ;tt 2. 
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After the aforesaid four warnings were sent, no additional wam.lng 
was given before the vessels were taken over. The first radio operator 
sta.ted that he made sure that tlw communications wete.transmilted to all 
of the vessels, and that the reason why no additional warning was given 
was operational needs for a covert takeover of the vessels."' 

Giving the i'!Qfruction to. take over the sh(vs 

126. At the end of the wamlnge stage and when the flotilla vessels 
were at a distance of approximately 70 miles west of the coast of Atlit, 
the order was given to take over the flotilla vessels.'" The order given 
by the Navy Commander was sent to the naval command post at Navy 
Headquarters, whe.re the head of !he Operations Division, Maj. Gen. Tal 
Russo, was also stationed, and also to the supreme command post. From 
there, .!he order was transmitted to !he maritiffie forces' control center, 
which informed the takeover forces command, which, in tum, transmitted 
it to the cominanders of the takeover force.'" 

Before the tak.eover operation began, and pursuant to the operation 
lnstructiona and the order of Navy Command, at 4:06 a.m. communication 
blackouts were employed vis-a-vis the Mavi Marmara: According to the 
!DF, the screening activity did not affect the ability of the vessels to move 
safely. Despite the use of the screening, several short video clips and 
several messages were sent from the Mavi Marmara during the takeover 
operation.498 

The takeover gperation itself began at 4:2<\ a.m. with the takeover of 
the Ma.vi Marmara.'" We shall now address this in detail. Thereafter, we 

495 Id., £estitl\9ny of questio.ner 1, at2. 
496 See the CNef of Staff's Presentation, which was showi:1,,as part of the Chief of Staffs Open 

DiJor Tt$HiliQ11y o/ Il.8.2010, slip(ll note 70, at 25ft ~also the Chief of Staff's presentation 
on the Commission'i;; website. , 

497 Thisorder(lf adionS is<l~ribed inJDF C{lmpl~titm Respotmofl.11.'2010,supra note486, at-
6; It should be meqlioned that accor(iing lo the Eiland Conuriiss!on's Report (though this 
is not mention.ed .in· the IDP cotripletlon response Submitted to the Corrtmlssion) it arises 
that in accordance with the Chief of Stlff's instructions-to appiove the takeov_er operation 
Jn real lime, at04:()!) AM (ha.If an hour pj-iot to the ~taitof the takeover Operation) the Ch1ef 
of Staff held a "fule.i;:ihone situation analysis" wlth the lie ad of the Operations Directorate 
and approyed the lakeover in-light of the status·repprl submitted to_hh'n. A~c9rding to 
what has been stated In the Eiland Commission Report the berense Minister also called 
the COJJ\roa;nd_ po.st about lS_mihµt(!S prlor lo the t.ilc®ver,_and v.;ns given a $lahts update 
and the Chiefof Staff'S approval f0r the takeover by the head of the Operations Direciorate 
(see Tiu: Eilaml Report,_ 6upr« note 402, at 54), 

498 ~ IOF Completion Rrspo11$t o/7.JJ.2010, .Supra note 486, at 6. 
499 'The. Olief oi Staff tes!;ified that the ac;tion· start~ at 04:28; See the Clift{ of Staffs Open 

Doar Testimrn1y of 11.8.20101 supra nole 701 at 25; however from other materials before the 
Commission it seems that the operolllion sta_rted at 04:26; see Eilaµd Re.pert, s11pra note 402, 
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shall briefly discuss the takeover operations of the other flotilla vessels, in 
which there were no loss of lives. 

The takeover qfthe MaviMarmara 

127. As we have said, the Mmii Marmara was the largest passenger 
ship among the flotilla ves8els. At the outset we should state, which will 
be further ei<\borated be.low (see paras. 164;-167, 190•201 below), that 
in retrospect it "transpired that, defacto, the persons on board the Mavi 
Marmara fell into two ma.in groups: the first group of peace activists; which 
was the largest group, whose members boarded the Mavi Marmara at the 
port of Anl:ijlya; the sec<md grQUp, which inc_luded both appr(>ximately 40 
activists in the Turkish organization called nnt who boarded the Mavi 
Marmara at the port of Istanbul and who marked themselves as a separate 
group by means of items of equipment and carried out preparations 
before the takeover operation began; as well as flotilla participants who 
were either individual activists or belonged to other organizations and 
who decided to take part in the violent incidents for various reasons. This 
second group, which for ease of reference will be referred to below as 
1IHH activists, was the one which partook in the viOience on board he 
MaVi Mannara. 

The statements and the materials, including the magnetic media, 
indicate that the ti!keover of the Mavi Marmara began with an attempt to 
board from Israeli Navy Morena speedboats. This attempt failed because 
of violent resistance on behalf of some of the floHlla particlp_ants, which 
included throwing objects at the soldiers, shooting water at them with 
hoses, cutting tbe lagders on which they were climbing with an electric 
saw,using lightstoblind them, etc. Atthisstage,itwas decided to takeover 
the ship by ineans offifteen soldiers who womd fast-rope down onto the 
roof from a helicopter. The soldiers encountered extreme violence - three 
of them were faken to the hold of !he ship after they had been wounded, 
two were sbot, and others suffered serious physical injui:les. In response, 
the soldiers resorted. to shooting with less-lethal and lethal weapons. Ten 
minutes later, an additional force fast-roped down onto the roof of the 
Mavi Marmara from a second helicopter,which also encountered extreme 
violence, and assisted in the i>ltempts to sec_ure the upper decks. Ten 
minutes later, a third force fast-roped down from another helicopter, and 
assisted in securing the position and move to the command bridgec At 
the sarne time as ftie third force of combat personnel fast-roped down on 

at 96; the Commander of Center A's testimony, Inquiry Expansion of 20.9.20101 gupra note 
451,atl~ 
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to the Ma!li Mannara, other forces climbed up from Mo.rena speedboats, 
after the comm.ander of the force on the Morena speedboats realized that 
app~rently a soldier from the force on roof was missing (in fact, three 
soldiers weremissing). The stage of taking over theMavi Mannara ended 
after the combat. personnel from the third helicopter took control of the 
commartd bridge and the Captsin of the Mavi Mannara announced on the 
Mo.vi Marmqra's loudspea]\er system that tl)e ship was under !DP control. 

Below we shall review the stages of the operatic:m aIJd the takeover 
of the Mavi Mam11zra in particular, as.it arises from the statements of the 
combat personnel who took part in the takeover. It should be noted, the 
purpose of thiS section of the report is to provide a broad description of 
the takeover of the Ma vi Marmara and the violence that the IDF faced. 

The first aj;tempt to board the Mo.vi Marmara from the Morena 
speedboats 

128. According to the takeover plan, in the first stage of the operation 
an attempt was made by the Shayetet 13 servicemen to board the Mavi 
Marmara from the sea, by means of two Morena speedboats (hereafter: 
the first Morena speedboat and the second Morena speedboat). The first 
Morena speedboat was commanded by the commander of "center A", the 
most seniot commander in the entire force that was designated to take 
control of the Mavi Marmara (hereafter: the Commander of Center A). 

The first Morena speedboat reached the Mavi Mannara, came 
alongside it and aIJ attempt was made to raise the poles 1¥ith climbing 
pegs on them in ord,er to enable the combat personnel to climb onto the 
deck. The More.na encountered resistance that included the shooting 
of water from hoses towards it, blinding lights being directed at it aIJd 
the throwing of various objects, such as pieces of metal, bottles and the 
shooting of glass marbles from slingshots. The CommaIJder of Center A 
decided to allow the firing of palntball guns and the use of flash bang 
grenades, but after approximately a minute during which the resistance 
did not diminish, he decided to retreat with the Morena and allow the 
helicopter force to open tip a pathfotboarding from the sea."" 

129. The-second Moren!l speedboat encountered r~Sistance from IHB activists 
who threw various objects on. the combat personnel, lnclliding iron bars. screws, 

500 'll\e: Coinmander of Center A's lestimony, li'lquiry Cxp1mslon of 20.9.2010, suptttnote451, al 
l;TeamCommander R'~ te,stirnony,Jd., a,t l.;See also the t_eslimony Qf soldier no. 19, who 
w11s ~Isa on the contr(land Vessel: ''at this point there was lighting from 2 large floodlights 
(Xenons) from·the dlrKtion of the ship towards the NS\V boats, <1nd the \'/hole event was 
accompanied by a lot of noise and chaos; Llkewl11e, I saw the activlsti.; on the boat using 
water hoses lo spray lhe NSW bo;i.ts", Id. 
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etc. The commander of the seconcl, Morena speedboat(hereafter: Commander of 
the Take1>ver For~e) gave an instruction to fire less-lethal weapons (beanbags, 
paintbaJI rounds and flash bang grenades) at these participants, and as a result 
some of the IHH activists left the side, At this stage, tho combat personnel threw 
a ladder in order to make ii possible to climb up: When they began to climb up, 
the Comman<ler of the Takeover Force discove.red that the metal p8,tt that held the 
ladder to the side of the ship had been cut ln view of the fact thatIHHactivists 
returned to the place where they were climbing up arid began to throw objects at 
the force from there,the Commander of the Takeover Force decided to withdraw 
with the Morena speedboats. 

The Commander of the Takeovet Force stated: 
'We obtained eye contact with the Mavi Mannara. I saw a very 
larg~ n~mber of actt,vists who were waiting for us on the sides 
around the whole boar and. on all the levels, including at the 
stem, on an the decks at the bow and on the sides .. ' 
As I salcj, the people on the sides, most of them were masked, 
some with gas masks, all of them with orange protective vests. 
The men held iron bars, slingshots, chains. 
As we approa<:hed, I gave an ordernotto carry out any shooting 
at this stage, including with less-lethal weapons. When we 
ca·me close to the- stem, we-began-to.receive a barrage of objects, 
anything that came to hand, including metal bars, metal chairs, 
large cans of tinhed food, large screws, which hit the combat 
personnel and the.boat. One of the combat personnel was hit by 
a blunt object in the face and was cut under the eye. Another of 
the combat perS<il]helwas hit by a metal object on the head, and 
I gave an order to fire less-lethal weapons at the persons using 
violence agalnst us. 
The persons on thelower deck of the stem ran back, while on the 
higher decks-they continued to throw things on us ... 
As a res.ult of the firing of the less,lethal weapons, the side was 
vacated <md my combatpersol]hel rai_sed the ladders and attached 
them to the side. I should point out that during the whole stage 
of ralsing the_ ladders; we oontinue_d to _r~ceive a salvo of objects 
from the higher decks; which hit the combat personnel. The 
combat personnel re_quested petnilssiori' to fire live ammunition, 
butl did not give them approval. It should be said that as a result 
of firing the less-lethal weapons, as I said, the persons on the deck 
h_ad moved back_ap_d fro in my point ofview as a commartder, the 
less-lethal 'l'(eapons had achieved their purpose and there was 
no need to fire liye ammunition. I began to dlmb first up the 
ladder and at that stage the top part of the ladder collapsed, hit 
me in the face (the ladder is made up of a fleXible rope ladder 
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with flexible metal rungs, at the end of which is a metal rung that 
attaches to the side of the shlp). llooked at 1:1\e rung and saw that 
it wets.cut wUh a_n electric ~aw. At the. same tinie; w~ prepared 
another ladder fordimbing up while we still alongside the ship, 
when- at" the s~m_e t:irµe the persons on boardr the· activists, who 
retreated as a result of the firing (>f less-lethal weapons, came 
back to the climbing point. At thls stage they were ontop of us. 
The distance that they were above us was appro~imate!y two 
meters and they de facto had a commanding position abov<> me. 
In other words, they had the advarttoge of height over me. The 
activists returned to lhrow objects at us. At that stage; I heard 
thei:n shouti,ng "AUahu Akbar.'' I uriderstood that whoever was 
making such- sho4ts irt such a· ''trtad" and "extreme" way. was 
exuberant, extreme and dangerous. We continued -to- receive a 
barrage ofobje<:ts and because.we were very close to the activists, 
I and the combat personnel were in danger. ! hesitated as to 
whether to open fire and decided to withdraw with the boat. l 
made a report on· the. radio that .there was_ major violence on the 
ship.! received an update that the same tlUng also happened on 
the other side to the second team that tried to climb up from the 
sea.'5Q1 

At this stage, the commander of the second Morena speedboat 
made another attempt to board the ship.from the sea, from the middle of 
the sl:µp. ~ attempt also encountered major oppositiqn from the nm: 
activists and the Conunander of the Takeover Force decided to withdraw 
with the Morena speedboat and to wait until the helicopter soldiers open 
the side up for climbing:"" 

130. The aerial lookout stated about these events: 
'J!uring the preparations, r saw the activists on the ship 
preparing all kinds of objects. I saw persons with cameras and 
large numbers ofpersons gathering all along the decks. 
When the Morena speedboats approached the ship, I saw a 
massive lhrowing of objects by the activists at our boats. l also 
saw several explosionS that might have been shooting at the 
Moren as. 
The Morenas moved away because they did not succeed in 
climbing up."" 

It should also be noted in the recording of the aerial lookout's radio 
network, at 4:29 a.m. it !s possible to hear reports from the Morenas of 

501 TheCom_milnc:for of the Takeover Forte's testimony, Id., at2...S. 
502 Commander of Center A's testimony, Id., at 2-3. 
503 Testimony of the aerial look-out, ltf. 
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a )leavy barrage of stones and bottles,. and as a result, that the combat 
personnel were prevented from boarding the Mavi Manlltlra."" 

The vid.eo recordings that were sµbmitted to the Commission by 
the. IDF doCUtnent sc>me of the resistanee Of the IHH activists at the stem 
of the Mavi Marmara;"' thus, for example, the security camera that was 
placed on the !Ower level <Jf the M4vi. Marmara show at 4:26 eight men 
wearing orange life jackets, some of them wearing gas masks and one 
of them holding a w0oden chili; looking in the direction from which the 
fu,;l Morena arrived:"' In a video film. recorded by one of the flotilla 
participants on a digital camera that was in his possession (the camera's 
clock indicates that the recordinS began at 4:27 a.m.),'" the first Morena 
tan be seen coming alcmgside the stem of the Ma vi Marmara while several 
lHH activis!S along the stern are shooting water at the Morena from hoses 
and .are directing a searchlight at it. It should also be pointed out that 
dtirirtg the film, which las!S 2:05 minutes, cries of' Allahu akbar' from the 
IHH activists at the sfem can. be· heard.'°' In two additional video dips, 
IHH activists <:l!n be seen carrying. long poles, some of them wearing 
masks on their faces, one of them directing a searchllght at the Morenas 
and one of them ls seen throwing sornething at the Morenas."" 

It should also be pointed out that various video .films show that 
after the attempts to climb up from the Morenas to the stem of the Mavi 
Mimnam were stopped and the Morenas moved away, a group of IHH 
activists remained at the site, armed with long poles, some wearing gas 
masks and one holding a slingshot.510 

504 

505 
506 

See file "Neshek _Ham.mov" in folder Air, Navy Data Disc, supm note 5; Qils is a laping 
froffi' a vlsual deVice' al Ong With calls-over the radio as received in the Zofil The video 
permanently diSP:lays a l'!ock ll)dkating the pr«ise time of taping. 
See Navy Dflt"a Disc, supm note 5. 
SeevldeD_fjjesfrom the security camera in lold~r Sec11rih1Cam in folder Arab in folder n,uhot 
HaSha_itu!lm?, on d1Hi1.. hard (!isc received from the army, ma'rked by the Commission <is 
Eixhibit 133 fher<iinaJter Arab Dato Di,s"cJ. 

507 NB: Ac('oidiilg_ t!' the pfuperties of the dlgital camera file 111.ter seized by the IDF forcett. 
508 See: video lite ''00983.MTS'' in folder STREAM in folder BMDV,-in Colder AVCHD in folder 

_Sony.in folder Vidto,_Artib Dtltq DiSc~ sf1pril note 506. 
509 See video file _~SatilCt1tn_GoingOn»oa_rd14" in folder Sea, Navy Data Disc, s11prn note 5 

510 

(<:·al'f)'lil8 melal bar:>~d ain'ting_flOQdllghts <i:t-NSWboats}; See.also video file "SatilCam_ 
.~ingOn&·ard13'.' Id. (l:'arrying metal bars~ lhrow1ng objects at N_SW.boa_ts). 
11ds ri'µliHi;i~ ts _verifi_ed by. two sour( es: the s·ec,urity c;i:mera positioned on the bottom deck 
shows that this group of a(l;ivists remained in place between 04:30 and 05:04 (see: security 
cameia vid_w ·fi_li:-$ in fold.er S~curity Cam, Anib ·vatn Disc, suprii note -506). The sect.irity 
c<u'ttera Ji!Cs one of the li.cti'vist.S iS even seen hurling a _marble with a slingshot at 04;44 
(ac(otding- to the security cai;nera's do<;-k) towards the waler near the stem, and one of 
the act_ivists W{IS aLw seeri throwing sorne ohje<:t towards the water near the st'em at 05:04 
(according to the security camera_'s dock), This was aftiQ documented in the vidi!otaped 
by one o{ the participanls of the flotilla wUh a digital camera he was c;irrying. According 
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Fast~roping down from the helicopters 

131. Thefirst helicopter. At 4:29 a.rn. the soldiers began to fast-rope 
dowll from the flj"St helicopter. In view of the violence that the navy 
force encountered'" and the fact that on the roof of the ship there were 
approximately 10-15 nnI ac\]$.ts, the Shayetet 13 COl!lmander ordered the 
force c91!1ffiander in !he fil'!'t helicopter frPl!lWhich the soldiers fast-roped 
down (hereafter: the third soldietand the first helicopter, respectively) 
to prepare two flash bong<grellades ;ind to throw them bl'fore they fast­
roped down frol!l. the helicopter.'" The first he)icopter arrived abov.e the 
Mavi Matmam with .fifblen Shayetet 13 col!lbat personnel. Some of the 
sold_ier~ .on the helicopter identified dozens of people on the roof of the 
Mavi Marmara, some of'whom were wearing what appeared to be orange 
lile jackets and With gas masks on theit faces.'" The rope was lowered 

to' the _camera's clock the events were videotap_e;d at-04:47, th_at is, at the height of the 
takeover .!IC'tiOn exe~uted through d~cent by fust rope fron,i. the helkopters1 as will be 
d.clailed litter on. 

_511 Fro~ th~_ testl_rnorii¢s by _the soldiers it ali$es that they did riot hear any report ovt.'.t the 
tadio·regarding·what was happening on the NSW boats-at the lime,~ Cor example 
soldi_et no. l's le.sthno_ny,_ ai- t. ("We reacll~d. the ship_ with the helic:Opterr prior to my 

• c,iescent I didn't heat any-"report over the radio about what was happening on the-ship"); 
at the same tirn,_e U seems that th~ ~ol}'\rtlander;; recel_ved a_ 'report reg~td_rl\S: th~ ev~ts, see 
the Shilyetet 13 Conuna_nder's teStlrnony, at 3_("l am aware of the great number of people 
on_ t_he sides_of the ship and the teslsta_n:ce"),_as well a_s soldier rio. 3'~leStlmony, at 1 ("I 
l}e_a,-ov1h; tbe radio that the navt'l fot_ce is rtteeting with violence and-harsh aggr~lon and 
thal-the-ded_si~n is that the naval force will not_dimb up. _I remember hearing over the 
radki that ll)elr ltidd~ -w~re: sawn ~nd objl!'<;ts, diains, chairs and forks were thrown at 
Utem"),_Inquiry_-£xpa11sio11 of20.9.iOl0, supra nole-451. 

512 $e1rsoU~er no .. :r~J~tfm()ny,-at 1 (''thl.! Shayetet ~om.mander orders me_to prepare two 
stun grenadei;"}; see also the testimony_of Shayetel 13 co.rmrtander, at 4 {''at this stage l'm 
speaking with ftle-oommander of.the lfrst hellcop_ter [soldier no. 3} and sh'e$ that before 
descending he shou1d throw down a r1umber o_f stµn grenad~ in oi:der t6 ddv~ people 
ii.way and allow the SQldiei~ ~o descend a11d .organize as a unified force"), Jd, SOidier no. 5, 
who $erved ai;: a team commander on the first heiicoptei:_ testified: 1'I identify people down 
there and m_ ~e prclhninary pla~ng betw~n-tl;'li! cOfllllll!nder of the force and myself It 
Wll8 dQddlid that in_sui:h a case of people concentrated at the plate we were planning to 
descend ta. we_wiH_ tlrroW i;:tun grenades-from _the helicopter (pyro~hnic weapons) in 
ord_er lo drlve the people away and aJlow the safe descent of the for('e." See soldier no. S's 
testimony, 1, fd. 

513 see_teS_tlniOll.y of $0ldier no. 1, at 1 (from the helicopter I identified abQut 15 people, some 
with smoke/gas masks_on their fares/heads.and qi.ostwlth life-vests {in retrospect WI': 

toun·st out _that these were proledivc veSis for all intents a_nd purposes), testimony of 
soldietno. 3. at2, ("l_id~~li(ydomn,<;of people there.30-40 [thus in S(>urceJpeople on the 
roof, Witll life vests, .ga$ wsi'.;s, holding chai.s"), Id.; By- c;omparison soldie! no. A testified 
in reS_pcinse to the que_srion-"what did you nolice fro·m above before des~ertd_hlg?" th_al 
"there w<1s_llghfbµ't I did ·not notice anythil--ig and !:he light was from the helkopter", 
testlmony of soldier no. 4, at 1, and soldier r10. 12 testified: "a IUtle be_fure ;irtiving we 
Qpen th_e "c!-oor, Ute team cortlm~nder and I are sitting-with our legs outside the door and 
the soldier behili.d me is holding me according to procedure. We reach the a·rea; above 
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and .two stun grenades were thrown."' Immediately after that, before the 
so!dieus begari to fast·rope down, the rope itself was tied to the radar 
antenna on the roof <:>f the ship by IHH activists.'" In view of this, another 
rope was thrown down from the other side of the helicopter, another flash 
bang gr<made was thrown and the soldiel'S began to fast-rope down the 
second rope, no.t in the .order of descent that was planned in advam;e.'16 

514 

515 

516 

theshlp,.f see a lot of peop)eo_n lhe_ roof U,5-20 people) ina group, l See they are wearing 
oian~e belts", tes~monyrifsoldierno; 12,-at l, Id. 
It is unclear whether one sre11ad_e was tos_se~ or hYO: A_numb"er O{ soldiers bellevoed that 
two S!_iin. me'nades Were th!O'f111 wh!Je? others believed that one was thrown. -Se'!' JOF 
compltliim rtSpon~ of 15.11.'20101 su11m note.400, a_I para. _K. 
See te.<itfmony of soldier no. 3; lcit2_("a:lter the rope Was toSSl'id out the right side two stun 
grenades_(fl_a~h bang), as stated were lhrown( in.a sfo.lrt period.o.f lime_ the rope Wa$ ~ken 
and tl,ed to the a).'ltenn_, on the. r09f; Which ~ncfungers the hetioopter and the the {thus in 
ririglnatlpeople d~cef\dirig. I'm in a wot where I am looking:~t the root of the ship_ Jfom 
the opening.in th~ he_Hcoptc1'( the helit.opter is hov~ring at a heighJ of 25 m~!ers over the 
ship. _After the· rQpe is tied ~o; the antehna I _understand that it is impo.ssible to descend 
and give llie or_der to throw the second rope _fiom the other side. After _the_ rope is lhf<>wn 
the soldi.eis ~egm, gliding doWtt on it"); See also the co·II\ri1ander ol the takeover force's 
testimony;. (it 3 _'{"a_t thi,s s~&: l 5Ce that tlie he_llcopter's rope.was'tjW, -arid I told tnyself 
the heUcopter is going to c;ras~ if th¢ rope stays til?d"), This wat alro teitified by soldier 
no, 4 (who lnt~alityw_as lhe third soldier to glide d()Wi\ from the·fi.rsthelicopter.and was 
so Idle~ ~·s rl;ldio o_peralo1').:-"Solc!.ler .110. S safat Uie hclicop!Cr's Qperting, nottct!:d a nwnher 
of people on the roof and thce_w a_numb:er.of stun gi;enades _in order to ma_ke them S('at~r, 
the_n thre\.V the fas~ riJJ>e-<foW-iJ. aricJ l rioticed they were grabbing ilie rope and_ tying it"; 
testimony of soldier no. 4, at-1; See alS<,> t11:9timony of s,oldh~r no. 5, at 1 ("at this stage the 
airbor'Q_e_ mechanic: throw., µie rope we:"re prepa_ring to 8,Ude do-Wn to the roofi immediately 
alter I tl-µ-ow a stun-grenade at the people coming to· grab_ the rope. On the roqf there is a 
group Qf abo'ut 5 pJ?Qple_ lt:ying'Jo_g~ab t}l_e_rope, The people l:>n th_e roof B!ab_the rope from 
the i1elicopter and pull lt.l~\'lai'dS the radar antenna· on the roof. hnmediately a_flerwards 
l throw a stun sc:enade atJhi;i group o_f activists Odd.ling: \,Vith the rope. The first ~renade 
thrQWI;\ causes shock for a second or two and the-second lJ'enad!? does not infl_uence their 
behavlor_(lt shoul_d be mentioned_-th_at._gre~des·_o,f thls type only create noise and n flash 
oflight). AfterwRrds_l telf the soldier sittingil.ex.~ to me to throw the stun grenade he has"). 
See al_so. t~Hmony of sold_ier no.12, at 1 {'1the.airbome mechanic. threw- do_wn the fast rope, 
after. he threw it· doWtl the people down there tied it to the r_adar antenna,. we sa_w them 
fiddling with the r~pe and ihe '1eam_ corrunand,e_r tnre~ ~ flaJ?h t,,ans-srena.de, the people 
doWn the·re wer~ a· littla'allir!lled but slnc.:C the· gre'riades only make noise they_ understood 
that and went abo.ut thefr.busi_~ess"), li1q11frtJ Expa»1>i11trof 20.fJ,2_010;-sup_nr note 451. 
~ tf!stimony Qf sold.io'r no, 1, Inquiry Exp11nsio.no/2.0.9.2010, supra no tie 45lr at 1 e·SOidier 
no. 5 orde.N:d me·to throw lhe stun greoa;de! l threw it at the ro9f, the gr~ade detonated 
( ... J the pilot ga\'e a_n or~er_ to IOtVer the firSt:1ope on the side. oppot1ile to me on the 
helicopter, the _rope was lowered, I dld not see thl$ but in retrospec~ the rope WASse.i.ud by 
the acUvistsand til!d to-the bodyqf fhe_shjp. The next~tage W<JS that they threw the second 
rop¢ on my side, imrneone patted rne_ on the back ari,d signaled me ·tQ descqn~. I began 
gll~g dow~ to the s_hip[ ... J"); Tes_timony of scikUer ilo. 51 at1~2 ("by this stage the rope 
is tied to the tadar-antenna arid is at a diagonal angJe that does not 11Jlow gli.ding down 
It. At _this stage we·get an o~der on.the radio to rappel. I update the /Orce col\\n'1ander 
[soldier no. 3J that no option exists l:o.desiend on my side since the rope is at an angle 
that does not perm.it gliding down iind _the force ~ommartdei' decides tQ descend fiom 
the second side and updates me. At th.Is stage we begin desccnding.·due lo the transition 
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Itshould be noted that the events mentioned above after the a.rrival 
of the first helicopter were record<ed by video .camera directed at the Mav/ 
Marmara_ ftom ~e IPI<'s_a~rial observatieirt post.517 

132. The soldiers' statements and the video files transferred to the 
Commission that were lilmed by various parijeii (including participants on 
the llotilla,.video recording devkes, etc.) indicate that the fifteen soldiers 
who faWroped one affer the other from the first helicC>pfor encountered 
severe violence upon landing on the roof of the Af,ivi Marmara. This 
violence included the use of physical force and attacks on the soldiers 
usirig vatioµs means, such as wooden dubs, iron rods, slingshOts, knives, 
etc,, as well as the use of firearms. Three soldiers were taken below 
deck, The soldiers' $tatements indicate that they were astounded by the 
fiercenes5 of the resistance. They had expected, at most, verbal resistance, 
pushing or punchirig, but not the scene ol conflict that they encountered 
on the roof of the MatJi Mnnnarn. '" 

517 
518 

to the ~ond side of the- choppe_i- (the rope on-the plalUled side was tied), the order of 
dl!$<::ent is disrupted and we descend contrary to the original planning."); TesHmony of 
i;old_ier no. 4; at l ("UpC,ln thtowltig [thus lnprlglnal] we wete told to Open_the second door 
and prepare to descend frQm the second door. This cr~ted a slh.liltio~ where the order of 
desc_ent was_slightly al~eied from planning and soldiers 1 and 2 ·weie the· first·to descend 
and soldiet no. 3·and I destended a(tct fuem.");_As well as testimony of soldier no. 12, at 
1~· ("soldi_er no. 1 goes down first_nnd the: whole ord_rir of descent ls disorganized. First we­
desci!-nded in opposite ord_er hut later the order of d~scent was a«otding to the arrival of 
lli!'! soldiers to the r9pe"), Id. 
See file "Nishek, Harp. .. In folder Air, Navy Dli/41Jisc,$uprn note 5.-
See-for exanlpl_e: tes\im~ny ~f soldier no, 2 ('1>urit'lg the pr:~paratio11 the message was 
passed that we were e>i'peded to encOunler,adivlsts_who wottld try to_hurt us emotionally 
by c:reati_ng fil:'OVOCC\tiOl\$_011 th_e level of'CUrses, sp1_t!fng, r(lmoving fa~e covering etc. but 
we did not ~peCta difficUlt ph}i,;kat confronrationH), Inquiry E:r:pamio11 of20.9.2010~supm 
note. 4Sl;-Testj.m<:1ny of soldier no. 5~ at4....S ("From the outset we planned for a condition of 
resisvtnce but·we expected Tesislanc~ th<it in !ho ma\11 would attempt tO prevent us from 
boarding the ship. We expected screams~ e«rses, shovlnfY even _a v~olent dash b1.1t only 
blow}>( ... ] W,hen l<;ibserve _the inddentfrom the helicopter a:;- well as during the course of 
the deS(ent l still feel that I an1 descending tomodezate physic.a-I resistance_r_ather than to a 
comba_t situation. In_ practice I-find tnrSelfin a genu.(ne bat ti!! [ ... J my life ii;!, in danger and 
I must defend myself an<l the rest of the_soldiers in the team that-I comman4"); Testimony 
?f sol_d.i~t no_. _6;-at_ 1-2_ t'In the preparations a_nd brielings they always brie(ed us that we 
were expt(ted to encounler peace aclivists and therefore the prospects that we would 
have ro Use weapon.s or other me.ans was -very low and from my standpoint there. was 
neart}' :i:ero 11robability ( .. ,J Even-aOer I received blows and people jum_ped me to hurt me 
the call U:iat _they were yelling "hot we~poruy and a_ t~axµ_member has fallen" !ed me to 
feet that maUerS had gone awry");_Te!itimony of soldier no.12, at 5 (''there was a huge-gap 
betwtt.tl What ( ptepated for Which W~S boarding·a ship while nieeting f(!Sisfal\Ce from 
Jpeace ·activlsts',.an:d a situation where I am lighting to defend my file"); testimony of 
soldier no,J_S,at 1_("1_ understOQd that I was in a combat .sitQ11Hon agatnstp_eople who were 
ll'ying to lciU me and not against peace activists as we had been btlefed during combat 
prep·aration"), Jd. 
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At the outset, it Should be no.ted that in response to this resistance, 
Uie soldiers l!lled force of various types: hand-to-hand combat, shooting 
with less-lethal weapons; including the use of flash bang grenades, 
Tasers, the shooting of paintbaUs and beanbags, as well as the shOoting of 
live anun\111itiOJ:l. The conclusions of the analysis of the le$ality of the use 
of force by the JI)P soldiers, under the circtimstances, will be presented 
below in paras. 232-239. At this stage; the topic of discussion is only a 
general description of the circumstances !bat prevailed at the time of 
the soldierS' fast-roping onto the roof ofthe Mavi Marmara as evidenced 
priinarily by the statemenls of the soldiers who participated in the take­
over of the Mavi Mtmnara and the magnetic media collected by the !OF 
and furnished to the Commission. 

The soldiers stated that.as soon as the fast-roping commenced, the 
number of trrn activists on the roof .at least doubled. Soldier no. 1 (the 
first soldier to fast-rope from the helicopter) stated about this matter as 
follows: 

"Whil.e l was still in the air, I saw that dozens of people were 
quickly joining the 15 people who were already there, and they 
were wearing gas masks, life jacket, and they were armed with 
iron clubs, rods,, wrenches, axes.'1519' 

Soldier no. 3 stated: "As I was descending the rope, I saw that the 
number of people on the roof multiplied by four,"'" 

The statements. of the" .soldiers who fast-roped from the first 
helicopter indicate that they encotmtered a real resistance force, armed 
with clubs, iron rods, chairs, etc. In a 23-second video recorded by one of 
the flotilla partidpants who was on the roof ofthe Mavi Mammra when 
the soldiers descended from the first helicopter, one can see a number 
of soldiers rappelling on U1e rope from the helicopter, while the IHH 
activists, all of whom are wearing life jackets, beat them with clubs, hit 
them with fists, and kick them.'" In the video, several soldiers are also 
seen lying on the deck, surrounded by IHH activists.'" 

The video of the MaviMarmara's deck from the IDF's video devices 
on the aerial observation post also documents some of the violence 
employed against the !OF soldiers who descended from the helicopters. 

519 Tes_tiffionyo(soldier no. l, Id,1 att. 
520 Testimony of soldier no. 3# Id., at 2. 
52_1 See video file "M2U0004" Jri folder sa11yJia111fycam(sirver)#2. in Video folder, Arnb Datq Disc, 

S11pr11note506. 
522 It should be m~ntion&t_U1at a_t the end of the video, an IDF soldier is seen firing a pistol 

atone of the ll-fH activists who is about a meter away from him and the latter falls to the 
floor, 
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According to what is seen on film, at approximately 4:32 a.m., the first 
soldierrappelled dow.n therope. As he reached the roof, four men attacked 
him, hit him, and dragged him. Other soidiets can also be seen as they are 
fast-roping down and are immediately attacked upon landing; with rods, 
objeds thrown at them, pushing, and pw1ching. The aerial lookout who 
operated the Video (levice-stated: "As they reached !he roof, I saw severe 
violence di_rected at the soldiers, including beating them with crow-bars, 
railings, chairs, etc.'15'2.J 

133. Three soldiers, soldier no. 1, no. 3 and no, 4, were attacked, beaten, 
and thrown onto the lower deck, from where they were taken below deck. 

Soldier no. 1 stated: 
"When I reached a height of 2 - 2.5 meters from the ship, people 
grabbed the end of the rope and pushed me to the side. Before I 
managed·to. touch my feet to the deck, about ten people jumped 
onto- me ~nd began brµtally beating me from every direction, 
using dubs, metal rods and fists, and whatever they could grab. 
The blows were over my whole body and were concentrated 
mainly in th.- area of my face and head. It is important to note 
that-at thiS stage l was not arm:ed - my weapon was fastened 
behind my back and in my vest pocket I had a laser (electric 
shocker) which was completely irrelevant Jn .light of the brutal 
attack on me. At this stage I sensed a real and immediate threat 
to my Ufe, and I tried to teach the-Weapon (a mini-Uzi) on my 
back. I only managed to open the dips that were securing the 
weapon b_\lt I didn't manage to reach the weapon. At this stage 
I was occupied with attempts to reach my weapon while trying 
to protect myself as best le<>uld from a fatal attack from the mob, 
and I wailed for !he rest of_ the soldiers to arrive. 
The attackers pw;hed me toward the side of the ship. Because 
of the la:rge-n_uinber of attack_crs, I did not manage to r_esist. A 
number ofattackers grabbed me by my legs and my torso and 
threw me over the s_!de to the deck below, about 3.5 meters. 
Up until this stage, I did not see any other soldier aboard the 
ship, and, to my knowledge, I was the only solder who had 
fast-roped onto the ship. Upon landing on the middle deck, I 
fractured my arm, and a mob of dozens of people-attacked me 
and basically lyrn;hed me - including pullu1g off my helmet, 
strangling rrie, sticking fingers into my eyes to gi>uge them out 
of their sockets, pulling my limbs in every direction, striking me 
in an extremely harsh manner with clubs and metal rods, mos Uy 
on my head. I truly felt that I was aboutto die, way beyond what 

523 Tiesli_tnonyof the aerial look-out, Inquiry Explittsion o/20.9.2010, s11pr11note451. 
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we define ;u; life-threatening. The. behavior of the people at this 
stage was definitely like fighters of an enemy which has come to 
kill the other side, that is, me, I felt that at any moment! would 
take a blow to the head which would kill me. At thls stage the 
mob suc.<eeded in tearing my vest qlfof me (which incll,fded the 
weapon) and the weapon feU out of fhe vest. 
!realized thatI would not be able to overcome all of the attackers 
and. in order to save my life l tried to jlU'np into the water but: 
(a)I wa.1worried that I wou_ld not fall into the water but rather 
onto the deck below me; (b) the mob blocked my access to the 
side. At a certai.n stage Irrianaged to reach the weapon, I cocked 
it, and I shot one of the attacken; in his leg. 
The considerations in shooting were as follows: 
1) To distane¢ the attacking mob from me and to minimize the 

injury to me. 
2) To signal my location to the rest of the team on the ship and 

the fact that I was in distress and my life was in danger. 
Immediately after l (ired the shot, I took an ex!remelyharsh blow 
directly to my head from a metal rod. This stunned me briefly, 
and in this _second •they grabbed !he weapon from me .. At this 
stage, I thought that the mob wanted to take me as a captive and 
use me as a bargaining chlp for entry to Gaza or in general .. A lot 
of blood began streaming down my face from the wotmds to my 
head. The mob continued to hit me and push me forw;utl inside 
the ship.""" 

Soldier no. 3 (the commander of the force on helicopter 1 and the 
third who fast•roped from this helicopter) stated about Ute events that 
preceded his being taken below the ship's deck: 

"While descending ,down the rope l see that they are trying to 
throw -different objects at us, I was s.truck wi.lh metal pqles and 
rocks. As I reache!l the roof, I feel a wry s!rong blow to the neck 
from behind, and I see around me about 15-'20 people who are 
surrounding me - some of the1n have clubs, son1e have knives, 
axes. 
They are all wearing orange life vests, some of them have kafiyot 
over-their faces, some-have gas m_asks, and some have theffJaces 
trncovere<;I. I realize immediately that my life is in danger, I 
realize that the lives of the other soldiers who fast-roped and are 
fast~roping are in danger. I understand as the conunander that 
I am not iri control of the situation. I manage to withdraw my 

524 Testimony of soldier no. 1, ld., at 1~2. 
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mini-Uzi w.hich is secured on my ba.ck (the weapon is fastened lo 
the protective vest, in a way that enables it to be "drawn" ropidly). 
While I'm drawing the weapon, I feel myselHlying- as the result 
of being pushed. 
Someone pushM me forcefully and I fall onto the side. I find 
myself sitting on the deck with my back to the side and facing all 
the people surrm1n<ling me. The people surrounding me have 
axes, knives, metal poles and clubs, and they're runn:Jng towards 
me - it's a matter of a second or two before they reach me. I 
mlµUlge to cock the weapon and release two bullets. 
I don't·know if l have hit anyone or who. People immediately 
reach me,grab the weapon from me, and hit me with full force 
with poles and dubs. I sit against the side with my knees bent -
my side is turned toward the side of the wall, hands protecting 
my face• A mob of people around me are hitting me with many 
blows, mainly towards my head. The people surrounding me are 
going berserk, and they're constantly shouting "Allahu Akbar". 
I feel the blows on all parts of my !)od y and, as r said, many 
blows to my head. After about two minuws while the people 
are beating n\e and I'm trying to protect myself,! feel a number 
of people, grabbing my hands and feet, Jilting me up. In this 
sCcOrid I realize that they intend to throw me Over the side into 
the water. I resist, thrust wildly, struggle:, butwithoutsuccess. It 
is important tC? state that also during this time I continue to take 
very strong blows to the abdomen. I am fighting with all my 
strength until a certain stage when they manage to get me ovor 
the side of the boat. I am holding onto the side, with my hands, 
and hon~g from the side. At this stage, the people from above 
me are hitting my han.ds and a second group of people Is pulling 
me from belOw by grabbing my legs. 
Very quickly, Iiall !O the level below the roof. As !land, another 
group of people are running towards me. Here as well there are 
shouts of Allahu Akbar. I am lying on the deck, there are many 
people above ll)e, one of the people jumps on me and I feel a 
sharp pain in the lower abdomen. I put my hand there and I feel 
a knife, and I realize that I've been stabbed, l instinctively pull 
the knife out of my abdomen. It isimporiant to state that, dur1l" 
thJs stage as well, I'm taking many blows, including from clubs." 

Soldier no. 4, the signal operator for soldier no. 3 and the fourth 
who fast-roped from the first helicopter, stated: 

"As I re~ched the deck, I nol;lced a -tetrorist with an iron crow­
bar waiting to strike me in the head, but when he tried to hit me, 

525 Testimony of soldier no. 3, ld.,at2-3. 
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I pushed him and immediately another four ferrorisis jumped 
onto me while one of them wrapped the chain aroU1ld my neck 
and strangled me, while I am struggling with them I thoui:ht of 
drawing my pistol but !felt th11t if! drew it; because they were up 
against me arid kicking me,! wouldn't be able to. shoot and they 
would grab the pistol from me. At this stage, Iiost. cc:insdousness 
(apparently from .the strangling- l saw stars), and when I awoke, 
!felt that I was In the air, and three l four tetrorists ate thtowing 
me from the roof to the bridge deck I was very heavy, and !fell 
a very quick and forceful fall. About 20 men were waiting there 
with poles, axes and roore, and as Hell (this seemed to me as if 
it were planned), they grabbed roe and dragged me inside the 
ship:·"· 
It should be noted that soldier no. 4 was critically wounded during 

this event. He stiffered from a fractured skull, a hematoma in his right 
eye, artd- corivulsions. After- the event, he was anesthetized, placed on 
respirators, and operated on for a fractured skull."' 

134. Two soldiers from the takeoverforce in the first helicopter were 
wounded by live fire, which, according to their statements, was shot at 
them by lHH activists: soldier no •. 2 (the second soldier who fast-roped 
from the first helicopter) was shot in his abdomen by a bullet with 9 mm 
circumference; soldier no. 5 was shot in his right knee. 

Solder no .. 2 stated; 
"Upon exiting, I didn't see what was happening below and Ifast­
roped, duting which Heel pulling on the rope and that they're 
trying to knock me off. Even before I landed on the deck, l get 
punched with a club to. the head and I realize I'm enteth1g an 
exll;emely violent situation and not as I had planned. About live 
terrorists jump onto me and rm fighting wildly with them. I was 
attacked with dubs, poles, metal cha.lrs, lists, \hey strangled me 
and tried to throw m.e over the right side of the MaviMarmara.1 
got down into a half-kneeling position and I held onto the ralling 
(the rail of the ship). I realized my llfe was in danger and they're 
trying_ to-kill me and throw me over in order- to wipe me out I 
felt that I was fighting for my life and that this was not a. game 
of Stopping a ship, but a battle for my life, and so I fought back 
har<i. 

5~6 Testimony of soldier no. 4, Id., at 1-2, 
527 See IDF complf.Uo11 rtspi:mst {)[15.11,1.010, supra note 400, at para. P. 
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At this stage I felt a strong blow to my abdomen on the left side 
and I realized that it was likely that I had been wounded by a 
bullet m tnyabdomen .... ""' 

It shoµld be noted. that soldierno. 2 was indeed injured by a bullet 
wound ill the abdomen, he underwent two surgeries, and he required 
physiotherapeutic rehabilitation."' 

Soldier. no. 5 was Injured by severe violence used against him, 
induding live fire into hlS right knee and stabbmg with a knife. The 
soldier stated: 

''I landed with my feet onto the deck, while I'm throwing off 
the rappelling gfoves. I start to take blows from metal poles, 
and I also clearly discern a terrOrlst With an axe in his hand. I 
withdraw iib.out lour to five-meters towards the stem in order to 
distance myself from the encounter by the rope, and ~ group of 
about si.x (and lt felt like more) pursues !fiC toward the stem. I 
dearly remember what the people had in their hand.s: !here were 
three people With metal poles which were light.blue (the color 
of the ship). At first, I didn't realize what they were. I thought 
maybe they were a type of toy, but as soon as I gothitwithone of 
the poles, I realized that they were metal poles. There were two 
people with knives W:awn, running after me with the intention 
of stabbmg me, and another person with a crow-bar· a tool made 
of metal, aqout a half-meter long, which was sharp on one end 
and flat 011the0th.er [ ... ] 
I'm surrounded by six.people and another person who arrives a 
few seconds later. This person has a large camera tripod in his 
hand and he joins the terrorism and beats me with the tripod. 
My situation at this point U; that, as l said, I'm sUl'rounded by 
terrorists. They're beating me with poles. I'm gettirtghit all over 
my body. Itakeseveral bloWs to the face with the metal poles. I 
take m011y bl9ws Jo the head, my head is protected by the helmet 
(after the batOe was <;>ver, my helm.et was completely smashed). I 
am getting blows to my body, which U; protected by rnY ceramic 
vest. I'm lrying to protect my face with my arms and my arms 
are getting beaten. One of my arms breaks [ ... )I am trying with 
this hand tC> take out my pistol, which U; fastened to my leg in a 
holster, but I don't succeed, because they see my attempt to draw 
the pistol and they stop me by hitting my hand with metal rods. 
The fighting continues a little longer, and at this stage l realize 
I'm not managing to withdraw the pistol. I try to find a solution, 
and then a terr.orist runs towards me with a knife drawn and 

528 Testimony of soldier fl0.2, Td., at 2. 
529 See JDf complt1io11 rtSpoJ1se of 15.1l.2010, supra nole 400~ at para. P. 
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stabs '!'" with full force in the ches.t. What s1ops .the knife is 
the ceramic vest I'm wearing. The terrorlst who tried to stab 
nie seems surprised that the knife wos stopped by the ceramic 
shield and I push him off of me with a blow t<)wards his head. l 
realize that I need a weapon tci def<l!ld myself. I run toward one 
of the terrorists who is attacking me, I grab the iron pole from 
his hand, and I use it to.start striking back at the t".rorlsts who 
are surrounding me - blows w.ith the ironpole in my hand. I felt 
that from .the moment I took the Iron rod the blows increased. I 
started to feel their impatt and it was hard for nie to breathe. I 
also started to feel dizzy. At this stage, I feel a cut in the area of 
my ea_r or head, it isn'fcle;ar to me exac:tly'Where. I tum arid see 
sorneonewj!h a knife - I hit hi.m wi.!h the iron rod and the person 
falls. When I t\lmed !;>wards the terrorist with the knife, my back 
was left exposed and the terrorists. who were behind. me struck 
a number of blows in. the area of the back of my neck. I retreat 
a fow steps and at this stage 1 stumbled; my right leg buckled 
under. !fall to the deck. !fall where underneath m.e there is an 
open entrance - .the hatch on the right side of the roof. It's about 
a meter w(de. The people above are trying to pl.lsh me down 
through the opening to the level below, and, at the same time, 
they are hyihg to pull me down from below. r manage to see 
that underneath me on the deck a mob of people have gathered. 
I realize that, in a situation Hke this, I cannot let the terrorists 
push me downwards. I roll about a meter to the sid<' ih order to 
distance myself from the opening. At every stage, the blows with 
the poles continue, non-stop. I get hit in the. head, !he abdomen, 
and the legs. After I manage to get away from the hatch, I take 
a number of blows to the head and the back of my neck, and 
I lose eonsciouSneSs. _The next stage that I remember - when I 
awoke from a very strong pain in my knee, l see soldiers from 
the unit l.lnder my corrunartd putting a tourniquet on me.During 
a number of mint1_t~s1 I aUerna~e in_ and out of consciousness. I 
hear a report by the so.Idler who is the commander of the medical 
team, transmitting a report about my condition. At. this stage, 
I realize for the lil'st lime that I have been shot in the knee. I 
also realize that I have a slash in !he ear and a slash in the head, 
an:d fractures in my arm, because my arm is distorted and I have 
se~ere pairts.in thC eJbow."530 

Soldier no. 5 was indeed injured, inter alia, by a bullet shot in the 
knee (and he also suffered from blunt trauma to hls head and abdomen, a 

530 Testimony of soldier no.5, I_nq11lry Expansion of 20.9.2010, st1pm note 4.51, at 2-4; See also 
le.stimony of soldier no.6, Id., at2;Testimony o( soldier no. 6, fd., at3; Tesl:imony of soldier 
nQ. 7, Id., at l;Testimony of soldier no. s, fJ., at2; Testimony of soldier no. 9, ld., at 1; 
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fracture in his right hand, a wound te> his right ear and hemorrhaging in 
his ear drum), and he underwent surgery after the event.'" 

The eidreme violence which was inflicted upon the soldiers when 
theyJast-roped from the .first helicopter onto the roof of the Ma vi Ma111U1ra 
is also d.escribed in the.sta tern en ts ofsoldier no. 6,"' soldier no. 7/"' soldier 
no. 8;53§ soidiez: :no. 9~535 soldier riO. 10,m soldier ri.o. -11,531 soldier no. 12,m 
soldier no. 13.'" soldier no. 14,'" and soldier no. 15.'!1 

531 
532 

533 

535 

536 

537 

538 

540 

541 

See /Of ciJmplrtioir rt:jpcmstii/15.11:2010,supra note_400,_al_para, P. 
See testimony of sol~if.!r no.-6, lnquinJ Expnns/_on_o/20.9.2010, ·$upra note 451, at 2~3; Inhls 
testimQny_he dl"SCri~:md that, upon his flrrlval to lhe_Marmafa a cha it was thrown at: him by 
one of the JllCn on de.:k and thit;;_struc_k hi1i £ac:e1 anothe:r-mtn~Uempted t_p choke him and 
hew~ severely beaten on the head until he f!?tl to the d.U:_k bleeding~ LIJcewlse; an attet'f'lpt 
was made to push him to ~e side_ of the shJp and thr9_w _hi.n\ _to UleJo_wer·deck. 
1'estimon)'._of soldier no. 7, fd:1 a~l; The so Idler d~cribea.iii his testimony thatimmed.Jately 
after a chair waa thrown at him by one ofthe "activists_" (as h~cWled them), <'!nothet struck 
hi min lhe head with a du1:J,_aiic:{ So he fell to the-ground and-W11-s b$1.ten while lying on the 
floor, 
Tes_timqriy of sqldier no. 8, Jd., ;\t 2; A~cor4ffig to lhe-,soldier'S, t(tStimony immediately 
upOn h)s arrival on the MniJi M~mtara, three "ti!rrOrlsts" _(as he called them) jumped him 
and beat_ him with dubs ~r:ie,l _Jlttempted to c;hoke hlm and break his neck. 
Testimony of soldier no, 9, ld., at ';_In hl$ testiniony he deScribes how he was beaten with 
a cro:w~r in the he~d lll1til his he)met cain~off ~--d heJcll to the grQ\lf\d. While lying on 
the floor he was beaten by a1;10-ut five people with bars, a chair, and lhelr bare hands.-
See testimony_ of soldier no.10, !d.,_at 1~2;_ [n_his_ testimoi.J.y ~e d~nbes iju1t upon r~chlng 
the roof of the Mavi _Marmara h$ .was al_ta~ked by 4-5 "terrorists" (his term) who did not 
slop hlfling him wHb bats/ m·et_al slicks/ axes and attempred __ to push him to the side of 
the ship an(! thrown_ him to the deck belov,r. He g~ on lo d_esq-Jbe h_ow he was unable to 
reach the weapo:n whlch was sew.red on his back, and-so withdrew into himself in order 
to le..~n _the ~verity of the injuries. 
Testimo_ny or sol_dler _no.11,)DF{:amplefion Re$pcmse ef7:11.2010, supra note 486, at_1; In 
his teslijnony he desqi~ running_ torv-ards a number Qf _partldpiints who were beafu\g 
one or the soldiers and lhey Ptt<)ckcd }Um, beaHng_Jtlm in the head and breaking his hand. 
Uken•ise:_he; destri_be's how-a chalr thr9_wtt athlm broke the painlball gun he held (the glln 
was Out ofCOmmi:;sion and could not be 1.ISl:!d). 
sec fcstimony o_f S:(ildler l)O. 12, lnqidry Expm15ion o/20.9.2_0101 supra note 451, at 1-2. In his 
testimony th_e Soldier describes a chair being thrown at him and an attempt to stab him in 
the hand wilh a knife. 
5ee te'stiOioriy of_sofdier no. 13, Id._, at 2-3, where he des.ctlbes a sensatio_n of mortal danger 
and Qf_a _tnlnority <?-f S9f,~lers facing a large number of vtolent.actlvl,sts. The· soldier also 
desc(ibedhow he was caUght by three resistcirs, one beat him wlth a nletal bar, the- scoond 
pulled him. powerfully and ll'l'f'~e Nm dislocate his shoulder, and the three attempted to 
throw him oVer the side lo a lower deck of the ship. 
See testimony of soldier no. 14; fd.1 a~ ·1~ where he describes how he noticed upon hls 
descl!l\t to _thi'! toof of llie Marmara that the soldiers in·his for<:e were surrounded, each 
$ep~rately, by a number of resistors arm_ed·_with cold weape>nry. He also de:;cribed that he 
noticed one iesiStor_airi\ing a revolver at-several'sokliers. 
See testimony of soldier no. 15, Id., at _1~2,; where he deS<:ribes how he noticed each one of 
the $Qld,iers: war;sur:rounded by 3'-5 activist$, some of the soldiers: were lying on the floor. 
Thi? wldiern were beaten with dubs and metal bars. 1he :;oldier al_f!_O saw one axe being 
used by the resistors. He goes on ·10 describe two resistors running towards him wlth 
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135. In addition to the violence that the IDF soldiers encountered on 
the deckofthe Mavi Mannara, the three soldier.s who were abducted <tnd 
taken below the deck 0f the ship by the nm activists (soldier no. 1, soldier 
no. 3 md 5oldier no. 4) also stated that while they were held below deck, 
approXinlately forfy minutes in duration, their equipment and weapons 
were taken from i:liem, they were beaten, and. the necessary medical 
trea.tment required In their condition was withheld from them. 

Soldier no. 1, who was attacked and thrown onto the lower deck 
(a"height of about 3.S meters), 5tated that while he was held. below deck, 
he was beaten on. the, head with dubs and .IHH activists strmgled him. 
Soldierno. 1 also stated tl\at although he_had a very deep cut on his scalp, 
the doctor who treated him oruy wiped the blood from his forehead. He 
described the events asfollows: 

"When they brought me inside [below the ship's deck], I realized 
that here my physical resls.tance would be futile and that I would 
not be able to fight Uwm all, so I just looked for an opportunity 
to esc•pe and jump Into the water. At this stage, I was certain 
that Iwas going to die, and all kinds qf s.cenarios started running 
through my mind: being e_xecuted ]Jy the mob, being executed 
and it being photographed to distribute aro=d the world and 
show their achievement; abducting me and brlnging me !hto 
Gaza (Gilad Shall!), ell'.:. 
A.t this point, I tried to thlnkof ways to escape, like jumping 
intC> the water, jumping out of a porthole, ell'.:. Afterwards, they 
dropped me .further down below deck, while photographing 
me many times (video; stills, a real "press conference") and they 
continued to hit me; mostly in the head and mainly using dubs. 
With every blow I took to my head, I was worrle,;l that I would 
faint, or worse, that I would di~. During all of this movement 
below deck, one eneml' strangled me from behind and twisted 
my a.tms from _the back, while we were moving,. so that everyone 
who passed by me made sure to strike at me and take part in 
beathigme. 
After descending half of the staircase, I began ·to call, "Doctor, 
DOctor," and a doctor was brought to me. At this stage, I had a 
very deep slash-in my head.- The-doctor "treated rile" ih front of 
the cameras, when actually the only thing he did was to wipe the 
blood from my forehead. He didn't touch the injury to my skull 
at all. [Subseq11ently; at a hospit<il hi Israel, he was diagnoSed 
with a very deep scalp wound and a fractured skull; the slash 
required 14 stitches.]. Afterwards, they took me below to the 

metal bar$ in {Ul attempt· to hit him, since he managed to get away, but in the end was 
struck on the hand (iipparently by a different resistor). 
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passengers hall a11c! lay me clown on the couches, and one of the 
en·emie~ gttar!=fed me while_ ~aiving a cl.uh o_v~r my head. I asked 
for water because Uhoug\>t I wa.s going to faint from the loss of 
blooc!. At lii:ot they c!idn't brfug me water, anc! only after about 
10, 15 rnlnufes they brought me water.".., 

Soldier no. 3, who, as noted, was wounded by being stabbed in 
the .abdomen with a knife, described being dragged below deck, while 
being beaten and his hahds bei.rig pulled every time they grabbed onto 
somethl!'lg. The so.ldier also described Jµsi,njuries at thJs stage - massive 
bemorrlu>ging from the abdomen with his intestines protrudfug, a deep 
slash. on his left arm and blood streaming ftom his nose. According to his 
statement, a doctor who saw him at his request gave him only a gauze 
pad in order to treat his injuries, and he held the pad against his abdomen 
with his underwear. Soldier no. 3 alsq described tliat, below deck, his 
hands.and feet were bound and he described the fact tliat a guard with a 
wooden pole was stationed by him. As he described it; 

"At a oertain. stage, a number of people drag m.e into the ship. 
What's running through my he.ad ls that they're dragging me into 
the ship in order to kill me. I try to resist and to grab at anything 
along the way. Every time I resist, I get severely beaten, At the 
first stage, they are dragging me inside from the side into the 
stair~ase. "Before they start- to-bring me .down the stairs, they take 
my equipment off of me. I resist with all mY: strength, without 
success. I recall a lot of shouting there,madness in the people's 
eyes, hate.1. realize that this.is the end of me, and that they're 
going to.kill me• They start dragging me into the stairwell, two 
people, one from above and one from below. I try to grab onto the 
ba.rusters and the railings, the whole way- because I realize that, 
as soon as I.get below ancj reac.h the lower level, they're going 
to kill me. I hear the second helicopter arriving, l hear voices, 
shooting, and explosions on the deck, and I hope that within a 
short time they'll coine to rescue me, and l realize that this is my 
chance.to stay alive. Every time I grab onto something, my hands 
get burns (the marks on my hands are still visible today). 
While they're taking me dow11 the stairs, my pants fall down and 
my shirt ri_~es up - I see that 1- am bleeding--m~ssively, that is, 
rm losing a lot of blood, and I cant.ell that part of my.intestines 
are protruding (today I know that they came out as a result of 
pulling tlie knife out of my abdomen). I also notice a deep <ut in 
my left arm, from which I'm also losing a great quantity of blood. 

542 See testimony bf soldier no. 1, Id., at2.-4. 
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Lalso feel blood floWing from my nose into my mouth. At this 
st<i_ge, l hav¢ n_o head ,overing because-they .ren\oved it' from me 
after they took off my equipment. 
During the d.escent. in the sfaircase,l identify soldier no. 4 lylng on 
the lower leve,l, surrounded by a large numblir ol crazed people, 
while he's corttinuously being beaten. They're continuing to drag 
m.e down the st!\irwell ·while floing so, 1l>Y pants fall down and 
my shirt rises up .. At this stage, they move a bit away from me, 
and I find m)'self surrounded by people with cameras, video and 
stills, and they photograph me .a !\limber of times, with photos 
and flashes. At this stage, I ask for a doctor and point to the cut 
in my abdomen;.l;r«eiY~· a S?uze p·ad,. which I press agai11$t the 
wound in my abdomen and hold in place using the elastic.of my 
underpants. . 
My picture of the situaHon at this point ls like this. I was 
dragged two flights dowrt the stairwell, I'm lying In the staircase 
- opposite the entrance to this level of the ship. Soldier no. 4 is 
lying at the entrance .to this level, surrounded by people who, on 
the one hand; are photographing him and me, and at the same 
time they're continuingto beat him. 
Two. pe9ple I rem.ember from this stage were wearing {green) 
Hamas flags wrapped around their heads, who wer11 very eager 
to kill us. TI1ey tried to strangle Il'1e and soldier no. 4. The hate 
in their eyes was just burning; They told us in English that they 
were going to kill us. Apparently, what stopped them from 
succeeding was the people who prevented them from doing it. 
They pushed them away from the area. 
Afterwards, they qmtinue to drag me down another Jevel 
through the stail'Well, and they qring me into a large h.ali. Upon 
entering the hall, 1 identify soldier .no. 1, whose entire face is 
covered in blood; They lay me down Ori a eouch opposite soldier 
no. l. The hall ls large, with many couches and dozens of people 
ill the hall. There are wOrrien in it, with covered 'face's, who ate 
taking care of the wounded people, but not us. just after they 
bring me down, they bring soldier no. 4, and lay him down on 
the cou,m next_ to me. 
The current situation Is that the three of us are in the hall on 
three couches. Soldier no. 1 is sitting, soldier no. 4 is lying down, 
and I'm lying down on the couch opposite them, at a distance of 
about three meters. 
They tied my hands and feet with rop~. They station a person 
above me who is holding a wooden pole in one hand, and with 
his other hand he's holding onto my arm. He beats me with the 
woot;len pole, arid he indicates to me with his hand to be quiet, 
and that any movement by me will result in harsh blows with 
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the wooden pole. Apparently as a result of the loss of blood, I 
started to become groggy. I notice a group congregating around 
soldier no. 41 I loo.kin his direction and I see that th•Yare sitting 
on him and beating him with harsh blows. Sol di.er no. 4 starts to 
convulse. Both s.oldier no. 1 and I started shouting in English for 
the doctor. 
Atthis point, the activists broui;ht water and poured it over hls 
face and. he stopped and lay down qtiletly. I was sure that at this 
po(nt he was deac:!.""' 

Solderno.41 the signal operator for.soldier no. 3, suffered convulsions 
and lost consciousness while he was below de.ck due to the b.lows to hls 
head. As he.stated; 

"About 20 people were waiting there with poles, axes, and 
other [weapons], and as I fell (this seemed. to me to !>ave been 
planned), they grabbed me and dragged me mto the ship. I notice 
knives an<! they cut all of my eqtilpment off of me, and they're 
also \>eating me the who!Mime, during which time !saw soldier 
no. 3 after they had stabbed him in the abdomen. I triec,i to get 
to him and to help him, and he indicated to me to be calm and 
not do anything crazy, so that they wouldn't injure me fµrther. 
They tookus down - I was pretty foggy • through the stairwell 
into the ship below deck .. They brought us into a room, during 
whlch time I heard all kinds of shouting, which wasn't clear. but 
it sounded to me lik¢ Haneen Zo~bi. I got.to the room and on the 
way theJ;'e I was.beaten the whole time. In the room,.there were 
many blue couches. They fay me down on one of the couches. 
There were twopeople, one of whom beat me the whole time 
while I was tied to the couch1 and they also held me, and, during 
this, the guy continues to beat me; and there was another guy 
whb tried to calm him down, butit didn't help. At this stage, Helt 
foggy and not g()<:id, I felt my h.ead. ! saw sdldler no. l With hls 
hand on his head, coverec;l with blood, anci one of ihe·terrorists, 
while one of th_e_in was sitting on me the wl:u;>ie time (or this was 
the same one wiU1.a pistol in his hand) and whispering things to 
me the Whole time m Arabic, and I realized that l.t seemed like 
I was going to die. At this point, I lost consciousn""s (from my 
friends' description, l also started to have convulsions)."' 

ln a 34-second video taken by one of the flotilla participants, 
soldier no. 1 is seen Inside ihe ship below deck, bleeding from his h<!ad and 
groaning in pam, while he is being guarded by an IHH activist wearing 

543 See testimony<Jf soldier no. 3, [d,, at3..S. 
544 See testimony of soldier no. 4, Id., at 2. 
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a life jacket and a gas mask and holding a large wooden d,,b."' In a 
20.second video, soldier no. 4 is seen lying on the floor, inside the ship 
below deck, while an IHH activist with a protective vest and an iron rod is 
holding him. Other people are seen.who are photographing the soldier.'" 
In another vl<leo, soldier no. 3 is seen while he is being fordl>ly dragged 
down. the stairwell into the ships' interior by an IHH activist wearing a 
protective vest and a gas mask. The soldier is seen trying to hold onto the 
banister, he is forcefully pulled off, an 1.1-ll·I a~tivist strikes him, and the 
soldier iSbleeding from his nose."' 

136. It should be noted that the statements of the three soldiers who 
were abducted indicate fuat fue flotilla participants on the Mavi Mllrmara 
were divided into l:Wo grqups: ~) the 1.HH activists and their supporters, 
those same participants who seized fue soldiers on the.roof of the Mavi 
Marmara and took them below the ship's deck, while withholding 
appropriate medical treatment from them; and (ii) fue other particip<mts 
whom they encountered below deck, who tried to protect them and 
Improve their situation. 

Soldier no. 1 stated about this; 
"At this stage, I noticed that there were two types of people in 
the roont; 
J. Terrorists - very large and strong men, approximately ages 20-
40, armed wit.h cold weapons!'' [foolnote added! running back 
and forth and appearing as if they're in the middle of a military 
operation. Some of them spoke into Motoroh1s, transmitted 
reports within the ship and, other than not having uniforms, 
looked and acted like a military force Jn every respect. 
2. The relatively moderate people - slightly older men and 
women who showed restrain~ relatively, and did not atl<\ck me. 
I noticed that there was a disagreement between the two groups; 
the tefrorlst group wanted to attack me and kill me, while the 
moderate group !tied to protect me. At this point, I was worried 
that someone from the terrorist group would succeed in getting 
to. me and shooting or stabbing.me to death/'~' 

545 see file ~M2U00007' on CD marked as exhibit 159 of the Comrniss.Jon's exhibits,.rcceived 
on-_Oei,:, 39, 20~0. -This event from a diflerent point of view is also documented in another 
video, see ''M2U00008'', Id. 

546 File "M2U_00011"; Id. 
547 Fili! "Hayalim'~ (OL06), Iii.; 5ee also -"M2U0001_2" (17 seconds), 1¢. 
548 Th!? ~rth- ''c_old·weapon" is- defined in the Evett-.shushan Dictionary (Concentrated) 

(Hehfew) as a weapon that can llijure or cause death by means t)f slabbing, or hitting, thus 
a weaprin-that does nqt have materials ~t produce fire or heat as the r~ult of the use of 
gun tite (as opposed to a "h<Jt weapon'l 

549 See lestirnon}' of $1?1dier no. l, Id., at 3. 
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Soldier no. 3 also stated: 
"'fl'iere were twq groups.there, the one which tried to kill us and 
was just waiting for the moment when they would succeed. 
There was another group there whkh tried to calm thjngs down, 
and they were actually the -Ones who prevented the extreme 
group from. killiqg us.""' 

. Soldier.no. 4stated: 
''It ls important tp note that when I was below the ship's deck 
they t1ed me up, and there was one who pulled my hair the 
whole time, whispered all sorts of thing\> in my ear, and beat me 
w.ith clubs~ and, $irn~taneously, there wa_s one who restrained 
him the whole time."'" 

At this point, it should be noted that the chain of conunand was 
not fully aware of the abduction of the 'three IDF soldiers immediately 
upon their capture, but only after some time had passed. The material 
obtained by .the Coinnrlssion indicates tha.t the aerial lpokout discem.ed 
the dragging of soldier no. 1.and his fall from the roof to the lower deck 
.as the events too\;.place, and he reported over the radio his concern that 
soldier ho. 1 had been abducted by the IHH activists on the Mavi Marmara. 
Thus, by mealls of a radio report at 4:39 3.m., the.aerial lookout reported 
his concern to the Conunander of Center A, and even asked him .twice 
whether a soldier was missing on the ship. The Commahder of Center 
A responded that he did not have contact with the force from helicopter 
no. 1 and therefore he could not respond."' Likely, the Commander of 
Cehter A understood that. soldiers were missing from the force after the 
third helicopter arrived, as described b.elow (between 4:46 a.m., whenfast­
roping from the thirelhelicopter began, until 5:07 a.m., when the command 
was given to board the Mavi Marmara from the Moten• speedboats.) The 
commander of the force on the second helicopter (hereafter: soldier no. 
21), stated that when he realized for the first time tha.t soldiers no. 1, no. 
3 and no. 4 were near the bow of the ship (at approximately 5:13 a.m., as 

551} ~ teStimOny of .sol_dler TI(>. 3, Id., at 6'. 
551 ~testimony.of soldier no. 4, fd.,at3, 
552 The sounds over the radlo rega'tding the ;i~nce of soldier no. 1 can be heiird an file 

-Ncsl:tek Harn.mi:>v" in folder.Air, NmJY DtHa Disc, supra note 5. The time of communication 
between the aerial lqok~ut (Tzofit) and the Sh.ayet~t 13 Commander <:an be ~een from the 
dock appearin13: on !;he Visual d~jc.e; See also the testimony of Shayetet 13 commander, 
Inquiry £xpans/011 o/20.9.20~01 ."111ptanolc 451, at4, ai:(Ording to wNCh ''al this thne I cannot 
est<iblish radio cor.tac:tv.'.ith the commanders on board the deck in order to re<:elve a report 
from-then1 regarding the stabJ.s ot the fore'!( in relrQspect It was be_eause aJI Six soldiers or 
tO,mmandets who destendE!;d "first from the helkopler were injured in One way or another 
and were in a situation where they could not talk to me." 
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described below), he was surprised because he had not known anything 
about soldiers from the force being missing.5" 

On this issue, the Chief of Staff, General Gabi Ashkenazi, testified 
before the Comt\tlssionthat the soldiers on the vessel and the commanding 
forces nearby only.,realized that t1ie three soldiers were missing after 
abo.ut fifteen nilitu.tes."'The Chiefof Staff added: "From our perspective, 
it is.entirely dear that there is a lesson h<!re, that we should have known 
abl>ut thiS earlier. um 

137. The second helicopter. The soldiers who fast-roped from the first 
helicopter clid not respond to the radio transmissions directed !a them. 
Therefore, at this s11>ge, the Shayetet 13 commander ordered another 
helicopter to the Mavi Marmara. (hereafter: the second. helicopter), 
which. had. been designated in the operation's plan as back-up for the 
first helicopter. There were 12 soldiers on the second helicopter. At 4:36 
a.m., fast'roping began from the second helicopter, using two rappelling 
ropes.''" The commander of the force on the second helicopter received a 
report from the commander of th.e meclical team for the force on the first 
helicopter (hereafter: soldier no .. 15) about the condition of the wounded 
and began moving towards the forward part of the roof; where, accorcling 
to the soldiers' description, the IHH activists who had attacked the first 
helicopter's.soldiers were gathered. The team advanced to the edge of the 
roof while sear<?hing the IHfI activists, and a number of sol die.rs remained 
in order to secure the area. Upon reaching the edge of the roof's porch, the 
commander of the force stationed a few soldiers in positions controlling 
the roof, artd ordered them to guard over the lower decks. Ol1e of the 
soldiers tried to descend through the roof's opening (the hatch) in order 
to get It> the ship's bridge, but he encountered resistance. The c.ommander 
decided to handcuff !he participants on the roof in order to free additional 
soldiers for the mission of descending to the bridge. He stated: "!realize 
it's necessary to free up soldiers to e•pand the team descending below 
deck, and so we decided to handcuff the terrorists on the roof. I gave 

553 See te{ltilriotty of soldiet no. 21, Id:, at 4. 
554 Transcript of session no. 13 'The Open Door Testimony of the Chief ofSfaff" (Oct. 24, 

2010), at 32~3 [her~nafler Cl1ief of Stfljfs Open Door Te:;timony_o/24.10.2010]. It should be 
noted thilt in !he Elland report, it is stated that the forces were not aw;ire of the abd_udion 
of the _so,ld.iers _u.ntil aft~r·43_ miliutes hat;{ }1il_ss~ see The El1111td Reporl1 supra_ note 402, at 
106, It appears as if this statement Is correct with resp«t to most of the force, however, as 
mentioned* and thi_s is pr()bably w_hat the Chief of Staff referred to inltis testimony -some 
lin(lerstoo_d that at l~ast one soldier had been abdui;tOO prior to that 

555 fd.,8t 33; See also T1ie EUand ~port, supra note 402, at ll2. 
556 The time of the deS<:ctlt's start was estimated according to the dock on the visual devke 

(Tzofit); See video file "NJ?shek Ham.mov'~ in folder Air, Navy Data Di!!c, supra note 5. 
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Ute order to handcuff the terrorists who were lying on the deck, and I 
hand:cuffed them while they were lying on their stomachs. I handcuffed 
their hands behind their backs so that they woul.d be neutralized and no 
longer present a threat to (he unit, and it wo.uld be possible to reduce the 
number of guards securing them.'"" 

It should be noted . that •at this stage, the Comml!Ilder of Center 
A approached the Mavi Marmara in the Morena SJ:>eedboat and tried 
to transmit a message lo the soldiers on (he roof using a megaphone. 
According to his testimony, the order given to the soldiers on (he roof 
was 'to move to the bridge, while using live fire If needecl. I ordered (he 
soldiers that in case there is a <ll!Ilger to their lives, they should shoot to 
hit the activists that are endangering the force, but for those who do not 
constitute a threat to .their lives, shoot at the legs."" 

138; The third helicopter. At this point, the Shayetet 13 commander 
ordered the third helicopter, which had been designated to take control of 
another ship (the Oefene Y), to alter its destination and fast-rope .onto tite 
Mavi Marmara to assi.St the forces there (hereafter: the third helicopter). At 
4:46 a.m.,iast-roping using two ropes co!Ilmenced from this helicopter, on 
which there Were I4·soldiers. The team secured the perimeteq>f the roof 
and toward the lower decks,"' and made contact wi.th the commander of 
the second helicopter, who gave them an assessment of the situation. The 
commander of the force (hereafter: soldier no. 18) decided to advance 
toward<; the bri<lge.'"' It should be noted that this force was not calibrated 
on the same radio frequency as the other teams, due to the change in 
theit mission. lherefote, soldier no. 18's contact remained on the roof 
with instructions to make contact with the Comman<ler of Center A or 
the commander of the operation, and report about the condition of the 
wound~. A small team remained to secure the roof near the opening to 
down below. The order given to this team was lo shoot toward the ship's 
body (into the clear area) to deter the activists and, in the event of any 
danger to the forces, lo sl\oot at the th.real 

557 See the le$timonyof sokUet no. 21, frtqnlry Expm1sio11 cf 20.9.2010, SUJJT4 note 451, at 3; It 
should be empha1>iz~ h~re t~t we are dea;llng with_ Ute takeover Mage exdusively. 

SSS See testimony of the Commander of Center A~_ Id., at 2; At the same lime, in the 'Completion 
response on this matter- the Commander of Center A inimlionW: that in his estimation 
these call$ wete not heard~)' tl)esold.lerson board the ship, since they_ didnotapprQve oo: 
in -at1}' way ai;knowledge- that they had received the order (See JDF Omipletion R£sponse lo 
the Co1nilifssi011'$-Q1tislici1iS 0/29.11.2010,at para. 61 marked by the Commission as exhibit 
147). 

559 See-testimony o,f soldier-no.18, /d., at 1; The reference is to a sector free of people and for 
purpoSe$ of determent and prevention of the advancement of people towa[ds the sector. 

560 See testimony of soldier no. 18, Id., at '2. 
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The Take\>Ver of the Bridge 

139. Soldier no. 18, commander of the takeover force on the third 
helkopl<!r, mobilized his fore~ and began preparing for the descent. 
During the descent, a door on the body of the ship opened at a distance 
of approximately twp meters from the force, and two activiSts came out. 
Acc()rding to the force commander's statement, they were armed with 
clubs and axes. The for~e shot live fire at one of them, he was wounded, 
and the second Ittl:-1: activiSt dragged blln back inside anll dosed the 
cloor. Soldier no. 18 shot several rounds through the window of thiS 
door, toward the ship's i.nrierwall. On their way to the bridge, the force 
ide!)tified two more IHH activiSts with clubs. One of the soldiers in the 
force shot the two IHH activists in the legs, Upon reaching the area of the 
bridge, solclier no. lll gave the order to enter while firing, and also shot 
a nµmber oflive bullets !!)to ihe area clear of people. The fotce charged 
on.to the bridge, where there were five people in addition to the captain 
of the Mavi Mm:11mra. Those who were present on the bridge did not 
provide re8istance to the takeover of the bridge, although, from al) inner 
corridor of the vessel, marb4's and screws were shot a_t the IDF soldiers 
from a slinl)Shot Solclier no. 18, the force commander, i,ave the order to 
shoot into the inner wrndor, ancl if the shooting continued, at the legs 
of participants holding slingshots. This event is also described in furiher 
detail below. 

Soldier no~ 18 Ordered the captain of the Mavi Mnrmizra to stop the 
vessel. Evetyone on thebrldge, other than the captain, was handcuffed.'" 
The .captain issued an announcement over the vessels' public 
announcement system thatthe ship was no longer under hls control, but 
was instead under the conb'ol of IDF soldiers, and he ordered all of the 
passengers to go inside the ship. 

Boarding l>y the Soldiers from the Morena Speedboats 

140. While these even.ts were taking place on the Mavi Marmara itself, 
the naval force continued trying to board ihe ship. From its location at sea, 

561 So_ldie.r .no. 9:testifi~ that ~u.dng Ute takeover of the bri.dge they .ln$tructed the captain 
of the Marrruira to stOp ~e ship ·and the fatter started talking in Tudd$h on his intemnl 
radio; Soldie_r·no:_ 9 went_ on to state i_n_hifl te~lirhony th_;:.it he found. ·o_lit that_ the Ci\pfain 
Sl've a_n order to sabotage the ship. In fa·ct, there was indood a technical malfunction on 
the.ship which \vas-identifie_d by a Nav_y .Ili:lglneer Officer as a deliberate trial_fu.oction. 
See_~stimon:yOf soldi!!r n~. 9, rn·Q11lry Eipa11sioli of20.9.201Q, supra note 451; at 2; See also 
IOF cOmplttlon _rcsp-011se of 15.11. 2010; supra note 400; ie\'$Hmony of Chief l Engineer Of ficef J 
of the Bat Yam {Navy Ship}, Id; Soldier no. 9 also mentioned that the captain, who was 
wearing a ~vlar vest, remained al the :<>hip's wheel and began cursing the Soldiers ~nd 
demandingothey get off lh_e ship. · 
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the force could see some of the events taking place on the Ma vi Marmara, 
but with only a partial view due to its location. At a certain stage, the 
naval force OJ\ the Morena speedboats ev.en S<IW a persoll. thrown from 
the roof onto the lower decks.'" Attempts to establish contact With the 
soldiers on the roof of the Mavi Marmara failed. Before the arrival of 
the third helicopter, and after reeeiving the t"<!dio.1'.eport that there were 
two inj[(red on ther0of, !he Commander ofCenter A .instructed th~first 
Moref\a spee!'.lboat to approach the bow. The force encountered resistance 
from water hoses, .poles, glass marbles, etc., and another attempt to raise 
the Jadder5 in order to cllinb aboard faile<l"" The Commander of Center 
A decided not to approve live fire.at this stage, and to wait for· the third 
helicopter to stabilize thHitualion .and dear the side. The Commander of 
the >akeover Force on .the second Morena stated that he heard shooting 
on the roof and requested pennlssion from the Shayetet 1.3 commander 
to open live fire. The Shayetet 13 commander refused to give approval 
for shooting "in order to prevent deaths among the participants of the 
flotilla.""' 

Additional .attempts to establish contact with the force on the roof 
failed (as stated above, the Commander of Center A, who was aboard 
the first Morena, tried calling .to the soldiers with a megaphone). The 
Comm.a11der pf the.Takeover Force saw shooting at. the navy's boats, but 
he could not identify the source of the shooting and he did not re tum fire."' 
The team commander R., who was on the first Morena along with the 
Commander of Cente< A, also saw shooting at. the Morena, which struck 
the water near the Morena,'"6 At this stage; the.names of the wounded 
were transmitted by radjo, and the first writ commander reallzed that a 
soldier from the first helicopter was missing. 

At 5:07 a.m., the Commander of Center A gave !he order for the 
soldiers on both Mm:ena speedboats to board !he Mavi Marmara.'" The 
Commander of Center A i•sued an order to use deterring fire against the 
side of the ship in order to deter the group of JHH activists standing there. 
According to his statement, the deferring fire did not have the anticipated 
effect. Therefore, the forces used live fire towards two of the lHH activists 

562 See testimony of soldier no. 20, at 2, as well as the testimony tJf lhe commander of center 
A,atl,/d. 

56l Id. 
564 Sef: tystimony of the Conun~nder of the Takeovet: Force, Id., at 4. 
565 Id. 
566 See testimony of the Team Commander R, Id., at 1. 
567 See- t~tjmony of the Commander of Center A; Id., at 1·2; see video file "Neshek Ham. 

mov"~ in fOlder AirNmJy Data Disc, supra note 5. 
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who were throwiri.g vai:ious objects towards them.~ The soldiers on the 
second Morena b.oarded on the right side, .without engaging in any live 
lire."' The shooting led to the diSpetsal of the people at the vessel's stem. 

The forces from both Morena speedboats boarded the Mavi 
Mamiar0. The Col1l.lmlnder of Center A directed the Commander of the 
Takeover Force to secure the openings, realized that the takeover of the 
bridge had been completed; ;md went up tq the roof to assess the situation 
oftheforces which were !here, The assessment he 9btained was that the. 
unit had two woun~ed and two soldiers missing~'" The force prepared 
to descend to the halls to locate the mJSsingcsoldiers. At this stage, and 
after the report bylhe ship's captain over the loudspeaker system that the 
vessel was under the control oHDF soldiers, a report was received about 
thE! evenltl taking plaee at the bow ·- the three soldiers who had been 
abduc.ted. were brqught out an<;! taken to the bow. Soldier no. 3 described 
inhiS statement that shooting.was heard at this time."1 Soldierno. 21, the 
force commander of the second helicopter; described in his statement that 
there was shooting from less-lethal weapons at .the. violent activiSts who 
were holding soldiers no. 1; no. 3, and no. 4.512 Two of !he soldiers, soldier 
no. 1 and S()ldier no. 3, took advalltage of the opportunity, jumped into 
the water, and were picked up by th.e navy's first Mor~11 speedboat from 
there they were transported to the INS Hanlt ll\lssile shlp.573 Soldier n:o. 4, 
who had a serious head injury, remained on the bow. The Commander of 
Center A and soldierno. 21 reached soldierno. 4, cond\lcted a preliminary 
medical examination, and the Commander of Center A gave the order to 
evacuate hlm to the roof. 

Regarding the events which took place at that titne, soldier no. 1 
stated: 

568 See the tesUm9ny of_ Cl)inm!inder of Center A, ln,quiry Exp1m~io>1 of 20.9.2010, supra note 
451, at_ 2; See also the lestfmony of Commander o( Unter A, IDF CcmpleUon -Response tJj 
7.11.2.0_JO~supra note48§, at .2. 

569 ~ the testftnon}' of Commander of Centei; A, at 2, as well as the testiniony of the 
(:Otnn\(\nder of,the inkeover force, al 4i Id. 
Video file "VIDE0_1(xJ530_003:.asf', in folder cdll in to Ider st«, Navy Data Disc, s11pm note 
5. There JS another video takeO by the IOF_ forcesf where lhe gathering.of-resislors at the 
stem was d_oc:w;nented, their scattering; at one rt\C)'menl (the 9h,ooting hom the direction 
of NSW boat 1 was not seen),_and lhe ascent of the sold_iers-ftom the NSW boat to the 
Marn;ara; _See: CD 5 Takeover bf l/1¢ Mn vi Marm11h1, in a fol~er rriiirked ·a_s exhlbit 90 by the 
Commission. 

570 ~ the testimony df Comrnander of Center A, Inquiry Exp1insion of 20.9.2010, supril iTote 
451, al 2. 

571 St?e _tesl111-lonyof soldier no. 3, ld., at S. 
572 See teslinloriy of soldier no. 21, Id., at 4. 
573 See testimony of so1dler no. 1, Id., atS. 
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"Alter some time, the ship's captoin was heard saying over the 
loudspeaker system that the shiJ:' was now under the control of 
the soldiers, and that they are using live weapons, and that ;ill 
passengers shoulc!gabelow deck. This announcement caused a 
lot of agitatipn below deck; and the mob began shouting "Allahu 
Akbar" and began to int:ite each other. Aftenvards, they brought 
us and sat us dowl\ against .the bow of the ship. At this point, I 
saw that soldier no .. 4 wl>S not :walking on his own, but Instead W•• being dragged. Two people :were also dragging me. At this 
stage, I thoµght they :were going .to execute us at the bo:w of the 
ship, as an ad whose purpose from their perspective was to 
execute one soldier (me} and to threaten that they would do this 
to the other two if they :weren't permltted to. enter Gaza. 
After about .teri S<Konds, they opened the door and brought me 
out towards the bo:w, The guard !.>ringing me out held me a litile 
less tightly, and he was waving with his h.and to the right and to 
the_ left iIJ the dir.ection of our boats, which I understoOd was to 
show our forces thatthey were holding soldiers in theircustOdy. 
I took. advant~ge of the opportunity that he was holdingn1e :with 
only one hand, atid relatively loosely. I jabbed my elbow irito 
his ribs and jumped into the water. While I was trying to jump, 
the guard trled to grab me, but I managed to free myself and 
I fell into the waler. I did this because I realized that this was 
the only way to save m)' life. As soon as l reached the water, I 
<love underneath, so that they :would not be able to hit me from 
the ship. I took off my shirt while diving and s:wimming, and I 
intended to swjm and dive rapidly in a "zig zag" to escape from 
the enemy on the ship. After my first dive, (rose tQ the :water's 
surface and I saw a Morena speedbOi\t approaching me arid 
soldier no.3 next to me, sinceh¢ had also Jumped from the ship, 
after me. The Morena arrived. We weren't able to climb aboard 
it on our Own, and we were, pulled up by- the memPcrs _of our 
forc_e. The- medic on the Morena began treating soldier no. 3. I 
looked back at the vessel and I saw soldier no. 4 leaning on the 
si<!e of the ship, completely dazed I serni"COnscious. I picked up 
an M~16 dfle-thi.'.\tWas in the Morena and I hegan shooting in the 
air into the- tlE?ar arear and tlris was because l Was concerned that 
the mob on the ship wanted to abduct soldier no. 4 back into the 
ship, and I :wanted to deter them. 
I shouted to soldier no. 4 that he should jump into the :water, 
but at this_ pofut I saw several soldiers from our forces were 
joining tip with soldier no. 4. Afterwards,Ileamed that soldier 
no. 4 suffered from a fractured skull and compression, and that 
the operation which the unit paramedic performed on the d.eck 
of the Maoi Mmnara saved his life. Afterwards, the Morena 

Turkel Commission Report I 169 

UNCLASSIFIED U.S. Department of State Case No. F-2010-04163 Doc No. C05330857 Date: 06/25/2013 

StateDepto05065 



UNCLASSIFIED U.S: Department of State Case No. F-2010-04163 Doc No. C05330857 Date: 06/25/2013 

transported soldier no; 3 and me to lhe INS Hanit missile ship. 
AS the Morena speedboat moved toward the missile ship, w_e 
passed by lhe commander on lhe Zaharon boat and 1 shouted 
to him that the terrorists had possession of lhe eqllipment and 
weapons of the three ofus (soldier no.3, soldier no. 4, and me).'" 

Soldier no. 3 stated: 
"We lay there for what seemed to me something like an hour and 
a half(lh hindsight I know that from the moment we fast-roped 
until I got outside, 43 minutes passed) .... 
the sl'tou!lng ~ontinue5 the whole time, the"' Is a lot of noise, 
many people are involved with us and shou!fng at US· At a 
certain stage, the anno.uncement of th.e ship's captain Is heard. 
The captain shouts to everyone to go inside all of the rooms. After 
the c:iptairi.'s arinouncement, a lOf of stress and panie is created. 
There are people arotilld us who are shouting and cursing the 
whole tilne, as !stated. The people are looking out the windows 
the whole lime. 
Al the next stage, my guard is replaced by another guard. The 
new guard lifts ltte up.! .ask him to undo the ties a.t my hands 
and legs. He releases the ttes (lhe rope) for me, and he begins 
taking me to lhe bow, wllh lhe distance between us and the exit 
to lhe b6w about SOC70 meters. 
The move towar\I the bow ls <lone through the hall. While we're 
moving, the guard is trying lo strangle me. Every Ume I feel that 
I <lon't have any air, I try to shout and people· release me from 
him, and they don't allow him to succeed in strangling me. 
This attempt to strangle me was made· several times. It is 
hnportant to state that they brought soldier no. 4 before me, two 
people grabbed him on each side. He couldn't walk. They just 
dragged him a!ottg 'and lay him down on a couclt by lhe door 
which exited onto the bow. They sat me down next to him and, 
whlle they're sitting him up, I see that some.one is taking soldier 
no I outside. I rise up forcefully !o try and go outside along wilh 
them, and I/ind myself outside with soldier no. !. 
I find myself outside togetherwilhsoldierno.1 and the 'Turkish 
guard''. I hear shooting', I tum around and I see the ''Turkish 
guard" fleeing back inside. 
Soldier no. I and I runto the side of the ship, jump into lhe water 
from a height of 12 meters, and start owin'uning toward our boats, 
toward the Morena speedboats. We climb aboard lhe Morena, 

514 See testimony of soldier no.1, Id., at 4-5, 
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where they start treating me, and from there they transfer me to 
the missile boat, and from there by helicopter to the hospital."'" 

$Didier 119. 20, who w.as on one of the Morena speedboats which 
picked up soldiers no.1 and no. 3, who had jumped into the water, stated: 

"At this stage, we approached the tight side of the Mavi Ml/rmara 
(the bads third) and, whjle we're approaching, I see two people 
j11mping into the 1"'•ter (two ligwes) fro(n \he right ~Ide of the 
bow .. Itwi!S already daylight. To the best of my recollection, the 
1V1avi Mtrr,mdfn was no longer mQving. 
We didn't know who the two figures were who had jumped, and 
we approached with our Wt;-apOns ·ready and identified soldier 
no .. 1 and soldier no. 3, 

Soldier no, l swam towards us rapidly. He reached us, and we 
saw him, and that"his Whole face was swollen and beaten and his 
head was open and his hand was also injured. 
We saw that soldier no. 3 was swimming with difflcttlty. We 
looked at hi.m. He said that his. abdomen Wi!S cut and that he 
can't climb, 

We lifted him into our boat. We saw that his arms were full of 
cuts, his face was swollenfrom blows and smashing, and he had 
an open slash iri his abdomen from whkh his internal organs 
were-protruding. He looked lik¢ he was in critical condition~ 
At the same time, we looked at the place where they had jumped 
from, and we saw soldier no. 4 leaning on the side of the Ml/vi 
Mannara1 with his eyes open. We called to him and he didn't 
react. We realized that he Wi!S critically wounded. 
At this stage, the bOat of the naval COID(nand approached us and 
he told us \h.at he wou.ld contim1e dealing with (taking care of) 
rescuing soldier no. 4 and.that we should evacuate the wounded." 

Soldier no.21 the commander of the force on the second helicopter, 
stated as follows about the shooting with less-lethal weapons, which 
enabled the escape of soldiers no. 1.and no. 3, and also about the situation 
~~~-* . 

"I was stationed at.the left side of the roof, and suddenly I heard 
shouts from the right part of the roof: "They're taking soldiers no. 
l and no. 3 with them". At this point, daylight broke. 
We employed the shooting of less-lethal weapons at those who 
.had abduc.ted them, by the soldiers who saw the event, and 
immediately afterwards r heard. shout: "They jumped into the 
water." r reach the right side of the roof and r see soldier no. 4 

575 See testimony of soldier no. 3, Jd., at 4-5, 
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leaning on the railing of the ship on the right side of the open 
dee~ (the lower deck). I ca11't tel.I that.he is wounded, but I see 
that he is only in Ulliformwithout any equipment. I was in shock, 
I kept my eye on him' I didn't know that soldiers from our unit 
were missing. 
1 realize that apparently not all of the decks had been searched 
ye~ and now I'm on the bridge deck,. one level below, and he is 
three levels below .us, and I.shout to him to jump into the water. 
I see tliat l\e doesrt't react, he looks dazed, but he doesn't react 
af all. At this stage my second-in-Command and I jump down 
in order to get to him. After we have gone down one level, I 
r_~ached ,the. secpn:d_ level, and there I see that the corridor is full 
of people. I leave my second-in'command, and I go down the 
stairs to the opendeck and approach soldier no. 4. 
I immediately realize that he Is not conscious, I see signs of 
trauma to his face. I move him away from the side, lay him 
down on the deck, and, at this point, the commander of the force 
arrives, togethe< with his signal operator. He asks him if they 
shot him and if everything is okay. A,fterwards, I pick him up 
and ta~ him up to the treatment site for the wounded, where I 
met the paramedic, who instructed me to lay him down."'" 

Taking Cate o( the Wol.lnded 

141. The s.oldiers' statements indi.cate that the soldiers treated the 
wounded throughouUhe whole operation.'" After the takeover of the 
vessel was completed, at around 5:17 a.m.,"' the stage of treating and 
evacuating the wdunded in a more organized manner commenced.. The 
statements of the medical team indicate that the prlorltizatio11 for treating 
the WPunde<l was ):>ase<:l on objective medical criteria, such .that some 
IDF wounded only received treatment after the treatment of Wounded 
flotilla participants.'" There were about 15 Wounded IHH activists on 

576 See)estimony of soldier no. 21 •. Id., flt 4. 
577 See 'for e'xaniple $~. tf?sl:imony of soldier· no. 7, llt-3 '(''I started treating about 15 wounded 

among the people who aijac}:ed us earlier"); testimony of S9Idier no. 15, :at 4 (')he dOi;'lors 
per!Orn_1.Ccl opei'at;om;i on them [the refet'Cnce is to the ai;tivhits on· board_ the ship who 
atta_cked usl: This tasted fo_r 4 ho~ wh~u-they _treated all the wounderj on the ship?); 
Testi~ony af Com'rnender ~f Ce_nter A, _at 3; ln the t~timony the. rorl\mandet describes 
receiving 'ongoing reports &om the unit' (:{Q<:tor treating the wounded, and tti11t ev<:fY 
wound¢ p¢rW:n ~ if1~luding the tlotiUa e,<::tivi$ts ~ rece_iv«! full medical treatment; 669 
Unit Commander's testimony, at 2~ whlch describes that when he reached the Marmara he 
notkaj that_ the woun_d!W h"(l alr~dyre:i:eived litat: aid and assumed-it-was adtttlnfslf:!r~d 
by the Shayctet soldfeis;_ see also the_ testimony of the Commander of the T~kcover Force, 
at 7; Testimony o_f soldier no. 6, at 4-Si _Testiinony of soldier no. 10, at 2, As well as the 
testimOny bf $oldier no. 13, <1t 5, ld. 

578 Clll'ef of 5Ulffs Open DoorTesllmuny o/11.8.2010, t;Upra m1te 70, at 27. 
579 See the testimony of the 669 Conunander, JDF cotnplttion uspc11$t of15.11.2010, s11pra nole 
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the roof'" and eight wounded lDF soldiers, of whom three had critical 
injuries."' The doctor .who boarded with the f1>rce from the second 
Morena speedl:>oat stated that he handled the evacuation of a number of 
lDF soldiers who were critically wounded, and he testified to the critical 
condition.ofthese wounded.'" AHhis stage, the forces realfaed that some 
of the flotilla participants in the halls of the vessel were wounded, and 
thus an order was given to first bring all of the woun<!ed out through 
the entr.1nceways of the halls. A doctor, a medic, and a medical team 
were stationed. at each of the entral\ceways and conducted the first 
examination of the wounded. From there, the wounded were taken up fo 
the roof-. At" any givCtt time, there were about six or seven doctor~ on the 
roof (including the director of an emergency room at Rambam Hospital). 
Providing medical treatment on the roQf were also six paramedics, four 
medical teams and the soldiers from the rescue and airlift evacuation 
unit 669 (hereafter: unit 669), all of whom are trained medics. During the 
course of this event, treatment was provided by in total 18 doctors, six 
paramedics, about 70 sqlctier-medics and a senior doctor from unit 669, 
who assisted with th.e prioritization fur evacuating the wounded. The 
commander of unit 669 stated that, upon his command, the doctors began 
stabilizing the condition of the wounded. Those wounded who were in 
stable condition were harnessed into evacuation stretchers, prepared for 
helicopter evacuation, and transferred to the helicopters. Fourteen field 
operations were perfonned on the deck of the Mavi Marmara. By 11:40 
a.m., 31 wounded flotilla participants had been evacuated, 20 of whom 
were in critical condition and the rest moderately or lightly injured. 
The doctor stated that, around 12:00, he personally conducted a search 
inside the ship, during which he ide.ntified himself as.a doctor and asked 
whether there were any more wounded. The doctor also stated that his 
assistant had conducted a. similar search.several minutes before him. At 
this stage, the medical team believed that there wereno morewounded 
aboard the vessel."' Retrospectively, it was understood that there were 

4(10, at para. P; Si!e also the "testimony of soldier no. 91 at 4 ("my treatment' was performed 
after the Turkish_ i.nju_~d w_ere treated"): 

580 See docto_r's testimony, fl1q11iry Exptmsi<m _of20.9.J.010, sup'ra note 451, _at 2. 
581 ~ a.lso Th:e_ Eil~1_1d Report, s.utfrrl nole. 402, at 107, 
582 See d.octoi's 1<!$1,in\ony,_llliJ!llry Expansion of 20.9.2010, supta·note 451, at 2. It should be 

mentioned thitt the doctor testifi.00.. that "after evacuating aH lha: w()unded of OW' fo.rces 
w~ begin tteittirig __ the woui1ded among the ;t<:tivists on the Toof" (his testimony, at -2). 
However, from Qthcr ~stimonies it se:ems that the m~dkal lTeatrrumt Was performed 
·acC.otdijlg to objeeHV~.medi.~l criteria. 

583 Bee Q:octcir's tesi::imony, lnqulry Expansion of 2(),9.2010, supm note 451, at 3; See also the 
testimony of the 969 Comrtlitnder, JDF e-0mplelio11 responst o/15.11.2010, supra note40Q, at 
para. P. 
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an additional 14 passengers in the hall w!io had bullet wounds. These 
wounds were. <;liScovered d~g the physician's examination which was 
conduc.ted a·t the port of Ashdod. 

142. The statements of the medical caregivers mdicate th'!! sqme of 
those injured resis}ed receiving medical treatment; The doctor stated: 

"During_ this event,- there were 'incidents of res_istru1c'¢ t_o_ medical 
t<'i!atmellt in the middle .of treatment, which I had never 
encountered during an)' other event. While performing a ch.St 
drain (thoracostorriJ'), the wounded pulled the drain out himself, 
and tells me: "Iwantto die like ashaheed." (NB: The term "shaheed'' 
is _a WOFd jn A;rab_ic whose literal rn~aning ~s '\vitttess'.-' but is_ also 
used to refer to a "martyr."} [explanation added] Nonetheless, we 
.in,sisted on treating him and hoisting him up to the helicopter for 
treatment. 
There were mMy other incidents like that, lrtduding pulling out 
'ln~ra_venous_ ln{Usions, etc."584 

The doctor further noted that not one of the wounded died of his 
injuries from the .moment that the medical treatment began, despite the 
resistance they encountered during the treatment and the complicated 
conditions under which the treatment took place, including a lack of 
certain medical equipment (and equipment that flew into the air due lo 
the m.otion of the helicopters), th.e difficulty in transporting the woUJi.ded 
through the narrow corridors of the vess.el and from the lower d'.ecks 
to the roof, and the lack of a complete picture regatdlrtg the number 
of wounded."' It is also noted that the Shayetet 13 $oldiers on the 
takeover teams took part in treating and evacuating the wounded flotilla 
participant$.. Thus, for example, soldier no. 14 stated: "At the site for 
treatmeqt of the wounded, I performed artificial respiration on one of the 
enemy who was wounded, and I put a tourrtlquet onto' the leg of another 
who had a bullet wound in his leg.""' Soldier no. 15 stated: "!performed 
artificial respiration on another two members of the ship's crew (the 
"activists") WhO Were wounded, until the paramedic Wa)> available to treat 
them, and afterwards they were evacuated by helicopter, The dQCtor, the 
medics and the paramedics worked for hours and went from one to the 
next, treating them, inserting ilitravenous infusions, performing artificial 
respiration, and petfonning operations on all of the wounded who were 
on the roof, aitd then some of them were evacuated by helicopter to the 
hospitals. l even saw an lrtcident lrt which one of the medics treated a 

584 See lhe dodor's testimony, Jnquiry E:rpan#on of 20.9.2010,supra not~ 451, at 2. 
SSS Id,, at 2-3. 
586 See Lestlmony of soldier no.14, Id., at3. 
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wounded and performed artificial respiration on hlm, and then when he 
became coriscious again, he tried to get up and atta¢k lrirn:'"" 

Apparently, already at this stage the handcuffs were removed from 
some of· the flotilla participants wh.o h•d. been handcuffed during the 
takeovet.583 

lt should be noted that those wounded who remained below deck 
also received medical treatment,sot):\e against their will. The Commander 
of the Takeover Force stated: 

"All of the people slowly exited the halls, other than the Knesset 
ministe:rand-a number of activists who we.r;e not willing to leave, 
and in addition to those not willing to leave were those wounded 
who _µidn't agTe:e to b~-¢vat:Uated~ At a -certain point; I ask the 
activist:; inside .the vesselwhether there Is any medical personnel 
Inside, and l ask them to connect us.[ ... ] 
After Lasked the,activistS,lheir doc_tor approaches me,._and I ask 
him about .the condition of the wounded .. He tells me that there 
are a considerable. number of wounded who are not willing to 
be evacuated, some of whom are critically wounded and other 
actlvlsts are notlettiflg them be evacuated. I take the decision that, 
.t!espite the danger to my people aboard the vessel, I'm entering 
the halls to. search for the Weapons which had b.een taken from 
us and to ~vacuate the woun(!ed from the vessel, despite their 
Jack of des.ire to be eva('.ll~ted, in order to save their .lives. We 
enter the halls and begin searching, ipformiflg the activists that 
w.?1re entering in order to ey_ac_uate ~e wow:i(l~cl_, At this s_tage. 
we encounter reSistanCe: the Knesset member and other activists 
block us with their bodle~ and try to prevent us from gettiflg to 
the wounded, We move them aside using our hands, 'Without 
hitting; justmoving them aside, arid we reach the wounded who 
are lying on tne couclles -we bring our doctor and start treating 
and evacu~tlftg the w_ouncfed. During the evacuation of the 
wounded, we conduqt a search and look for weapons [ ... ].'" 

587 See te~tinlony of soldie.r no. 15, Id., at 5; see also the testimony of soldier no. 13, Id,, at s. 
588 bn this maltc!' see for0 exampli?- t<!Stimony of soldier21, at 3-4, and testimony of soldier no. 

12, at4-S, Id. 
589 See testimony of lhe Cornrn11nder of the Takeover force, Id., 11t_6-7. 
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Evawation of the Bodies 

143. Accord\rig to the soldiers' statements, the bodies we.re co!lecred 
at a certain-loc~tion Oll the J:_bpf;590 covered,~1 transferred to the Morena 
speedboats,.·and llien putaboard the navy's missile boat and transported 
separately to the.pott ofHaifa. 

The Shayetet 13 commander sta_ted about this: 
"We covered the dead in a respectful manner, on the side[ ... ] 
We covered the dead and. transferred !hem to the Morena 
sp~edl>o~Js iJ1 a:copcealed:matll}er1.Jti orc,ler to_ avoid causing 
unne_c_~ssary fl~k,_ and ·_alsq out of respect for them. They were 
transferred from the Morena speedboats to the missile boat, 
which broughtthem to the base In Haifa.'"" 

Ta~ing Control of the Halls 

144. While the wounded Were being treated and tlie dead were being 
evacuated, the Mavi.Mannara was boarded by tlie "Masada'' unit of the 
Israel Prison Service (the "Masada" Unit is the operational control unit 
of the Prison Service, deployed in prison facilities under the Prison 
Service's authority> and it is an operationaUy,ready force in its areas of 
specializ.ation, Which include handling serious violations of public order 
through the \1$e of le.ss•lethal weapons); also, a force from the special 
patrol unit of the B.order Patrol, Which included 51 male police officers 
and two female police officers, boarded the Mavi Marmara."" After the 
wounded had left the halls, the IDF s(>ldiet;; ordered all ·of the flotilla 
participants lo leave the hills. At this stage, the participants were checked 
in orcter. to ensure that they did not possess. at>y weapons. According 
to the soldiers' statements, the checks of the pattidpants were done 
according to guidelines (i.e., searches of women's bodies were conducted 
only by female police officers),'" and that "the searches were conducted 

590 See for exampte-_lh~ dl,}(;to~'$ testtmo_ny! fd., at 2: "ol\ th_e.roOf I fo\lnd_about-20 activists 
lying.down, of them five kHled ai:td ]~ injured1_w<!_-gathercd the wounded and the dead 
separately"; as w_eU as, tes_timq_qy_ofsoldler no. 13, (d.: "soldiet' no. 18 aske~ me_ to organize 
and separ~te: the bodies of the terrorists from the wounded [ ... ] soldier no. 14 and I 
co\_lected the b_odies _(_abou_t 5 l;ioilies)''. 

591 See-the .Con'l.lru!n·4er o.f the' Takeover Forci:ts leStimony, Id., at 7, according to wNr:h the 
bodiea were covered }n steeping bags found on the ship. 

592 See !e$lintony of S_hafetEst 13 C::oirunalider, Id,, <1t6. 
59j A reduced- for'e fro_m the M~sada unit be>ardl?d th~ Marmara at about 05:10, a(ler the 

figl)tip.g_ on twatd th~ Marin<lra w_~S finished. The main force boarded the Marmara at 
about 05:38. 

594 Se~.for exampl_e the testimony of soldier no. 14; ld., at 3. 
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with respect, without tmdressing the people and while protecting their 
dignity.""' 

The materlaUn the Commission's pas.session indicates that some 
of the flotilla participants Were handcuffed, mainly young men who the 
forces were concerne.d would try to attack them or to ca:use a diSturbance. 
The Shayete~ 13 commander stated that he had instructed Iha soldiers 
as follows: "The soldiers were instructed to handcuff people who were 
acting Wild or con8tituting a ctanger or threat to the soldiers, and they 
were ~lttf~l;ed that they shqulci not handc\lff women, cltlldren, or the 
elderly, and thfi; is what was done.""' Soldier no.15 a!So stated: "None of 
the wome.n or the older people on the.ship's crew (both men and women) 
were handcuffed. Only the young men who could act wild or attack us.'""' 
Soldier ho, 10 stated: "It iS important to note that I did not see even one 
woman o.r al;\y older I elderly man who was handcuffed. The only ones 
who were hancic\lffecl were su.spected t~rorists who constituted a threat 
to !he security of our forces.'"" Knives; slingshots and marbles were taken 
from some of the IHH activists who were handcuffed.'" The commander 
of the takeover force stated that even after ·the wounded were removed, 
the physkal resistal:\ce of some ()f the participants confuwed: 

"After all of the wmmded Were removed (about 10-15), I don't 
re11tember exactiy1 ,the-resistaru::e continUed - ·physical, by some 
pf the activists· including one of them struggling wildly, which 
required us to use force in order to stop him .. "600 

It should be noted that in his !estimony before the Commission 
on October ZS, 2010, Ml,lhammad Zid\111, .chairman of the Israeli Arab 
Monitoring Committee, .stated that a\I of the flotilla participants were 
h\111dcuffed. '" However, Mahmoud Abu-Dabas, the head of the south em 
branch of the Islamic Movement, stated in his testimony on October 25, 

5.95 M. 
596 See testimony of Shayetet commander, [d., at 2. 
597 see_ teStirru:~ny o( soldle_r nq._ 15,_ Id., at 5~ 
598 See testlinot1y of soldier-no.-10, Id., at 3;-thoug:h the commander of. the la\;eover for<e 

testified thl.\S:·nwe concentrate t:herriatpoints on tl)eopen de6k, fti.Sk their bodies~ perform 
a_search to make si.tre they are not <arrying any weapo~, with the women ronliog_ out 
~in~,se_arche4_~y f-1?maJe YASA,Mpolke offioo-s,at;t~ we_ ha.n~~uff everyqne", but later he 
states: "we did not handcuff_ all the women and elderly people_'-' ._See theCommander_of the 
Takeover F'>-rce's testimo_ny,Jd., ;it ~7. For ai:\ addiUo_nal descr_iption of_!he 1$i.dcuffing of 
r~sistors 01~ Ute roof (or fe~r they would continue attacking lOFsoldiers, see the testi1nony 
of sokli_er-24;_JDF ~01_npldfo11'J?.esponst- of 'l,1l.2010, supryi nOte-·4~6, at 2. 

599 On this maner_see tl'!e testimbny qf soldier no. 11, at 2; Testimony of soldier no. 24, at2, as 
well as Testimony of soldier n_O. 25, ld.1 at 3. 

600 See tel>thnohy oJ the Co_mm1.1nder of the Takeover Poree, Jd., at 6-7. 
601 Transcript of Ses:iion no. 15 'Testimony o_f Mr. Muhammed Zidan" (Oct. 25, 2010), at 11. 
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2010, that not all of thel"assengers werehandwffed, but rather ''thedecisive 
majority"."' Additional evidence obtained by the Comntlssion supports 
the conduslonthat not all of the fl<\tilla participants were handc11ffed. 
For example, variousyideo footage from aboard the Mavi Marmara after 
thetakeover and before anchorage in the pbrt of Ashdod dearly supports 
this. conclusion."" Also, in the internal investigation conducted by the 
"Masada" unit foll0wing the takeover 9peration on the Mavi Marmara, it 
was noted !hat 195 passengerswere under the s11pervision of mel)lbers of 
this unit.an_d were not han<kuffed, and thatonly the ''people with fighting 
potential" were handcuffed."" 

145. During the aforesal<l searches, lo;iives and large s1,uns of cash were 
found.on some of the IHJla.ctivists. Dt\ring these searches, magnetic 
media which was follOd was confiscated (the rnagnetiC: media included, 
inter nliil, laptop computers, mobile phones, memory cards, l\ard discs, 
VideOs, diSkettes,_com·pa:ct -diSCs,- movies,-playe_rs, etc,; c:~eras w~re not 
taken, although their memory chips were)."" Dµrjng the searcl>Cs, some 
of the equipmi;nt whi\:h ha_<l he<>n taken frolfl s.okliers no. l, no. 3 and 
no. 4 (the soldiers who Were takel\ below deck) was found. Similarly, 
soldier no. 3's pistol was found hidden inSide the halls, which as for as 
is khown he had not managed to shoot \lefoie it was taken from hirn by 
the. IHffactivists; it was found with its magazine empty and.the guard 
back (i·e· a \Yeapon from.which someone had shot all of its ammunition, 
without performing the operation after finishing the ammunition, which 
is standard IDF procedure)."" Beyond this, no firearms wete found on the 
Mavi Marmara, not even the weapons that had b.een taken from the two 
soldiers by the IHH activists. However, one soldier testified that he saw 

602 Transcript of $ession no. 15 'Teslitnony of Sheikh ftiunad Abu·Dabas'' (Ott. 25, 2010), at 
33. 

603 Seli _for example vide9 _file MSalahJs...aJlve.mov", on folder 13~ ·Navy Oala Disc, suprn 
note 5, _ta_pe&-after_ Ut~_ta~over by the _army force_s~ pre~enting several do,zen flien, some 
h<iii~ctiffed and so.me nQt (the exact _time ~f the video ia 1,ltlclear from-lhe properties of 
the file submitted to the C1;mtmlssl9n; but it is dear that it Wil_S ~pe4 ._alter the "'keover 
an4 before_thri ship rea<;hed A$hdod'S Port). see also video_ fil_e "MOV023.mov", In folder 
Memory Cnrdi in folder Sen, Id. (the vid_eo wa_s $hot on 31.5.2010 11t 1_0;54, according fo the 
-file's properties). 

604 Se!!' M~nda Unit Inquiry 11(O(t.5, ~010), the folder containing: the in_qulry was m11rked 
_a_s ~xh!bit ?$ by.·the Commissl9n. From the inquir.Y it arises_ thll-t 31_4_pa.sserigers were 
handcuffed.by Masadn per$0nn_el,_ while the T(!St we_re hand~ffed h)i-IDF so Idlers, 

605 See_-IDF _fX!1i1plt!lon re~pihiit cf 1s.11.2oip, StJjJra note 400, at para. N; .,_erordin$ to Which 
some of the magnetic me4i_a gathered at tltis stage was transferred t_o Israel by helkopte.r 
to be ~¢_by Q:Le IDF sp9~e&pe_tson and·ad_vocacy deplirtm~t, The i'eS_t of the rnaterlal 
was-tritnsft1tr.id kt the Document and Technological c.apture Colleclion unit upon the 
vessels' arrival at Ashclod. Port. 

606 See/d.,atpara.K, 
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a fireann being thrown. into the sea."" Various other combat equipment 
was found on the Mavi.Marntl/Ya, whith apparently had been brought on 
board by the flotilla participants, including flares, rods, axes, knives, tear 
gas, gas masks, marb.les, screws, V1IBts with the creS<;ent symbol, night 
vision devices (including two types of devices that amplify starlight 
thro11gl1 both or. only one eye), etc?'" The commander of "center B" (the 
commander of the force that took control oft he Sfendonlt Boat 8000 and the 
Gazze, and who afterWards boarded l:!w M,avi Marmara in order to assist) 
stated tltat he saw Molotov cocktai!J;.whkh had been placed in orderly 
stacks."' Jn addition, scaTYes,Md flags of the Hamas movement and its 
ni.Uitary wing werefound. 

After th.e searcl1es and. the hanc!rufling had b~n completed, the 
flotilla participants were brought baek into the halls, where they sat until 
arrival in the port of Ashdod. According to the statements of the coinbat 
personnel, the parlidpallts were given water and food during this stage, 
and they were escorted to the bath.rooms 11pon their reques1&c'10 Similarly, 
according to the statements of the soldiers, at this stage the handcuffs 
were removed from some of the patiicipants who had been handcuffed 
earlier, and from the ship's crew as well, and regarding others, the plastic 
restraints were repla:ced and pttt on: more loosely.''' It should be noted 
that one of the passengers on the vessel held an infant. According to the 
soldiers' sfatements, thi!y permitted her to go to her bag in order to take 
supplies for the baby and allowed.her to walk freely around the ship.612 

It should be rioted that during the sea.rches conducted on the Mavi 
Marmara, no humanit.arian supplies were found. 

607 See testimony of S:O~dier no. 33, IDF COmpleU011 Response of-7.11.2010, supmnote486, at2~3; 
606 See t_estimori.y of Tea~ Comnµn~cr R,''lcl., at 2, as w~lf as· testimony of soldier no. JS, 

Jriq1,lry l!Xpliits-1011 O['J.0.9.2010,supr'1 ttote \151, affi~. 
6()1) See the tealiinOny of Comrminder_of Center B, frf., at 2. 
610 See for example-the_ ~t_iirlony of i:qrtunai;i'der o( llie Takeovm: Force, Jd., at 6--7, as well i'!S 

the testimony of Commander of Center A,-Jd., at2. · 
611 ~ feStitnorty of solcij:_e:r-no:."l_O, Id., at 3;-;ts:W_ell as teStimony of soldier no. 27, JDF 

CompleHan llfij1onsi:. of 7.11.2010, supra note 486, at 2.M3. Sf!e also ·Trans¢pt- of session 
no. 11 ''tesUmony_ of:Forei __ gne~_ &: lWot'ce~ent Ad.mh:Ui>tralioli H~ad'' (Oct. 12, 2010), 
at_ 10 [he<elna!ter Ttstlmony of fo~igners & IJnfor«mtnt Administration fiend], ac:cordJng 
to whlch: "some_ ':Ve~~ _tak_en o_ff the-shJp _hartdtuffcd, inost_were not hnrtdcuffod. Son:ie, 
those· who were lhe provocateurs in the full sense ot- the \Vor4, lhey were handcuffed." 
Thi_s. ~eslirn_ony- _receives sup_pt)_rt from a Vfdootape~ at Ashdod _Port and subrniUed to 
the Commission by Uie.Prison Service, Sei!- Video CD Flotilla 11rr'5fees Ashddd Parl (Oct. S,_ 
2010); the fQlder. c-011taining __ the investigation was marked by the Commission as e_~bit 
98 [hereinalter PriS-On $iroice Video CD],_ · 

612 ln thisc~otextsee the ~l:imony_of soldier no.16, Id., at 2M3; testimony o( soldier no. 25, Id., 
Pt4, as well as the testimony of soldier no. 27, Id. 
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The Takeover of th~ Other Vessels 

146. .As stated.abo'Ve, five other vessels approached the c.oast of Israel 
on May 31, 2010, in addition to the Mavi Marmara: the boats Boat Sfendonh 
8000 (hereaft<lr: Boat 8000)'1' and Challenger 1, and the ships Defme Y, 
Gazu, and Sofia• The IDF t'10k control of tli.ese vessels after they refused 
to heed Wan\ings that were transmitted to theII\. No los.s of lives occurred 
on these vessels; although the soldiers encountered viole.nce during 
the takeover of some of them, it was at a much lower level !hart they 
encountered on the Mavi Mannara. With respect to some of the vessels, 
force was used in ot(ier to complete the takeover. The actions to take 
control of these vessels are desctibed briefly below,· in the chronological 
order of .their being taken over. 

Boat8000 

147. The takeover of this boat commenced lit 4:27 a.m, which carried 
approximately 48 participants and crew members (most of them were 
Europeail_s, artd ~i'e were f6ut Americans, a Jordanian, a Moroccan, a 
Lebanese. and two' Iranians). Nineteen soldiers boarded the deck from 
two Morena spee(!boats, which simultaneously approached the sides 
of the boat, after paintbaUs were shot at those.flotilla participahts who 
were standing on the deck and throwingvarious objects at the soldiers, 
to cause them to flee from the deck. Du.ring the iakeover, tli.e force 
encountered violenc;e; including an attempt to seize a ,weapon from a 
soldier, pus!Mg artd shoving soldiers from the stairs to the lower level, 
physical clashes at close ranges, and barricading themselves onto the 
ship's bridge. During the takeover, physical force was used against the 
violent actiyisfs. Paintball rifles were used (l57 paintl.Jalls were shot 
during the takeover; so1I1e of the paintball rifles were broken (luring 
the takeover operation); 4 flash bang grenades were thrown (a type of 
s\\ln gte.nade that creates. noise and temporary blindness, which is used 
for dispersing demonstrations and controlling disorderly conduct) and 
Tasers were used.614 No live amrn.unition weapons were used (!url):lg the 
takeover. During the takeover, four passengers were injured from l'\and­
to-hlltld combat blqws. These passengers refused to.accept lsraell medical 
treatment, and theywere treated by the ship's doctor While they were not 

613 fu the ship's d1Xt,1ments only the name SFENDONH appears. In tDF-_documentS it-is 
named- "Boal 0000". In_ order to pr(!v~nt ~onfUsion this Ship·w:fil be· called by the name 
glvflh lo_i_t in_IDF documenla. Seq 8oat8000-Sfendon!1 ltifonnatio11 Documents located on the 
ship by the lDf and transferred lo the Comro!Sston; marked by the Comtnis:slon ae exhibit 
91. 

614 See Navy Inquiryz marked by the Commission as folder90. 
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handCllffed. Out of the .flotilla partidpartts who were dn the deck of thls 
boat, about five of:the passengers .Were handcuffed 11.t the time the bridge 
was taken over; and abo11t three a<lditiona! passengers were hl)lldcuffed 
at a later.stage be<:ause they "tri.ed to incite.everyone[ ... ] and they began 
calling out to rls!> up and resist, including passagesln Arabic from the 
J<(oran:"615 According to the statement of tlie conunander of center B,.the 
senior conurtander of the force designated to take control of this boat, 
the hand~uffing was done while,the.par~cipants. were sjtti,ng on plastic 
chairs, so.me of them were released during the jolll'l:ley to the port of 
Ashdod, and, with respect to others, the J;>ressure of the J?lastic restraints 
was loosened after they complained about them.616 

lt should be noted that sol~ier no. 19 stated that, during the stage 
of the fast--roping from the. helicqpters onto the Mnvi Marmara, this 
boat maneuvered in sueh a way that almost brought it onto a collision 
course with, and it also ehaS!ld after, the command vessel (the Zaharon) 
for Center A (the force designated t<> take control of the MaviMarmara). 
According to him, the boat reached.a distance of less than twenty meters 
from the command vessel and,. finally, after a sharp evasive maneuver, 
the conunand vessel managed to estape.611 

No humanitarian supplies were found on this boat .. "' 

Challenger 1 
148. The takeover of the Challenger 1 commenced at 4:56 a.m. There 
were 17 crew members and passengers aboard (includin!l six who held 
American passporls, two w!to held British passporls and one who held 
anJsrae!i passport). Prior to. the takeover, the boat performed an evasive 
maneuver and the force had to conduct a pursuit in order to rea.ch it. The 
Takeover Force Commander (the conurtander of the force which had been 
designated to take over the Mavi Marmara) further stated that the boat 
tried to run into the Morena speedboat carrying his force, and the Morena 
had to perform a maneuver to escape.'" After the force reached the boat, 

615 See testimony of the Comrriandet of Ct:nter 8, IDF Completion Rtsponse of 7.11.20l0, supra 
note486. 

616 Id. 
617 See testimony of.soldier no. 19#Jd., at l-2. 
618 ~~~~testimony ofccirrtma.n\ierQf Center-», fnqt~r'ry Expansion. o/20.9.2010, SttPM note451, 

at 2,See aisQ Civilifm Pcfi<;y-Regardlng Ctizn Strip - Part 8,-supra note 571 at appendi~ L. 
619 See tes_tj"mony of the command~Of the takeover fQrce, ln?111'ry Expansion o/20.9.2010,supra 

note451, at 1: "Near the cha'IJenget ship it attempts t(.l ~ ourves~I over, and tluough 
aggr~ve maneuveri_.ng w_e-ev"'~e it". ~e.a.Iso i.n the testimony o~ so_ld_ier no. 21), ld., at 
1: "at this stage as I am moving.fast towb.rds the larget I notice µ.e: ChaUenger sailing 
towards us quickly and trying- to ~am us. We perfotroed an evasi<>n funn it and at the same 
liine soldier no. 19 Came up on the radio arid told me to be careful-since the challenger is 
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15 soldiers d.u:nbed aboard it from two Morena speedboats. On the de.ck of 
the boa~ the sol.diers encounte.red verbal violence and an.attempt to push 
them. The dining hall was locked from the inside by the boat's passengers. 
Dming-.the takeover, approximately 15 paintballs were fired and Tasers 
were used against several llotilla participants.'1'1 The participants resisted 
receiving medical treatment IU!d some were handcuffed. byIDF soldiers. 

No humanitarian supplies were found on the boat,"' 

DefeneY 

149. At 5,15 a.m., the .takeover of this ship commenced. There were 
21 passengers and crew members on board, all of whom were Turkish. 
1'011tteen soldiers Jashoped onto the deck of the ship from a helicopter 
and. took control, without any violeI)! inciden~ being reported, other 
thal\ verbal violence. It should be noted that the ship's cranes were 
placed in such. a way that they interfered with the fast-rqping from the 
helicopter, whiclnequired fast,roping from a greater height and a change 
in the fast-roping landing point (the fast-roping was conducted onto a 
location adjacent to the ship's bridge). It should also be noted that in the 
communications room that had been set up on the ship; tl\e takeover force 
found movies which documented the crew members practicing the use 
of water hoses against a. takeover. Also, cables had been strunt; out, and 
stones and metal rods had been placed along the sides of the ship. The 
ship's passengers were not handcuffed after the takeover. 

The fqrce commander st;<ted: 
"My general sense from the inquiry of the people and from the 
preparattons aboard the ship was that the ship was prepared for 
a physical confrontation and provocation, and c.hose during OUI' 

takeover not to do SCi, because they heard in real time (from the 
sailor):that there were·wo·Unded aboard the-.Mavi Marmara and 
so they were afrai!'.l!'"' 

Hun\alli.tarian supplies were found on this ship (wheelchairs, 
medical equipment, sanitary items, cartons of clothing, toys, beds, 
carpets, blankets, etc.), as well as construction supplies (raw materials for 

headed for me'. I approv~ the report .._nd in.crease speed and manage to evade the target 
and appro_ach·the ?vfa_rmara ( ... )". 

620 ~Navy Inquiry, E.wcutio11 Description Ce11terC, marked by the Comm.tssion as folder 90. 
621 See Cfvilian POiicy Regrndii1g Gttm Strip - Part B. supra note 'f/_7, (lt appen~Hx L 
622- See tti.e testimony_ of ("()mmander of the Takli!Over Force, Inquiry Expa11sion of 20.9.2010, 

supra note 451, at 2. 
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buildings; cQnstruction materials for structures, sheet metal, etc.).'" For a 
complete list of the supplies which we.re on this ship, see annex "E". 

Gazze 

150. At 5:45 a.m,, the takeover of this.ship commenced. There were 18 
passengers aboard, all of whom were Tlltkish c.itizens, Nineteen soldiers 
boarded the ship frorrdwo Morena speedboats which approached the 
sidea of !lie ship. The takeover of the ship did ndt involve violence. 

The commander of center 6 stated: 
'The field commander Instructed me to advance to taking control 
of the Gazze, I upda.ted the force and We headed to the Gazze. The 
field commander- cam~ _up' _opposite me; While we were ·moving,. 
and he· told me that they had all surrendered and were on the 
bndge with their han\ls up; !boarded the ship,whkh was not 
moving af the time. AIJ the people were gathered on the bridge 
and we went Up, there was no .i;-esi$tance; Th~ captain gave me 
the passenger list .There was full cooperation. We did not see 
any weapons or corribat items of any kind; On the boat, there 
were about 18 people,who were very frightened.'"" 

The ship's cargo included 1,358 w\its of cement and 304 units of 
metal girders."' 

Sofia 

151. At 5:45 a.m., the takeover of this ship began. Aboard this ship 
were 31 passengers, of whom 28 held Greek passports and three were 
Swedes. Eighteen soldiers boarded the ship from two Morena speedboats 
which approached the sides of the shlp. The soldiers did not encounter 
violence; although several participants did not cooperate and Q:id not 
heed the soldiers' irtslntctions. The soldiers ordered the paS$engers to 
accompany them, to.descend from the ship's bridge, and to come to an 
assembly point desigrt;1ted on the roofin front of the bridge, underneath 
a shade netting. Several participants refused to cooperate, cursed and 
swore at.the soldiers, and agitated and incited the rest of the passengers. 
These participants also grabbed onto the ship's railing and the metal 
fencing along the edges of the ship'$ bridge. Force was applied and 
a Taser was used.in order to handcuff _these participants. The material 
before the Commission also indicates that, during the attempt to move 

623 TlitCivJlinn PotlcyT(JVJ{lrt/s t!te Gnza Strip-R£gnrding tMChlimscf Hu11m_rr Rights Organi~tions 
of31:10.20l01 $ltpra rmte 21_7, at 30-31. 

624 See the testimony of conunander o( Center B, lnquiry Expansion ()/W.9.2010, supra note4S1. 
625 See Ci11ilinn Polfc!J Reg11rdi11g <:;azn Strip- Pnrl 8, supra note 57, at appendix L. 
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these participants to the assembly point, five paintballs were fired at the 
lower parts of their bodies,'" This matter iB dis<:JJS!!ed below. 

Humanitarian supplies were found aboard lhis ship (electric 
wheelchairs, medical supplies, cartons of clothing, toys, water tanks, etc.). 
FOr a complete list of the supplies found aboard this ship, see annex "E". 

Treatment ofthe Flotilla Participants from their Arrival in the 
-Ashtfod Port until !heirDe11ortation how Israel • • 

152, The vessels in_ the fli:>tilla began entering the port of Ashdod at 
11:00 a.m. on May 31, 20JO. The MavlMarmara was tied up in pierno. 1 in 
the port ofAshdod on.May 31, 2010, at 5:19 p.m.'" Upon its-arrival at the 
Ashdod port, "the baton was handed over" (authority was transferred) 
from the!DFforces to the Spedal Central Unit force (hereafter: Yamam), 
(the coitnter-terrorlsm unit of the Israeli Border Pali<:e), which took 
authority for contrnl over hanc:\ling the ships. Afterwards, the process 
of debarking .the flotilla participants from the ships commenced. On 
the ships' gangways, another "baton handover" took place between the 
membets of Yamam and the escort force composed of both a police officer 
and an IDF officer or a non-Col1)rl1issloned officer. It should.be noted that 
the flotilla participants were instrµcted to leave their personal belongings 
on the ves5efs. The IDF .forces guarded the personal belongings, and 
after they were examined by the bomb-squad unit, they were collected 
by the-nJF, With each bag being fastened with a security closure ("sealed 
with an individual ntimber") and documented. The personal effects were 
searched by the military poljce at)d collected in separate containers, in 
a.ccordance with the vessel on which the participants had journeyed."' It 
iB noted that after the event, several investigations were conducted (some 
of Which led to indictments) conceming thefts perpetrated by s9me IDF 
soldiers dUring the stage when they were in charge of guarding the 
personal belongings of the participants. This matter will be addressed 
below (see below, para; 160). 

According to the investigation of the Prison Service, processing the 
arrival of the flotilla participants on land commenced l)t 1:00 p.m.'" Four 

626 See the le$tirnony of sol_dier no, 18, Inquiry Expansion o/20.9.2010, supra nole 451, at 4i See 
also summaty;-_/d., at 10. 

627 The CHALLENGER 1 ship entered Ashdod _Port at ll:QO; Boat B(J()Qe11tered Ashdod Port at 
12:00; the DEFENf Y ship Mtered Ashdod Port at-15:19; the GAZZE shlp entered Asl.ldo_d 
Pp rt at 15~3Q; Tfle SOf/A's_1:dp entered AsQdod Port at 16:25. 

628 IDF-cqmpfot/Qi1 response of 15.11.20!0, supra no le 400, at par<i. N. 
629 O,uration "Winds ofHtatHJtJ 7", 14 (inVestiSntive repod by the Prison Service Commander, 

O::t. 5, 2010) marked by the Commission as exhibit98 [hereinaft~r Prison Service f '1vestigntiw 
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ter\ts were set up Jn. the A$hdod port: (i) the first was used for a security 
check of !he llo\illa participants who. were taken off the vesseis; (ii) the 
seconcl was wled for conducting hearings by the bor<;l.er patrol supervisor 
on behalf of the Population and Immigration Authority of the Ministry of 
the Interior, pursuant to !he Entry into Israel Law, 5712-1952 (hereafter: 
E11tryintolsrael Law);"" (iii) the third was wled for conducting medical 
exal)"lin;l.tions;. an<;! (iv) the fourth was tt8ed to prepare the participants 
to be taken from the port ofAshdod to prison facilities or to Ben-Gurton 
airport:'" Itshoul<;l.benoted that.the entirefacllity was a dosed facility 
Under tlw controlof thel.l)F, that restrooms had been set up in advance, 
and that 'Nhile in this facility, the participants were given drinking water 
an>! a something to eat."' 

As _the participants Q.ebarked from.the vessels in the port of Ashdod, 
each one was searched with a metal detector (similar to the manner in 
which these sea.rches are conducted in airports throughout the world). 
At first, the search was conducted by means ofa tn;1gnetometric gate. 
At a certain stage, the magnetometric gate broke down and, therefore, 
searches were conducted wi_tha hand-held metal detector by members of 
the "Nachshon" unit of the Prison Service."' In general, physical searches 
were.not perfonned on the participants, other than instances in which the 
metal detectdr emitted an alert. about the presence of suspicious metals. 
In the event that a physical search was·required (which was required in 
about 20% of the searches, ac"?rdfug- to the Nachshon unit), the par:tidpant 
being searched was brought to a private examination stall."' The material 
before the Cornmisllion indicates that a search of a male was conducted 
only by a male and the search of a female was conducted only by a 
female."' It should be noted that during the search of one of the flotilla 

lit po,/]. 
630 Se9 fouith _chap~er ol the laW, ·whlch_ deats.W:ith expulsion and (Ustody. lt is. particularly 

sl!l_ted in _pafa. l${a} of Israers-Entry Law 571_2~1952. that "anyone who is not ~n lt;raell 
citizen or an_ ImmigrenfaC<e>rd~- to the Law of Ret:urn, 571()..1950_ and fm.md in TSrael 
without a Permit of Residence (Uf\der this la,w - an unlawful r~ident), would be expelled 
from Israel as SQ9rt_ as.possible un.te.ss·1:te has pteviOU$ly ~epatted of his own accord", 

631 Se<: _TtsJim011y of FQrrfg11er~ & Ettforcenie11t Adtninistrntion Hend, s11pra note 611, al 2. 
632 Cliief of Stnffs Ope11 ·0oar TaU1!1,my of_~4.l0,201.Q,·s11pro nqte ?~,at 35, 
633 On th!~ niatter ~:Gaza Flotf~lll ~-Reference '(s\immation of events by Brigadier Yoss! 

Mikdash, conunander of the-Nac_hsbon Prison &trvI«!:- uhit, .Oct. 17, 2010), marked by 
the_ Com.mission as exhibit 130 (heteinafter.Nad1sf1011 Prlsott Strvice Unit Ccmmarofer's 
Referimuj. 

634 Letter frO'!' Brigadie_r Yo$$i Mikdash, cO_num.nder of the Nachshon Prison Servi~ uni't to 
the Assis!ari.t Commissioncr.tiUed Ga7A Floi.illa ~ Rtfertrlte, t~krence no. 581406-10, {Oct. 17, 
2010), at para._ 1, marked by tl_le Com.mission as. exhibit 130. 

635 See Testimony of Foreigners & Enjorqmmt Admi11istration 1-lt«ef, Slfpro note 611, at 10~11; Sec 
also Nncl1sl1on Prison Servi~ Unit Cori11nt1ndtr's Refare11ce,supra note 633. · 
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participants, .;m alert was emitted by the h;md·held metal detector when 
the ins!nmlent passed near her groin area."' The material which was 
transferred· to the Commission from the As.hdod port security indicates 
that lhe particip!UlfWore overalls and that, in the aforesaid area, no metal 
was vis.ib.le (zipper, buttons, etc.). The. person conducting the search 
consul.led With her supervisors about this matter, artd it was decided to 
perform an additional search without the overalls. The particip;m( was 
requested to enter the private examination stall, to which the entry of men 
was prolubited1 and t.o roll the overalls do.wn to her knees. The se<'urity of 
the port of Ashdod reported that the participant remained dressed in her 
shirt a,nd l)erundei;wear. Thepers<>n conducting the searcltperformed the 
additional search with the assistance of a hand-held metal de.tedo" When 
she received another alert, she asked the flotilla participant what she was 
concealing, ;md the participanl Wit\\drew her mobile phone. The mobile 
phcme Wa$ transferred to the lDF representative on site; the partlcip;mt 
was re)eased for the rest of the handling by the other authorities in the 
absorption process. 

Escorting arid guarding of the detainees was conducted by the 
Nac:hshon unit (which is. experienced in escorting and transporting 
detainees and prisoners), and members of the "Oz" unit of the Population 
and Immigration Authority of the Mlnisrry of the Interior.'" 

After the security check, the flotilla participants were directed 
towards one of the 14 stations set up by the Border Control supervisor 
of the PopulatiOn artd Immigration Authority' When they were brought 
16 the hearing before representaiives of the Enforcement and Foreigners 
Department, those flotilla participantswhowere handcuffed were released 
from their handcuffs. At these stations, the participants were identified, 
their faces were photographed, and a hearing was conducted, with the 
assistance of interpreters."' According t.o the testimol)y of the director of 
the Enforcement and Foreigners Department, Mr. Yossi Edelstein, at this 
stage some of the flotilla participants engaged in passive resistance, but 
force-w_as not used.639 

636 See letWr frQm the Ashclod Port Dircctor General's office to the Public Commission to 
Ex11imirie the- Marithrie-Incident of ~ay 31i20JQ (Pee. 21, 2010/. 

637 Tra11$ttlpt of_ses:slon no, 15 'Testimony-of Prisbn setvlte Cornniander" (Q;t. 12, 2010), at 
9~12 [hereirrafte( TtSiiffl.Qi1'y of Prison Service Co1m/ia11Jer]. 

638 See: TesUmony Of Forefg11ers &- E_ttforamerlt /1dminlstration Ile.lid, supra no~e 611, at 2, 
ai;:cqr-dins: to which there.w_ere.aboUt40 transfatQrs it\ tlie area,_ indudins:_26 speakers of 
Turkish, 8 sp_eak_ers of Arabic, 4 _speaketsof Fre(lch, one speake~ of German, 3 Speakers of 
Spanis~ as_ w,ell as ~ny EngliSh and Russlnn lattguage b:anslators, and so on. 

639 Id., at 3; in this context it should be mentioned that lsrael's Enp-y Law 5712~1952 does not 
require the uttlaWfuJ resident's agreement for his expulsion from the State of l$raeL 
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At the• conclusion of the process, detention ordero were issued 
(including a copy in the language of each detainee), authorizing the 
incarceration of r->acl) detainee =til their deportation from the territory 

. oftlw State of Israel. The arrest '."•riants give the def:<tine.e .the right to 
remain imprisoned within the territory of (he State of ISrael for 72 hours, 
so thats/he c;nt exercise the right to appeal theMinlstt:y of the Interior's 
decision to deport him or herfro,m the State of Israel before a detention 
court:"'! After !he c0ni.plelfon of this process, the flotilla partkip;µ>ts 
were brought to themedkaltent,whic!J also.had 14 stations.(in enclosed 
stalls). At these statioful, the particlp;µ>ts were asked about their medical 
condition (with the assistance of interpreters), and they were examined 
by a physician or .a medic .. Afterwards, the flotilla participants were taken 
to the lasUent, .Whe.re biorrtetric rrteasures were taken (fingerprinting and 
photographing)•"' ItshO\lld be noted that the investigation of the Prison 
Service indicates that this station was cancelled by the deputy commander 
.of theNachshon unit in the e11rly stages of the absorption process due to 
the.great overload whichdeveloped at this station. It was dec:ided that the 
biometric measures would be taken in the prisons instead. However, the 
process w•s not completed at the.prisons either, due to "overload and the 
absorption process iri the wihgs."'" 

It should be noted ihat a movie delivered to the Commission by 
!he Prl$on Services indicates that some of the flotilla participants re(used 
to mov~ through the various tents, and that members of the 'Nachshon" 
1U1it had to drag them physic.ally .from place to place. It should also be 
noted that in. tl:i¢ briefing which the commander of the ''Nachshon" unit, 
B(igadier Yos¢ M\kdash, held on May 31, 2010, for memb.ers of the unit 
before the debarking of the flotilla partic:ipants from the vessels, it ~as 
explained. !hat the flotilla partic:ipants should not be handcuffed, other 
than in excepti(lnal circumstances and with prior approval."' It was 
decided that the official who c0uld give.approval in this context would be 
the deputy Commissioner of the Priso)I Services, except in the event that a 
sponta.neo\LS extraordinary event developed which reqillred handcuffing 
even without the aforesaid approval."' During the absorption phases 
at the port of Ashdod, three flotilla participants attempted to attack . 
personnel, and .at the directive of tha commander of the "Nathshon" unit, 
they were bo1U1d, with the use of force."' 

640 See p;ira.13(d) bf Israel's Entry Law 5712Ml9S2, 
641: See Priso11 Setvict ln~sUgalitle Report, .s11pra note 629, at 22. 
642 Id. 
643 See Priso11 Service Vffteil CO~ supra note 611, wh_er~ the briefing is video.taped. 
644 TeMimony of_Priso11 Strv(ce Commander, supra note 637, at 16. 
645 See P;isou Sero ice lmJt1;li311tive Report, supra note 629, at 15. 

Turkel Commission Heport I 187 

UNCLASSIFIED U.S. Department of State Case No. F-2010-04163 Doc No. C05330857 Date: 06/25/2013 

StateDept005083 



-- UNCLASSIFIED U.S. Department of State Case No. F'2010-04163 Doc No. C05330857 Date: 06/25/2013 

153. The process of receiving the particip0nts at the port in Ashdod 
concluded \Jn June 1, 2010, at 9:45 a;m.646 Forty-five flotilla participants 
requested immediate deportation from the l:ei'titory of the State of Israel, 
and thus they were escorted dire<: Uy from the ~hdod port (o Ben,Gurion 
airport by theNachshon l!hit of the Prison Service."' The reffi!linder of the 
flotill• parlicipajits were transp()rted"' to fudlities of the Prison Service, 
dis.tributed as follows: 694 of the detainees were transported to the "Ella" 
prison; eight of the deloinees were transported to the "Givon" prison; 19 
of the detainees were transported to the Prison Service's medical center 
for medical treatlUent; seven of the detainees,dlizens of the State of Israel, 
were transferred to the authority of the Israeli police for interrogation and 
detention; am;!, after the interrogati0n, three of these seven were brought 
to the "Shikma''prison.'" According to the Prison Service's investigation, 
!he flotilla partjcipan!q.were not bound during escort to the prisons (other 
than three of the participants who were unruly at the port of A$hdod and 
were transported to the "Ella" prison)"" and the men and women were 
tral)llpOrtedseparately.651 

The Ill!llerial before the Commission indicates that the flotilla 
participan!:? were imprisoned in open wings (other than during four daily 
counts),65' !hey were permitted to meet With attorneys and With the consuls 
of the countries of their Citizenship (19 attorneys and 45 consuls entered 
the prisons),"' and they were given food, perscmal effects, track sui!s, 

646 ld., at 6,. 
647 See td., at 4546; it should be mentionl?d that tbe-.se fyJrly five participants were asked to 

sign a_JoJ:rn ·acoo_rding to Which \hey waive their right to appeal the decision to remove 
lhl!m from the Slate of lstael. 

648 All prlson·ers_ were tnuiseorted iQ atr-conditioru:!d busses; accordllig to the existing 
prOc~ures in Israel, a bus that- is not air~condi~oneQ is \UlSuitable for use whtm 
transferring pl'iSt?n·er_s;see Testimony qj PriSQn Service Commnndrr,suprn note 637, at 1243. 

649 [d., at3-5. 
'650 Set: (>rison-StnJlCt lnuestigativ~ Repo(l, supm note-629, at ?.3. 
OSI /4. . 
652 td., a't-2,7. 
653 /d.,_at26; lti;hould be mentioned that iifter the event claims were o\ade that the participants 

of the flotilla were· d~liberately kept from meeting With lheir lawyers. The material 
before Uie CQmmlssiPn (which ifidude51 among othet lhings, materials _rel_att:ng· to the 
preparations made _tow~ the receptipil oJ Ute flo_tilla p_ai:tidp\Ults, the Priso_n Servke 
inquiry which Wa_S_i;pnduclcd afterwards), incli_cates that there was no _deliberate in_tent:ion 
to prevent-the flotill~ parHdpants from m~ting_wlth lawyer_s:.At the s~me tiine, there 
were_ ce_r_t_alnly nipre-than a f~w difficultie_s iri.-lhis ron!ext derived from the short peri<>d 
Qfthe flotilla p_arlidpants' stay in_ Israel, the-huge _null}ber o:f pa_rtidpJU'il$, i\nd the fact 
that tht!Y wer~ held·tn ·open ceus-and thtr"BUa" pris-Dn_ staff had dlfl'icuhy l<X'ilting them 
when thef WCi:e asked tonttend variOufl mee_lings. Jn- thls tonteXt See th~ SupremeCpurt's 
ver<jjcrtn HCJ 4169/10,-'!J93/10, 4220/10, 4221/10, 4240/10¥ 4243'/IO Cohen ti. Defense 
Mi111'.5tlir {still unpublished; Jun. 2,-2010), at _para. 6: [hereinafic_r Q)hrn matter};~ also 
Testimo11y pf Prlmn Service Com11t1:nde_r, Supra noJe 637, at 22~23, 
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and undergarments.'" Also, most ·of the participants met with a social 
worker uport their arrival at the prison (special instructions were given 
regarding one flotilla participant who was idel)lifled as being in a state of 
emotional disttess).'" Apparently,during the detention phase, force was 
used dl,fring only one incident: while one of the flotilla participants was 
in the "Ella" prison, she bloclced tM path of the team commander from 
the''Nachshoti'.' unit, and she refused· to move fromthe location. With the 
approval of the deputy cOmmal)der of \he "Nac}lshon" unit, the flotilla 
parilcipant was physically moved. In response, the detainee pttshed the 
team cotninander,scratchedher on the face,and tore her shirt. During the 
incident,, force·was used fn·order to control the_ participant.656 

154, Pursuant t9 the cjirective of.$.e Attorney General on May 31,2010, 
the Israeli police opened an investigation against the flotilla participants, 
on suspicion of attacking IDF soldiers who ti>qk cont:col of the Mavi 
.Marmara, arid other offenses. On June 1, 2010, the United Natiot:lS Security 
Council ·approved a presidential statement denoundng Israel's actions 
and called for the release of the vessel$ and the. (!etainees, as well as the 
ttansfer of the corpse.s to Turkey."' On the same day, the Ministerial 
Committee .for National Security Matters met and recommended, for 
diplomatic reasons, to release all of the flotilla participants and not 
to pursue the legal pr0ceedings against !hem,"' After he undertook 
consultations_ on thisll1atter, the Attorney General adopted this position, 
and on June 2, 2010, he issued a written order pennilting the immediate 
deportation from Israel of ... the forei~ners who arrived on the flotilla who 
are suspected of conunitting crirninal offenses", on the grounds which he 
Set forth}'' Three petitions which were submitted to the Supreme Court 
against the decision of the Attorney General were rejected."" Therefore, 
the flotilla p•rticipants were ttansferted from the prison facilities to Ben-

6S4 See Priso"n Stroi~ lnv£slfgPlive Rrporl, suprn note 629, at 27. 
655 /d.,af26. 
656 ld.,at23·24. 
651 See Tlie Gflm Flotillr1 - rtspomr: 11pdate 4 _ (comp!lation by F_i;ireign Ministry, Center for 

J>Olitical R&arC~ 1.6,-201_0), a:tJ, 4--Si marked by the Corim'ilssion as exhibit 59. 
658 Decision -B/39 by _the Minist<!rs' Comntitt~{l on, Matters of_ N,ati()li<i_I Security lsmef's 

Policy Reg_ardins, ti~ G~wBtrip (Mil(tory t11uf Cfullian) (Sep.19, 2007} _[heteinafter Ministt>n;' 
Cammitlu on ~tiers p/_Nat;o11al Stcurity Dec_isicm ofl.6.20101, the (older <ontalnirig the 
ex_hibit_ Y(a~ marked by the eomn)1Ssion as folder" 4. 

659 -See dedsion of Covcmmenl Attorney General {Jun. 2i 2010}_. 
660 $e-e the Cohm- ~tter, 5upr,11 note 653; in th!'! verdk:t the three petitions (1-ICJ 4221/10 

submitted.by Yekul:iel Ben Yaakov, H:CJ case 4240/10 submitle-4 by the Slmrnt Hadit1 
Orgarmation,. and H_CJ ~s_e 4243/10 subinittecJ by the AIH_111gor o'r~anization for Vi dims 
of Terrorism) _who asked to prevent the release of Ute foreign partidpanbl Qi the flotilla 
were rajected alter the Supreme Court d~remtjned that the dt!<:isiOn to ieleaw them was 
well within the bounds of the Attorney General's discretion. 
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Gurion airport, fron\ where they were flowl.'\. t<;> the countries frqmwhich 
they ha<l departed on the flotilla. Therefore, the duration of the flotilla 
p•rtidpants' stay in the prison facilities of the Prison Service did not 
exceed forty•eight hours.'" 

It should be noted that after the flotilla participants were transferred 
to Ben-Gurion airport, about 40 flotilla piU'tidpallts who had met with 
Turkish diplomatic representatives at Ben-Gurion airport began to dash 
with police forces in the passenger hall of th• airport. The confrontation. 
was documented by several jour.nalists who came to Ben-Gro:ion airport 
to dOC11ment the deportation of theparlicipartts."' The material provided 
to the Commission. indicates that, in order to control the outl;>reak, the 
Israeli police engaged approxirrtatdy twenty police officers who used 
their hands and hanckuffs."' The material further ind.icatea that in one 
instance, a du\> was usec) against a disturbance defined by !he Israeli 
police as an "exceptional disturbanc;e''. As a result of !he event, six of those 
who were disordedy required medical tteatment."' 

The Deceased an4 the Wounded 

155. The deceased. As stated, upon completion of the take<;iver operation 
of the Mavi Marmara, there were, regrettably, nine de<;ease4 flQtilla 
participants. Their. bodies were transferred to the Abu Kabir Forensic 
Institute for a pathafogical examination. However, on June 2, 2010, 
Tmkey contacted the State of Israel and requested that Israel ttansfer the 
bodie.s lo Turkey !hat day."' The next clay, Turkey furnished a written 
reqtJest !hat the boc:lles held by Israel be ttansferred to Turkey without 
autopsies being performed OJ.'\ .them."' Although several alternatives were 
considered1 such as·including Turkish pathologists during performance 

661 Accor_ding to Uie Chief of ~tafl'_s testimony the last passenger _left 1$rael on Jul. 6, 2010, see 
th~ CJ1lef Qf Stiiffs Optn Door TtStiimmy of 11.8.2010, s11p111 note 70, at.29. 

661 See -Prison Service- ltwes~lgntive ~port, s11pra not·e 629, at ·24, 30; i\ccoi:ding to thl? 
investigatioi:t, the Prison Servke was not involV.,f _ill_ the even_t, l>ut the riot delayed 
the pace of accompanying flolilia particlparils from the holding.facilities to Ben Gurion 
A_itport 

66-3 lstfltl Pollu • Dllfa Complttio11 {Dec, 14,_ 20i0)1 at 1-2, found in folder marked by the 
Commission as exhibit 149. 

664 lsrtitl Pclicl'" Daill Comp_lttlo1t (De<:. iz, 2010)~ at l, ld. 
665 ~e-leUer_ ~i-om:RafaeJ l):arM, F'otelgn Mi_nistry Deputy_Dire1;tor Gener.ii, to Yoss! Gal, 

Foreign M-Ulit1tiy Director General (Jun. t, 2010), the- folder containing the exhibit was 
IJlarked by-the Cohtmission:asJoldei' 60; _thf;_leHe-r-P,etans·a phone request mad~ by the 
Turkish Ambai;sadorto Israel that the bOdies be_rehirr11id that same day. 

666 ~Uer: from Jtilid.e Karili:J~, deputy to th~_'fuikls~ A_mbassador to_ Israel, to Ra_lahel Barak, 
Foreign Mir_i_lsh'y Deputy Director General (JUn. 2, 2010), the folder containing the exhibit 
was marked by the Commissi1J" as folder 60, 
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of the autopsy, it was ulthnately decided to transfer the bqdies to Turkey 
afterperfopning only an external.examination."' 'This is the place to note 
that the Commission is unable to identify the deceaS<Jd by their names. 

The findings of th!! ex.tern.al exammations are .as f()llows:"' 

Body no. 1: Bullet wounds: two in the aodomen-<:hest on the 
left side; one tangential wound ·On the left side of 
the abdomen,. on the. back £,rorn the right, on the 
right elbow, in the right arm, on the left hand, two 
on the left thigh. Superficial lacerations on the face, 
abrasions and· scratches. 

Bodyno.2: 

Bodyno.3: 

Bodyno.4: 

Bodyno.5: 

Bullet wounds: on the right side of the head, on 
the.right side of the back of the•neck, on the right 
cheek1.underrieath the chin, on the right side of the 
bac~, oh.th¢ left thigh. A bullet was palpated or1 the 
left side of the ches.t. Abrasion on the right arm. 

Bullet wpund on the right side of the back of the 
neck, two bullet wounds on the right side of the 
back of the neck, a bµJlet wound on the right side 
of the abdomen, a bullet wound on .the right side 
of the lower bacl<, a bullet wound on the left back­
buttock. 

Bullet wounds: on the left breast, the left buttock, 
the right shoulder, the tight thigh, the right calf, 
two in the left thigh. SubcutarteouS bleeding on 
the right side of the forehead. La~eratjons on the 
forehead. VariouS additional abrasions. 

Two buJJet wounds in the left shoulder, bullet 
wound in the right side of the chest, bullet wound 
in the tight shoulder, bullet wound in the right 
thigh. 

667 See-fulder-74 Q(the CommisSio1"\'s exhibits. The State of Israel h11s usked to clarify wh,dher 
the authodties li1.:fUd:~y _wiSh~d that 11. path?Jogist On th cir behalf wouhl"ac:company the 
process in--Tsrael_, on this matter ~ee le_tter_from Rafael Barak, Foteisn Minis.try Deputy 
Dl_rectorCener<\l,_ lo AhJ,net O~ Celikkol, th~ Tl).(kish Amb<issa_dor to Isra,el (Jl!Jl.2, 2010); 
in resport$~_to l9rael_'.s re<Ju_est, turkey stated that duet<> fime coruJtraints_it would not be 
<1blt? to se~d a patholo8isl _a5_-~Ft-te\t_~ letter t'Tbrn J~ide_K)lyihan. deputy to the Turkish 
Ambil_ssador _to_ rsrac-l,_tQ.ttafaet-Barak, Foreign Minls_try Deputy Direcror'Generafqwi. 2, 
2010}, the folder co~tainfri_g the_ ~xhiblt wa_~ n:Jar_~d by the Cqmmission as fo!der 60, 

668 $ee _Pnt!1o{oglatl Rrp6rf-(opinion by the National Cenf¢r for Forensic Pii.thology, Jun. 1, 
2010), lhe folder contatning the exhibit was marked by the Com.mission as foldE:f 14. 
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Body\lo. 6: 

B'odyno. 7: 

Bodyno.8: 

Body no, 9: 

BulletWoUnds. in the forehead and the back of the 
neck, Abrasion wourtds on the right side of the 
forehead, the nose, the right knee· 
Bullet wotinds on the left side of the chest, 
subcutaneous .bleeding on the back, the left calf, 
and right elbow joint. 

Buliet woouds on the front of the rii;ht eat, bullet 
palpated Under the skin of the torso on the left 
side1 tWo bullet wourtds ol\ the right side of the 
back, bullet wound on the right buttock, various 
abrasiol\S. 
Bullet woumjs in the area of the right temple/ 
back of neck, bullet wound in !lie left nipple; bullet 
wound in the area of the sc;tlp-forehead on the left 
side, bullet wooud on the face (nose}, bµ)Jet wound 

0n the left torso, buUetwo\lfld on the right side of 
the back, tWo bullet WOUl)ds in the left !high, two 
bullet wounds as a result of the bullet passing 
thiough toes four and Jive on the left foot. 

156. The Wounde4 Flotilla Participants. Af, stated a])ove; approximately 
55 wounded flotilla parlicipants were brought to hospitals in I!iraeL Ten 
o( the wounded were treated at the Chaim Sheba Medical Center at Tel 
llashomer, six of the wounded were treated at Rambam Hospital, 14 of 
the wounded were treated at Beilinson Hospital, four of the wounded 
were treated at Hadassah Ein Kerem Hospital, and 21 of the wounded 
were treated at Barzil;li Hospital."' 

157. The Wounded IDF Soldiers. As stated above, nil\e IDFsoldiers were 
wounded duril\g the takeover of the Mavi Marmara. At the Chaim Sheba 
Medical Center atTeLHashomer, four soldiers were treat.ed (soldier no. 
2, soldier no. 4, soldietno. 5, and. soldier no, 7), tWo of whom had bul)et 
w.ounds, Soldier no. 2, who had a bullet wound in his abdomen, required 
two operations; Soldier no. 4 underwent an operatiO\l on his head. Soldier 
no. 5, who had a bullet wound in Ws left kl\ee, and ·had been severely 
beaten on his head .and abdomen, was hOspitalized for treatment. At 
Ram barn Hospital, three soldiers were h'eated (soldier no. 1, soldier no. 6, 

669 31 woimded were evacti1\~ed by pl~ne With Unit 669, 24 wounded were evacuated via 
the port of A$hdod, St:e The Ei(rmd Report1 supra no_te 402, at 146. The ritaterials received 
frorn the varjous hospitqls in\lolved are found in the binder marked as Binder 147 by the 
Commission. 
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and soldier no. 3). Sq\dier no. 3, whq had been stabbed .in the abdomen, 
l!llderwent surgery. Soldier no. l and soldier no. 6 were hospitalized for 
tteabnent.in the hospital. Two !DP soldiers (soldier no, 9, soldier no; 11) 
were treated at I<;hiloy Hospital. 

Ppst-incident events 

l58. All.of the ;vessels other lhl!n the Challenger 1 (which left the pier 
where it was artdiored in the port of AShdod on July 13, 2010; and is 
currently anchored in the naval base marina in AShdod) left the Ashdod 
port and are anchored in the port in Haifa."' 

With respect to the cargo that was on board the vessels, !twas agreed 
between ihe Coordinator of Govenunent ActiVitles in the Territories 
(hereaftet: COGAT) and the. UN Secretary General's envoy to the 
Middle East, Mr. Robert Serry, in acc<lrdance with COGAT's guidel(nes 
on these matters; that the htunanitarian supplies and constru~tion 
materfols fou.nd on board the vessels would be trnn<>ferred to the UN 
for use by i.ts a~ni;ies in the .Gaza $triw The material tiimished to .the 
Commission indicates that, within the UN, it was agreed to divide the 
supplies between the variolis agencies in the followlng manner: (a) the 
construction materials · 70% would be tral1Sfel:red to the United Nation<> 
Relief and Works A~cy (UNRW A.) and 30% would be ttan<>ferred to the 
United Nations Development Programme (UNDP); (b) the other supplies 
would be dlvided among µNRW A (whkh has received the supplies and 
materials f9r the benefit of the population under its care), the WHO (the 
World Hea.lth Organization at the UN, which has recel'ved the medical 
and medical-related supp!Jes, induding medic:ines, wheelchairs, etc.), 
and UNICEF (the United NatiOJ;t's Children's fund, which has received 
supplies and. mal:eri;ils to distribute. to children, including clothing, 
toys and backpacks); As of December 26, 2010, 114 truP<l; O>rrying 
humanitarian sµpplies from the £iotilla's vessels that are the subject of this 
report had entered the Gaza Strip, in coordination With the UN agencies, 
from among a total ofapproximately 200 trucks."' 

670 The Miro/ Mr1rmr1ra left Ashdod Pott on 6.6.2010; the deiney-and Boat 8000 left Ashdod 
Port o_tf 11.6:2010; th.e_ Sofia left ,A$hdad ¥ort 01' 6.11.2010;_ the Ga~ left Ashdod Port 
on 17.6:2.01_0; see Flotill::i.fo C_aza of_3l/5/2010 (dettiil completion from The Ashdod Port 
Company LTP, 25.11,_2010), found Ln folder marke_d~y thet'o~~ori asexhlbit149; 

671 &e Ciuitian Pclicy Rtgllrding Gnut_-Sltip ~Part A, s11pra note S2, at 3o; see also Appendix 
C of Civilian Policy Regardiiig _GazJJ Strip ~-Part JJ, __ ~upm ~ote !j8; in: $el'le1al 35- trt.i:c.lw o( 
con'-'rete an4 eight trucks of building liol'l were broughLln fur seven UNRWA projects, 
as well as 71 tnu::ks car:rying_ an assorttllent_ ofequip_inent <m~totized- carts, batteries, 
tnedicJ!I equip_ment and-medidl)e, two water desallniZci.tion t:ontainers, generato_rs, beds, 
and-more). Goods not yet transferred and awaltingcoordmatio_n with the UN include: (1) 
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159. The personal belongings of !he flotilla participants were flown 
back to Turkey with !he flotilla participan!S (after having been brought 
by navalpfflcers to the "Ella'' prison in BeerSheva, where !he prison staff 
refµsed to re<;eive it because the flotilla participants were in the process of 
b\ling translerredto Ben•Gurlon ai.port)."2 Pursuanno instructions of the 
Ministry of Defense, 105 suitcases, which wete returned by Turkey after 
they were not claimed, are being stored at the navy's supply base.'" The 
magnetic media and the ,combafin>msfoundpn the vessels were retained 
in Jsra.el for further investigation."' ff should be noted that, during the 
searches of the vessels after .the event, additional personal belongings 
were discovered (walleto and dO(:\ltX\¢nts), which were collected in six 
bags. These items were transferred to the representative of the Turkish 
embassy in Israel."' 

It should be noted that in the prison cells in which the flotilla 
participants were held in .the "Ella" prison, sums of cash were found in 
the amount of €3,500 and $4,000. These sums are currently being held in 
the safe of !he legal d~partment of the Prison Service (the Commission 
has been info.nned that th" Prison Service contacted the Foreign Ministry 
about UU.s matter, but has not received any instructions regarding the 
handling of these sums).676 

On September 15, 2010, the photography equipment which was 
collected in this ev.entwas transferred lo arepresenmtiveof the journalists, 
Mr. Dan(ly Zaken, the chairman of the Joumalisto Association in Israel."' 

rawn).\1.tedii.ls ,Or UNOP,project!rand for twCl UNRWA projects; {2}three X·ray machines 
whicll the_{)N refuses tobdng-into the sf.rip ~lal_n.Ung thcie lsno ,need for~sed t'.!quipment 
without want1nty; _(~) b'ari$pottapte structures (caravans) and the-materials to cons!ruct 
_them~ as ·of IJ«·. 26, 2010 the.UN has not been-abte· tO r&:elVE! ip~ttuttions on how to 
oohsi:rtict-the transportablestruch.iri!s, 1his issw.: shoUld be resolved by the lJN in the-next 
fewwecb, 

672 See JDf_amtpfe.tiOn rtspo11se oj _15.11.2010, s11pm ~te 400, at para. N. 
673 Id .. ; for a list of the equipment stored. at_the n_aval ba_sesee alSo appendix E, Jd'. 
674 See Cqtttpftmtnlary lnfo_nnat_f?n __ Rcg11f'ding_ th2 M:!gnetic Medin CnpU1red- During Opmiffo11 

"Wit1fts of Het1ve11 7" (Dec. 23, 2010), rriarked by_ the CCJmmissfo_l'l;flB exhibit 158; 
675 ~ _IOF c~m~ll!#On rtspornftof 15.1 f.2010, s_uprfl nCJte-400, a_t para. N; .see alsQ the document 

sign~d-by the TurkiSh'representatlve approving the reception of the equipment, appendix 
D,fd, 

676 ~ ",11te Turkishl'Jotilla' ~Co.sh CW-tency Found in the Prison Se-rvke's Possession (Prison 
Service Data CQmpletlon, Nov. 16;. 2010), fOund_in folder marked by the Commission as: 
elo:hlbit 149. 

677 Durln~ the- haiiding over of the equipment there was an exhibitiQn_ of the ·equipment 
and there-wa_s_ al$0 a repeate_d examination _a·nd p4ysical count and cdmpiirison to the 
tatalogu~ prepa~; see letter from_ logistical Opfri\tions and ,Asi,ets Branch to the: Public 
Comrrii._ssion to Examine thtt Maritime Ineident of May 3_1, 2010 (Sep. 19, 2010), found in 
folder tnarked by the Commission asexhlbit 165. 
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160. As sta\ed, after!he event, the Military Police Investigations initiated 
seven criminal .investigations against 16 suspects for various incidents 
of theft of property belongin.g to the flotilla !'l!Xticipan($ by IDF soldiers 
·who had contact with the aforesaid prQPerty.'~ At the ti.me of writing this 
report, three pf !he investigations have !~ fo indictments againstfour 
defendants an<l the.conducting of criJninal trials (the proceedings in one 
have even concluded). The deW!s of these investigations are as follows: 

a. Military Police Criminal lnvesligati0n Division, central region,. file 
no_. 6'1 /lQ - This case concerns the theft ofa ne\V laptop computer, 
!;wo call\era!enses and a compa5s which were seiZed on the Maui 
Marmara, and entering intO' a conspiracy to commi_t_ the offenses 
of theft of the equipment which was seized on the Mr.roi Marmara. 
The investigaijon led to an indictment which was submitted in the 
military c_ourt against a recruits squad .commander with the rank 
of corponll, who boar<led !he.Mavi Mannam after it was anchored 
in the port of Ashdod and conducted searches aboard it. The 
defendant was charged with theft by a public servant, pursuant 
to Section 390 of ilie Penal Law, 5737.-1977, and conspiracy to 
con\mit I! crime, pursuant to_ Section 499(a)(l) of ilie foregoing 
law (file no: 4$Q/10). After ilie indictment was sub"1i,tted _and as 
part of ilie plea bargajn, the conspiracy charge was dismissed. On 
October 18, 2010, .2010, ilie military court.sentenced the accused 
to ilie following: five months in prison (less ilie 39 days during 
which the defendant had already been imprisoned); a five months 
suspended sentence for three yeam; the =ximurn fine possible 
pursuant to Section29 of the Military Justice Law, 5715--1955 (a sum 
ofNIS 700 or three days imprisonment in exchange); demotion lo 
the tank of private."' 

b. Military Police Criminal fuvestigation Division, central region, 
file no. 64/lQ and Special Investigations, northern region, file 
no. 10/03 -This case concerns the theft of four laptop computers 
with a total estintated rnarket value of approximately NIS 10,000, 
and their sale to another IDF soldier in consideration of a total 
surn of NIS 4,800. 'The investigation led to an indictment which 

678 ~ IDF Rtspo11se fai' Completloif Rtq11~t (Dee. 7, 2010), the fo\der containing !he exhibit 
was marked by tlle- ('.QtnnU_Ssion a·s folder 146 [hei'clnafter fDF Co1tip_letiqn Risponse of 
7.12.2010); IPF-'Re$po11sefot_Completion Request {Det. 15,-2010),-the folder cont;dning the 
ei<hibitwil5 marked by the Commission as folder 154 (hereinafter IOP Completion Response 
•f15.l2.2Q10J. 

679 ~dkhnent and military court protocol in case GOC {district) 430/10, lDF rompletion 
rt$ponse ofl5.11.201Q, supra note 40(), 
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was submitted to the military court against the recruits platoon 
comroan.del' with the rank of second lieutenant, and a sergeant in 
the recruits platoon,.who boarde<l the Mavi Marmara after it was 
ancliored in the.port of Aslidod and conduc.te.d searclies on it. The 
two. defens\antsweN charged with the offense of ilieft by a public 
servant, p=11ant to Section 390 of the Penal Law, 5737-1977, and 
unbecomin!I behavior pursuant to Section 130 of the Military 
Justice Law, 5715-19$5. 

c. Military Police Criminal Investigation Division, central region, file 
no. 66/10 - This case concerns the theft of a faptop computer and 
computer game. console .and conspiring to ste•l laptop computers 
which were. seized from the passengers of the Mavi Marmara. 
The in:vestigation "Jed to an hi.ditt!'n.ent which was submitted in 
the military court against a recruits squad conunander with the 
rank of corporal, who boatded the Maui Marmara after it was 
anchored in the port of Ashdod and c1mducted searches on it. 
The defendant was charged with the offense of theft by a public 
servant, pursuant to Section 390 ()f the Penal Law, 5737-1977, and 
conspiracy to commit a crime, pursuant to Section 499(a)(l) of the 
foregoing law. 

d. Military Police Investigation, central region, file nos. 63/10, 65/10, 
68/10 and Special lnvestigations, northern region; file no. 3/10 
- These cases concern the suspe<:ted offenses of theft by a public 
servant and the possession of stolen property by seven soldiers, 
the offenses of buying stolen property, and the possession of stolen 
property.by fiV'e a(!<litionalsoldiers (a total of 12 soldiers). These 
cases concem the suspected thefts of portable computers, which 
were on the Mmii Marmara, by se:veral soldiers wh<1 boarded the 
ves~l and seatched ii after the takeover was completed, and their 
sale to other soldiers. The criminaljnvestlgation of these cases has 
condtrded and the filio!s were transferred for review and decision 
by the military prosecutor. The decision of the military prosecutor 
•bout these cases is pendiilg. 

In addition tp the foregoing, on December 15, 2010, the IDF 
informed the Commission !hat. the military prosecutor has instructed the 
Military Policelnvestigations to initiate another investigation, concerning 
the suspected illegal nse of the credit card of an Italian citizen who was 
on board the Mavi Marinara. A complaint was trans.milted to the IDF by 
the Italian ambassador to Israel on b~alf ()f the Italian citizen, whose 
wallet was confiscated from him after the takeover of the vessel was 

196 / Turkel Commission Report 

UNCLASSIFIED U.S. Department otSt&te Case No. F-2010-04163 Doc No. C05330857 Date: 06/25/2013 

StateDept005092 



-~ UNCLASSIFIED U.S. Department of State Case No. F-2010-04163 Doc No. C05330857 Date: 06/25/2013 

completed. Upon the complainant's return to his country, he claims to 
have discovered that unauthorized use had been made of his credit card, 
which had been in his wallet when it was confiscated."° 

The Flotilla .fartidpants and Their Activities: 
Additional Details 

161. The CommisSion was also requested to ~xamine "the activities 
which were undertaken by the flotilla organizers and its participants, and 
their identity," pur8uant to section 4.c of the Government's decision on 
June 14,2010 .. TIJese subjects are m<leed integrally relate<l to th.e matters 
which haveJ;ieen describe<l above_. and which will be analyzed below. 
Nevertheless, the Commission find it appropriate to. include additional 
details at this point in the report. As will be apparent, this information 
concerriing the identity of the flotilla's participants and its organizers 
and the actions they undertook became known only after the. events had 
taken place and after completion of the military operation, First, we will 
provide.details about the Identity of the flotilla's organizers. We will then 
discuss certain def:\lils concerning the identity of the flotilla's participants. 
Finally, we will describe the advance preparations tindertaken by some 
of the flotilla participants in anticipation of the confrontation with IDF 
soldiers, as revealed by the docwnents and testimony obtained by the 
Conunission. 

The Organizers of the Flotilla 

162. The flq!illa itself was organized by a coalition comprised of 
a number of organizations, of which the leading organization was the 
IHH.681 The lHH orga~tion is, as stated, a hwnanitarlan organization 
with a radkal-Jslamic orientation, which was establlshed in 1992 and 
which was formally registered in Istanbul in 1995."' The organization 
is headed by Billen! Yildirlm. The organization conducts a broad range 

680 See_ ID_F CompletiQH Rf5ptm$_~ cf 15,11.2010~ s11pra_ note (178. In the mar_gins, it should be 
mentioned tnat tb.i? Co~on hllS, by cofucldence, Jeam_ed of a folevJslon n~w.s story 
-r_egarding the_suspecled thefl_of equipment on lhe vessels ,parlidJ>a.tin_g in the flotilla 
by some of the Ae,hdod Port y.torkei:s,; but the Commission could not lotak! additional 
infonriation hi. this context. 

681 ~JHH t:loli/ln Climpaig1( Sil1mner}/~ _suera rtoti? 209. 
681 ITCC rtpori (May 27; .2010), siJpra note-W,- at 1; some of these details, particularly the 

general details re!_atlttg to tl,e IHH organization and its-activities, we_re known in advance 
of the flotUla Jncident, at th@ silme time,.corta-ete d_etails regarding the scope.of the lHH 
organization's "involvement with the plaruUug of the flotilla, as wcll as concrete details 
regarding the participants themselves~ were only found out latet. 
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of humanitariai) activities, and, within this framework, it OJ>erates in 
distressed regions in the areas of food deliveries, assistance projects for 
otphans, establlshlni; edttcational facilities,hospltals and medical clinics, 
programs for vocation~! education, supplyini; medicines, building 
mosques, and prevenJinghumMrights violations lhtoughoutthe world."' 
The ore;aniza.tion also operates in various Eutopeart colintries through 
its branches."' However,. afongside its humanitarian activities, the IHH 
organization provides support to radica!-Islatnic and anti-Western 
tefrorlst wganizatiorts."' The organization also supports the Hamas and 
does not .conceal the lies i)etwe~n the organizations .... The nee report 
dated May 27, 20l_O, st~tes, i~ler nlia, th.at the Jl!Iforganizatioli is.a member 
of the "Union of Good" coalition, and provides· assistance to the Hamas by 
organizing publkstipport conferences inTU.key ili which senior Hamas 
officials tdok part, by providini; signi(lcant a mo tin ls of furtdilig foHamas 
institutions in the West Billlk (including associations which have been 
banned in Israel) bnd opexatirig widespread activities in the Gaza Strip."' 
The organization has even established a.branch in the Gazo Strip, which 
is headed by Muhammad I<aya. In January ;2008, during a meeting of the 
organl.zati0n's d¢)egalionyith Ahmed Bahar a senior Hamas activist who 
ser\ies as the deputy speaker of the parliantent of the Hamas ~ovemrnent 
in the Gaza Strip, the organiZatiort presented the extent of the assll!tance it 
provides to the Gaza Strip, and also announced that it ~ould daub.le this 
support in the.futUJ:e' In January 2009, the !iead of the IHH organization, 
BtUent Yildirim,met withKhaled Masha al, the head of the Ha mas political 
bureau in Damascus, At this meeting, Mashaal thanked Yildiriin for the 
support that the IHH organization gives to the Hamas."I In January 2.010, 
the leader of the IHH organization visited the Gaza Strip and even met 
with Ismail Haniyeh, the Hamas prime mlnis!i!r in the Gaza Strip."' 

683 llCC rep(lrt (May26, 2010), Iii.; at i~2. 
684 Id. 
685 I1J thl_s context see /ICC rtpcrf(Sep. 20,-2010),Jd., at2, which_ des_cribes an interview wlth an 

Iranian _il\vestigawr named Yazd_an-Karim.1_ t_o the Ir_11rtlan n!':ws aiency F11rs r'egitrdiilS the 
IHH _org<!nization. ~ the_in~i:!rview~ J<arimi _$tales that the J1iH organizati°'n was founded 
in 1992 by Turkey' a. Mujahi(iin .. Qih!!d warriors), w:here:-lts.lmmedfute goal was lo aijSist 
Musllm.s fighting hi Dosnift·Herzegovina attd other -regions. At that time the T_urkish 
Mujahidin 3$k~d_ fQr. ~ -assls_tanca of the Red Cresee;.t ln ot(J~r to provi~e a_td to those 
injll!~ by the war. in Bosi:Ua:bU.t their r~U:est was denied. Therefore,._a('.rordlng to Kar inti, 
the lHH decided to establish itself as nn organization offering aid to MUSiim nations in 
combat ,zones whii:h Wouid ~Jl>Qaid other poor alid Vulnerable groups throughout various 
regions of the wor_ld. 

686 JICC repori (May 27i 2010), Id., at 2...3. 
687 Id. 
688 Id.; ~ also The Spillrxm: Viua Palesfina, MPhathfr and JHH, www.spittoon.org/ 

t;ttchiVes/4168 {20Q9). 
689 See !ICC re pert (M3.>"27~ 2010)1 supra note 83, a.t 3; see also Velfecr; GPZZe'de GOz Ya~artan 
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In 2008, Minister of Defense Ehud Barak dedared that 36 
orgaruzatioJ:)S, including the IHH organization, which are members of the 
"Union of Good" coa!ltion, an umbrella organization of over 50 Islamic 
fourufotions throughout the world and which transfers funds, inter alia, to 
theHatnas organizatiozl,were "prohibited as8ociation$"."' In November 
2009, the nm:organizationsent an activist on its bel\alf, Mr. lzzat shahln, 
to theWesf Bank in order to establish ~nother branch of the organization 
there. In the contellt of his activities, S.hahin raised tens of t!)ousands of 
dollars. for two leading Ha mas ass.ociations. operating in the West Bank.'" 
Sha}\in was detained fot investigalioh by the ISraeli security forces in 
April 2010 on suspicioruJffinancing terror and sul?porting the Hamas 
orgaruzation, and he was deported from Israel, upon the conclusion of the 
investigation, at the request ofTurkiJih officials. Itis for.thernoted that on 
]Wy 12,2010, the German government also declared the IHH()rgaruzation 
to be an "prolu'bited orgaruzatlon'' beqiuse ofits econortU,; assiStance and 
support to the Hamas, and in e(fect<:>utlawed it throughoutGermany•"' 
In. rec.en! mouths, an American examination lS being conducted to 
potentially declare the IHH organization as an organization that finances 
terror, i.e., an orgartlzalion included on the 'blacklists" of the U.S. Treasury 
Depart:rrtent towards which economic ~anctions can b.e jmposed."3 

It should. a1so he n<\ted that the tree report dated May27, 2010, states 
that in the past, the lHH organization maintained contacts with global 
Jihad elements, thrbugh which it assisted terrorist cells in I!osnia, Syria, 
Iraq; Afghanistan and Chechriya, 111ainly by giving logilit!cal support for 
transferring weapons and funding,'" However, the nee report noted 

BUyUk Bul~ma (Vid~foto), www.veU~cr,corn/ gaua-de-go~~yasartan·bu1usma-video· 
fot0-1408;habe9.hbnl. (2010), 

690 DedafaliOn 5822 by Deferu;e'_ MinJ_ster Dt!cla_ralion of U11lalvf11l OfK!1~1i_zall01t- Unipn of Good 
35~1_ {May ,26~ 2008) www,_mod,.gOv.il/pag~:;/general/pdfs/Jeror.ptlf; lt sholl;ld also be 
mentioned thilf Jri Maf 2008 the United St:ites offidally.dedared the Unlo_fl of Good to be: 
an, org~li~_Sp<>r:u>P_rU,lg_te~rism and a_s __ sw::h it,wasill('ludei,i in th~ ''blacklist" by the 
T't'¢:asUry MiniSbJ'-in WashJngton D.C., foUI\d in the- folder marked by the Commission as 
exhibit 149. 

691 1_1e_bt(HJ. ls_faffijc'_Charity S()de"fy and-AI~Tadhamun Qrganization ln Nablus;_see IICC report 
(May 27, 2.010), SUpra note 83, at 4. . 

692 See lh9' "statement_ thadO by-the ~_rn:ia,n MWs~i Of the Interior de Maizil!re, CmnpftUon -0/ 
~q11irtd Pac fr; from the.Foreign Office-1 {data oornpl¢tion by ~e "fbreign Ministry, Nov. 22, 
lOlO}, in_fo_lder mar_ked_bylhe Co-mmfssi<>_ri a,s exhi_bit 149: '~e"If$ Offers knOwingand 
focused support to organiZations directly linked-to Hamas _l._ .. J and_ thus eriables·Hamas 
to.alloc;i;m·more fina_ndaJ_r~soUrces to· fund its te_r~orist attlvitfes_. The tJ-fH thua Jends 
Support to the incre~se of violence artd terrori6m in the_P;ile$linianAuthority's territories'~. 
Thou$h we are dealfug_with two.St?panih;! branches of~ organization there Sl'!ems to he 
a conn_~ction b_etween t~e Gennlin branch and the Turkish br<1nch. 

693 ld., at 2. 
694 ffCC report (M_,.y 271 2(}J0), {Upro note 83, at 5-8; Danish Institute for Internatio"nal Studies, 
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thatit did not possess updated infonnation regarding the aforesaid Jinks 
of the organization.'" l'n his closed testimony, Ute head of the Mossad 
testified that Ute Mossad's assessment was that some of the funds raised 
by the IHH organizati9n were provided to the Islamic Jihad."' 

The IICC reportdated June 20, 2010 hnplies Utat there is a connection 
between the IHHorganization and the govenunent of Turkey. The leader 
of the organization, Yildirhn, enjoys close relationships with ,the most 
senior members of the Turklslt goverru;wnt, including the Turkish ('rime 
Minister, Rei:ep Tayyip Erdogan.691 It should be noted in this context that 
the protocol oi a meetirig held on May 16, 2010, among representatives 
of the leading organizations that partidpated.fu the flotilla and several 
captains of vessels. planning to join the flotilla (hereafter: protocol of the 
flotilla leadership meetlng),whieh was takenfrom the computer of one 
of the flotillaparticiponts, indicares that thelHH deputy president, Yavuz 

a_rt ind~peod~"t research irullitute which cfCals with in!erdisciplina_ry re.search into 
lnterriational. issues, in 2009 ~tudy pt:eS€!nted the organi~tion's coMections with the Al 
Qaid~ .orgaoi~.tion, see .. -.qvan P .. 1<'.ohlmallll,, The Role of l~ftm1ic_ Qiariti~ i11 TnternntitJnal 
Terrorist Rfcf11flme11t mtd Fina11dng, DANISH 1NaT11or_E Fo" INTl!:!'IJ'!ATIONAL _STUp1e:s, 

(2006), availablt '' www.dlio.dk/ graphl<s/fublka~ono/WP2006/DilS%20WP'/o202006-7. 
W•b.pdf. 

695 11\is ·shtdy,_ V.:hkh was condur~d., b}' ~_!!niot .(\merican terror_i$nl r~earclter, Dr. Evan­
Koh.lmlln and-dealt with 'the involvement of charity !)tganizatlons in ~sling terrorism, 
men_Uqn~ among other facts_fliat.·in Dec$rtber 1997 tl)e Turkish ·a_tdho1ities lattn(hed 
an inVestigat!on regarding the IHH organi1.ation following a daim that senior members 
of the organlZation purchased, liu~_matlc_ weapoQS from eXj:re~~-Is_larnk Organizations. 
Follo_wfhg this. th~re was_ a raii.l on the orgaitization's office in Istanbul,- 11ctivists. were 
~rrested an~ w~ap~ns !Uld explosives \V~re found-4fong with instruction on how to 1~ke 
botribih a fl\\S with a: jihad!St ·MeSsiige-, _altd variOus docuriients-Whlch reveal that the 
m~mbers_ of -th¢ orga~tion pl_anned to tak~ part in ji~dist_ ~ctivities in Afg.luinii;;:tan, 
Bosnia, and Cl\echnya, Itf., at 10-11. Th~ i~search 1dso qu_otes a rep·ort<:ompoSed-by french 
_inhdllgcl\ce which state~ that th~_ leader of the org_anliatkm, B~ent Y_tld1n:m, _has direcUy 
acted in th~ past to rMui_t forrher·me¢b_ers of the "military to Jihadist activity. The report 
also mentions-that a ntµl)ber _of activists.were i;(Ult by the IHH_'to corrib

0
at ?'.ones in Islamic 

«iun~eS v.-ith the gqi\l of oblalnfu8 oombat-expetience-_and ~t the JHH organization 
provided Muslim oombatants _in tnes.e rounlries with finnncial _aid, __ weap6ru;1 and 
expl()Sive;S. The res;earch';t]s6 iµ~ntions that ah e;oc11mination of lhi?-phone_Q!.Us conducted 
by the lH~ a.cl:ivlsts in Istanbul in 1996 reveals repeated tn_teractions with an Al Qaeda 
ho~~\?l in MJ!a_n Italy_ a~ well as Y(ith Algerjan terrpris~ adii:i.g-in_ 6urop:e1 indui:l.ing a senior 
member 9f Al Qa_eda l'lamed Abu-Ma'ali (Al:idelkader Mokhtari) who was_a_ctive in Bosnia. 
It was, ~so menll?J\e4 th;i_t following the Ametkan il).vaS!on of Iraq iJ;l 2003 Yildi.rim and 
the_ IJ{H-qrg{l.Jlizdion s&yed a role in anti-western indtemerlt among Turkish Muslims, 
lnduding protests, mt\rche$/ and demonstrations. 
/£CC iepOft (May 'tl, 2'.010), sUpra note ·83, at 5. Regarding the urn:· org~ation's links lo 
organizatio_ns_ ~n.kl:,!d to 41 Qaeda.seealsoJF,:AN·LOUIS aRUGV!ERE, CE Ql,Jlt Jg N'AI PM 
Pu Q1iu: (RO!X:rt L_affoat ed_., f009). 

696 Transcript otsesSjon no. 8 !'Testimony of Mossad Head"' (Sep.14, 2010), at 20. 
697 llCC r~potl Q~. 20, 201_0), supra_ note 831 at 2. 
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I;Jede, stated that the Prime Minister 9f Turkey and several other ministers 
had recently begun expressing support for the flotilla: 

1'Cove_rnmerit di_d not.a,nn_ounce op_enly-support·Jo:r-_missipn_ at 
first; but last few days. Getting direct support from PM and other 
ministers. Duriag F2F djsc_ussions; openly sai_d that if we have 
any difficulties, gov will extend what sµpport they can. During 
Dec, land convoy, although gov didn't announce support, 
they provided, net only to Turkish, but to all who were on the 
m.isSion; '!6'.la 

As stawd, from w)lat is k,nown, the IHH organization was one 
of the leading orgl\tlizatiqns which. 1.0ok_,part in organizing the flotilla 
that is the subject of this report. The IHH organization owns the Mrwi 
Matnlilra and the Gazze ship."' According to the llCC report from May 
27, 2010, during· the months 'preceding the departure of the flotilla, the 
orgail.ization assisted the Ministry of Transportation and the Ministry 
of Public Works of the Hamas adminisqatlon to undertake projects in 
the Gaza Strip in order to prepare the port to receive the veS$els taking 
part in the flotilla.700 During the police investigations conducted after the 
event, some of the flotilla participants stated that the IHH organization 
was behind the organizing of the flotilla"'' and that they themselves are 
activists· in the organization (so.tne of them even receive salaries from 

698 See JHH Fl0Ull11 Cnmpaigtt SU11ut1er~h 5upr11 note 2_09; It should also be menli_ol'.1ed that 
Amit Akan1_a crew Member on board the Gazze whlch participated in the _flotilla along 
witli the Marmara, ·da_im.eP_ in his investigation by Militiry futelli.gence that the Ttirkish 
goVe_tnmentapproved the ship's departure towards Caza. Due to this fact he feltrel1ttiYcly 
sa~e-during the flotilla, see article 03/06/10/821/5062, Military llltelligt_nce ~rls,$upra 
note491. 

-699' In-the Mam1~ra's regisltatiQtt_ cer_tiffcate,.which was issue_d on M'a.y 19, 2010, the lHH 
orgardza.tion (lnsan liak·ve-Huniyetleri ve Insani Ya~ _Vak,fi ~ Tutke.y) appear$ as 
the owner~_ see Provisional Registration Certjli.Cafe D/RG/0333/UAE. (M.ay _ 19, 20l0), 
the .lolder containing lhe ex.hiblt was rnai:l<ed as folder 92·by the Co'ininiSsiori; likewise, 
the-Gazze's regi~tration certificate, which was 'issued on Apr. 1, :2010, see Certificate of 
Reg!stry D_~t()GSol 430254~37 (Apr. 11. 2010), 1.-he folder containing thtrexhibit YJaS t(farked 
as folder 93 by the Cortunission; the investigation of some of tho flotllla's participants, 
members oftlie ll-IH1 by the lDF's investigative ~tj also reveals that all the vessels·were 
pur<:~S¢d by thi! organiZati011', see iepoit of the· investigation of lsn\ail Yalmez, article 

'03/09/10/895/5026, MilifAry llfftllige"ce Reports, supra note 491. 
700 IlCC rtporl-(May'J.7, 2010), s1ipra Tiote 83, at 9. 
701 Jn total 41 partidpants cif th~-flotilla on board the Mannara were investigated,_ of which 13 

mentioned the ~onnedi~ betwet!n the flotil11'. and th,e IHii organizatiorii l:hi.s connection 
also came up in Ule investig1;1tions of about 105 fiolilla participants conducted by the JDF 
investigative unit between the dati:s Mfiy ·31, 201.0 and Jun. 3, 2010. 
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it),"'or that theyhadjoined the flotilla at the tequest of the organization."' 

702 see- fOr i,?}(_arnpJe _Mr. ·Takir Eurdnach's stat,ements to the ·p<ilice, according to which he 
is an_employ«l' of the o~~·lti.cn;t, suspect 18 s.tatemeo_t; __ Soldlers, Oo~tors, and Suspects 
Statements (Jurt.-11 2010)i the fol~_er contaihi.n.$:'the eXhil:iH W!'S-"!Nt:ked 11s fokMf 71 by 
the_ comnµsslon {here_Uta!ter-,SOfdiers, Qat~ts1 and S11sp«t~ Police Stn!t1_n_e~~J_;-sus~cf 18's 
sUJ_tem:ent1 ~oldiers, DrX:f(}rs, ulj~ SusprctsS,latemrrits_(JiJ.!l. 2., 2010) Id.i see also the· rC!PQrf _of 
MUhas~an_~gin's iI\vestiga_l:iofli: wher_ein he._ad_miHed·~at be'is an lHH activist, article 
03/06/~0/8+5/!?090 Mililary 111~ll{ligt11ce_ 15tpo,ds,.Supr1J no!e, 491; report of Ytsha:.r I<otlj'$_ 
investigation, wherein he-admit_~. that he works as the'!HH't:rsectetary-gener'al, a:rtii:le 
03/06/10/825/5Q561 fd_. ;_reportof-N,l'elutjet_ll_ul~~s ij,ire_stiga~on, whq was bp flte Gaue 
ship, wherein he a.dmH:ted that he Work$ at the 11-lH's atthives,_·attide 03 /06/10/82115057, 
!d,_;.report·of Enfi ~ll:i.an'irinve_slig:ation, ~hefeJn. he'_admJtfe~ that he ts:a me_mbet ~I the 
IHH, -artide:· 03/0_6/10/f!'2.I/5W71 Id.;·tep<Jf_t of. Abclu1lah' _lziklah's 'investigation, "".here.in 
he admitted tl:i.ath:~ ~tarted working as a volunt~ for- the lRf{,' but has be.e1l'an employee 
of_ the O.rs;a'f1izati91'1 foi' sev~ -ft!aril,. ~ri:J:cle. 03/06/10/821/5069, Id.;_· -r~port _9f lstmll 
YJmel;'s _inyeslig_alion; .a_ccording:. to wh:ich he has been working for the IHH orgartizaUon 
as head of ptoduCt.P.l.tl'Chasirig, _artide 03/(}6/1Q/895/?fJ26, Jd.; reports· of. the_ cap lain of 
the MiWi Mnrmam! Mdm:tulTQreys fnv.esHga~on; wherein he stared ll\Bt the IHH hired his 
servjcea·for the fl_oti_lla/~_t_tld~ 03/06(1G/B45-/5080 and ()3106/10/8~/509:2, Jd.; rep.ort 
of the captain of the Defuey ship's «:aptain Haluk Kul.kw_ari.'s inves_tigiltion, <11Wrding; to 
whi_ch. $H wotker$ ¥\d,_ c.~rgo were on_ the ship, ·ar~de 0;1/0Q/10/_825/_50$1,_ (f].; rcpor!:JJ 
of Hu~o Uruz'S- investigation, ac~r~$ to which he hilS. bet'O workin&:· for the IHH 
organ~tion .for seven y_ea:rS a(ld d~llJs with _lhe organization's tieit to foreign organiuUons 
and thi! media, arti.cl~03/09/10/325/506Q art4 article 03/06-/10/825/5050, Id.; ieport of the 
hea4 of_the lHH, BUl~t Y1lditi.m's fnvesligation.:a.crording_ lo whkh.-three of those k.illed 
iit the flotilla w~e: IHH Vo!UJ'lteers1 arti~le 03/06/10/825/5()59, ld,i.CepOrt of M~ammad 
Achtnf;KI Salant's invmil:tgati.oI),. accordirig lQ,-whldi'he is a wportet for the organization, 
ar_tid~ 0;!/06/l(l/825_/SOOP~. rd:; ,..epor_t of Mel\roe~ Qzntesha~s- invesliga:tion111cC<irding to 
Whi<h he is a do_nor fo the otganJzal:ion, as well as ti volunteer,_ artkle 03/06/10/825/5036, 
Id._: report c{.Ra\j_otttm I<ayiih_'s_ inv¢stigation,- acco_rdµlg to whk:h he org:ani.ze,d dortations 
for the organitation and is also a volunteer fu'it, aitkle 03/06/10/825/506'h ld. 

703 See M~~hrant G1li:\a_$h'~ announcement to the police, a.ccording !o whfc:h he Is:~ volunte~ 

a_t the_ IHH; te __ s_ti __ m_ "_ ny _of .su_spec,t -3 of __ -s_olil/tl'$, __ o_ °'_ '_'"_ , '_"_ d Suspec __ /,_· Pqliu ___ s_Jn_1_tmt11t_s, 
s14pra note 702i Mustafa fh.tttan'a annount:ement that he: was ~mpk1yed on the ship by his 
nnde, who works 'for ~e ffii.-1; testimony of s:~t 7, ld_.; GlU ,Mu_chitin's_ annoti:ncement 
th.at he o.ffer~ hurt1anit9ti!'fi <tjrJ _iµ. di{ferf?_nfi:ou:n,ties. ~n be pa Ii of_ lhe_ IHH, testimony of 
s_uspect22, Id,; 2.ai:Jurlah l<aya's ~ouncement that hi?- too_Rpru"t lil th_tt flotilla Whicli was: 
orgatmed-.by the .IHH· as ?.n ernp~yee of a huma~.tarian aid orgariizatlon irom-IsJanbuJ, 
testimony o' f!~spi'!l:t 24i Id.; _P<Iti ((iu1$oda~'s annourtc:ement tha_~ he ~as requested.by the 
aid organization he works for to jOin the flotilla organized by BUlcht Ylld.irun {head of the 
IHH), 1ei;ti$ony o.f Slt{>~d 41, Td,.; s_ee also. the repOtt ~f ¥,anuel V~piner's _lnve$liga~on 
acoording to whkh he was invited. to the ,flotilla b)' the IHH, artkle 03/06/10/621/5097, 
Mitil1n1J. l1deffige1Jce_, R_epOrfs, supra Jl(lte 491;. report of kukir~ Guyan's Investigation! 
whos.e trlend_wished to: hire him as a crew member.on boa;rd the fyfarmara, and aci:oi:ding 
to whom .the lHH gro_up "controlled'.' the_ vess~t and gave instructions to the passengers, 
th_e ae.w m_embeu:,_ijnd ·the.jouma&ts, ;1rtkle 03/()6/JQ/825/5005, ld.j tE!port Qf Ab_del 
Hakim Alktcibl's inv_estig<itio_n, __ actordlng to which he was invited kl the flotilla by the 
IHH,. article 03/06/10/825(50441 ld.; rl'.!pott_~( ~e head-of the IHH,.Billent Yt!d~nm·s 
i.nvesli~t1on by-the lDF j_rwestigative unit,_,a.eoording to·whlch three of thC>Se killed iil the 
flotiUa·were JHH volUnteers, article 03/06/10/825/~, /d.; report Qf OskaJl Tonboylu's 
investigati~n, ?;cCQtding to wli.kh aside l'rom the flotilla he-. took part in other lHH acti viliiµ;, 
article 03/()6)10/825/5063, Td.; see also an_lg,tervif:w with one of the particip1µ1ls of the 
fl1,1liUa given to an Haaretz reporter in Belfast; Noam Sheliaf Testitmmy friJm tlie Deck 

202 I Turkel Commission Report 

UNCLASSIFIED U.S. Department of State Case No. F-2010-04163 Doc No_ C05330857 Date: 06/25/2013 

StateDept005098 



-~ UNCLASSIFIED U.S. Department of State Case No. F-2010-04163 Doc No.-COS330857 Date: 06/25/2013 

Other participants in the flotjlla, who stated that they had joined the 
flotilla due to.humanitarian motivations alone; also.stated that they had 
responded to appeals from Uie IHH organiZation or had signed up for the 
flotilla through it.'°' Also, the ttallscript of the flotilla leadership meeting 
indicates that the lHH organiZation set up a command headquarters for 
the flotilla on !anq, where the qeputy director of the organization, Yavuz 
Dade, stayed.'" 

163. The transcript of the flotilla leadership meelin5 indicates that 
the other qrg<lnizaHons whi& took part in organizing the flotilla are 
as follows: the Free Gaza Movement (hereafter: FCM), the European 

704 

705 

Kenneth O'Keefe, Formet: Marine, was c;ln_ board Hie-Marmara Wishing to reach Gata Hnaretz 
Dnl~nr 24.9.~0lO, i\g well a~ nee rep_ort-(Sep. ?7; 2fn0), Supra riote 83. 
See for ex_ample the a~o_uncement o( Hallin YWgi according lo_ which he reached- the 
flotilla_ foU_owing-the p_µbJ,lcatfo!J- and cOriVCJ;\li_~n the JHH org~tion hcld rcgardiug 
the flOttlla meant tQ prov Ide aid for Qaza-,Jiistiroony of slispect 19._of Su/dim, Doclt!(s, and 
St1$p(ds _Pp1ice Stlitements, s~p'9 no_fe 70~_ lh!! testimony Qf f_kar Shuk_ri,_wilhin whk:h he 
s_fated that BUle:nt Yllchrmi (head ·of the IHH) IS the flotilta·o:rgeinizer and that hi! himself 
jolo~ 1:1,\t! llolill;i in order_· to l_ti?lp_ G~, follo_w1ng:IH_H, pul:llicalion,-testimony of susped 
20, Id.; P<?lice teStimony by Meluriet Ali A_kdlii;z~ a«.Qtding tb which the JHH_ members 
gave the Marpiara_pass,engers orders 4tnd-_"ra_n the_sl:tow", accori:ilfl$: to his statement he 
joirii!d. the flotilla_ thfough tb~ or$l1t)Julti9n's-we;b~ite·in orde~_to proyide hUinaaj_tarian 
aid to Gaza, testimony oJ suspect 21, Id.; Police teMimony by_rubha. !Curnrok, according 
to whicl,\ the l_HH itd'lli_rtiied aµ tn.v_Hatioh _tp -voh.in_1e~r Jor Jhe fli,:>lilla, ~ teslimon,r of 
suspect 8, JJ.; Police testimony by Pikarl krawil1 according to _which _he j(lined the flotilla 
With the pUrpcjse o_f provldi_ng_ aid,_fullo~g_pubUca_tfon_.in.the:medla and a cortfer~nce 
held by the. IHH, testimony of Susp·eet- 2~1 Td.r P:olice tesfurtuny by 1.kh.s811 Shamr.ocl<, 
accor_di~g to which }ie algited-t.ip ~or the_.flotjll'!-: tluo.ugl:i the_orga~tlon's web~ite in 
order tQ ptovkle h_µmaniblrlan. aid _lo Gaza, _stayed at a botE-1 iri-Is_t.aobhl throu~ the 
organization and ~epa~ed_.to ~talya_on-a b_us provided by the IHH,_where he took 
part in a conference held by the mern}:)e_rs Qf the_orgartlzatton who wore speqat ul.lifotm.$ 
art_d _go~-on a 'bus lo the pc> rt provided by the lHH, ,testimony of suspect 25, -Id.; Police 
t~t_im_ony by Abdl-ilha_lim Al Mali, acc_ordlngJo .whldl_ he joh}etl the flotilla tl.i!ough an 
ltlH_ campaign with the pqrposeof providing a_id to-Gaza, testimony of sUspect 261 Id.; see 
~-lw the_report of A4U_Y~l'~ _iny~stiga):ion, Wh_o·vo1uqleet_e<:J_ for tf\,e ,fl_otilla throug~ the 
JHR, according- to his statement,.the _Mavi.Mi:irmam was a<tuaUy bi;flng ru.n by the lHH, 
and somi:fof lhe organl~ti_on's members wo_re_ vests emblazqned wifh·th~ organhatlo_ri's 
print, the people on the s~p.were briefed to act according t_o theIHH'$ huitruc_tiomi and at 
a certain sta~e of the_flpHlla the b:tslruction_was giv~ that !tie boarping of the ~hip by IDF 
soldiers m\tst_'tie prev_eiJtt?a at_-a;ll costs, artk~e _03/06/10/825/5094, M11ita_ry lnttllig"nq 
&porlSi supra n~te 491( _report _of-J\c~d el Oiihatn's investlgal:ioP1 ai;c_ording to which 
he siS!led lJ.P f9r-thQ flolll!a ~ugh_the lHH offices_ in Is~11nb_u1, {ln~_-a~cording to. his 
statements; the hea_a Of theorga.tti~Uon distributed inStructlons to the flassengers, briefed 
the journalists, and was r('Sptiiwl~J~:for ~e wh,ole _flo_tiUa,, a~ticle 03/06/10/821/~, 
Id; r_eport-of Hakan. al Biraq's investig;ation, article 03/06/10/825/5071, fd.; repo_rt o! 
&lid lbijluh_alo's investigation_;- art.kl, QJ/06/_10/825/5082, Jd.; report of Yujel-Kusa's 
Utvestigatiqn, ~rlide Q3/06/lQ/825/S04.:3, Id.; "report of Ad al Huha's·investigalion, article 
03/06/10/8251_5®0,_ ld'.; repor't _Of Adal ·Tuna's investigation,_ article 00 /06/10182515057, 
Id.; ('efiOrt of Has[rt_Shbar'$ lnV-Mtigation, artkl_e 03/06/10/825/5047, l~. 
IHH FfQtilfa Cmnptiign Smnmt1ry,supra note 209. 
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Campaign to. End the Siege .on Gaza (hereafter: ECESG), tl)e Greek Ship 
to Gaza Campaign, and the Swedish Ship to Ga?,a. 

FGM ls an organization registered in Cyprus as a human rights 
organization, with its headq11arters located fa Nicosia .. The organization 
was founded in 2006, an<l its website states that it has ~8. branches 
throughout the world, The organization's charter provides that its 
purpose is to break the siege on the Gaza Strip by means (Jf, inter alia, 
"civil resistance and l\On-violent direct acliol\", which will establish a 
pemianent sea Jane. b.etween the. Gaza Strip an.d the rest of the world,1"1 
The organization \legal\ dispatching flotillas to the Gaza Sp:lp in zoos, and 
was. behll\d the <lispatclili\i; ofCight flotillas, five of which succeeded.in 
reaching the Gaza Strip (in August 2008, in October 2008, in November 
2008, and two in De<:etnber 2008); whereas three were stopped by the 
navy (the Dignity yacht, which attempted to reach the Gaza Strip at the 
end of December 20QS, an<l the Spirit of Humanity vessel, which attempted 
to reach the Gaza Stiip in January 2009 and again in June 2009).'" Another 
organization operates within the framework of the J;'GM, under the nam.e 
of the. "futemalional Solidarity lylovement" (hereafter: ISM), which has 
adopted the goal of supporting Palestinian popular resis!al\ce activities 
and opposing fsiaeli policy in the West Bank'and Gaza Strip.'"' 

The nee repo:rtofJuneJO, 2010, notes that the FGM organization 
had its activists sign a <leclaration in which they pledge not to use 
physical or verbal viOlence against IDF soldiers."" However, in its 
report-from September 27, 20101 1ICC notes that it posses5es an internal 
document of the organization from March 7, 2010, which was seized on 
the Mavi Marmara, which states. in a seclio.n qn mission strategy that the 
organizat;ion's working.;issumption is that "the only way fqr !Srael to stop 
us is to use force:· This docwnent analyzes various <>ptions for how to act 
in such a sifu;ltion, including placing olistades (el\cttcling•the <l~k with 
metal rods; scattering sharp obstacles in order to prevent landing from the 
;iir), and batrkading themselves inside tl)e control room and the engine 
room.'10 However, it should be noted tl)at the document's heading states 
tl\at it is a draft that is not intended f0r distribu!ion. Mother <locument 
that was seized on the Chal/111.ger .1 contains. legal information that, 
apparently, was intended to be conveyed to the boafs passengers. This 

706 See the orgariiza.lioi:i.'$ web{iite wWw.freegaza.Qrg. 
7Cll See Dt/enst Mfnfsler's Memortmdum Appendixes, supra tiote 209, at appendix(!$ Y, z. 
708_ See ~eotgani_zatiQrt's w_ebSitepa1soHdatJty.org. 
709 JtCC report Qun. t_O, 2010), supra note 83, at 2. 
710 Dreft - Not for Disliibutioit (Fr~ Gau Movement report, Jul. 3, 2010); ~also llCC report 

(Jun. 14, 2010},supra note83, at 6-17. 
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infonnation explicitly states that the organization is aware of the fact that 
the transfer of supplies to the Hamas constitutes a crime under the laws 
of the Unlted Sjates, and also that the United Nations. added the Ha mas 
to its black list ol'terrorist organizations. Therefore, the Americans and 
citizens of other nati<lnalities were warned "to avoid_ even the appearance 
of material support" for the Hamas or its leadershlp.m 

The ECESG is an Ull1brella org<mization uniting ab.out 30 non­
goverhl1)ental organizations (NGOs), whose purpose is "fo bring to an end 
Israel's illel\lll siege of Gaza". The organization operates in cooperation 
With politicians, academics, and human rights organizations throughout 
Europe. n sh9uld be noted that one of the founders of Ute organization 
(and one of the organizers.of and participants in lhe.llotillawhkh is the 
subject of this report) ls Amin Abu Rashed, a Palestinian holding a Dutch 
passport, Who is identified with the ''Muslim Brotherhood" and with 
organizations connected to it in Holland and Europe."' 

· It Ill further noted that the official protocol of the flotilla leadership 
meeting does not rnel\tion any. plans for violent action against the IDF, 
and that in this forum it was decided that the question of how to protect 
the passengers' securffy would be left to the discretion of the vessels' 
captams.n3 

The Participants on the Flotilla 

164. The total number of participants on the flotilla was approximately 
700 passengers, from 40 countries.'" On the Mavi Marmara, there Were 
approximately 590 passengers from 34 different countries, including 

71 l Ugnl t11for_fl!«llon_ (Opinion by Free Gaza Movement); see.also !ICC report Oun. 14, 2010), 
$Up_rn l\Qte 83, at 4-5._ 

712 IICC reporlJOct. 5, 2010), Id., at 5. 
713 JHH Flolillq O,ff1Jmisil Summary, S!'pranote;l~. frQm lhe lproipcoln arises that the flotilla 

orga'rtlzers discussed several options for the way events at' sea might develop, eind among 
othet Qptions to_ok ii"\to _coosldetation the possibHUy of fire ~ing d\r«:ted at them- or an 
·arrest o( the _people on board the ship; as to the possibility of shooting it was written: 

714 "Openlngfire 
a) Jtµ;t to in_tintldate, we keep moving forward 
b}_ Need to do political and media work at the same time 
c) Continue stOwly, e»ritmWUrnl:irig with Israel 
d)lf.shootingismoreserlouswilln:eedtostopandassess.Captainswillhavetomakededsions 
conetnili.lg &\Uety Qf miSsion. 
e) We all stay trige_ther" • .'' 
For.a detailed _art~lysis 9f th~:n,.tional and organ1zational affitintions of the passengers on 
board the Marmllra as.well-as the outlines of various or_g;anizaHons and-activists on board 
the Marmara, see the list of passengerti found on the- Maul Marmnra, IMO PUS$tngtr List 
(May 27, 2010); IICC r'eporf·(Sefi. 26, 2010), supta note 83, at ll-104. 
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Turkey (most of the participants, approximately 353 passengers), Britain, 
Kuwait, Bahrain, Australia, Spain, llel~um, Macedonia, Malaysia, 
Ireland, Lebanon, Algeria, Ftance, New ZCaland, Pakistan, South Africa, 
lrtdonesia,United States, Germany, Canada, Greece, Norway, Morocco, 
Yemen, Syria, Serbia! Kosovo,llosnia,Sweden and Israel. Accwding to 
IUl analysis conducted by tile !!CC, the passengers .can be .divided into the 
following \}tr\!e c;ttegories,. based on.their organizational affiliation: 

(1) Ninety-one activists and volunteers of the IHH organization, 
incl11ding the organization's leader, Bulent Yildirim. 
Approximately 40 activists from this group boarded in the port of 
Istanbul Without a security check, artd the rest, Including Bulent 
Yildirim, boarded in the portof Antalya, 

(2) Over 200 activists from npn-govemmental organizations and 
bodies (NGOs), most of whom were from Turkey and a few of 
whoi:n were-frbm other co'untries. 

(3) Hunqreds of volunteers who responded to the appeals of various 
organizatiohll to participate in the flotilla. Also prominent among 
the passengers were journalists, many of whom were from the 
Arab world (including representatives of two Hamas television 
stations), and doze.ns of members of parliaments frolY\, inter alia, 
Germany, Kuwait, Ireland, Yemen, Egypt, Algeria, (lnd Israel. 

165. The investigative material that was furnished to the Commission 
by varlolJl! auth()rities indica\es that there was a "hardcore group" of 
about 40 lHH activists who bo.ardecl the Mavi Marmara separately and 
.without any security cheeks in the port of Istanbul, while the rest of the 
passengers had been asked to gather independently in Antalya on May 
26-27, where they boarded the vessel after undergoing security checks."' 
A large amount of eqwpment was found on the Maui Ma1""1ara which, 
apparently, )tad been take.n aboard in Istanbul: 150 protective ceramic 
vests, which had the flag of Turkey printed on them,'16 300 gas masks 

?15 See IDF Compfl!,liotJ-f'l.espons~ of7;11.Zf]10, supra note 486, at app~ndix G; Tiu: Eilnnd Report, 
$upm note 402, at 38; ·ucc-repqrt (Jun. 10; 2010), supra note 83, at-2; JICC rtpori Quit.-7; 201 O), 
ld.1 at_3; In his testimony before the Military Intelligi;m __ c;11 invesJigattng: __ theEivent the cap_t<\in 
of "'e Marm~ra menl:ionec_t that in fad only AntaJya had metal de tee tors in spi_te of the 
fact tha_t th~ ship oC(!Ue,cted 40 passen_g~.s fiQm Istanbul, see article 03/06/10/825/50931 

Militttry_ lnttlliglJtce Ripqrts, s11pra_ note 491. 
716 -There. is uncertainty . re~_atO.ing the number of protective I<evlar vests fotmd and 

thei,1' numPer-in the vario~s JQF reporls-~uduale5 between 100 tQ 150 units, see !$in 
findings from_inquity_-1/06 of Collection Brandl Head,_ Deepenln& and Broadening lhe 
General Staff's.Bxperls·Iriquiry (Aug-. 251 2(110),_~rked by the Commission as_ exhibit 90 
[hereina_fter Inquiry Exp1111~io11 Of25.8.2010},_where it is mentioned that 100 vests with the 
Turkish flag draWn on them were distributed to some of the Mnvi Mr1rm11r11.'s passengers 
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and about '.200 addHioMl filters, communication devices, optical devices 
(several night vU,ion goggles and a few binoculars), 50 slingshots of 
various kinds, 200 knives, 20 axes, thousands of ball bearings and stones, 
disk saws, pepper sprays, and smoke flares; A few flags and scarves of 
the Hamas an<l its military wing were found,'" as well as a telescopic rifle 
sightanqam1nunition(riflebullets),11'scuba-<:livinggearandspearguns,'" 
and a field hospital. 

166. The material before the Commission also indicates that the 
group o! activists that boarded the vessel in IstanbU! designated itself 
vsing various identification sticl<:era. Some of them wore stickera 
identifying them as ··crew''. Ofuers wore red Stickers with the words 
"kltares anml", i;e.; identifying them as a "seC\lrify gvard"."" According. 
to the soldiera' testimonies, the violent activ.lsts also wore ceramic vests 
unde.r their life jackets (whiclJ, apparently, were also distributed to the 
doctors and fue journalists).'" The testimony of fue chief officer of the 

717 

718 

719 

no 
721 

in adyar,ce; inth~.i:wnmary o( the combaf~uipment found on board tl).e ship conQuded 
by the Naval hi.telltgen.ce ~ompany, On the othrir hand, ft was mentiOne"d that 150 .military 
protective veiits made in 1\ukey we:re fo\Uld on board the ship; mi:.aJso JICC report aun. 7, 
2.010), supra note-83,_at 6, a.c_cording lo whlclt 1;1bout 100 Kevlar vests were found on board 
the t.,f(lt'rrlarl!_ i\S w~U PS fl CC rep_(Jrt Oun. 10, 2010), Id., at .3, according to whlch about 150 
v:ests were brought Ot\ boird the_-ship. 
Some of the sJi.ngshoJs, (o_r example, were inscribed with ''HW>ollah"; see J!CC report 
Oun', 7, 2010), ld., at.6; IICC rtf}off(fun. 10, 2010), ld., at3; As for the= scarves,~ also the 
sununary of combat eqttl13mimt conducted by the Naval Intelligence company, Inquiry 
Expansion o/25.8,20.10; supra ·note 716. 
ft should be-me_nHOned _t¥t lour bu} let casjn~ not used by the IDF were_found on board 
the Mnvi Mllrm~nr,_llkewJse; ~_bullet r~overed from the_~ee Qf one of theJnjure<t solider 
was also not a stand;ird IDF bufle_t. At t}le_ same Ulne;Mr. Ciora·E_iland, the_ head of the 
tof's ~xpert tei\m appointed to investigate the event, i:nention.ed that it cartnot be said 
with complete certainty_ _that th!!i>e weie bullets fired from a non~IDF weapon since It 
cannot be t\lted ofJ_t that theSe buUeUrsOmehow mad¢ their way into the IDF ammunition, 
_see protocol of meeting_7 by lhe Coinmlssfon, T~timonfr. of t11l Htnd of the Expert lnq11iry 
Team (Aug, Z4, 2~1()},.at 6 {hei'el,nafter C(O$td DQor Tt$Umo1i_vof tl1t Head of th,; £xptrt Inqm'ry 
TeamJ; Cl1ief of Staffs Open Door restfmonyo/24.10.1.010, supra nole554, at 30 ("in retrospect 
it turns out We h_ad such.bullets. Siru;e 2007 theShayetetdoes not know this. But I can't say 
definitively [._ .. ]"}. 
See·symniary of combat _equipmen_t found_on l?o~rd the ship con~ucted by the Naval 
Inte_~llgeJ\Ce company, l11qliiry_ E_xPtmsio_n'o/~5,B.2010, s11pra-riote 71_6. 
~ IDF C9mplelion Reypotrn of7.11.2010,suprn _note486~ atappen!:)ix ·c. 
See for ¢>(ample: _the _testim~_ny of toldier no. 8, 4 ("another h!ct that showed that they 
were preparing for a: violent struggle were the orange vests which tn retrospectJumed 
qut to be J<evla_r ih}sts''}; th~ff~tltrmny of soldier flQ. 7 ("tlJ_ey had p_rotective vests, some 
had 5<1s mas~H); th~ testimony of the_ Commaxider of the Takeover Foret: ("<is far as I am 
to}'\c,emed ~orists are ari armed- group dressed for _battle • prote<:tive vests masks and 
f.idal oove.rs_"). lnquify Expli11$lon o/20:9.2010, supm note 451; the testimony-of soldier no. 
24, at 2. ('~whHe handCuffing I notfced that h1i!'S; dressed in~ protective vest. l also (:becked 
the other people and saw they were wearing proteetive vests"}; the teslimony of soldier 
no. 26,_at 1 ("some Qf the terrorists Were dressed in large_ protective vests"), the teatinwny 
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vessel, Mr. Gol<l<iran Gokhan, indicates that the If!B: people ctislributed 
commµnicationdevites to the activists, which they used to communicate 
amongst themselves,"' Communication devil:es were also distributed 
to the vessel's crew members, but they were calibrated on a different 
frequency."' Accorcting to various te5tim9hies, these activists stayed on 
th.e roof and maintained a separ•l:iou lrom the rest of the passengeri; on 
the Mrivi Marmara during the voyage.'" Inside an area desigriated as a 
press room, where !he journalists were concentrated, with a guard from 
the lHH or!iani.zation 5tationed ~tits eiitrance, another secured area was 
set up, which was. prC)tected CQntimwusly by two lliH guards. Yildirim 
and other ac[ivists stayed therec Thjs area also containe<l an editing room 
and !hecomputers connected to the shlp'scloseddrcuitsecuritycameras."' 

The statement of the chief offi'*r of the Mavi Marmara, Gokkiran 
Gol<han, indicates !hat the people from the IHH tool< control of the vessel 
<luring !hejourney and prevented people whom !hey did not.l<now from 
movins- about f~ly: 

Interviewer: You seem to be saying that the people from IBH 
wete in control 9f the ship. Did the crew need !heir permission 
to move around the ship? 
Chief Officer: Definitely, they didn't let the people they didn't 
know move around. 
lnte;viewer: Did they prev"t\t anyone they didn't know from 
moving freely around the ship? 
Chief Officer: Ye:l, definitely. 
Interviewer: Was that from the first moment !hey went up on 
deck? 
Chief Officer: Yes, definitely. 

Inteiviewer. I don1t understand, they didn't let the passengers 
and crew go-from one deck to anOther? 
Chief Ollicer: They coul<l go <tnywhere, except to the control 
center they set up on the l>ridge. 

of soldier 16; l ("weide_nli6f!(f a_ group of tenorlsts-wi!h:protedivt? vests"); teStimony of 
_sold_ietno. 27; at 1 ('..\vhil~ ~~-we found.~me of the_peopl~ had, ptQt_ectivevests"), 
IDF COmplell'cm ~pons~ fl/ Z11.201_0, supra note 486; see also Chief of Slalfs Open Door 
Testfmo11.11 o/1r.B.:Z010, supra note 70, at 29; JICC rep¢ Uun.-7 '· 2010), st1prn note83; a:_t 6. 

722 1he h'anscriplof the tclltifrlony was published ln /ICC nport Oun. 9, 20H))1 Td.1 at8;See also 
Deft/1st Miilistefs Mt1ilofundum ApP,rntfixes~ s'Upra nofe 2@, at appendix N. 

7.!S Id. 
724 ~ (or example the testi_mony of the c:ommander of Shayetet 13, Inquiry Expansiotr of 

20.9.2010, $Uprt1 note451, at 6·7; see also llCC report (flUl. l, 2010), supm note 83, at 7. 
725 IECC report Oun. 10, 2010), Jd.,at7. 
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Yildirim was interviewed frequently by the media during the 
voyage on the Mavi Marmara towards the Gaza Strip, and he said, inter 
alia, that although !he resistance by the flotilla participants would not 
be violent, they would not let IDF soldier$ boaid the vessels.'" During 
a press conference held before the Mavi Marmara left Antalya, Yi)dirim 
stated, "Weare determined to enter. Gaza, regardless of What happens.""' 
In a video found on the ly'IAviMarmam, which app•rently had been filmed 
by onE! of the photographers who documented the events on the roof, 
Yildirirn is -seen speaking heatedly before a large crowd of listeners. 
Yiidirim said, inter alia: "If you send in the commandos, we'll throw you 
down below from here, and you'll be humiliated in front of the whole 
world.""' 

· An article in Turkish written by the journalist Adhaltl Ozkaze for 
"The World Bulletin" newspaper, which was headlined "Mavi Marmara 
is Ready to Re.sis! ", f9und on one of the computers i>eized on the Mavi 
Marmara, states that the activists on the. ship were preparing for "civil 
resiStance" and they had taken it upon thelrtSelves "to defend the ship". 
This article also reports that the attivisiS were unwilling to divulge their 
strategy for defending the vessel, but they said, ''We will teac;ll the Israelis 
a lesson they won't forget and the Israeli army will be humil,iated before 
the eyes of the entire world.""' Ort various videos that were seized on 
the Mavi Marmara and in a report which was broadcast on the Al-Jazeera 
station live.from the Mavi M!ltmara two days before the. events, Some of 
the passengers on the ship are seen singing 59ngs of praise for the intifada 
and calling out in1passioneqly.'" In the s;une report, one of the passengers 
on the ship who was intel'Viewed, Shaza Barakat, said: "Two good fuings 
will happen: either we will die as sltaheeds or we'll reach Gaza.'0 " In films 
taken·on th~-Mavi Mirnitara, other activiSts are seen expressing the desire 
to d.ie as slmheeds, and saying goodbye to their family members."' 

726 ~e transttipt.<>f the first officer'$ teslimon:y, stipra note·722, 
727 IHH: Yildirim: We_nr( Gbing to [,,(11~.fn Due C-Ourst, available tit www.ihh,org.fr/yildirim· 

zarnanl*g'el_fnce-yqfa-d~ cagiz/ fin (2010}. 
728 ITCC rep<>r' Qun.-20~ 2010), supra note 83,_at 8,appendix·-Specific Rt1rmrks by 8iUc11t YJ/d1nm. 
729 llCC report (fun. 17, 2010), ~d!, at l~2; The v~deo (iJe:Jndignting the CfottM on Board Ille Mtzi1l 

Miln11ar11 by tht l·ltad of llte IHH and Olher Activ~ts may bei>een On the llCC's website (video 
dips file4). 

730 lICC "POrf (Jun. 10, 2010), ld., at 1:>.. 
73l U~C repi>rf Ourt. 1_3_, 201_0), ']d .. , at 1; The video file lnsUgaliug the Crowd On Bonr4_ the Mav; 

Marmara Pdor to t~ fnamnter rulth IDF Forces may be seen on thl! llCC's website (video 
dips ftle-2). 

732 llCC rtpo_rt (JM. 13, 2010), Id-> at l; A 1elevision_report from the Al Jazeera channel from 
May-2_9, 2010, which was broadcast from the $hip two days prior lo the eocount~ with 
the IDF_ forces niay be seen on the llCC's website; in the interview given to At Jazeera 
by Hnsin Urush, a senior !HH. member and among the flotilla's organizers, a number of 
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167. The passengers' testimonies and the interrogation of the captain 
and chief officer of the Mavi Mtirmara indieate that on May 30, 2010, at 
approxitnalely 10:00 p.m., .!lfter the anrn:>Un('.etrteptofthe navy was heard, 
which requested the ships to reverse their course Qr.le> redirect the vessel's 
course to the port of Ashdod, an order was given to all the non-Turkish 
passengers to enter the hall on the lo'l\Ter deck, while the Turkish IHH 
people were toldto go up to the.upper i;lecks. TheMavi Marmara's sire!1$ 
were activated, and an order WB.;> .given to don flotation vests. M the 
same time, the actillists began to saw chains and other items from metal 
(approxitnately 100 iron rods and50 itnprovised clubs were found on the 
Mavi Marmara)"' and to collect axes (which were taken from the ship's 
fire extinguishing equipment stations; a total of about 20 axes), knives 
(which were taken from !he ki!chen and the cafeterias on the ship; a total 
of about 200 knives pf various sizes were found); hammers, tools, bolts 
and bottles found on the ship. The activists were divided into groups 
which were stationed in several different areas: one group gathered on 
the roof of the ship; another gro\lp apparently concentrated near the roof 
and served as reinforcements for the resisters on the roof; and another 
group g~thered at the ship's stern. Some of the gr0ups were given an 
advance briefing;™ The activists were equipped with ceramic vests, most 

days prior to-the ~keover he went on_ to say that all the passengers were wi.111.ng to die as 
"Sha heeds~' sf:nc:e 'the goal of the flotilla was to reach-Galfa or be killed_ (Al Ja.w.ira story 
frOrrtJun. 5, 2010). For s,imilar-materials see audio file "Shahid.rnov", in folder Vidto, Arab 
Data Disc, $upr~ note 501>. 

733 See vi_tloo fiI~ "ffio~otl.m9v" and "motot2..mov'1 in folder Video1 _Arab Data Disc, suprn note 
506. The videos, _20 and 34 secqnda,-long a«ord_iog_ly!_ show three activists on board the 
Marmara. at night, µs\ntfi'ln el~tric cµsi: saw to remove iron b~ from the deck,'s railing' 
see.also of Yishar-KoUi's invesligatibn, article 03/06/10/825/5056; Military I11fellisence 
Reports, __ suprn note 491. l)Urhtg: lhe Investigation of the JHH \fOIOl)tCet he stated that at a 
eertaln stage when they stinted re<::eiving messages from the Israeli Navy "the blood rose 
t_o_ lhe he;id'! _cf a lot_of yo_un_giHe_r~ on board the ship; some of them sawed metal b,ara off 
the ship's r.'llling_with elecl:ric'saws and al a certain stage the ship's captain (who is not a 
member of_ th~ lHH} a_ske4 over the p_ubllc address system that people desist"frqm sawing 
said bars-, 

734 Atoot_din~ to th(! Manrtara'~ 11ecurity cameras_ il arises that on May 30, 2010 at 21:36 
(according to the dock in the security amera) a number of aclivlsts corwe:ntrated at 
the ship's stem imd one person arrived with_a,bunch of wooden poles and_disbibuted 
them among those present. A_lsO m;oording to the security camera on May 30, 2010 at 
22:03 (acco~ding to the d(l("k,_in the securjty_came_r;1) a group of men,_ aU_ d.ressed in life 
jac~e!S, al'e $1i!en gathered-together for a briefing. when some qf th~ present-are_ holding 
wooden poles. Later on,. near the start of th~ Marmara's takeover on May 31, 2010 at 04:22 
a group of rilen is seen, all ~reised }J;l llfe vests, some holding gas O'Ulsks in their hands, 
and thf!y appear to-be pninling a_t the sea_ (apparently towards_ t_he Navy ships drawing 
closer to lhe Marmara), and they_ Cfl.U their friends t_n join them, and indeed several 
additional men join the gToup. Stie videc>"fllcs ftom the security camera in folder-Security 
Cn1J1, Ar11b_P11ta Disc, Sflpra note 5Q6. See a\so the _report of Hti.ssein Urvz's lnveStigation, 
article 03/06/10/825/5050, MiUtnry l11tellfge11ce R~porls, s11pra note 491. This person slated 
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of them were equipped with gas masks, and some of them were equipped 
with dubs, iron ro<.ls,chains,slingshots and ball bearlngs.135 The material 
obtained._by the Co!l'!lllission aboln<.lkates that during the briefing given 
by Yildirim, he instructed the activists to ''make a human chain and throw 
the commandos backinfo the sea with chairs and rods."136 

?35 

736 

lhal.' or\ _the eve of the .iakeover h_c ~w pra_tetlivc v~sls an,d ga_s.masks being handed out 
to- so_m~ Qf the pitss1''ngers -and notie:e_d two passei;iger_s. with slingshots. Likewise, as he 
state"'_lhere were_fan;'ltics among- the pa_ssengere:; tltough the rnajo1ity exp~d opinions 
supporting J5tlssive resist'ance.orily. 
Facts reg:ardins.the equipment used __ by the resistors_, a$ stated, may be-learned front 
seve~al so_Urc~s: Jiir_sl, a_ Videp s.l:~o_t by the_IDF lore~ f!fter-the Mannata. luts.doe:ked-_11t 
Ashdod Port which doruments a.concentration of some of the combat equipme:rit used by 
the_resistots._aud brough_t dowrt_froin t~le ship~ h"u,ndreds Of Gas nUs.ks, ma"oy dozens of 
knives (kik~en knives as .well as commando knives, one of which~ to be oove_red in 
blood); hlU_lck~ds ~f i:nai'bl".S; P:9-:~bar$, w1io'd.en ahd lr~n 1-"ridS in l~rge quat'ttities (several 
dozen),_varl~us spr~ys. S~ CD f'rom Peace Cruise-lo Terror Crul$e &tibmitted by the army 
{minute 4:27), found in a foJder.m_arked by th_e_ cOl't\mission as e~_f;,H 89_. 
Sttond., !tlciblle forensics_ lab report by the- polke from Jun. 2, 2010 (docume11t"66 in the 
polke tne, fo_Tder-~ or the-_commission~s exhibits), which d_9cum~nts the collection of 
matt}' bars,.Clt.ibs, p_ipe wrenches, some of whir~_we{e·covered ~ith blood. According to 
the mobile foremks ,lab'srq>ortJhere is tn:djcation lha~ th~ bars fo_un<;:l_weresawnoff the 
shlp's railii"ta; S_ee aI.So, photo CD and _video.clip documentln~ the mobl_le forensic Jab's 
v:lsit _ t~ the Ship, dur~a whic;h du,~, knives of-various types, gas malikS, screwdrivers, 
gJ~ss bottles'a,-td,axes. arµ _~n, all _of them found Ort the Mam)ai-a,_and corrcspondfng_ 
with _the descrip_ti_ons regarding_ph,yskal vlolence employed_ by the r-e_s:istors on board the 
Ma:rma.r;11_, .marked by th'c oommiS.s_ion a's _e:<hi~it 75.45. Some o_f ~-e )'hOfos Were printed 
onto photograph boards {documents 67.-69 in .lhe police file,.!older72 of the oommiS$ion's 
•xhibi<s). 
'flilrd, the.video shorby on~ of the cruise l'a.rtlcipants Pn 30,5.2010 at 03:55 (ac.:o~ing to 
the ftle properties on the .digital c~mera), parth:-lpiinl$ are see. n opening: crates and taklng 
out life jackets and ga.s masks. The gas masks are packed and new. One of the peopJe ls 
S<:en holding n g11a_1f\liSkandstatirtg;''All:ihu Akbar" i'lt the·ca~e,ra.SeevideO fil~''Gp2.34. 
mo~' in (Older St RF.AM in folder BDMV, in folder AVCHD in folder Sony3 in folder Vitko, 
Arab Dain Dl$c, $J!prll 11o_te 506. 
·rourlh, one of the tHH volunteers on board lhe ·Marmara testified to the MHHary 
hitelligertce lnv:e$tigators· that a_~.a_ c~tain.!flilge, thugs: {as he callaj them) ft:Om the IHH 
distributed clubs and Iron bars (atid he hinisel_f was also _armed wJth one),-see report of 
Ad.il-YUb.d's investigation, <ii;tid_~ 03(06/10/&ZS/5_094, M_i(it11ry lntel/igtnct Reporls, supra 
-Oo~i: 491. 
Fifth, TI)i; _soldiers taking over the Marnll!_l'a tesHlie:d n.bout the coneentratioo of weaponty 
and Combat gear (n -the pOsS,ession of _the resi:ilor$ oh boatd the ship. See, for examples, 
the lestimQ_ny of the Cornntl!_nd_~r of the: Takeover F:orc_e_, regarcjing the e>d_stenc.:e of a 
large: _c.:onc.:entraf:ion-of axes,_b,:i"r.s~ knives, c1'alns, slingshots; _arid glass 1narbles. -Sec ulso 
the testimony ofTi?am Comma_nd~r R,_ l11q1tiry E~panslon of 20,9.2010; supra note 451, at 2, 
regarding the disci>v_~ry of fJar:es, _$tic!<S, a>c<eS1'ktiiveS1 , Jear gas, gas_ m'.ii;;ks-, tnarbJes, bolts, 
crowbars, metal barst Kevlarveiits with a creKentsymbol, various night visfon-equipJncnt, 
and:mo~;_See afoo lhe tesHmony by' ~e-c_omfnander Qf the-_tak~ver fo~e1Jd,1 at 4-6. 
See Military Intellig<!C\ce inquh:yl subnUU~ to theromm1ssi_on,'Deepeningand Btoadenillg 
lht lllq11iry w Response to c_omplr.tion-R(,l/11esl 1Jy.t!1e_ f'ubliC Commfsslon to_Exam_iite the Nuwl 
Eueiltof 31.5.Z,0101 atappendix-G,- transferred by the IDF on Nov.1?, 2010, in response to 
the commission's ,re-quest o_f Nov. 7.-2010,_at2, marked 1:18 exhil>it 90 in the comtnls©on's 
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One of th_e passengers described the event as fQl!ows: 
"At ll:30 pm there was a rneettng to give orders to the security 
teafns.for Urgent intervention. Otdeis wete. _given about how to 
put on life belw, how to put on gas mask. arid most important, 
how to act if there was Israeli intervention or an attack. After 
the meeting the heads of the. teams along with their operatives 
went to secure the se<tors. We were responsible for the upper 
aft sector of.the second deck on the statbo~rd side. We were 
Sl!pposed to deploy for defense .. How? Of\ly with sticks and 
bottles, apparen!ly this Js how glass bottles should be used. And 
life bell§, [but] there weren't enough for everyone ... ""' 

Another passengerWl'ote in his journal: 
"The. Israeli gunboats are approaching ... All passengers have 
been give>) rescue suits in case the ship is a.ttacked. Everyone has 
gone.to the locatiol1S determined b.eforehand, _A press conference 
was held and broadcast live. lHH leader, llillent Yildirlm said 
that- 'it will be a ·war- of nerves until tomoriow morning. There 
are people here !torn more than 50 countries. If people are 
detained, it will sully the honor of more than 50 .countries. We 
want the entry to the Israeli embassies in Istanbul and Ankara to 
be locked. We will defend omselves from here. We know there 

exhibits. The inquiry 1nenlions_ that Yil9.irim admitted thi~ in his le:stimony; JTCC report 
Oun- 10, 2010), s11Pt1t not~ 83, at 8-11, It should also l:>emen\iOned that a number of books 
detaJll.fla-tb_e events pn boatJ:i lhe_Mannara_ have l:Jeetl recently plililisltecl in Tut key. One 
of-them,. The Bfc'Ming Mavi Marmnm, was Written by jQtlO.'llillst_ ~Ok Diri~_, it reporter for 
the: popular newspaper HabtrtUri;, who was o~ board the Marmara, docum.ertted !he 
vtote_ot: tpnft<inta.tton betw'een the lHH act1v1Sts and lhe-IDF soldiers with his camera, and 
smuggl_ed the photograph,, h~ck _lo Tqrkey: 
IIC:C report (~e_p. J9,- 2010), ld., reV_i~ws this boQk arid .c:<in\pares ·what's stated in it to 
addilil)nal inlOrmation available to IICC. Among other detaUs ~in~ describes tn his book 
that thE!rcfwere liv(!ly conversations between the vohmteei'$ on boa.rd the Marmara where 
the possibility was raised th11itlsrael would attack the ship and the activist$ were-prepared 
for eve_ry 5(ena_tio __ a_n4 ev.m expr~ ii wlllingness to ~lie, as long as· the siege 1$ b:tought 
!o an end. It is also_ tnl?nt:foned in the book.th<1t during the walffor the (-Onfrontation 
with th_e IDF_ seye.i:al adi\'~~ pra.dicf!d dtilJs in- prepliralio_n for ~ posslble Israeli attack, 
practke_d ~iming,water hoses to thwatt !ltlempts-by JDF Soldiers to-board_ the ship from 
the sea, Utey r~elv~ gu.i(fanc-etegardl~g the USE! of gas masks a_nd __ were· instrutted on 
how to resist the lDP solCliers. It was also stated that each one of the people in charg:e of 
the pa.sseng~r$' sewtity re<e:lved a sec-tot_AAd a spot wh_ere he had to p,osili9n hl~f 
once the alarin is sOunded. Din~ goeS on to sta-te that after ·the:_Navy s_hips_ addressed the 
Marmara _Ute lHH. activist$ woke_ up the pas~g;ers and distributed ·life j_acJ<ets and ,gas 
maSk$ Aiul)ng them and organi~d them fut. resistance. The position holders took their 
pla.ces_in the predeJe_rmine4.s_puts and the duh,1; were brought-out. Din_~_ad~ Uui:t "irQn 
bar:1 were added lo the wooden dubs J had seen earlier" and Un;it ~'according to the image 
I perceived,_ the reststa_nce for the poSsible ascent o_f Israeli soldiers is ~ot_ going to be so 
passive.ff Likewise Dim; describ~ a press C9nferenre hcl_d by Yilditlm in the hours prior 
to the takeover where he declares that "soon we will meet with fsraet•s true face". 
llCC report {]_Un. 10, 2010), ld_., at9. 
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will be a price and we <>re willing to pay it. We will not retreat 
one step. Israel ls behaving like a pirate in international waters. 
[Will) the world watch-from the side?"'"' 

filmed interrogations of the captain of the Mavi Marmara and its 
chief officer indicate. that in the evelling hours the atmosphere aboard the 
vessel was tense, and that about two hours before tit• takeover began, a 
crowd had gathered <:in.the mail) decl;. Tue crew members ch.ecked and 
discqvered !hat the activists were usir)g rlisk saws to cut the railings of 
the ship and create metal clubs.·The crew.members of the Mavi Marinara 
stated during their questiolling th_at their attempts to l'revent this activity 
we.re u:i\succe$$fu1,™'- The te$timonies atSo indic~te_that thJs group was 
made up of those IHH activists who had boarded the Mavi Mar11µ1ra in 
Istanbul. 

The capt~in of the Mav/Marmara, Mr. TuralMa)unut, stated: 

Captain: There were P!IS$engers gathering on the main deck, l 
asked the'<hiefoflicer, What.is happenini; !here? l{e said they're 
cutting the steel rods a,nd the chains on the deck, He .said that 
they are putting the cul railings in the radio room on the bridge. 
Even when your soldiers look. over the ship they wenUnto the 
radio room Md took the cut railings, I had to send the chief 
officer to collect the railings from their hands, he asked an lHH 
man, and !hey gave them lo him. 
lnlel'11lewer: What did they give to him? 
Captain: The disks. 
lntel'11iewer: J3ut what did they do with the railings and the 
chains? 
Captain: I took _this and I tJu:ew this in the sea. We knew what 
would happen if these things get taken to the bridge. Afrer this, 
we didn't see anything in their hands .. 
Interviewer: But we saw on.the ship that they tut many ol the 
raillngs. · 

Captain: What I saw, I threwinto the sea [ ... J I said to. them to 
stop and I took them up. I told the sponsors about this many 
times. 
lntervjewer: You were not worried about the violence that 
would occur? 
Captain: I was worried. { ... ] But I.thought that as. soon as fueir 
commander was with them nothing would happen, nobody 

738 JlCC rtpari-(Tun. 10, 2Q10), ld.1 at13. 
739 The t:r:anscript of the t~timony was published in llCC rtpDrl (Jun. 91 2010), Jd., at 2-3; See 

also Dtfense Minlst~r·s Memortmd11tt1 Apprndixey, $1lpra ·note 209, at appendix: N. 
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would fighting or kicking back. I asked nWty times, because I 
knew what would happen, but I thought that because there were 
citizens on the ship ttothh>g would happen, they would stay on 
the boatjust !IS civilians, without physical resistance . 
. Inteniiewer: You weren't worried about the fact that they were 
preparing a lot of weapons? 
Captain: Whatever! saw I threw it)to the sea and some I s.tored in 
the radio rciofu, I didn't know there was so many. 

lnierviewer: But they were preparing themselves for violence 
against the soldiers? 
Captain: Yes, I WllS Informed that. That's why I warned them, I 
said to them that the people on the boat came to demonstrate. 
They $aW. some helicopters. There was a tense ait on the boat, 
and'then I saw people who kept.on cutting."' 
The chief officer of the Mavi Marmara stated about the identity of the 

activists in !his group: 
"Intetviewer: BOw-many IHH opera.tives were-there on the roof? 
Chief Officer: Forty. 
Interviewer: The same forty all the time or did they change? 
Chief Officer; More or less, the same forty. 
Interviewer: You're referring to the group that joined the ship 
in Istanbul? 
Chief Officer: Yes."'" 

These testimonies are supported by a number of other statements 
which were given by partidpants of the flotilla during questioning by the 
police and the IDF investigation unit.'" All of the aforesaid interrogations 

740 Id.;_ The __ maUer·Qt_hiHil)g the _ship~s ra_iling by lliH activ_~ts for th~ p_ttrposQ t;>f maltjng iron 
bats also came· up Jn th_e investigation of the.ship'~ captain by Military lntelligence, see 
report of M_elu)'\ut:T9rel's invesl:igation, article 03/06/10/825/5092, Miliftfry lntelllgtitce 
_RepQrfs, s11prq rt(lt~ 4?l. 

741 Thelranscriplof Cukirnn Cukehan's testimonywas_publish_ed in/lCC repotf_QUI). 9, 2010), 
supra nota_ 83,at p;-_Dtfeilse Mi11lsfer'S Memorattduni AppendiXi!S1 s1tprfl note 209, at appimdix 
N; See also report o( kul<lrian Guyan's lnvestigation;"artkle 03/06/10/825/5085, Mifilary 
J~ttlligrnC4 R~pQrlS; supm note '1:91, 

742 ~-for example report of Yusuf Mehrned's investi$11>tlon, arl:ide_()3/06/10/82S/5029, 
Military lr1f~ligfl1t;e .Reports; supr:n note -491. Mi;:hmt:od, 11; cltmin-- of Bahr8.Ul, refused to 
cocipf!ti\te With the investl,gation b_ut _meu)ioned ~t the 'rur.kish passenger3 (aH._ opposed 
tQ thfr p~s.i;:engers _who wec,e i;itizeris_of Qther countries) were the one who acted with 
vJo!enc;e including. as far as he knew, the use of dubs and 11lingshots; see also Mclunet 
Y1ld1nn'$ testimony to ll_,e police, where he mentioned tha,l one of the passengers wjshed 
to hit a soldier, the soldier foll tQ the-floor and lhe ~tifier protecled him front additional 
injuries inflicted with an iron bar, tei;timony- of suspe'et 4 of SQfdiers, DoitQrs; (Ind St1sptdf; 
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strengthen the testimonies of the soldiers. that the passengers of the vessel 
were divided into two types, violent activists (the IHH activists) and 
non-violent peace activists, and that the IHH activists were anned and 
behaved like an organized force. 

Soldier no. 4, who was taken below deck, stated: 
Q: How did the activis.ts look.? 
A: They all seemed to be dressed alike, gas masks and an orange 
vest; They looked well-prepared, they were waiting, and it 
seemed like it was all planned. They were aU very big and heavy, 
apd it looked like their goal was clear, to hllnn us. 
Q:.Were there different characteristics among the activists? 
A: Yes; it seemed tomethattherewasagroup thatwasequipped 
with the gear, and that came to attack us, and the whale way 
that they Were dragging me mside, there were photographers 
who were p}Jotographmg me, and !also heard women's voices, 
including in English, like 'St_op liit him', etc.'°'' 

The Commander of Center A stated: 
"I have no doubt .that the terrorl$ts on the vessel planned, 
organized,foresaw the events, and planned to kill a soldier. They 
were organized like a military force: equipped with gas masks, 
protective vests, hot and .cold weapons. They were organized 
in a military structure, divided Into groups, they spoke to each 
other on radios[ .... ].''" 

The Shayetet 13 collUl\llnder stated:"' 
"No ordinary civi.llans knows how to fight at night with a vest 
and gas mask (or a long time, to take a weapon and cock it to 
shoot, and to not ~ det:e,rred when they're fighting back with 
you, unless he has trained for this and has been prepared in 
advance ... " 

In the margins, it shpuld be noted that, on liis own Initiative, 
Yildirlm was interviewed for Israeli television (a report by Oshrat Kotler­
Bengal for Channel 10, which was broadcast in Israel on Jtrne 26, 2010). 
The Commission received the interview conducted with Yildirhn, in a 
rouglt cut format that includes exchanges of words beyond what was 
said during the pfficial interview. In his. statements,. Yildirim ronfinned 
that there had indeed been violent organizing by some of the flotilla 
participants, and he added: "What did you want, flowers?" Yildirim also 

Police Stt1ftme11I$, tH1pm note 702, 
743 TJ!Stimony l'tf so!P.I~r4, lnqr,lry_Sxpansion (JI 20.9.2010, supra note 451. 
744 Testimony of the Commander of Center A, Id. 
145 Testimo·ny ofShayetet 13 c;ommaoder, Id., at 7. 
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confinned that the flotilla participants anned themselves with rods for 
the confrontation with the soldiers. However, Yildirim hinted that Israel 
had "planted" anti•Semitic statements by flotilla participants within the 
videos it distributed and o!her weapons (such as kni'ves). This c)aim by 
Yildirim is not cons.istent with the <,>riginal .radio recordin&s, the pictltres, 
and the original ai.\d unedited films (which were photographed, ititer alia, 
by some of the flolilla participants in real time), which the Commission 
•*•mined, 

The Identity and Organizational Affiliation of the 
Dead and the Wounded 

168, An examination of the identity an.d organizational affiliation of 
!hose who died leads to the following conclusions. Four out of the nine 
who died have been identified as IHH activists or volunteers. Another four 
of those who died were activists in Turkish Islamic organizations. Two 
of them were activis!S in the Saadet Partisi (hereafter. Felicity Patty), an 
Islamic patty which was outlawed in Turkey for violating secular articles 
of the Turkish constitution. The Felicity Party is affiliated with IHH, and 
it supp<Jr!S the Hamas and mainl@in.'l connections with it. The head of the 
party, Professor Numan Kurtulmus, expressed exp).icit support for the 
flotilla to the Gaza Strip and called lt a "brave historic step." It should be 
noted that there were in total only four activists ftom the Felicity Party 
aboar_d the Mavi Marm.am. Another person who died, was a 19-year-old 
who held .dual citizenship (Turkish and American) and who, as far as is 
known, was not affiliated with any organization. 

According to !he JICC report dated Sep~mber 27, 2010, with respect 
to. four of !he nine who died, their family members stated that they had 
expressed their desire to die as shaheeds (including the young man with 
the dual citizenship mentioned above). Regarding two of those who died, 
it was re potted that they had left a letter or will prior to boarding the lv(avi 
Marmara. In a video which was recorded before the violent confrontation 
on the Mavi Marmara, another one of those who died is heard saying: "! 
pray that Allah grant us the same good end as those shaheeds.""' 

The following are details regarding the identity and organizational 
affiliation of the deceased: 

1. Ibrahim Bligen - 61 years old, citizen of Turkey. He joined the 
flolilla as an lHH volunteer. In 2007, he was a candidate in the 
general elections in Turkey on behalf of the Felicity Party, and, in 

746 llCC rej>ofl (Sep. 26, 2010), sllprtl note 83, at 25. 
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2009, he was a candidate on its behalf in the elections for mayor of 
the city of Si.irt. He boarded the ship in Antalya. According to the 
IICCrepqrt dated Sl)pi<!mber 27, 2010, one of his family members 
stated that he wanted to die asa slmheed. 

2. Ali Haydar JJengi - 39 years old, citizen of 'I'tirkey. He served as 
the ch.airman of an. Islamic charitable organization named Ayder. 
According IQ the !ICC reportdal<!d September 27; 2010, Ayder is 
a charitable organization, and the Ayder branch headecl by Bengi 
cooperated with the IHH, Bengi was a member of the Felicity 
Party. He board.ed the ship in Antalya. His wife and friends said 
that the he had a strong desire to die the death of a shaheed. 

3. Cevdet Kilidar- 38.years old, citizen of 'I'ttrkey. He was an lliH 
activist who worked. as awrlter and the manager of the iHH's 
internet site. He boarded the ship in Antalya. On the flotilla to 
Gaza, he was employed by the IHH as photographer. In a video 
taken aboard the MaviMnrmara, he.is heard saying, "I pray that 
Allah grant us the same goOd end as those shaheeds." 

4. Cell11 .'.fopcuoglu - 54 years old, citizen of Turkey. He was a 
member of the .charitable non·profit organization, Adyer, a 
humanitarian assistance organization that cooperates with the 
lHH organization. He is a fotmer Turkish champion in the martial 
art of ltlekwond.o . . He participated in a prior aid convoy lo the 
Gaza Strip, which had reached El Arlsh, where it engaged in a 
confrontation with the Egyptian security forces. He boarded the 
ship in Antalya. According to the IlCC report dated September 
27, 2010, he left a letter before.he departed on the flotilla in which 
he hinted that he expected to die as a shaheed. and he. called upon 
others to aspire to a similar death. 

5. Necdet YJl<!irim-32 years old, citizen of Tnrkey. Ue was anIHH 
activist in Istanbul (his name appears on the list of.IHH activists 
which was f1>und on the Mavi Marmara). 

6. Fahri Yaldiz • 4$ years old, citizen of Turkey. He was an IHH 
activist in his city, Adiyaman. Since 2007, he was a se.;urity goard 
at the IHH conferences and he was· active in his city. During 
municipal elections, he served as the bOdyguard to the mayor on 
behalf of the Refah party, which is the Islamic party of Erbakan. 
His name appears on the list of IHH activists which was found on 
the Mnvi Marmara. He bqarc!ed the ship in Antalya. According to 
the !ICC report dated September 27, 2010, prior to departing on 
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the flotilla, he at\J\ounced that he was going to be a shaheed and he 
said goodbye to his wife and his children, 

7. C•nglz Songµr,47 years old, citizen of Turkey. He was an activist 
in the Islamic organization Ozgurder in Izmir. He boarded the 
ship in Arttalya. 

8. Cengiz t\kyuz - 41 years old, citizen of Turkey. He was an IHH 
activist. He boarded the ship in Arttalya. According to the nee 
report dated September 27, 2010, he joined the flotilla together 
with the director of a branch of the IHH o:rgani:i;ation, Zakar!ya 
Kanat, and he left a will before he boarded the flotilla. 

9: Furkan Dogan - 19 years old, dual citizenship: Turkish and 
American. According to an article in a Turkish newspaper, 
"Radical", on June 16, 2010, he wrote in his diary on the morning 
before the events, ""These are the last hours before I take part in 
the sweet experience of becorning a shaheed. ls there anything 
11\0re beautiful than that?'~" Also, according to the nee report of 
September 27, 2010, his brother Mustafa said that his family was 
not sorry that his b.rother had been killed as a s!mheed. 

169. Art exarninatioll of the list of wounded which was carried out 
by the nee indicated that most of the wounded belonged to the IHH 
organization and to Turkish and Islamic parties and entities. On the list 
of the wounded, thereis one Indonesian, and there are no wounded from 
Western countries ot from the rest of the Arab world."' 

Summary of this part lhe'IHH organization is one of the leading 
organizations whicl1 took part in organizing the flotilla to the Gaza Strip. 
A,ctiyists in this organization, as well as other volunteers who wanted 
to take part in hurllanitarian activity on behalf of the Gaza Strlp, were 
recruited to the flotilla. A core of about 40 activists from the organization 
were eq1.1ipped and prepared dµring the journey, particularlyduring the 
hours just preceding the takeover, to resist with force the IDF soldiers' 
taking control of the vessel. This is indicated by the extensive equipment 
which was brought on board; by thelr organizing as a group with distinct 
identity signs who were equipped with communlcati,O!lS devices and 
cold weapons, by the preparati9ns which were undertaken prior to the 
takeover operation, and by thelr actions during the event itself. The 
severity of this,res.istance was not foreseen by the IDF, within the context 
of the inte!Ugence a8sessmentprior to the event. 

747 Id., at 26. 
748 IICC n:port (Sep. 26, 2010}, Id., at 4; llCC rtport {Jrul. 20, 2010), Jd., at 1. 
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The Questions before the Commission 

170. In this. part of Ute report, Ute Commission will examine Ute 
following legal qµestions: 

1. Were the actions undertaken by Isr;>el on M;ay 31, 2010 to intercept 
and board the flotilla vessels, o\ltside the blockaded area of the 
Gaza Strip, in confoqnity with international law? 

2. Was Israel's use of force against the flotilla participants during the 
interception of the flotilla vessels carried out in accordance with 
international law? 

3. Was theplanning and organization of the Israeli military operation 
carried outln conforinity with international law? 

Conformity between the Actions Israel Took 
to Enforce.the Blockade on May 31, 2010, and 
International Law 

The Law Governing the Enforcement of the Blockade 

171. As discussed in Chapter A of this report, Israel established the 
naval blockade ;is part of its international armed conflict with theHamas. 
The legal regime governing the establishment and enforcement of such 
a blockade is the laws of naval warfare, The relevant legal rules can be 
found in customary intelnationalhµmamtarian law, which have largely 
been outlined in the San Remo Manual. Article 97 of the manual states: "A 
blockade rnay be enforced and maintained by a combination of legitimate 
methods and me.ans of warfare provided this combination does not result in 
acts inconsistent with the rules set out in this document.""' [emphasis 
added] 

An attempt to breach a properly established blockade is a non­
neutral act, resulting in a loss of the protection and relative freedom of 
navigation available to neutral shipping under the law of the sea. As 
a result, a ship that attempts to breach a blockade becomes subject to 
the rules of international hµmanitarian law governing the conduct of 
hostilities. 

749 San RtWtQ Mmmat,supra nole 110,at article 9'/. 
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Enforcement in International Waters 

172. '!he Israeli armed forces boarded the Mllvi Marmara and the other 
flotilla vesse!S 70-100 nautical miles from the Gaza coast outside the 
blockaded area,'50 i.e., in lntemational waters (for a map of the blockaded 
a~a, see a_nnex ''Fu). 

There has been an ongoing international debate regarding the 
location at which ships seeking to breach a blockade may be boarded. 
Thel<ey issue in this debate is not whether such boarding may take place 
inlntemationalwaters, butral:l:ter at what distance outside the blockaded 
Mea a partymay board a vessel attempting ro breach the blockade. 

173. According to customary international humanitarian law, an 
attempt to b.reach a blockade occurs when a ship is on a wurse destined 
for a blocl<aded port or is art chored or hovering outside a blockaded area 
so Iha tit can evade the blOckading forces.'" As the US Commander's Naval 
Handbook notes, "[k]nowledge of the existence of the blbckade is essential 
to the offenses of breach of blockade and attempted breach of blockade." 
Therefore, if it canbe established that a ship is purposefully attempting to 
breach a blockade, that ship is subject to capture wherever it is located."' 
The stated goal Of the flotilla· was to breach the blockade.'" Hence, the 
flotilla organizers and participants must have been aware of the existence 
of the Gaza blockade and that they were on course towards the blockaded 
area, 

174. Tue material before the Commission demonstrates that the Israeli 
forces chose to enforce the blockade outside the blockaded area on the 
basis of two reasons. First, the intelligence assessment indicated that the 
Hamas were organizing small boats to meet the flotilla, and there was 
concern l:l:tat l:l:tose boats would pose a security risk if the flotilla vesse!S 
were intercepted close to the Gaza coastline.'" Seconcl, as was outlined 
in the testimony of the Chief of Staff, Lieutenant-General Ashken;izi, the 
intention of the Israeli forces was to capture the vessels with the minimum 
use of.force, and, durlng-_such an operation, there is a great advantage to 
operating under the cover of darkness."' AB a result, the operation was 
carried out just before dawn, at which point the flotilla vessels were still 

750 Cl1ief of Slnff s Open Qoor Testimony of 11.8.2010, sliprn note 70, ~t 36. 
751 See Hiinlschel vtm Htf;it$g1 EPIL1 supra note 91, at para. 43. 
752 See Sn11 Rilm:J Mnnu11I, s)1pra_ note 110, al ai'tide 98. See also the.1909 l,vndcm Declaration, art. 

20; U. S. Nnv)J, -Tl1e C01rlmnnder's Hrmdbook, suprq note 92, al 7-$, para. 7.7.4. 
753 ~ lllH ffoti/{fl Campaign Summary, supra note 209, at 26. 
754 Militan; Advocate-Qnernl's testimony, suprn note98, at77. 
755 Chief ofStqffs Open DoorTtstimonyo/11.8.2010, s11pra note 70, at 82. 
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located outside the blockaded area, These grounds constitute valid and 
reasonable operational considerations falling wlthin. the customary rules 
regarding the distance from the coast that a blockade can be enforced. 

175. The Co1I!ffiii;sion concludes that the Israeli armed forces were 
justified in boarding the flotilla vessels in intema tional waters under 
the rules of international humanitarian law, given (i) their location 
and announced destiuation;"' (ii) the public pronouncements by the 
flotilla organizers and participants regarding their intention to breach 
the blod<ade;"' and (iii) the refusal ofthe ships' captains to accept the 
invitation to alter their course to Ashdod after they were warned by the 
IDF.'" Therefore, the interception of the flotilla vessels seaward of the 
annotinced blockade was lawful. 

The Capture of the Fl.otilla Vessels 

176. Customary international Jaw provides that a blockading par!y is 
entitled to prevent all .vessels from entering or leaving the blockaded a.rea. 
Merchant vessels believed on reasonable grounds to be breaching the 
blockade inay be captured.'" Before capturihg a neutral vessel, there may 
be a need to verify it• I!euttal status and its intentions.''° At the outset, it 
should be noted that there is an important distinction between a "capture" 
and an "attack" of such vessels. According to Article 67(a) of the San Remo 
Manual, merchant vessels which are believed on reasonable grounds to be 
breaching the blockade may not. be attacked unless, after prlor warning, 
"they intentionally and clearly refuse to stop, or intentionally and clearly 
resist visit, search or capture ... "161 [emphasis added] Neutral merchant 
vessels do not have a right to resist captµre.'" As the Encyclopedia of 

756 Id. 
757 Id. 
758 l<{. 
159 San Remo Manunl, supra nofo 110, art. 98, 146 (f}; See also D1NeTe:1N, THE CoNcucT oF 

H¢sT1L1Tres1 supra .note 86, at 106 (condudirig: that thesiilking of neutral merchantv~els 
without warning.ts unlawful). 

760 See 01>,.SNli£1M, supra .n.ole 86, at 856 ("th~ purpose·of asrerti!ining·whether these vessels 
really belon~ to the merdurnt marine -0( neutrals, and, IC this. is found to be the case, 
whether th1;1y are attempti_ng to br~ak-bJoc;kade, or.are canyihg_contraband, or rendering 
unneutra) service to the el\emy. [ ... ]its raison d'ttre is so obvious that It has long been 
~v.eraally r~O$fllzed ln practf«:. ft is indeed the only means by·Which belligef'e!lts are 
able to ~erta.in whether neutral merchitnlrnen intend to bring assista:nce to-·the enemy 
and to render h.io;i. umu!:utralservice."). 

761 St111 Rtm0Ma11ual,s11pm note 110, at art, 67. 
762 R.W. TUCKUR, THE LAW OF' WAR ANO'NEUTRALrrv AT SeA336(195S};SeealsocoLoMaos, 

Tl-IE INT~RNATIONAL LAW OF THE S,EA,supranote94,at 168, para.884. 
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Public lntemationai Law notes in respect of resisting capture during the 
enforcement of a blockade: 

'Clear t'esi_qtance'_presupposes that they act_in-_a ma!ll1er_ that has, 
or may have; an Impeding or similar effect on the intercepting 
fOr<:fif). Therefore, a mere change of-~ourse l,n order to-escape is 
not sufficient. An ac.t of clear resistance against Interception or 
tapture-is corisidered to be an effective conbibution to enemy 
military action by purpose or use.'" 

Once the threshold of "clear .tesistance" has been reached, the ship 
may be attacked lawfully. An attack under international humanitarian 
law umearis acts ofviolence-againsl the advei'sary, Whether in offence or 
in defence."7~ 

177. Under international humanitarian law, only military objectives, 
combatan!s and. civilians directly participating in hostilities may be 
attacked. The defiriftion of "military objective" is set forth in Additional 
Protoeol 1, article 52.2: 

In so far as objects are concemed,mllitary objectives are limited 
to thtlse objects Which by their nature, location, purpose or use 
make an effective <:ontribution to military action and whose 
t_otat or _partial destruction,. capture Or neutralization, iri- the 
circumstances ruling. at the time, offers a definite military 
advant~ge:.765 

This defiriftidn is generally deemed reflective of customary 
international h11lllanitarian law .. In the context of a blockade, vessels 
breaching !he blo.ckade and resisting capture qualify as:militaryobjectives 
by virtue of the fact that their "use" makes an effective contribution to 
military action, since nsing these vessels to breach the blockade renders 
it ineffective."' That a vessel breaching a blockade is. a military objective 
can also be derived from the San Remo Manual, whieh states that merchant 
vessels that are believed on reasonable grounds to.be breaching a blockade 
and that, after prior waming, clearly resist capture may be attacked,'" 
because only 'when an object satisfies the military objective criteria, may 
it be "attacked.11 

The resistance offered by persons on board the Mavi Marmara 
(even before the attempt to-fast-rope a boarding team onto the roof) was 
suffident to have allowed the lsraeli Commander to conclude that the 

763 Htintsthtl Vo11 Heb1cgg, EPll, supra note 91, at para. 47. 
764 Addiliotutl Pro loco! I, supra note 292, at art 49(1). 
765 Id., a_t art.-52{2). 
766 Htintschef 0011 Hd1;1egg, EPIL, s11pra note 91, at para. 47. 
767 San Remo Mamull, Siip,ra note 110,_at art. 98. 
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ship was clearly resisting capture, thereby making it a military objective. 
As a result, pursuant to lnternational humanitarian law, that vessel 
coulµ have -been attacked. Nevertheless, the Conunlssion is of the view 
that the Jsraell forces did not attack the flotilla vessels• 1n other words; 
they dld riot use force or "violence" against the ships. Their efforts Were 
foctised exclusiv1?ly on capturing the ships and diverting them from their 
destination. 

178. The next issue tu be determined is whe_ther the means that Israel 
used to perform the captµre of the flotilla vessels were in accordance with 
!he law. The options available to State aµthorities seeking to stop a vessel 
at sea are in fact quite limited. The practical challenges are not unique to 
armed conflict. Operations to stop merchant vessels al sea are carried out 
on a tegtilar basis, often by State naval forces engaged in law enforcement 
(i.e., counter-drug operations, fisheri~s_ patrqis, customs, immigration) or 
!hose acting to prevent the proliferation of weapons of mass destrµcti,on 
(e.g., in accordance with the Proliferation $e<:urily Initiative (PSI))."' 

179. 1n a law enforcement context, the distinction between a "capture" 
and an "attack" is not made, since an "attacl<" is not contemplat\?d within 
!hat framework. Nonetheless, the tactics applied in the law enforcement 
context to stop a vessel serve as a relevant comparison to !he attempt 
to capture a vessel while enforcing a blockade during an armed conflict 
with respect to the issue of the appropriate escalation of force. The 
obligation under int"1'11ational humanitarian law to attempt to. capture a 
neutral vessel before aitacking it when enforcing a blockade is based on 
the principle of using. force only when necessary. This principle is also 
applicable in a law enforcement context, where the necessity for using 
force m11st be demonstrated by e5tal)lishing that less forceful means were 
attempted and failed, or that such means would have been impossible or 
futile under !he drCU!llStaru;es.'" 

Typically; the escalation of the use of force during a law enforcement 
operation commenceswithidentifying a ship and its ll)tentions, pNgresses 
to the firing of warning shots, and then, as a last resort, possibly using 
diSabling fire!"' The required sequence of measures before resorting to 
the use of force begins with identifying the enforcing vessel and making 
its intentions clear by giving a visual or auditory signal to stop.m The 

768 Allen, Limits_ 011 the Use rJ/ Fora, supra note-337, iit 105-106. 
769 rd., at 99~100i See also O.P. O'CON:NEL.L, THE INFLU€NCE Of' LAW ON SE;A. POWt;:R 65 

(1975). 
no Allen, Limfts Oli the Use of Fol'Ct!, $Uprn note 337, at 100. 
771 [d., At 99·100, In rCSpec:t of the Gaza flotilla, the JSraeli authorities identified their vessels 

as enforcing .the blockade to the flolilla Ves3els, and they provided the flotiJla vesi:els with 
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US Navy MIO Doctrine provides for the use of ''hon-violent" signals and 
maneuvers as a first step before resorting to force.m 

.The next step in the appropriate level of force against a non­
compliant ·veS$Cl includes "deterrence11 or warning-measures, sti.ch as 
firing warning shotS."' The objective of warning shots is tQ provide a clear 
signal to the decision-makers on board the offending Ship that there.is an 
intention to exert force· if the ship. does not stop. A relevant example in 
this context is the American case,.Lewin v. U.S.,"' in which the US Coast 
Guard had used fiteatms and unintentionally killed a crew member on 
the suspect ship. A different crew member forcefully resisted the takeover 
of the ship and, in the subsequent prcx:eedings against him, he claimed 
that his use of force Wati justified since no warning shots h.ad been fired. 
The court ruled that even though no warning Shots had been fired, the 
defendant was well aware of the fact that there was a pUistiit of the ship 
with the intention of stopping it by force, which was sufficient to render 
the defendant's use of force unjustified."' 

After the use of 0 deterrence11 measures, the next leVel incltides a 
"show of force", such as disabling fire, which means employing firearms 
to stop the ship without using force against the passengers themselves.'" 
The appropriateness of using disabling fire depends upon the nature of the 
enforcement action being undertaken. For instance, it has been suggested 
that disabling fire is lawful in a PSI context because of the importance 
to counter the proliferation of weapons of mass destruction,m and it is 
certahtly contemplated in the context of Maritime lnterdktion Operations 
(MlO) to, inter alia, enforce UN Security Counc:il resolutions.'" 

180. The use of disabling fire is indeed an option when enforcing a 
blockade during an armed con11kt, particularly in light of the fact 

th~ re.quired information about lhe Israeli intentions to prevent the flotilla vessels from 
bn~a.dling the blockade. 

m Jd.,atW-100. 
773 1d.,at100. 
714 Lewin v. lJ,s., 62 F. 2d 619 (1933). 
'nS As stated previously; Israeli authorities had mad.e theit irtte_ntions to halt the flotilJa 

vew?I& c_lear lo the captains of_the vesseIB. Since the Israeli-armed forces.did not intend 
to use force a.gain.st the vessels themselves1 whf~h will be further elaborated. upon below, 
there Wil3 no· requirement to i;lStte warning ~giutls before the boarding. 

776 Allen. Um/ls 011 Ifie Use of Force, ~Upra note 337, at 100. 
il7 Id., al 110..111. 
778 For a definition o(MlOseeQp.cit, See WOiff Heints(hel von Heinegg,. Mariti111elnlerceptio11/ 

1Httrd1'tfiqn _Opttnfio11s in The Handbook of InterOatiorial Law o( Mi!Hary Operations, 
393, para. 20.1_2 (2010) (where th(! sequc-nc(! is outlined a shot being_ fired, but not In the 
direction of the ·ship,· a second ':Yarning shot a_cro~ the bow; and finally a shot Into the 
rudder). 
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that resistance to capture renders a ve_ssel a military objective. The 
use of disabllng fire in this context would constitute an "attack'' under 
{f!.tero~tional humanitarian law. -m At the same time, however, its use 
would have been both lawful and a reasonable escalation in force, prior 
to considering an attack that could sink the vessel."" 

The evidence brought before the Commissiort demonstrates that, 
throughout the planning process, it was dear to. those planning the 
operation that violence would not be used against the flotilla vessels, i.e., 
the actual shl.ps themselves, Frorn the e\lidertce, it appears that among 
the factors that weighed heavily Ort those who planned the operation 
against the u:se of force was the presence of over 500 Civilians on board 
the Mavi M~rmara and a significant number of civilians o.n the remaining 
ships!'' Potential collateral_casualties and. damage had to be factored 
into the consid.eration. Furthermore, the use of.disabling fire Would not 
necessarily have been effective under the circumstances, because "the 
typica!merchantshl.p is often able to survive even prolonged disabling fire 
by the weapons and ammunition allowed by the use of force docbines."'" 

181. While the Israeli authorities used less force than Would have been 
permissible under international law, another issue, which has been the 
subject of considerable debate in the media and elsewhere, is whether 
they shOuld have used intermediate levels of force. One. question is 
whether they sho.uld hav-e chosen to use waten;annons or similar devices 
to_either cause the vessel to "'heave to" ot td create a "sterile" environment 
on the top decks of the Mavi Mannara, which Would have permitted the 
IsrMli navy commandoes to board or land on the ship without being 
threatened by any of its passengers. While these suggestions ar.e attractive 
in theory, the reality is that the technical ability to c:ompel a fleeing vessel 
to ~top is .exceedingl)l limited. As noted in one study of the use of force in 
a matitime envirorunerit: 

A variety of !ow-level force l;lctics ... have been tried over the 
years, including low level passes by aircraft; physically blocking 
or even "shouldering" the fleeing vessel; directing fire hose 
streams into the fleeing vessel's exhaust slack to flood the engine; 

779 Add1tio11a(PrQf()(:(lf [,supra note292;at art.49(1). 
780 _Allen, Liniit$ on the Use of Force, S)1pm note 337, at 104 ("Disab_Iing fire" refers to _use of 

Weiiport$ to disiible the ship Without risk to the cr-ew). 
781 The protection_ of a passenger vessel Is reflected in Snn Remo Mn1111al1 supra note 110, at 

Rule 15l, which prohibits the det1truction of captured neutral passenger vessel$ carrying 
civilian passengers at sea. 

782 Allen, Limits on tltc Ustt of Force, s11prn note 337, at 105. 
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deploying nets, lines and other devices designed to entangle the 
vessel's propellers; and.severing the ves_sel's fuel line.183 

These tactics have enjoyed only limited success and often pose 
considerable danger to the ship, the crew, and any passengers on board.'" 
The lsrae.li navy had already experienced an incident in December 2009 
where signiflcant damage was caused when a warship collided With a 
relatiwly small yacht .that was seeking to breach the Gaza blockade."' 
The large size Of the Maui Marinara and a n1Jntber of the other flotilla 
vessels made "shouldering" (i.e,. brushing up againSt the side of the shlp) 
of those vessels impractical and also very dangerous for IsraJOJi forces. 

182. The tactics employed to intercept and board the vessel by the 
Israeli authorities was to fast-rope soldiers from helicopters dow11 to 
the. roof of the MaiJiMarmara CQmbined with an attempt to board from 
Morena speedboats, TI1e dedsionto try to capture the vessels by i;lst­
roplng from helicopters was. influenced by the degree of resistance 
anticipated from the subject vessel. Special Forces trained teams are often 
used when a boardlngiSantidpated to be" opposed" or "non-.compliant.''"' 
The Shayeyet 13, an Israeli navaI commando force, is trained in vertical 
envelopment from helicopters and was thus able to perform the difficult 
operation. 

These tactics can be .compared to those employed by Coalition naval 
forces conducting M10 during the Gulf War against Iraq ln 1990-1991. It 
became evident during the collrse of those operations that large.merchant 
vessels were very difficult to disable without recourse to large caliber 
weapons with the accompanying risk of casualties; a potential need for a 
search and rescue operation; and the risk of environmental damage due 
t.o the release of oil into the waters . .In that situation, other tactics, such as 
"shouldel.ing" a large merchant vessel, were not practically feasible for 

783 Id., at-101. 
784 Transcript of sessio.n no. 13 'iestimony of the Chief of Staff, opE!n door" (Oct 24, 2010), ill 

14 [hereinafk!I.' Chief of Slaff s Open Door Testimony o/24.10.ZOlOJ. 
785 MAG Posi'tio11 Paper, supra "ote l, at 40. 
786 St:e RUl-ll:S Of' ENGAGEMENT HANDBOOK, I.nternatkmal ln.">l:itute of Humartitarian Law, 

Annex D, -SI, 84 (Nov, 2009) [Mreirnfti!tr Tift R.QE 1!1mdb«ik} mmil«bfe 11t www.us:nwc. 
ed.u/geta.ttadunent/7b0d0f'lo-bb07-4_8fl-afila~747~9_2d0bb0/San_-Remo~ROB-Han_dbook 
(there_ are lliree_ lypl!s of ~oar dings in .es_t11blished maritime doctrine: "opposed-boarding" 
a boarding where i:he maste_r or crew has made It dear that sleps wiU l;te taken ro prevent 
the boai:ding; "rton~compli11nt boardingn a boarding -where agreemexi.t t/J boat:d has not 
bem obtqined; and "compliant boarding" a boarding- where the master arid tr~w of the 
vessel roopera!e). 
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thin-skinned warships and they raised the possibility of rendering the 
target vessel a risk to navigation."' As a result: 

The tactic adopted ... w_as to surround a recalcitrant ship with a 
number of coalition warship!'. If these couldno.tcompel obedience 
by -~adio~ vO_ice __ calls, or -~a __ ming- fire, __ a coordinated _ ... __ Cl ult_ was_ 
conducted byspecially trained forces lowered from one oi more 
helicopters, with other helicopters providing surveillance and 
potential oovering fire. Once control was established, naval 
boarding parties conducted physical searches of ships, cargoes, 
and documentation.'" 

Thls technique was also deployed in what is perhaps one of the 
be$t known Weapons of Ma8$ ~struction (WMO) boardings; the 2002 
interdiction of the M/V So San by Spanish naval forces. During that 
operation, a helicopter-borne Special Operations force boarding team was 
ultimately deployed to stop the vessel. This is an area where the tactics 
are well estab!iShed and understood by naval forces."' 

Consequently, the decision to have the Shayeyet 13 board the Mavi 
Martn11ra and the other flotilla vessels by helicopter and from Morena 
speedboats was fully consistent wi_th established naval practice, whether 
enforcing a blockade or carrying out maritime law enforcement. 

183. In conclusion, the Commission has found that the flotilla vessels 
were attempting to breach the blockade and Israeli armed forces were 
therefore justified fu capturing them in order to enforce the bloekade. 
By clearly resisting capture, the Mavi Mannara had become a military 
objective. After prior warning, the l.siaeli forces could have considered 
using disabling fire against that ship. However,. If that optioµ or any other 
option that involved the use of armed force against the ship had been 
employed, itw9uld have caused.a signlficantrisk of harm to the passengers 
aboard the ship (under intemational humanitarian Jaw; "collateral 
damage"). Therefore, th:e option of fast-roping naval commandoes onto 
the Mavi Marmara represented an inter1\ationally recognized means by 
which to minimize the potential for civilian caso;>lties or damage to 
civilian objects that ,could have occurred if armed force had been used 
against the ship itself. It remains unclear whether the majority of the 
pa8$engers on the vessels understood the limited options available to the 
Israeli military forces when enforcing the blockade, and the risk that the 

787 See j<imes_ Goldrick, M_nritim~ Sll_nctlotis Etiforament Against Iraq, in NAVAL at.ocKAoE:s 

ANO ~l!'.Af'OWEA, supra note Erl, at 203-204. 
788 Id., at 2.04.; 
789 Allen, Limlls on 111~ Use of Fora, srrp-ra note 337, at lOS..106. 
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Flotilla organizers were exposing them all to by attempting to breach the 
blockade, 

Inlight ofthis conclusion, the analysis will now tum to the use of 
force against persons on board the flotilla vessels. 

Law Applicable to the Use of Force against Persons on 
Board the Flotilla Vessels 

Awlication eflntetnationa/ Humanitarian Law or Human Rights lllw 

184. In the context of an armed conflict, a key issue is what principles 
govern the use of force against civilians: international humanitarian law 
or human rights law? As has been noted by the IntemationaLCourt of 
Justice ln the Wall case, the interface between these two normative regimes 
is intricate: "[Tjhere are thus three possible situations: some rights may 
be exclusively matters of international humanitarian law; others may be 
exclusively m.atters of human right$ law; yet others may be matters of 
both these branches of international law."790 

185. As discussed in chapter A of this report, there is considerable 
ongoing debate about the interface between international hwµanitarian 
law and human rights law."' However, often lost in the dialogue 
regarding the applicable frantework is the fact that humanitarian law 
reflects many 0£ the norms that are also recognized as being part of 
human righlS law."' This is evident when considetlng, for instance, the 
individual right of Seit.defense. Military and civilian personnel have the 
right to protect!heir own lives, whether they are operating in an armed 
conflkt or ln peacetime.'" In addition, military forces have always had to 

790 Tire W11llCase, supra note 130,at 178, para.106. 
791 See, e.g., David Kretzmer~ 'fa.rgdt:d Kilting of Suspeckd Terro_risls: ExJra·fudiclal Executions 

pr Legitimate Mtatis of Defense? 16 EUR. J, INT'L. L 171 '{2005);_ F_rancoise J. Hampson, 
Tiie Rd11tio11shlp Se/Ween 1t1tunati(l#lll Humanit11rlan Law And _Human Rfglils I11to From The 
PerSpei:Uve Of A HmitarJ Rights treaty Body, 90 INT'L Rev. ~e:o- CR_osS 549 (2008); Yuval 
Shany; _The lnw Applitabte to No11-0tcupled _Gaw: A Om1ment_ en Al 811sslouniv. Tiie Prime 
Minislet oflsrnel,,37 lsR. L. RE:V. 101 (2009); Yuval Sh:any &'Oma lJen-Nafta.U, Liviug i11 
Denial: The Appliroti<m of Human Rights i11 the Occ11pied Terdtories, 37 lsA. 1.,. REV. 17 (2003-
04) (suppo_rtfug the appllcat!On of ~wnm rights lo all acts ofStatt'S, even outside their own 
territories, and towards in.dividu_als that' are not the Ix dtizens). 

792 See, _e.g., Adcfitio11al Protoc<JI (,-sqpra note 2.92, at art. 75 (Qullfnlng fuili:lamental rights 
available to persons who are in the po_wer of a Party fo_ the confilct. These-rights found 
under intematiol)al htunanitar_ian law reflect human right$ "norms"; See l'ilso HR>ndan v. 
Rmnsfeld.-_Suprn note 137, Qt 71 (where a piurnIUy of the United States9upreme Cou:rt held 
this ptovisiOn was cu.stomaty international law)}. 

793 See Prosecutor v. Dario J<ordic, Mario Cerlcez, Case No. IT-95--1412-T, Judgment, para. 4-51 
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deal with civilians, including during the policing of occupied territories 
when carrying out their international humanitarian Jaw responsibilities 
to maintain pt!blic order and safety."' 

186. Althot!gh there are schools qf thoughtthat largely favor extensive 
applk<1bility of hum<ln rights law,. this approach ls not universaliy 
accepted.'" l'or example, neither Israel nor the United States agrees with 
a broad extra-territorial applkation of human rights Jaw,"' The issue of 
whether, or the degree to which, there is extra-territorial application of 
huma.n rights law is particularly relevant to the enforcement of the Gaza 

(Pel?'. U, 2Q9l)(itotin~ that theprindpl<!of_~l(-.defenc-e eMhrined in the ICC Statute, a tart. 
31(1){c) "reflects provisi_OIIS £ound in most national i:rlminal ~Ql.les-and-may be regarded 
as constituting a rUl~_of customary intern_a;Honal Jaw"); Further, the right to self--dtfense is 
refle<:ted in Geneva Convention I, at art:.. 22 (1) reg?rding the at'Jl\ing_of medical personnel 
and art. 22(2)_ for- anm?d pickets, sentries: or est'orls at medical units_ or establlslirrumts; 
See also AP l, at art, 65(1) (regarding the anning for self-defense of dviliM civjl defence 
pe-rsonnE!l); .a.rt. 67. (regar4ing' mem_bf:rs of the frrmed !CJ~ and qtilitifry units assigned 
to dvll _dehmce org<!llfZations); tfnd 111t UK ManuaL supm note 113, at 40, pa:ra·, 4.3.7 
(in_dkating that civili<!-N a<:tompanyjng a military forces "should be- iSsued With small 
8rins foi self.;fi!fence purpoSeS only"), 

794 ~. e.$., 19Q7 Ha.sue RegUfa:tions, Art. 43 (providI_ng that lhe_occupylng p'c>wer "shajj take 
all ille-measures in his po_wer to restore, and ens'-ue, as far as possible, public order and 
safety (civil life}, while respecting; unless_absolutely prevente?, the l1Jws in force in the 
country."-The ~ference ta "civil life" c:omes from the Qfficial French version, which has 
~n sugg'ee;ted was inC9rtecUy phra_sed as_ "safety" in the firs_t English- tral\Slation); See 
also EYAi. 81;:°t~vENISTI, THE INTERNATIONAL LAW Of' OCCUPATION 10~11 (2004). 

795 See, e.g., LUBEL.L.- £XTffA'rERIH'rORIAJ.. USE OP F_OflCE, supra l\QK.' 149, at 193~235_(2010) 

(for an ?inalysls favoring the_ univerSal applic11-ti6n of human right$ Jaw). To the,exlent 
the notion-of univernal applicati~n of the-International Cov_enant on C_i\'il and Political 
ltights is !;iii_~ on it1.teiptetatiorn1 ?f the H~ Rights _Commission, including its Gt11eral 
Con,me1it 31; Nnhir_e of lht. Genet(fl Uga_l O_bligali~n on Stafes _P11rllf!$ It) the Ccvemml, UN Doc. 
CCPR/C/21/Re.v. 1/ AckL13 (2004), care D\Ul!t be taken-in viewing such Interpretations 
aS "Jaw", See _also- Amnesly Tnfemafic™f v. Chief of tire Defenst. _SMjf for tht Ctl11ad/an FQrcts 
T..J24-07 FE?Ct. Ct. TD. para; 239 {2008) ("I.nSQfar as the conunentarles of the Unifod Nations 
ConunJJttts anf oont:emed_. as the respondents observed~ these ;ir~ reoommendations 
made by groups wlth advoca_cy responsibi!Hfes. While they dearly reflect the vie"ws o( 
kn_owJe~eabl~ .bldividuals, they do riot reflect the cl.ll'rellt state of intematiunaJ Jaw, but 
mote lhe dir~lion that those groups believe the law shouIJ;t_ lake in the future"). 

796 LUBEt..t., EXTRATERRITORIAJ., Us.ii: OF FOA:CE, supro no!e 149, at 197-198 (discussing the 

UnHOO States position). :eor the official Israeli pooition1 ~,e.g., Israel Ministry. of Foreign 
Al~irs, Legal Advi$or of tlte-Ts11uf MirdslryCf Fort!ign Affairs on lht! Applicability of tht ICCPR 
to the Current Sitttt~tion ilJ _the West 1Jank atid GaUJ.Slrip, Response Of Nf~. Afan-Baker, Legal 
AdvfstJr Dfll1e Israel MimSfryo/ Foi'lign Affa_irp, On flit Applicability of I he ICC PR lo the C11rre11t 
Sitital/on in the West Btmkand Gnu $trip (May 15, 1998)avnilable iit www.J'Jlf.\.gov,il/MFA/ 
MFAArchive/1990_1999/1998/7 /~aI+Advisor+of+t.he+lsiael+Ministry+of+Foreign+ 
Af.htm; See also Fritncoise J. Hampson, The 'Rtlationship1 suprn. note 791, at 550; Michael 
Dennis, I Cf Advis_ory Opinion QJI COnslr11~lion of a W11fl i/1 the Oa:upied Palesti11ifln Territory: 
App/ie11tfon of Hriman Rigflls Treah'es Extraterritorially f11 Times of Anned Con fl id and Military 
Occupnlion, 99 AM. J, INT'L. L. 119 (2005). 
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naval block;\de on May 31, 2010, since it took place on the high seas, 
outside the territory of the Israeli State. 

Recently, the European Court of l-!uman Rights 11lled in the Case 
of }yfedvedyev and. Ol~rs v .. France'" that the interception of a vessel on 
the high seas by a Frenclt warship in a counter'drug law enforcement 
operation did engage hurnan rights juriSdktion after "full and exclusive 
control" over the ship had been es.tablished. H;owever, the judgment 
does not clarify exactly when the Frenclt anned forcl's were considered 
to have obtained "full and exclusive control" of the ship; especially since 
the litigation did not center on th~ boarding and overtaking of the ship, 
but rather on the arrest and confinement of the crew to their ca.bins for a 
period of 13 days during the transit to France. 

In the case at hand, it is difficult to see how Israel could be 
considered to have had "full and exclusive control" prior to taking 
control of the bridge of the flotilla vessels O!ld the subsequent cessation 
of resistance. Further, even if Israeij forces were considered to have had 
suclt control over the }yfavi .Marmara prior to taking control of the bridge, 
the actions of the Israeli forces would still be governed by the lex specialis 
of international hurnanitarlan law since the enforcement of a blockade 
is not a Jaw enforcement mission. Therefore, the ruling of the European 
Court of Human Rights in the Medvedyeu case is of limited assistance in 
resolving the issue of extra-territorial application of human rights law 
during the enforcement of the Gaza blockade. 

187. With respect to the enforcement of the blockade, the use of force is 
to be lnteq>reted under the lntemational humanitarian law framework,'" 
which perinlls attacks against combatants and civilians taking a direct 
part in hostilities. lnternational humanitarian !.aw is gµlded by the 
principle of distinction, which is Oil obligation to distinguish at all times 
between civilians and .com.batants. A civilian is any person who is no.t 
defined as a "combatant.""' Civilians enjoy a .general protection against 
the dangers arising from military operations!'"' H:erice, when attacking a 
military objective, the attacking party mUst take all feasjble precautions 
to avoid incidental (collateral) injury and death to civilians.'"' Further, 
the expected incidental hann caused to civilians by an attack must not 

79'1 Medvedy!!v and Othetsv. France, Application No. 394-031 Eur. Ct. H.R., Gr. Ch.1 Judgment, 
para. 63-67 (Mar. 29, _2010). 

198 ~ Nm:.lt!lli' Weapons Case, supra note 365, 11t para. 25. 
799 Genet"' Conuenlion Ill, s_upra note 48-, at art. 4(A)(l), (2), (3) and (6}; AddifforUlC Protocol I, 

supra note 292, at art. 43; See a1$0 the Targeted Kilting case, supra note 37, at para. 24. 
800 Additional Protaool l, supra note 292, at arL 51(1}. 
801 Id., supra note 292, at a·n. 57(2)(a)_(il). 
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be excessive in relation to the concrete and direct. military advantage 
anticipated (the "principle of proportionality"). "" Civilians shall not be 
the object ofan attack unless, and for such fune as they take a direct part 
in hostilities."" Regarding the use of forte, international humanitarian 
law treats combatants and civilians who take a direct part in hostilities 
differently than uninvolved civilians. 

Under international hwnanitarian law, the right to life is protected 
by proluoitions against indiscriminate attacks,"' targeting individual 
civilians and the civilian population unless they take a direct part in 
hostilities,"'causingsuperfluousorunnecessarysufferingtocombatants,"' 
and targeting those who are hors de combat.'" 

188. As a result, the.applicable rules regarding the use of force 
against persons on board the flotilla vessels ate thus primarily governed 
by their 11status". itrtder international humanitarian law. The salient Issue 
Is whether. the passengers were civilians taking a direct part in hostilities 
or itrtinvolved civili.ans .. The distinction Is significant for three. main 
reasons, First ~ s~b:!d a~ove, civilians who are not taking a direct part 
In hostllities canno.t be the object of an attack, whereas direct participants 
can be attacked for such fune they are taking part in hostilities. 

Second, under International humanitarian law, the flotilla vessels became 
valid military objectives once they resisted capture. However, the 
presence of civilians on board the vessels Is relevant to the assessment 
of the principle of "proportionality" discussed above. For instance, had 
the Mavi Marmara beei:t "attacked;" Is_r\lell forces would hav_e ltad to 
assess whether the expe.cted incidental loss of civilian life or injury to 
civilians would be excessive in relati6n to. the concrete and direct military 
advantage anticipated by the attack. .. Direct participants In hostilities, 
however, would not be considered civilians for the purpose of assessing 
the proportionality of the action. 

8~ id., supra, note 29:2, at art. 57(2) (ill). 
803 fd.1 $11pra note 292; at art 51(3). 
804 Id., st1pra note 292, at art. 51(4). 
805 Jd,, 1mpra ricite 292, at art. 51(~). 
806 Id., srqn:a note 292! at art. $5. 
807 Id., s11fm notE!'2921 at art. 41; Addifionnl prolocol I provides that a person is hors de combat 

If, 
''.(a) \le Is in th_e p~wer Of an adverse Party; 
(b) he clearly expresses an lnt~ntion to surren\ler; or 
(c)he has beeil rendere_d Uncorlsdous or is¢lherwise incapacitated by wounds or sickness, 
and therefore Js incapable of defending himself, 
pr6vlded that lh at1.y of these cases he a'bstains from any hostile act and does not attempt 
toesc1'pe", 

808 Id., supra note 292, at art. 57(2). 
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Third, there are particular nonns that apply when force is directed 
at civilians who are nottaking a direct part in hostilities. Generally, such 
force is goveme_d by the principles of "necessity" and "proportionality." 
The principle of "necessity" requires that force must be necessary in 
order to enforce the law or perform some other lawful act. The principle 
of "proportionality" has a different meaning regarding the. use of force 
agaix)st civilians than it luls, as explained al;)ove, when applied to the 
targeting of mjliiary objectives \lllder intemation.al humanitarian law. In 
the Targeted Killing case, the Israeli Supreme Court relied on the following 
excerpt from a European human rights case to explain the test for assessing 
when the use oflethal force by Israeli forces is disproportionate: 

(T]he use of lethal force would be. rendered disproportionate 
Uthe auth0r!ties failed, whether deliberately or through lack 
of proper care, to take steps which would have avoided the 
deprivation of life of the suspects without putting the lives of 
others at risk.w 

189. In a law enforcement context (which applies human rights norms), 
the use of lethal force by state agents is generally permitted in three 
circumstances: self-defense, defonse of others, and enforcement of the Jaw. 
There are basic principles that gulde the use of force to ensure that it is 
necessary and proportionate: (i) application of non-violent means before 
resorting. to the use of force and firearms; (ii) use of force and fireanns 
only if other means are ineffective or without promise of achieving the 
!!\tended result; (iii) use of warnings before using firearms unless it places 
personnel at risk or is !!\appropriate or pointless in the circumstances; 
(iv) l!ltentlonal lethal use of firearms only when strictly unavoidable to 
protect life; (y) providing law enforcement personnel with self-defense 
equipment) and {vi) use of less-lclhalincapacitating weapons tu.restrain 

809_ Tnrgdtd Ki/Ung case, supra note ~'J, at para. 40 (quoting McCimn v. United Kingdo_m, 
Application No. _18984/91~ E_ur_. com. H.R., Report o_f the· Commission (S(p. 27, 1995), at 
para, 235 [hereinafter The McCimn caseJ (it should be noted that the quote can be found 
in.the Eutopean .Conimfsston Qf Hmnan·rughts' Report; eVeri though IJ:te Jsl'<teli Suprollie 
Court indicates it was ffom-the European Court of Human Rights)), The Israeli Supreme 
Couttt~ferred to this s_tatement whlla~ng theuSe of force against direct parlidpants 
in hOstilitieS ln the Ttlrgeltd lUlllng case, SUpra riote 37, at para; 40; However, it should 
be l)Oted that this reasoning, which in«>t'pl)rates-hum_an _rights law into int(:matjona1 
humanitarian li,\w, d~ not refkct the more widely_ accepted lnterpretation of international 
humanitarian Jaw. lo _any event, in the case at hand, the Isra~li Supreme Court's reasoning 
woul,d not be 3pplici!ible Whcn_a~eSslng the use.of force· against direct pattidpants in 
hostilities_given that f$ not clear to what extf;nl the court believe·d lh~ obligation to capture 
rather fhan kill a clvijlan taking a direct part in hostili~es applie:d to the use of lethal force 
outside the narrow field of tirgeted killing, qr whether it was re~trictcd.to the unlq_uely 
high levels of control inherent in btlng an occupying power. These are .:agent reasons for 
restricting its applicaUon to the specific security scenarlb presented ln that case. 
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the use .of c!eadly fc:m:e'"' FUJ;ther, the use of firearms is permitted in self-
4efense or the defense of others against the imminent threat of death or 
serious injury; to prevent a par!jcularly serious crime involving grave 
threat to life; to arrest a person. presenting such a clanger and resisting 
their authority; or to prevent his or berescape."' · 

Any use of fqrce against civilians who are not taking a direct 
part in hostilities, is guided by the principles of "necessity" and use 
of "proporEionate force" associated with human rights-based law 
enforcement-norms. 

To qetermine the applicable norms. governing the use of force in the 
matter. before the Conunission, therefore, it is first necessary to assess the 
status of the persons ab.oa:rd the flotilla vessels pursuant to the principles 
of intemaEional humanitarian law. The status of the following three 
grol1ps will be·cortSidered separa~y: (i) the civilian passengers, (ii) the 
IHH-controlled acEivists who partook in the violence on board the Mavl 
Marmarn,'" and (iii} the captain and-crew of the Mavi Marmara. 

The Stqtits tJf tbe Ci'lilliqn Pa$sengm_ 

190. As discussed above, the particip;lnts in the Gaza flotilla were 
predominantly an international group of activists whose primary goal 
appeared to be to bring p11blidty to the humanitarian situation in Gaza by 
bi:eaching the blocka4e imposed by Israel. On board the Mavi .Marmara, 
a majority of the passengers appear not to have been controlled by, or 
actilig on behalf of, the IBH, whicll, as will be discussed below, had a 
significantly different goal in mind .. The disparity between these two 
grot)ps (the floEilla participants and the IflH activists) was evident both 
due to a physical separation between the two groups and by their actions. 
Perhaps the clearest example is the behavior of the two respective groups 
as soorcas the Israeli Navy commenced its capture of the vessel. At that 
point, an order was given over the loud speaker that the passengers should 
rettl!Tl to their seats below deck.'" One group, by far the largest knew to 

810 Set 111e United Natiom;, Btrsic Princfpfts on lhe Use of Force and Firwrm.s by LAw F.njorcement 
Offici«fs, Ad_QptCd by the Eighth United Nations Congress on the Preventlonof Crime and 
the-Treabnent of Offender$, Havana~ Cuba, 27 AugtiSt to 7 September 1990, llL'ailabfe at 
www2.ofu:hr.otg'/english/li\W /flrearms.hbn Jhereafter: U.N. 'Basic Pflncfples). 

$11 /d,,.at prov. 9. 
812 As n«essary, ~ese c~teg6riuitions will be applied to the other vessels in the tlotiUa in the 

an-alysis o( the use of forCe. 
813 Mr. Mµhamad Zidan and Sheikh H,amed Abu-Debs testified before the Commission 

that the tx:rson who gave the order was the Captain of the Mavi Marmara; Transcript 
ol.s~ssion no, 15 'Testimony of Mr. Muhamad Zidan" (Oct. 25, 2010),. at 7; Transcript of 
session no. 15 'Testimony of Sheikh Ha!fled Abu-Debs~ (Oct.-25, 2010), at 5. 
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go bel.ow decks and did not participate in the violent opposing of the 
boarding~ The other group, organized and con.trolled by the IHH, stayed 
on the upper decks and prepru:ed to confront the lsraeU forces. Further, 
from the testimonies of the thr<'e soldiers who were taken below deck by 
the IHH activists, it is evident that there was a clear distinction between 
the two groups. As opposed to the violent IHH l>ctivists who brought 
the soldiers below deck, wh<:te they beat them and prevented them from 
receiving adequate medical care,, some of the flotilla participants they 
encountered below deck protected them from abuse by theil-IH'directed 
captors.All of the soldiers who were taken below deckstated that without 
the intervention ofsome of the flotilla participants, their situation would 
have been much worse.81' 

191. Therefore, the Comrl\ission concludes that the use of force 
against Civilians who did not take a direct part in the violence on board 
the Mavi Marmara is governed by the prin9iples of necessity and the 
use of "proportionate force" associated with human rights-based law 
enforcement norms. We will discuss the implications of this conclusion 
below. 

Status of tlui nm Activists 

192, On board the Mavi Marmara, a distinct gro11p of activists seemed to 
have a different agenda than the other participants in the Gaza flotilla. The 
dominant ll)embers of this group consisted of a "hard rore'' of 40 activists 
in the Turkish organization IHH. It also included other parlidpants, 
largely of Turkish nationality, Iha.I decided, for one reason or another, to 
pattic!pate in the violence on board the Ma vi Marmara. In this respect, they 
operated in concert with the hard core of lHH activists. lt is the group of 
activists that resisted the IDF's attempts to capture the Mavi Marmara (as 
me)'ltioned above, the lHH affillated persons that partook in the violence 
are referred to i1\ the report as "IHH activists").115 The ac.tions of these 
activists after the ID.F began to attempt taki1\g over the Mavi Marmara 
(and for some; even before this) show that their status under international 
humanita.rian law was distinct from the other passengers on the ship. 

193. Civillans retain the protection that their status grants them under 
international humanitarian law, as long as they do not take a direct part in 
hostili.ties. When they do take such part in hostilities, they cau be targeted 

814 Testlmooyof theconunander ofShayetet 13, lnquiry Expansr'ott o/20.9.2010, supra note 451, 
at4, 

815 For more details( see supm-paras. 126-140 in this report. 
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in the same manner as if they were combatants. This principle is reflected 
in article 51(3) to the First Additional Protocol, which states: 

"CMl!ans shall enjoy th.e proteqtio(I afforded by this Section, 
imless and for such lime as they take a dlrect part in hostilities"·'" 

The term "take a direct part in hostilities" has been the subject 
of considerable analysis and dise\!Ssion; The ICRC Commentaries to 
Additional Protocol! define direct participation as follows: 

"acts of war which by their nature or purpose are likely to cause 
a:cttial harm to the personnel and eqiilprnenf of the enemy armed 
foi:ces. It is only during SU.ch participation that a civilian loses 
his immunity and becomos a legitimate target. Once he ceases to 
partic~jpate~ the civilian_ regains his dghtto the protection under 
this Section, l,e., against.the.effects of hostilities, and he may no 
longer be att~cked".811 

194, More recently, in a document entitled Interpretive Guidance 0>1 the 
Notion of Direct Participatio11 in Hostilities, the ICJ:{C has suggested three 
constitutive <!ll!me.nts that are cumulatively required for an act fo qualify as 
direct participation: (i) a threshold of harm; (ii) a causal link between that 
act and the harm likely to resUll;and (iii) that the act be in support of one 
party tu the conflict and to the dehiment of another."' However, it shoUld 
be noted that this document has generated considerable controversy, and 
the participants were not able tu reach a broad consensus regarding the 
definition of direct participation in hostilities. Therefore, the Interpretive 
Guidance on tlze Notion of Direct Participation in Hostilitie8 will be used 
cautiously in this report.'" 

Bio 
817 
616 

819 

Additipm1l Protpool 1, <s1.,1prp note 292 at art. _51(3). 
See ICRC Co111111eitlary Additional Protocol l1 s11pta note 28?, at art. 51(3), para, 1944. 
~ l_CRC, lnttfpretl'(J~ Giiidajice on the_ NoUon of Dir~d Pnrlicipatian in Hostilities Undu 
Jnftnialftm11lJir1manitarian Ui1u 46-(Nils Me~~r ed'., 2009), allllilable at www.i<:rc.org/eng/ 
ass11:t$/file$/ other /ic_rc_002_ 099_0,-pdf (h.e"reinaft"er _IC.R.C fnlt'tpreliur. Gt1idunceJ: 
"In order to qUaJify.a:s dire<:t partidpation in hosHlities, a specific act roust meet the 
following cumidaliVe <riteri!': 
1. the' act must be likely to adversely·affe<:t the military operatlons·or mili~ry capacity 
of a party to an armed conflict ot, altematlv.elyr t~ inflkt death, injury, or destruction on 
persons or.objetls protec-ted ag<ilrut dir&t attack (threshold-of harm}, and 
2. Ui._ere must be a.dire(~ <:~u_sa{ link bttween tl\e.act,and lhe·harm likely to result either 
from that act; o:r front a coordinated military operation of which that act ((lnstihJles an 
lnte_gral ']:'a_rt (direct a.usation), and 
3. the act 'muS_t be sp_e(lfkl\ll)' designed to _directly c;1use the required threshold of harm 
in St,1pport of a party Lo llie coriflitt and to the:·detrin1ent of anoj:her (belllgerent nexus)''. 
ln 2003, the ICRC_and the Asset Institute commenced a project to ptovide-interpretive 
guidance on the concept Qf .direct participation in hostiHlieS (i._~- lCRC 1/#erpretive 
Guida.11~~-supra no_te 818}_ -Various critiques of the hiterpuliw G11fdnnce can be found at 
Ute NVU J, INT'!.. L- a: P forum, mmifable at www,nyujilp.com/2010/06/05/new-issue~ 
forum·on-dJrect-part-idpatJon-in-hostilities; Further, Tltr. Air and Missile War/arr. Manual, 
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195. The Supreme Court has ruled on the issue of direct participation 
in hostilities in 2005 in the Targeted Killings q1Se, In this report, the 
Commission has chosen lo rely primarily on this mllng when assessing 
diredparticipation in hostilities: The court provided that, although Israel 
had. not enacted Additional Protocol 1, its provisions relating to direct 
participation nonetheless are applicable to Israel as part of customary 
lntema.tionallaw ."'The judgmentconcludesthat arti<:k51(3) of Additional 
Profocol l encompasses three main parts:firsl, the concept of "hostilities"; 
second, the requirement that civilians take a "direct" part in hostilities; and 
tltird, the provision by which civilians are not protected from attack "for 
such time" as they take direct part in hostilities.'" In relying on the ICRC 
Commentaries to the Additional Protocols, the court stated: 

Accqrdlng tq the .accepted defm.ition, a civilian is taking part in 
hostilities when using weapons in an armed rnnflkt, while gathering 
intelligence, or while preparing hinlSelf for the hostilities. Regarding 
taking part in hqstilities, there is no rnndition that thedvilian use his 
weapon, nor is there,a condition that he bear arms (9penly or rnncealep). 
II is possible to take part in hostilities without using weapons at all.'" 

The court further noted that since there is no conse11Sus on what 
"direct" participation ~tails, that standard !ll\!St be assessed on a "case by 
case" basis. However, it rnncluded that a civilian who generally supports 
the hostilities is not taking a direct part, while "a civilian bearing arms 
(openly or concealed) who is on his way io the place where he will 
use them against the army, al such place, qr on his way b.ack from it, 
is a civilian taking "an active part" in the hostilities .. .. n•>! Regarding the 
interval between !:hese two examples of indirect and direct partiqpation, 
the court emphasized that the decisive factor is whether the individual is 
performing the functions.of a combatant.'" Finally, with regards to "for 
suCh time", the rnurl was qf the view that there was a lack of darity as to 

$UpnJ ootc 115, at 121, para. 5, nofl!ti that the ('riteria established in the DPH Study were 
not unahlmously accepted by the participants in that Study. The lack of intC!mational 
(oo.sen,ims-<>n UUs dqcurnwt is refl~ted in th~ May 2010 Human Ri3hts_CQ1.U1cil R.tpprt Of 
T!1e Special _~pporteur01i Extraj11dici'al, S11nunary Ot-Arbitmry fxecutio11s, Study On Tarseted 
Killing5, A/H({C/14/'lA/ Add.6, at 20, para. 62, whkh states! "Jn 2009, the ICJtC Issued its 
Triti!rpretive Guida1tce on DPH, wi1ic11prtwtdtsa11sefaf sl11rti11g point for di11cussion {emphasis 
a~dedJ.~' 

820 f:>ee Targeted Kif ling case, supm note37, ut para. 30. 
821 Id., al pi11:a. 32. 
822 !d.,_at para. 3_3. 
823 (d., at para. 34-. 
-824 Jd. at para. 35; See also Kenneth Watkin, COntrolting t/1e Ust of Force: A Rolt for Ht1man 

Riglils Norms in Contemporary Armed C<mjlfct, 98 AM. J. INT'L. 17 (2004). 
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the scope of the. provision "for sud\ tirrte" in international law,"' although 
it provided that lf "such time" has passed, the protection granted to a 
civilian retums.826 

In determining whether any of the persons on board 1:!1e Mavi 
Marmara should be considered direct participanls in hostilities, the 
Commission Is thus mindful 1:!1at the existing criteria lack a .degree of 
precision and are cqntroversiat As.the Israeli Supreme Court has stated, 
in the case of doubt, the status of anindividualshould be that of a civilian.'" 

196. As previously stateO, from the materials before the Commission, 
including oral testirµ9nies, do.cumentary and m 0gnetk media, it appears 
that the violence that the Turaeli forces encountered when seeking to 
capture the MaviMormara was organized and planned. This is evident by 
the actions of thelHH activism as detaiieO above, including the following 
facts: a core group of some 40 IHH activists boa.rded the. Mam· Ma111111ra 
in Istanbul without going through a security check; some of the members 
of this group identified themselves during the journey with specific signs 
on th<Pr clothing, such as "Security Guard"; a large number of bullet 
proof ceramic vests, gas masks, telescopic sighhl, and ni.ght·vis!on aids 
were found on boaro the Mavi Marmara;'" the .IHH activists established 
a communicatioi;isstructure through the use of handheld radios (which 
were also given to the crew but with.• different frequency)~" a few hours 
before the boarding .and after the captain on the Mavi Marmara had been 
warned by the !DP, an order went out to all passengers to return to their 
seats below deck - some passengers, however, relllained on the upper 
decks; and some of those passengers used disk saws to cut the ship's 
me.ta! railings and prepare iron bars; IHH activists were divided into 
groups and stationed for duty at specific posts around the ship.'"" Other 
pas5engers, who were primarily of Turkish natiohallty, joined this core 
group in r.Slstirtg the Israeli attempts to board the ship. It is evident that 
the IHH organized and planned for a violent confrontation with the Israeli 
military forces. 

From the IDF's infra red (a visual recording device) it seems that 
when the takeover started, some approximately 100 lHH activists were 

SlS T11rgeted-K!lliitg affair1 SUpra note 37# at pa.ra. 40. 
826 Id., at para. 38. 
827 Td.1 at pjl.ra. 40. 
828 Te:>tl.mony of oonunander of the Takeover Force, 111quiry Expa11sio1t of 20.9.2010, supra note 

45J,at4. 
829 Cllfef of Staff$ Open Door Te.st/111011.v o/11.8.2010, supra nole 70, at 29. 
830 See the video lile ''VIDEO_J00530_003.~sf', in folder Sea, Nnvy D,ara Disc, supra note 5; See 

al So the Video file "VTS_o1_2.mov", In folder Air, Id. 
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Jo~aied on the upper decks of the ship .. The coordinated manner in which 
the IHH activists met thelsraeli soldiers individually fast-roping to the 
deck (for some of them, even before they reached the deck), .Indicates a 
dear intent t<J violently oppose a cap!Ute of the ship. IDF soldiers on the 
lvl()rena speedboats were attacked wit!:> iron bars, chairs, bolts, and other 
objects as they approached Ute Mavi Marmara. Further, three soldiers 
were thrown off the roof to a lower deck where they were stripped of 
their equirment, sustained severe injuries and were dragged to a location 
below deck. Several other soldiers testified that attempts were made to 
throw theln over to the lower decks as well.'" This concerted effort on 
the roof to throw soldiers to other IHH activists that were wailing on the 
deck below; takeri. together with the factthat all three captured soldiers 
were. taken tQ !he same location below decks, points to the existence of 
a plan to capture ISraeli soldiers and possibly hold them as hostages (as 
happened in a different event that the lfIH was. involved in about six 
months prior to this event, when seven Egyptian soldiers were kidnapped 
by the organization's activists). 

197. The level of violence on board the Mavi Mannara cannot be 
categorized as civil disobedience. There was nothing passive regarding 
the resistance carried out by the lH'.H activists.'" l\l'either were they part 
of a "criminal gang" or_ a.group of rloters.833 The viole11ce- was specifically 
dire.cted at the IDF soldiers and was clearly intended to harm them. The 
manner in.which a number of the IHH activists pressed home their attacks 
even after .the Israeli forces started to use lethal force in self-defense 
reflects a strong commitment. to engage in conflict. Some of !hose activists 
also expressed their wiSh to be "Sim lie.eds.'"" Setting aside the ques.tion 
of whether some of their proclamations may have been demonstrative 
in nattJre, it was evident froln the testimony of a number of soldiers that 
the lliH activists they encountered were using violence with the specific 
intentto prevent the Israeli forces from boarding the Mavi Marmara. The 
ISraeli forces were expecting a low level of resistance from the passengers 
on board the flotilla vessels, but what they experienced on the Mavi 

831 Testimo_ny of Soldier OCJ, 11,1 IDFCcn,1pltUon ResjJoJt5£ o/7.11.2010,supra nole486;iestimony 
of soldier no. -22,. Id: and Tl'.!stimony of sol die( no. 24, Id. 

632 Pauive res_lstance is defin~d in the Oxford Onfln~ Oi<:tion_ary as ''non·Vio1~nt opposition 
IQ authority, especially a refusal to- cooperate. with- tcg;al requirements1', available at 
oxforddiction~rles.com_/vi~/entry/m_en....gb0608850#m_en...gb06088SO. 

833- See rCRC l11terpretlve GUidance, s1tprn note 818~ at 24 (which suggests "p]astly, it 5hould 
be pointed out that organized armed violence-~i.llng to qualify as an lti!emational or 
non-ifitemational ~tnied conflict remains_ an_ issue of law enforcement, whether lhe 
perpefiafocs are vleWed as rloters, terrorists, pirates, gangsters, hm.itage-takets or other 
organized criminals"). 

834 See the doctor's testimony, Inquiry Exansion of 20.9.2010, supra note 451, at 2. 
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Mnrmarn, were levels of violence that they associated with "combat." The 
weapons used by the. JHH activists offered lethal force and resulted in 
significant injuries to Israeli soldiers. If seems that if it were not for the 
protective equipment worn by Israeli military personnel and their use of 
both non-lethal and lethal force in self-defense, the injuries sust;dned by 
both soldiers arid IHH activists would have been even worse and more 
widespread. 

198. It should also be noted that breaching the bloc)<ade could have 
adversely affected the IDF's military operations in that establlshlng that 
the blockade was not ef!ectiye, thus jeopardizing the security and political 
goals for which !he blockade was. established. Consequently, breaching 
the blockade, in and of itself, constitutes a potential harm to Israel's 
military effort. Further, the IHH activists attempted to carry out their plan 
by using force against the soldiers of one of the parties to the co!lflict. The 
IHH activists acted directly to cause, or attempt to cause, this harm to one 
side to the arme.d conflict, i.e. lsra.el .. However, it should be noted that the 
other flotilla participants, who did not actively participate in the violertce 
on board the Mavi Marmara, are not considered to have taken a direct part 
in hostilities based on their participation in the attempted breach of the 
blockade alone. 

In addition, the materials before the Commission show that there 
was also a nexus between the actions of the IHH activists and the conflict, 
While the flotilla was self-described as a "humauitarian mission," that title 
masked an, in part, different objective. This is evident from the fact that 
the flotilla organizers did not attempt to reach an agreement with Israel 
regarding the delivery of hurnauitarian supplies. Those controlling the 
flotilla specifically refused the Israeli offer to divert the vessels to Ashdod 
and have their supplies forwarded over land to Gaza; On _the other 
hand, however, the arrival of the flotilla was planned and coordinated in 
advance with the Hamas. As stated above, from the evidence before the 
Commission, it appears that the IHH aided the Ministry ofTransportation 
and the Ministry of Public Works of the Hamas government in preparing 
the fishing port in the Gaza Strip to receive the flotilla vessels.'" Further, 
while referred to as a humauitarian mission, the flotilla was carrying 
cement, a commodity that Israel has identified as being used by the 
Hamas for military purposes and that the transfer of which to the Gaza 
Strip was restricted by Israel. 

199. In Sum, the IHH activists' resistance to the boarding of the Mavi 
Marmara was planned and extremely violent. Further, it was directly 

835 HCC report (Apr. 7, 2010),supra note83. 
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connected to the ongoing international armed conflict between Israel 
and the Hamas. The obstruction of the Israeli attempts to enforce the 
blockade and the levels of violence. offered by the l1iH activists were 
not representative of acts associated with civil disobedience or isolated 
or sporadic .acts of violence. Under the circumstances, these acts can 
reasonably be viewed as attempts to privilege the Hamas (acting to the 
detriment of Israel in its armed confliCt with the Hamas) by establishing 
that the blockade was not effei:tive. 

200. It shOuld be noted that suggestions that the IHH activists were 
acting in legitimate self-defense are not supported by the evidence, First, 
the blockade was established in accordance with the rules governing 
blockades and there was no right of self-defense to be exercised by the 
IHH activists simply because the Israeli military was attempting to 
enforce the blockade. Second, in seeking to capture and board the ship, 
the Israeli forces had to respond to the violence offered first by the IHH. 
This is evident from the magnetic media that shows the extreme levels of 
vi6lence used against the ID F's soldiers. Such attacks also occurred before 
the soldiers could reach the roof of the Mavi Marmara; as they fast-roped 
down to the ship, when they were most vulnerable because they had not 
yet had an opportunity to defend themselves or draw their weapons. 

201. Based on the criteria established in the Targeted Killings case, the 
Commission concludes that the IHHactivists who participated in violence 
on the Mnvf Marmara were direi:t participants in hostilities. In addition, 
it should be noted that the Commission would have reached the same 
conclusion by applying the standards ::;el oµt in the ICRC [)PH Interpretive 
Guidance on the Notion of Pirecl Participation in Hostilities. 

For the purposes of this report,. the Commission has assessed 
that participation in }\ostilities occurred at least from the time that the 
passengers were directed to take their positions as the Israeli naval 
vessels arrived, until the ship was taken under Israeli control. While it is 
also. evident that a number of IHH activists took part .in hostilities from 
a planning and logistical perspective well before the arrival of the Israeli 
armed forces, for the purposes of this analysis, it is only necessary to find 
that they were directly participating from the time the IDF's takeover of 
the ship began. 

The finding that the IHH activists were taking a direct part in 
hostilities is important, because it places their actions in the proper legal 
context. However, due to the Israeli government's lack of infohhation 
with regards to the IHH organization and the intentions of the flotilla 
organizers, the IDF was not aware of that group's plan until the first 
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Solider fast-roped d.own towards the roof. During the planning of Ute 
Israeli military operatton,the possibility that the passengers aboard Ute 
vessels might be direct partitipants in hostilities was not expected and 
was not taken jnto account_, 1he Rules of Engagement (ROE), which 
outlined the authorized levels· of force to be used by the Israeli soldiers, 
reflected Utat approach. This will be discussed in detail below. 

Status gfthe Captain and Crew 

202. Finally, the status of the captain and crew will be examined. 
Merchant crews have enjoyed a somewhat unique status under 
international humanitarian law. However, depending upon their actions, 
the captain and crew of a neutral merchant vessel can be considered to 
have taken a direct part in hostilities. 

203. The captain of the Mavi. Marmara had a special responsibility to 
avoid an attempted breach of the blockade. This responsibility is reflected 
in the Constant reference to the "Master" of summoned merchant vessels 
in foundational f~ts. on the law of naval warfare."' The Master of a 
neutral vessel has a responsibili!y for the ship and all persons aboard, 
whith includes complying with all belligerent orders; ordering that the 
ship's crew comply with those orders; and doing everything feasible to 
ensure that neither the crew nor the passengers interfere with or hamper 
the exercise ofbelligerent rights. 

In this iniltance; the captain's actions demonstrated a clear intent to 
breach the blockade, eiUter under his own volition or under the direction 
of the IHH."" Further, the captain's control of and position on the bridge 
during Ute boarding, and Ute clear refusal to stop the vessel despite 
repeated warnings, demonstrate that he was not.a passive participant in 
the events on May M, 2010. In his inte~rogation in Israel, the captain of the 
Mavi Marmara stated that he changed the course of the ship when directed 
by Israeli forces."' However, from the eviden<:e before the Commission, 
including footage from Ute IDF's infra red and the analysis of the course 
based on Utat footage, .it is evident Uta! the captain did not change the 

836 See COLOMbOS, THI:: INTER~ATl~NAL LAW OP" 1'HE SEA,SUpm note 94, at 765 et seq. par<is. 
819·8$3; See also OPPENHEIM, Supra noteB61_at 651 et seq, 

837 Jt has been s_uggeste4 that the captain_ ac;teil t9 stop tHH personnel -from preparing 
weapons by cutting the railings of the Maui Mnrmnm; Sµi:h step&,_ asswning they did 
taJ:_e place, were obvi.ously i_neffc<:ijve slnce they did not stop _the nm personnel lrom 
amassing !;hose weapons and making preparations for the assauJton the lST&eli personnel. 
Th_e-captain thl1$ remained r<:$potisi_bll:! fot what o<:curced on the vessel. 

838 see atlide: 03/06/l0/825/50CJ2 Military lnt1!1/igtnce Reports, s11prt1 note 491. 
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course of the shlp during !he entire event.'" The soldiers who took over 
the brid!le stated that the captain was the one holding the steering wheel."' 
Furthermore, italso appears that afti?r the IDF soldiers had taken over the 
Mavi Milrmara, the captain gave an order to his crew to wreck the engine 
of the ship,$41 'f'he Israeli armedforces had to bring technical personnel 
(rom shore to fix the engine to get the Mavi Mllrmllra underway."' 

The captain's acts point to. an integrated role in the IHH efforts to 
oppose tl;te Israeli boarding of the vessel. As a resµlt, the Commission 
fihds that the captain of the Mavi Marinara was an active participant in the 
attempts to obstruct the Israeli boarding operations and, therefore, he was 
a direct participant in hOstiliti.es. Regarding the crew, the Commission 
does not have sufficient evidence to est.ablish whelher lhey were active 
participants, and they will thus be considered to have had a status as 
civilians who did not take part in the hostilities. 

The Rules of Engagement and the Use of Force 

20~. Having reviewed the status of the flotilla participants, the analysis 
will now tum to the direction given to the IDF combat personnel regarding 
lhe use of force. These directions are caliedRules of Bngagement(hereafter: 
the ROE)."' The ROE is a document tl:iatin practical terms communicates 
to the soldiers the applicable legal framework for the use of force during 
an operation. As reflected in the .European Court of Human Rights case 
McCann v. The United Kingdom, a determination of the legality of the use of 
force during an operation requires an assessme11t of whether the Rules of 
Engagement (ROE) were consistent with the law."' A key issue, therefore, 
is 'wh~ther the ROE issued to the soldiers before the Winds of Heaven 7' 
operation properly reflected the law lhat governs the use of force."' 

839 Testimony o( the aerial look-out, Inquiry Exp1111~1Q11 c/20.9.2010, supra note 451. 
840 It should be noted that a~oording: to the soldiers' tesUmoniesA the Captain dld not resist 

when the ISra'eU force took over the bridge, see- the testimony of soldierno.18, 1;<>mmander 
of the: _force @king over the bridge, ld.1_ at 1. 

841 Tl;'!Stimony of soldier no.-9; ld.,_at 21 testified that when taking o_ver the bridge; the soldierS 
told the <;:apt~in to hall thtr&hlp, he started to speak in TUrkJsh to his crew. Soldle~ no. 9 
stated U.at_he later found out that what the Captain said to his ci'ew was an order tQwteck 
the engine of the ship. 

842 Id. 
843 It should_ bl! no~ that the phrase "nilcs of conduct for _the forces" might _be more 

appropriate under the drc~tances, However, due to the tact that in our c::ase it i:!I mainly 
the provisions_ con_cerning_ the use of for_ce that are relevant, eSp~lally the use weapo11s, 
this report \lS6 the l')arrow_er but more familiar expression "rules of engagement." 

84-4 McC11nn n11d ot/le:rs u. United Ki11gdom, App. No. 18984-/91, Eur. Ct. H.R:, Judgment (1995), 
at 156 {h1;1reanet: the Mt:Catm CllSCf. 

845 Sec The: ROE Handbook, suprn note 786, Part One: Introduction, 1 at para. 3- ("ROE are 
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205. During a !aw enforcement operation, the ROE would normally 
reflect the authority to use force in self-defense, defense of others, and for 
mission accomplishment. lf the missi.on is condu.cted during an arrne<l 
conflk(, Where !he legal authority to use force is broad.er, the ROE could 
reflect rules <lirectly based on inte.mationalhumartitariatt law. However, 
even during arme<l corillict, the authority to use. force may still be more 
narrowly prescribed in the ROE than what the lawpennits, either because 
of operational considerations or <lue to a nee<l to meet partic\llar policy 
goals. Therefore; the .substance of a11y ROE is dependent upon both 
the nature of the mission an<l the anticipate<l levels of force required to 
complete that mission. 

206. The ROE issued for the Winds of Heaven 7' operation on May 
31, 2010, were entitled '.'the Rules of Conduct." They were set out in 
Annex G (the legal annex) to the naval command issued by the Israeli 
Navyoperation department (this was also annexed to the land operation 
command). Under the provision named "General" in the R.ules of 
Cond\1d, it was provided that when dealing with civilian foreigners who 
are not, "according to existing information", combatants, force should 
not be exercised towards those civilians beyond the mini.mum amount 
necessary for completion of the mission, i.e., to halt the vessels."' The 
use of force was permitted only as a last resort and only if persuasion 
was unsuccessful. Further, the authority tq use force was limited to two 
distinct circumstances: to pl:J!vent the risk of harm to a person, and to deal 
with an attempt to thwart the bringing of a vessel to an Israeli port.847 li 
force had to be used, it had to be exercised gradually and in proportion 
to the resistance met, and only after examining alternatives to prevent 
deterioration of the situation. 

Use of less-let/in! weapons. The use of less-lethal weapons was 
permitted only when necessary to neutralize an immediate threat to the 
safety or life of persons from a specific person. Further, if the person 
posing the threat could be neutralized without using a less-lethal weapon, 

issu~d by «>J11.petent authoriUes ~nd, assist in the delineation of the circumstances and 
limitations within which military forces may be employed to adlleve their- objectives. 
ROE appear in a varil~ty_of forms in national militaty doctrlnesJ inch.idingexerotc orders, 
deplo)'meitt orders, operational pl~ns. or standing d.irectives. Whalever l_he.lr form, they 
ptovide aulhorlsatiort ·for and/or limits on, among 9tnet thirigs, the- use of forte, the 
positlonilig and poiturfug of fo{OOS, and-the employment-of certain sp_eclfk capabilities. 
ln some nations, ROE have the status: of guidante to military forceSj in oth-er nations, ROE 
are lawful Commands"). 

846 Nnva/'OperJJtional Order 3, supra not& 445, QM(!}( G, at 59-61. 
847 Td. 
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the spldlers were instructed to do so."' The RO.E also specified that in 
case force was required, only less-lethal weapons specifically approved 
for the mission would be used. In this context, it should be noted that the 
ROil refur to the operation and safety lnstrµction found in Annex D to the 
naval command, which further r~tticted the w;e of less-lethal weapons 
to certain ranges and limited which parts of the )Jody could be targeted. 
For example, shooting at .the head or back was prohilJited due to the risk 
of lethal hai:ni. 

Use of lethal weapons. '!he ROEprovlded that generally, the use oflive 
fuels not permitted. The only case in whichlethal weapons was permitted 
was Jn self defense - tq remove a real and imminent danger to life, when 
the danger cannot be reritoved by less harritful means."' Prior to using 
lethal weapons, the soldiers had to issue ver]>al warnings or attempt to 
subdue the person posing the danger by l.ess harmful means, If that was 
not possible, the next steps were to !hreateri the use of weapons; shoot 
warning sho~ in the air; and fire towards the legs (at the knees or lower). 
However, the soldiers could use lethal force without following these 
steps if ncc~ary to. remove an immediate threat. The ROE also stated 
!hat medical assistance has to b.e provided to any person wounded by the 
use ()fforce during the operation. Once the danger was removed, there 
must be iqiattempt to apprehend fhe person posing a risk without fhe use 
of firearms. Further, the Infliction of harm to uninvolved persons must 
be a.voided and someoue Who has surrendered or stopped constituting a 
threat mt1Stnot be fired upon. 

207. WW.le fhe. oper•liori was being conducted In the context of an 
armed conflict, th!! ROE provided an authority to use force that reflected 
the uature of a law enforcement operation, in which the authority to use 
force ls more llinited. In fact, the ROE that were issued for fhe operation 
appear to be even more llinited than what. can s.ometimes be found in 
an operation,al or Jaw enfotcei:neI\t context, because- they did nqt ov:ertly 
contemplate the use of either lethal or less-Iethalforce to complete the 
mission Or, as in a Jaw enforcement context, to enfotce the law. While the 
ROE did authorize the use of force to prevent the thwarting of bringing 
the ve$Sels into an Israeli port, they also llinited the \lSe of lethal and Jess· 
lethal weapons to self-defense and defense of others. Consequently, it 
appears th.at the use of such weapons was not authorized directly for the 
purposes of mission accomplishn:\ent, bµt only within the scope of self­
defense. Therefore, notwithstanding the ex post facto categorization of the 

848 Id. 
849 /4.; Annex D to the Nnvat Opr:rattonal Order 3, supra note 445. 
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IlfH activists as civilians taking a direct part in hostilities, the authority 
to use farce provid~d to the s(/ldiers by the naval corrunand was more 
resttictive than the law reqµired. Si,nce it is the ROE that set out the 
aµthority to use force, the analysis of how those directions were applied 
provides one framework under which the actions of the soldiers can be 
asSeSsed. 

208. 1'\te question to be addressed next is whether the self-defense-based 
ROE issued to the Israeli forces were consistent with the doctrine followed 
by other military forces. The lntemational Instltµte of Hµmanitarian 
Law Rule ofEngagement Handbook provides a helpful overview· Of h6w 
the law regarding the use of force in self-defense, defense of others, and 
mission accompllShment ls generally interpreted and c.omnumlcated to 
military personnel. As the Handbook acknowledges, bqth intemational 
and domestic law recognize the:right of 8<11f-defens.ec wt right can also 
include the authority to defend other pers0ns. Self.defense ls avililable 
in all situations, including during armed conflict."' From a doctrinal 
perspective, that right is often divided· into individual"', unit"' and 
national self"defense."' Generally, Rules of llngagement drafted for 
military forces authorize the 11Se 0£ force to defend oneself against an 
attacl\ or imminent attack. The 11Se of force iA self-defense requires the use 
of necessary and proportion>jl meilI\S and actions. Further, a sequential 
escalation of force with arr "aim to l!Se the least harmful option available 
in those circumstances" is genexally required in order for the use of force 
to be lawt\tl."' However, whether such an escalation of force ls possible 
is dependent upon the prevailing circtlmstances at the point that force is 
used. 

209. Another issue is the authority to 11Se force outside the scope of 
self-defense or defense of others, that iS; for mission accompllshment. 
Such authority clearly exists m\der international humanitarian law. 

850 See 111t ROE H1111dboak, supra note 786, at 3~ para. 8. 
~51 Id., at 83, AMex D (where indivi_dual self~di;!fcnse Is defined as "the right of an individual 

to defend himself or herself (iind in some cases other individuals) ftornhosliftact or ho stilt 
i11tent." This is not to be::confused wjth the right of iri.dlviduel st<ltes_ to ai:t in tielr·defurn:e 
as is reflected in art. _51 of the UN Otarter). 

852 Id., at 8,, Atmex D (unit self-df!fell_Ce the right of unit commanders to defend their Wlit, 
other units of their natl.on, and other specified units against hostile act or hostile intent.). 
However, See ~lso OINSTS:IN, w~"·- AU-''JRES~HON,_ANO Se:l.F·Peo'..FE;NGE, supra note 344 
(whete:he note~ lhat the United States-Rule of Engagement approach of disting:ulshing 
between defend~g i!lements or petsoimel of a defined unit ('vnit self..Uef~rtse') from 
'naponal st!lf defense' can be mi~sleading: in law of armed conruct terms since all self~ 
defense international law in Iha!: context is Tiational self.-defen.se). 

853 Se_e The RQE Ha_ndb(}Qk, s_upm note 786, at 3, para. 8.a. 
654 Id., at24; Appendix 5 lo Annex A, p_ara. 5.1. 
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However, the use of force beyond self-defense is not unique to armed 
conflict situations. As has been noted: 

llroadlyspeaking,dµr!ngpeacetime, the use of force is pennitted 
in self~defense, in the·~xercise: of law enforcement authOrity, and 
to accomplish 0perations ot missions specifically authorised by 
a higher national autho\ity or other governing body, such as the 
U.N. Security Council.."' 

Hence,. there ls a possibility to authorize the use of furce beyond 
self'defel\Se in the enforcement of the law, although such use is normally 
narrowly prescribed. "' 

210. The ROE Handbook recogruzes that national approaches to 
self-defense often differ on the definition and content of the right of 
self.defense, and individuals "exercise this right in accordance with 
their respective nationallaw.""' This connection between national and 
international law is reflected in a decision from the International Tribunal 
for the Foi;mer Yugoslavia, Prosecutor v. Dario Kordic, whiCh held that the 
principle of self-defense enshrined in the Rome Statute of the International 
Criminal Court reflects provisions found in most national criminal codes 
and could be regarded as a rnle ol customary international law."' The 
same principles are prevalent in Israeli domestic law governing the use of 
force in self.-defense.859 

855 ,d., at 4, p<;t:r~ 13.·13b. (Which states in respect of law eoforcement and UN sanctioned 
opetalions_ "fw]here the use of forte Is not justified by se/fdeftnce, but_ is nonetheless 
ne~ss_ary for aC(<nnplidunent of ail ass_igned-i'rii.litaty missio~ reasonable forte may be 
exefc~..e'd within the __ con8tta.lnt$ of the relevant national and internation_al law"}; For a 
diocuss(Qn of-the ;[1.Uth9dty- to_use_ force _~.urlng MtO, see also lfeintsd~el von Heinegg, 
Mnritiinf, l11lerCcpfio11, supr4.note 778, at 392·393, para 20.12. 

856 N¢lt lhateven dtIJing la.w enfo:r«in\enfo}'eratiohs, the use Qf force is not strictly limited to 
self.defense orlli.e def~ of othnrs. A5 lhe U.N1 Sfis~c Principles, su;mr note 810,.. at,2, t>ara. 
9 states, firearms can be ~d "to arrest a persim preSenting such a danger [threat to life] 
and r~tipg- their a:o_thOi'ity, or to prevent hi~ Qt her eseaJ'f;!, <md only whe_n less extreme 
means are insl((~dent to_ achieve tliese objectives." See also the European Convention on 
Hu.rrutn. Rights, at art. 2(2): 
Oeprivatlon ofUfes11aJ! _not be regard~-as inflicted in col)travention of l;his article whcri it 
r¢:1Ults hotn the_ US('. of force Which is no more than absolutely necessary: 
{a) in defense of any-per.;on from lUllawfµI violence; 
(b) In order IJJt:ffecl n lawful arrestor to prtvtntes"1pe: oj11prr5on lawfully detained; · 
(c) in acU011 fawfulty t11kt11 for tlle pul]1(!$t of quefllng.~Tiot_or lnsuruclion.{emphasls added), 
Hpwever, the depriVati~n of Hfe in such clrculrt$tances Is Tilinowly. prescribcd. For 
e_xampte, _see The MtCann (ase, aupra n_ote: 809; Nachova. nnd Othe!s v. -Bttl$aria, App. No. 
43577 /98~ Ell(. C~. H.~·., JudgM_erit (2005); MnkaratzlsV. Gret~, App. No. 50385/99, Eur. Ct. 
H.Jt, Judgment (2004}; and Kako11Ui v. Tur~J!. A_pp. No. 38595/9'/; Judgment: (iOOS/2006). 

857 See T11e ROE Ha11~/1Qok,_ $Upi'a riole 786, at--3, para, 8. 
858 See Prosecutor v._Oario Kordic,supmnoh:: 793, at para. 451. 
859 See e.g., C.A. 4191/QS eusauz v. _tht Statt rJj Uratl (Ul'lpubllshed, Oct. 25, 2006). at para. 

13; C.A. 4546/03 Tn&!t.SStI v. lht Sfalt of lsrntl (Mpubllshed, Jun. 23; 2004), at p_ara. 4; C.A. 
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211. The Commission is satisfied that the ROE provided for the 
operation were consistent with the practice followed by other .nations 
regatding the provision Qf ROE for international operations. Further, it can 
be. concluded that the ROE for the .military operation contain principles 
similar t.o. the human rights-based nonns applicable in a law enforcement 
.co11text.'"" Those principles are also reliected in many regional and 
domestic court cases dealing with the question of self-defense and the use 
of force by St<>te authorities."' 

General Assessruent Regarding the Use of Force during 
lhe Enforcement ofthe Blockade 

212. When assessing the use of force by Israeli soldiers during the 
enforcement of the blockade against the Ga<a Strip, there are a nurnber of 
factual and legal factors which are particularly relevanf."' These factors 
include the resistance that the soldiers faced and the nature of their 
response to that resistance, as well as the type of weapons used. This 
analysis will now turn to the nature of the overall sif:L!ation on b9ard the 
M•vi Marmara. However, it should be noted, that the general principles 
guiding the analysm are applicable to the use of force on the other flotilla 
vessels. 

The nature of the threat posed to the IDF 

The overall situation 

213. The soldiers' testimonies demonstrate the fad that the situation 
they anticipated (one of relatively minor civil disobedience)'" was not 

6147 /('{1 Abisidris v. tf:re St11/e of l$rnd (still unpublished, Jul. 2, 2000), at_ para. 33; C.A. 
410/71 Jlarovik V. lite State of ls mt I, SCJ 26{1} 6,24, 628-629 (1972); c.A. 8$54/00 Zmbihw v. 
t_~e State of 1$._rael, SCI 57(4) 913, 917~918, at par~. 5 (2001); C.A. 20/04 Klie11er t>. /lie Slate cf 
lsr"'1, SC) 58(6) so, 90-91 (2004). 

8~0 These include th~ u~e-of .only necessary and proportionate force; e~ation of the use of 
/o_rce; use of force including less-lethal and lethal weaportS as_ a last resort; and the use of 
lethal force in .sett.defense ·or the defei:ise Of Q!he,q; agahtst imminent threat of death or 
seti,QUS inj1.1fy, 

861 See •. e.g., '/1re McCn11n case, supra note 809~ Makilmlzfs l'· Qrutt,s1-tprll note 85(,l; Huofttwam:n 
11. Fir,Jfri11d, APP· No. 5{389/00, Eur. Ct. H.R, Judgnient (2007}; Giulia;_,~ and Gagglo v. Ilnly, 
App. N.o. -23458/02, ~ur. Ct. H.R., Ju<lgm_ent (20Q9); and 8ubblns v. Tiu: Unittd Kingdom, 
App. No. 50196/!19, Em. Ct. H.R., Judgwent (2005). 

862 A9 is noted in The McOu1n case,-supra note 809, at 160, para.. 148 (where it is noted limiting 
the·u.se of fora: to situations.of abSoJute nec;esslty indkates that"" stric.ter llJ'ld more 
cOmpeUirig te'st o'f nec~ily must be emplOfed fthan} thal normally applicable when 
de!erminirtg whether St;:ifu a~tion is 'necemtj iii a democratic 5ocfc:ty/"). 

863 &!e, for eXample, parn. 132 above. It Should be noted that- in the 3trategic discussions 
prior to the operaHon, the possibility that firearms might be present Wall mentioned, 
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the one they encountered - more than one soldier described th.e scene 
of violent assaults as being one of "combat." Above we d.escribed the 
chronicle of the takeover of the Muvi Mamtara and the other ships. For 
the purposes of the analysis here, a few details descril>ed above should 
be reinforced. 

The IDF soldiers • particularly those who fast-roped down to the 
roof of the Mavi Marmara from. the first helicopter • encountered severe 
violence. While lnitiOlly it was esHmated that there were 10 to 15 lHH 
activists on the roof, their nun:ib.ers doubled as the first soldiers landed 
fuere. A d'.etermJned and organized opposition, which acted Jn concert, 
confronted the soldiers. Groups of three fo five IHH participants met each 
soldier as they fast roped to the roof."' There was an organized effort to 
throw the soldiers of the.first helic<;>pter (carrying 15 soldiers) over the 
side of the roof or down through hatcll c;>penings to the IHH activists 
waiting below. the lHH activisls captty:ed three of the first four soldiers 
who landed. on. the roof (soldiers no. 1, no. 3 and no. 4) and there were 
still attempts by IHH activists to seize soldiers as late as when soldier no. 
13 landed on the roof."' Even when the ID!' soldiers established a secure 
area in one part of the roof, the IHB activistll remained grouped togefuer 
towa)'d_s the bow and stem ends. of fuat deck. Groups of illH activists 
rei>eatedly iliI<'atened Ute soldiers through "the deck hatches from Ute 
next lower deck (for this report, called the "bridge dock"). Such attacks 
continued from. internal stairways and pa88ageways lnsid.e the ship once 
the bridge dock was entered by the soldiers for the purposes of gaining 
acce88 to the bridge and ultimately control of the ship. 

214. All the IDF soldiers who. descended to the Mavi Marmara from 
the first helicopter describe the followingfacts, which must be taken into 
account Jn Ute examination of the incidents of the use of force .in· whlth 
they took part. First, IDF soldiers were at a numerical disadvantage Jn 
relation to the IHH actjvisls whp were equipped with a variety of assault 
weapons. Second, the !DP soldiers expected a low level of violence and 
thus prepared, as a main scenario, for-an unarmed confrontation with the 
ship's passengers. The soldiers were equipped with less-lefual weapons 
(e.g. palntball guns, beanbags) as their primary weapons and their live 
fireatins (pistols or rifles) were used as secondary weapons. Third, the 

non.ethelessi from the sol_dlel'S tesHmonles itJs _evidertt that this did not' transpire down 
the thain of command to the individual soldiers. For a delailed analysis, see para. 243·245 
~etow. 

$64 Testimony of the eommander ofShayetet 13, Inquiry Erpa11sion of 20.9.2010, supra note 451, 
at 4; The rcport'&.slumnery, Ttj., at S. 

865 Testimonies of soldier no. l, soldier no. 2, soldit?r no. 3, soldier no. 4-, soldier no. 6, soldier 
no. 9,soldiet no~ 10 and soldier no.13, Id. 
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harsh attack which all the soldiers descending from the first helicopter 
experienced in addition to the two factors mentioned above, caused 
the soldiers to sense that a real, clear, and immediate thre.at was being 
posed to the safety and physical well being of their fellow soldiers and 
themselves. 

215. In addition, the testimonies of the IIJF soldiers in.dicate that there 
were common features to the way the !Hf;! activists dressed, looked, 
and acted. they were equipped with orange life vests, body arnior, and 
gas masks."' l:'fowever, perhaps the lllost distinctive CharacteriStic of 
each IBH activiSts was that they were armed with weapol\S suCh .as an 
iron barSi clUbs,-aXes, slingshots, kriives and, in some c~ses,_ firearms. In 
their testimonies, the IDF soldiers expressed surprise at these persons' 
willingness to continue to attack even when confronted with the use of 
flash bang grenades and firear!lls.867 

216. However; the fact.that most of the passengers 0n the upper decks 
of the Mavi Mam!ara appeared to be part <>f the lHH-dlrected group 
resisting tile capture of the ship doe.s not rnean every person on those 
decks (or fuose who may have resiSted mote passively on the otherships) 
were automatically direct participants in hostilities. For example, during 
the fighting it was noted by one soldier .that on one of the lower decks 
towards the center and stem of the ship lhere were many photographers 
with cameras:"' In this regard, there is a continuing requirement under 
intematitmal humanitarian law to apply the principle of distinction in 
order to ensure that attacks are only directed at civilians taking a direct 
part in hostilities. This me81\S that every soldier had to differentiate 
between. those persons who were direct participants in hostilities and 
those who were not. 

Use of weapons by the lHH 

217. The use of weapons is an important criterion in determining 
whether a person is taking a direct part in hostilities. It is also relevant to 
the issue of self-defense, since a fundamental principle of self-defense is 
that any use of force must be proportionate to the threat that is presented. 
Where law enforcement norms are applied, factors such as the level of 
violence caused by the individual, the injuries that the individual has 
inflicted on state agents, and the amount of force needed to subdue 
him have been considered in the assessment of whether the use of force 

866 See para. 166 above. 
867 Testimony of soldier no. 28, IDF cowpfeme11rary rt$p1.mse of 7.11.2010, sup ta note 486, at 2, 
868 Tesiimony of soldier no. 31, Id., at 2. 
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was proportionate."' The use of "proportionate force" does not require 
that. a proportionate response be of the same nature as the threat that 
is presented. For example, a person threatening the application of lethal 
force with fill iron bar does not ha.veto be countere(\ with a club, Rather, 
the use of liefensive fpoce will be measure(! by the degree offorce needed 
to effectively defenli oneself or.others ar\d the 11\eans available to do so. 

218. The right to use (\eadly force in sel£-defense is not limited to 
situations where a life is threatened; rather, the right is also applicable 
when serious injury can result. It is evident from the materials before the 
Commission that the JHH activists armed themselves with a wilie array 
of "cold" weapons thatwere used in a manner which could cause death or 
serious bodily injury.'" 

The fact that the IHH activists were predominately armed with these 
weapons rather than firearms does not alter the foct that these weapons 
were"lethal". One sol(iier suffered a serious wound when stabbed in the 
stomach,"' Another soldier avoided receiving a knife wound in his chest 
because the weapon .struck the .ceramic plate of his body amour.'"' The 
iron bars and other blunt force weapons caused significant head injuries 
to two other soldiers.813 The. injuries inflicted on the soldiers while they 
were on the ropes or as theY let go of the ropes inc:luded broken. or injured 
anns and hands,'" as the soldiers used their arms to protect themselves. 

869 ikkirski v. 811lg11rin, App. No. ?1420/01,. Eur. Ct. H.R. (2-010), at para. 135; See also CA. 
6157 /04-03_H~iclr v.)11e $tale of Israel {unpublished,. Sep_. 9, 2005), at para. 14g. 

870 Su p;uas. 165, 1'67 above. 
871 Testimony of sold.iet no; 3, 111,tJfiiry_Expmtsicn <Jf 20.9.2010, s11pra nole 451, at 3. For the detaUs 

of the injuries caused to srildier no. -3, see the n1edkal rl?ports received fiom Rall'\bam 
_Hospit.'!.I a·nd detailed in JQf ca1t1plemenlary reSpon~ rJj 15.11.2010. Among the injuries 
delailed: stab wotind in the abdomen, facial bruise and gash in lelt hand, a fracttu"ed nose 
and tom tendo:ll in the fingc;<r. 

an testimony of Soldier no. 5, Id., at3, 
873 Testi_mo11y -of soldier no. 41 Td., at 2w3, For the details of the injur~~ caused to soldier 

no. 4, see the medkal reports _received horn Tel Hai:ihomer Hospital a.lid d~tailed In 
IDF complemeutnry mponst _of. 15.11.2010.- Among the inJwies _and ~e.aln'J(!Jlt de!aHed: 
compressed fracture to the skull, hematoma in right eye, seizll:re$; the soldier was 
sedated and attached to l'ellpirator and re(.eived s_urgery to treat skull fracj;ure. Testimony 
of soldiCr no. 1, Jd., at 2. FOr_ the details of the-injuries clitµied to no. soldier 11 see the 
medical rel'orts received from Rambam _Hospital and detailed in the lDFs response to 
the Commission's request on this mauer, IDf amtpfemtnlffry rt5potise to fhi Commission's 
Q11est1011s of15.11,2010i marked as exhibit 145 in the Conu:nission's exhibit? [hereinafter 
IDF (11mplem~ntary. response of :J_5.-11.2q10J. Among the injuries de_t:ailed: t1 deep tut to the 
scalp, light infernal bleeding in skull, fractured skull, in_juries to thi: palm o~ his left hand 
(an X~r;;iy show«! that th.E!:'injury was_swtained in the same place as a previous fracture 
and 'therefore, h!s ht1nd was put in a cast), and more. 

874 Testimony Qf solliier no. 7, Jd.;Te!itimony of sold!(!_r no. 8, Id.; Testimony of soldier no. 11, 
IDF Completion ReQponse of 7.11.2010,. supra note 486. 
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The soldiers were indeed protected by helmets and ceramic vests and 
som:e of them report IQ have been protected from grave injuries because 
of this equipment,875 Onesold.ier stated that IUs helmet had been shattered 
by Ate strikes he received during the incident (it should be noted that 
while all ofthe soldiers were equipped with helmets,whiclt were not only 
strapped but fixed to their heads, some of these helmets shilted position 
on their heads during the fast-roping).'" Further, the wide spread use of 
slingsh()ts to fire iron b<!lls, bolts, and glass marbles represented another 
form of force capable of causing serious bodily injury."' The attempts 
by the 1HB'. activists to ·prevent the Israeli soldiers from boarding the 
Mavi Marmara from the Marena speedboats by cutting loose the climbing 
ladders represented another risk that might have ca.used death or serious 
injury."' These soldiers, who were attempting to board the Mnvi Marmara 
from a smaller boat while both vessels were under way, were placed 
at grave risk by these actions of the !HH activists. Moreover, on two 
occasions when the Israeli vessels were positioning to board, two other 
Gata flotilla vessels, the Challenger 1 and_ Boal 8000 maneuvered in such a 
way as lo potentially collide with Israeli naval vessels. It required quick 
action by the personnel on the Israeli vessels to avoid collision."' 

From the above, it is clear that the Israeli soldiers - on board the 
Mavi Marmara qnd on the Mo.rena speedboats - were confronted with a 
large group of IHH activists whO were armed with weapons capable of 
causing death and who were intent on causing death or serious bodily 
injury. 

Use of Firearms by the IHH 
219. Ano.ther isl;ue to be. addressed is whether IHH activists used 
firearms during the incident. Focusing on the issue of whether the 1HB'. 
used ttrearms is misleading, since as mentioned, there is ample evidence 
that IHH activists used other lethal weapons in their assaults on the 
Israeli soldiers, whiclt justifies the use of lethal force by those soldiers 
in self-defense or the defense of others. Therefore, the use of firearms is 

8i5 Te!lti1noi\ies.of sold.lets nJJ. 3, lnq11lr!J Expansion o/2/J.9,2010, supra note 4~1; and testimony 
of sold fer no. S; Id, 

876 Testimony of ~kl~er no. s; fd. 
877 Testimoriies: of Soldier no. 11, soldfer no. 20, soldier no. 24, soldier no. 25, soldler no. 26, 

Sl;)!dier no. 27 a_nd s9ldier_ rto. 38, JPF Completion Re5ponse of 7.11.ZOlO, $Upfa nOte 486, 
indkate.they were targeted with slingshots. 

87'8 Testimonyof'f;;:~J< Force Co_nimand_er, lr1q11iry Expansion of10.9.2010;supra note 451, at 2..-3. 
879 Tue tsiael.i vessels were RHIB No' 2, threatened by theCHALLENGBR 1 (See.Testimony 

of Tusk fqrooCO~nd_er, atl, /fl,); and A Coµup.anding Ve_ssel~ 'Zaharon', threatened by 
the Boat 8000 {Seq Testimony of soldier no. 19, at l, Id.; See testimony of Commander of 
Missile Boot A,Id.,at2.) 
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not determinative of whether Israeli forces were justified in using lethal 
force in self-defense. However, the use of lirearrns by UIH activists is an 
important factor for two reasons. First, the u5e of lirearms is importllnt 
because it relates to the tactical situation which the Israeli forces confronted. 
The possible use of fire a mis significantly heightened the risk posed to the 
soldiers and their perception of that riskt Second, establishing the level of 
threat that the Israeli soldiers believed they were facing, is a factor in the 
assessment as 16 whether their response was proportionate. 

220. The statements of the soldiers include a number of reports about 
the use of firearms. one of the salient issues is whether the IBH activists 
themselves brought firearms on board the Mavi Marmara. Apparently, 
there was security screening for passengers boarcjing the ships prior to 
departure. Such screening presumably was meant to ensure, inter a/ia, that 
weapons .could not have been brought on board. However, 40 activists; 
the persons who have been deemed.as the 'hard-core lHH group,' boarded 
in Istanbul without such a screening. Given this fact, and the fact that the 
evidence point$ towards the fact that the lliH had a preexisting plan to 
violently oppose the Israeli boarding, the Commission is nqt convinced 

. that the pre-boarding secu!'ity measures ensurecj that there were no 
weapons brought on board the Mavl Marmara by the IHH activists. 

221. Howeycr, the Commission did not find that the evidence point 
conch1sively to the fact that the IHH activists were using fireanns which 
they brought on board the Mivi Marmara thetnselves. The IDF's position 
that the IHH activists brought the firearn\ on board is primarily based on 
three incidents: the liming of the shooting of soldier no. 2; the discovery 
of a non-IDF iSsued bullet in the knee of soldier no. 5; and the sighting of 
a non-IDF issued pistol on the roof of the Mavi Marmara. As will become 
evident,, this is not sufficient. 

Soldier no .. .2 was shot in the stomach. The ro.und that hit sold.ier 
no. 2 went through his body and was never recovered. As a result, no 
ballistics test could be performed to determine whether or not it came 
from lln IDF weapon. However, it has been suggested in testimony and 
in a written submission to the ComrrUssion that soldier no. 2 was shot 
before there was an opportunity for Israeli military personnel to unholster 
their weapons."' Apparently this conclusion was reached based on an 
assessment by the Israeli military that soldier no. 2 was shot within the 
first 20 seconds of landing on the deck of the Mnvi Marmara."" However, 

880 Cllitf cf SJaffs Open Door Testimony o/11.8.2010, supr_11note 70, at 26; _See also Testimony of 
Comrnander Shayet~t 131 Inquiry Expansion o/20.9.2010, supra note 45l, ai: 9. 

881 Id. 
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Soldier no. 2 did not indicate in his testimony that the shooting occurred 
within the first 20 seconds oflanding on the .deck of the Mavi Marmara. He 
slates that immediately after he noticed that he was shot in the stomach, 
he drew his handgun, which deterred a number of lHH activislS who 
were threatening him, and he t:hi!n fired from a range of 5·6 meters at 
a person with a handgun at the back of the left wall. It is not clear from 
the testimony Whether this pistol was t1sed Ip shoot sol.dier no. 2. 1he 
statement of sol.dier no. 2 ind.kales that he fired simultaneously with 
soldiers no. 13 and no. 14 at the person holding the pistol."' Soldier no. 
17 on helicopter no. 2 states that, from the vantage point of the helicopter, 
he saw an IHHparticipant holding what he believed to be a 9mm pistot'" 
Soldier rio. 14 immediately went fo the body of the IHH participant and 
retrieved a Glock pistql. Jn response to the Commission's inquiry, Soldier 
no. 14 stated thst he believed this pistol to be an Israeli'issued weapon. 
From this fact, it seems that the IDF's estimate that the shooting happened 
some 20 seconds after the fast-roping from the first helicopter began, could 
be mistaken. In order for soldier no. 13 and no. 14 to be involved in this 
shooting, it. would likely have had t.o ocrur approximately 1-2 minutes 
after soldier no. 2 landed on the deck. Soldier no. 12 stated that when he 
first enco®tered soldier no. 2, that soldier initially thollght a less-lethal 
weapon from the Israeli forces might have hit him. Shor Uy after, soldier 
no, 2 informed soldier no. 12 that he had rea)lzed he had in fact been 
hit by a bullet."' It should '1e noted, that at this stage, three other IDF 
soldiers who were abdt1cted by the IHH activist, had alteady fast-roped 
to the roofof the Mavi Marmara. It seems that lwo of them, were already 
overpowered and stripped of their eqll.ipment and weapons, including 
Glock pistols, at this point"' It is probable that it is one of these weapons 
which the lHH participant had in hJs possession .. 1hus, the Commission 
finds it hard to establish based solely on this event that the said weapon 
was necessarily a weapon brought on board the Ma vi Marmara by an nm 
activist. 

Soldier no. 5 received a gun shot wound in the knee. He believes 
that he was shot when there were only five soldiers on the deck. In this 
case, the bullet remained in hJs knee. After the bullet was recovered from 
his knee, it was determined that it was not of a type presently in use by 
the Israeli military. However, in the Qlief of Staff's general testimony, the 

882 TestimQhy Of soldier no. 2, Id.; Testimony (If soldil?r no. 13, Id.; and Testimony of soldier 
no. 14, Id. 

883 Tesfimoriy of soldier no. 17, Jd., at 1; Supple_mentary T~timony of-soldier No. 17, JDF 
Completio1J &spqitse of 7.11.2010,supra nole-486. 

884 Testfrnorty of wldler no. 12, Inquiry E1piwsion ofl0.9.2010, s11pfn note 451, at 3. 
885 TE?$timonyof soldier no.13, Id.1 at 3;Te.stfmonyo( soldier no.14, Td.1 at1. 
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Col):llllission was infonned that tile bullet was 9 mm in caliber and had 
previously been in use by the IDF until 2007.'" Again, withQut ballistics 
tests it is not po:;sible lo c<:>nfirm which weapon fired the bullet. 

There Were other incidents in which IDF soldiers rep'orted seeing 
IHH participants use Weapons or where they observ11d the effects of 
gtmfire. For example, soldier no; 33 "Ii.red at the legs of an lHH participant 
who wa.s firing a revqlver at the soldiers."' What was described in military 
terminology as. "long guns" or rifles, were also seen on the bridge deck 
level. Soldier no. 9 stated thathe fired atah!HH participant when he saw a 
gun barrel, whose length and calt'ber eorrespondedwith a rifle, protruding 
from an openil)& of the floor .... Another ~oldier stated. that he saw a "long 
firearm" being thr<:>wn over the side of the ship."'' Another soldier stated 
that he saw both a "l<ing gun" and a pistol being fired by lliH participants, 
albeit the latter sighting was made from a distance of 40 to 50 meters."' 
Those weapons were never located. There are also statements from Israeli 
military personnel on board the Monma speedboats and accompanying 
naval vessels stating that gunfire was directed at i:he Morena speedboats.'" 
At one point, a Morena speedb<:>atreduced its speed and quickly altered 
its course in order to avoid such fire.'" · 

One soldier believed he saw a handgun lying on the deck with a 
"hammer" that bore no resemblance to the 9mrn Glock handglln used 
by the Israeli soldiers .. However, this weapon was not found after the 
ihcident.893 Furthermore, m()st of the testimonies do not specify whether 
the weapons they reported seeing were weapons 11Sed by the IDF. It is 
import;mt to note th.at during the initial stages of the fighting, two mini­
Uzi weapons were taken ftom captured Israeli soldiers.'" An IDF pistol 
with an empty magazine was also found hidden under a sofa located 
on one of the lower decks. Under these circumstances, the Commission 
cannot establish whether IHH activists brought firearms on board the 
Mnvi Marmara. 

886 Cltl'f of Staff's_ Optn Door 'feytfmony_o/11.8.2010, supra note 70. 
887 Te.stttnoriy of soldier no. 331 IOF Co111pletion Rtspotist a/7.11.2010, supra note 486, at 2. 
688 .Suppletnentary-'restimony of soldier nQ. 91 Id. 
889 ·Test\roQny- of s6l<i,ler no, 33, Id., at 3. 
890 testimony o'f soldier no.~' Id., at 2. 
891 TestimO_µy of sold!er no. 19, JriquinJ Expa11sio11of20.9.2010, supra note 451; Teslimony of 

Team Cmnmander R, Id.; See also Supplementary testimony of Commander of Center A, 
IDF CDttiplr:lio11 Response of 7.11.2010, s11pranote 486, at 2. 

892 Tcsli1nony ol soldier no. 19, J11quiry Eqmnsion of2Q.!}.].Ol0, ~11prn note 451, at 2. 
893 Teslimohy of soldier no, 6, Id., lJt7. 
~94 T~timony of soldier no. 1, Id.~ al 2; Testimony of soldier no. 3, ld., at 2. 
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222. However, and havi.ng reviewed the available evidence, the 
Commission lind.s that members of the IHH activists used firearms against 
Israeli for~s on May 31, 2010, in their efforts to repel the boarding of the 
Mavi Marmara by Israeli militai:y personnel. Jn reaching thl; conclusion, 
the Comntlssion has taken into consideration that the melee on board 
the Mavi Ma1111ara, especi11Uy during the ini!ial stages on the roof, was 
a. sitwitl.on of considerable confusion. The use of slingshots with metal 
and glass balls added to that confusion because some sokliers believed 
they represented pistols and gunfire,"' although other soldiers stated 
that they differentiated between the SQund of gunfire and marbles fired 
by slingsho13. '"' In a<l\Jltion, iron bars were sometimes mistaken for the 
barre!S. of rifles.'" for a considerable period of time, the soldiers thought 
soldier no. 5 had been shot in the he~d, when his head injuries actually 
resulted from physical assaults."' Such confusion is a normal part of 
conflict; often terme<l the "fqg of war." However, the physical evidence 
of gunshot wounds; the statements of numerqus soldiers operationally 
experienced in the use of firearms who gave accounts of seeing weapons 
.in the hands of lHH activists; and the fact that IHH activists had access to 
captured IDF handgfuls and mlni-Uzis, supports the conclusion that the 
lHHused firearms against Israeli military personnel. 

223. Following the conclusion that the IHH activists did indeed use 
firearms, there are two factors that should be taken into account when 
assessing the use of force by the IDF.soldierS. The use of firearms by the 
IHH impacted the soldiers in two ways. First, wliile the operation had 
planned for less-lethal weapons to be carried as the primary weapon, 
withJethal weapons remaining holstered, the initial fighting on the roof 
resulted in an order to switch to "live" weapons. This order appears to be 
reasonable given tile nature of the violence experienced by the soldiers; 
the continµing .threat that the s.oldiers faced; and the fact that a number 
of soldiers were serionsly wounded. Although this meant that often the 
most readily available weapon to them was a lethal weapon, it did not 
mean that the use of less-lethal weapons was abandoned. Some of the 
IDF soldiers contin.ued to use less-lethal weapons, either by switching 
between lethal and less-lethal weapons or as their primary weapon."' 

895 For example, $(1q: Testimony of soldier no. 13, Id,, at 4. 
896 ~ Si1pplementary TeStim.Qny 9f sOldier 'no·. 9, IDF Complttfrm !<Lsponse of 7.11.2()10, supra 

note 486;'~ also Testimony of sol_dier no. 33, Id. 
897 Testim<iny of soldier rio. :M, fd., at 2. 
898 Testimony of soldil!l' no. 14! Inquiry Exp1ms(on of20i9.2010, supra note451, at 2; The m<?dic 

treating solcUer.no. 5 who du~ to the severity of his head injury-thought he had been .shot 
in the h~ad in addition to h!\ving fractwes jn the limbs and a bullet i.n the knee. 

899 Testimony of Comm_ander Sha}'etet 13, litq11iry F.xp«11$ion of 20,9.2010, 1lUpra note 451, at 
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Secondly, the use of fireaans also impacted on the soldiers' view 
of the nature and ittunlnence of the threat. Assaults with iron bars and 
knives require a dose proximity betw~n the assailant and .the person 
being assaulted (althoµgh there is also considerable evidence that in 
some .cases IHH activists threw iron bars and other objects af the i;oldiers 
as well). Generally, however, the use of such weapons means that the 
assailant has to expose himself physically to the pers011 being !hreat~ed. 
In such circ\lmStances, wh~ identifying such a weapon from a distance, 
t},ereis off!'ll a greater opportunity to use les&"lethal weapons in response. 
However; the use of fireaans does"t1ot require that same degree of physical 
exi>osure or dciile proximity by the assailant. When it became clear \() the 
soldiers that the JHH activists were using fireaans, the S()ldiers were 
particularly cogn)zant of the heightem&l risk and the different nature 
of the threat. As a general rule, whenever an individual is carrying a 
fu;earm, there is a heightened risk to the lives of state agents and others. 
Thus, even ii the firearm is not directly aimed at anyone, the use oflethal 
force in response can und.er certain circumstances be considered to be 
necessary and proporjionate.'°" 

The Nature Q/the Response 1ly the IDF 

Legal Test for Assessing Decision Making 

224. A number of factors should be taken into consideration when 
assessing the lawfulness of the use of force by individual soldiers.'°' The 
test for assessing a decision by a soldier to target a inilitary objective is 
whether it is reasonable to believe that the potential target is a lawful one.'°' 

900 
901 

902 

5. 
Huolwwntn v.- Finlantl, :mpra note 861, Pl para. r;r/, 
See· Gi'.11Unni nnd:Gagg!D v. ltaly~- Sttp!fl note 861, _at paras. 217~225 (where the European 
Court of Hum<tn Rights took int(} account the findings of an lnvesti~ating judge whiclt 
w~s base,d on "the testimonies 11:nd images showing the vlolence of the d.emonshatQrs' 
attack,_ U,econstant barrage oJ stones tO which the v~hlde wassubjede_d and which caused 
physicaJ hann _to Jts_occ.upanl:s, an4 thti_;:i.ggression shown towilfds the passengers by the 
cllimcit1stra_torarwho had continued fo surround the v_dUde at very_ dose quarters while 
lhrwting hatd obje<:ls lhslde, 'Qt!S sitJJaJiOn-of persistent danger undeniably amounted, 
in the Judge's v1ew, to a tel'!! and unjust threat to the personal integrity of [the policeman) 
and hiS co_l1e<i.gue_s and called for·a defensive teaction that ~d ~n boWld to Culminate in 
fpoJkemahJ U:ting the only rueanS at hls-disj>osal: his weapon," However, the Court has 
nlso emphasi_zed that-pi.ibli<; dtsturban:c:es doo...:i not give law-enlorceme_ht oJ(kL1l$ carte 
bl.'.1-0che tO use_llreMin$.Oi\ the contrary, thete is a heightened responsibility to organize 
the actions 0£ the police carefuJ_ly with a view to mi.l\ir,nizing a _risk of di.!privatloti of life 
or bodily harm''); See alSQ Haled Ganaim, D<>ron Mena:she &. Mord1KhaJ. I<remlzer, The 
Banndarie$ of~rcit;ing Fatal Forawhe11Arresting! 25 L.ftQAt.. STVQ11?s 7031 730-731 (1009). 
ProSecutor v. Galic,_ Case No. IT·98~29·T, Judgment, paras. 50, 51, 55 (Dk, 5, 2003); See 
also Michal'![ N. Sdunitt,fa11/f lints in th.e UwJof Attack, Jn TESTING THE BOUNDARIES OF 
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Jn a law enforcement context, the reasonableness of the use of force when 
depriving someone of his or her life is generally decided on the basis 
of the facts "which the user of the force honestly believed to exist: this 
involves the subjective test as to what the t!Ser believed. and an objective 
test as to whether he had reasonable grounds for that.belief.""' Thus, both 
intelllatidnal hwnallit~rian law and human rights law recognize the test 
of "reasonable belief' with respect to decisions to use force!" A test of 
reasonable belief does not requite perfection. A person using forc;e can 
have an honest but mistaken belief regarding .the basis upon which the 
force is used."" 1n a law enforcement context, C>nce reasortable belief is 
established, "it must then be determmedwhether it was reasonable to use 
the forceln question in the prevention of crime or to effect an arrest,""" 

225. Generally, the law also recognizes that decisions often have to 
be made under duress and in a compressed time period. As the United 
States Supreme Court famously stated, "Detached reflection cannot be 
demanded in the presence of an upturned knife.""' Fw:ther, it has been 
noted, "Police officers are often forced to make split-second judgments • 
in circwnstances that are tense, uncertain, and rapidly evolving· about 
the atnollrit Of force that is necessary in a particular situation.""' Finally, 
as the European Court of Human Rights has indicated, a court making 
an ex post·facta ex~mination cannot, ;'detached from the events at issue, 
substitute its own assessment of the situation for that of an officer who 
was required lo react in the heat of the moment to avert an honestly 
perceived danger to his life.'""' This principle is also recognized under the 
Israeli law ofself·defense.'" 

The difficulties of assessing in hindsight the appropriate response 
to lethal force sh6uld be kept in mind when reviewing the actions taken 
by Israeli soldiers on the Mavi Marmara. The confined and crowded 
spaces on the ship and the repeatec.l attempts by IHH activists to press 
home lethal attacks with ·iron bars, knives, chairs, etc, often left the Israeli 
soldiers with little time to contemplate the use of less-lethal means. That 

ltffER.NATIONAL H\.iMANITARIAN LAw 277, 304 (SUSan Breau & Agnie&zka Jachec-Neale, 
eds, 2006). 

903 Th~ McCann case, supra note 8091 at para. 134. 
904 Prosecutor v. Calk, $upm note 902; The McOmn case, supra note 809, at para. 200. 
905 T/1e McOwn -i:~se, supra i:tO'te 809, at pnra. 200; H110Jmv«nen v. Fin_land,- supra note 861, at 

para. -96; See also Giuliani and Gaggio v. If!lfy,_ s11pro note 861, at para. 224. 
906 Th~ MtCann case, silprA npte 809, at'para. 1g4, 
907 See U;S'.Supreme Cc;>urt, Bro.wn v. Uitited States 256 U.S. 335, 343 (1921). 
908 See U.S.-Supreme Court, Graham v. Connor 4510 U.S. 386, 397 (1969). 
909 See also Giulinni rmd Gaggia v. lfafy,!illpm J\Ote 861, at para.-224; and B11bbi11s v. The- Unittd 

Kii1gdom, fltpara._139, Id. 
910 Eltguwr v. Ifie Slalt of Israel, supra note 859. 
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being said, as a review of the evidence establishes, the soldiers made use 
of less-lethal means even in the context of the crowded conditions on the 
deck. 

The Use of Lethal and Less-Lethal Weapons 

226. A proportionate response en.visages a gr•duated use of forte with 
an emphasis on considering the use of less-lethal weapons. prior to the 
use of lethal ones. Such a graduated response, however, is not required 
under international humanitarian law. While the term "non-lethal" is 
often used doctrinally, the IDF prefers the term "less-le.thal" weapons. 
This choice reflects the reality that any weapon has the potential for lethal 
consequences_. 

The NATO definition for non-lethal weapons highlights that what 
separates "lethal" from "less-lethal" weapons is the intended effect of 
incapacitation combined with a low probability of death or injury: 

Non-Lethal Weapons are weapollB which are explicitly designed 
and developed to incapacitate or repel personnel, with a low probability 
of fatality or permanent iujury, .or to disable equipment, with minimal 
undesired damage or impact on the envirorunertt.911 

This definition issimilarto the Israeli definition ofless·lethal weapons 
found in the ROE for the operation, which stated: "An instrument which, 
by its purpose, can cause a temporary function~disabllity, and which its 
probability to cause death or lethal injury, when used in its proper way; 
is low."912 

It should lie noted that a weapon designed to be less-lethal may 
nevertheless cause death or injury, such as a beanbag round used at dose 
range. Obviously1 the fact that a weapon is labeled as "less-lethal" does 
not mean it cannot be used in extremis in self-defense. Therefore, even if 
the ROE put safety restrictions on its use, that does not mean it co.uld not 
be used outside these restrictions under threat of serious injury or death, 

. as long as it would meet the requirement of· legally permissible use of 
proportionate force. 

'J,27. The lesSc-lethal weapons used during the operation included both 
impact weapollS (paintball guns and beanbag rounds) and conducted­
energyweapons (in. this case, Tasers). The use of paintball guns was a choke 
that reflected the fact that a very low level of resistance was anticipated. In 

911 See Norih Atlantic Treaty Otganizalion (t-JATO), NATO Policy on Non-Uflr11l Wtnpons, 
Press Releas~, para. 3 (Oct. 13, 1999) nvailablent www.nato.int/docu/pr/1999/p991013!!. 
htm, 

912 Nam/ Operall'tmnl Order 3, supra note 445, annex G1 at 61. 
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this context, it should be noted that the color of the paintballs chosen for 
the operation was rec:!. Retrospectively; it. turned out that this choice was 
U?ed by various advocate$ to claim that the red marker in the paintball 
rounds was blood on the decks and outer hull of the Mavi Marmara. These 
advocates used this as evidence !hat the IDF.sbldiers used excessive force, 
when, ln fact~ ju.st the opposite w<\S. the case.'13 "Flash bang" grenades 
were 11sed as a warning !ievice. These grenades, which create both a loud 
noise and bright light, have limited potential for injury even if ignited next 
to a person. Indeed, at one point one of the Israeli soldiers ignited such a 
grenade against hlsbody while he was lying on the deck in a successful 
effort to cause the group of!HH activists who were assaulting him to step 
back.'" 

Jn this context it should be mentioned that the use ofother less-lethal 
weapoi:tS w_as considered~ Due to the clo_se quarters of the vesse_l_, jt was 
deci_ded not to use certain ammunitions, s_uCh as ''baton" rounds915 and 
the use of CS gas (i.e. teargas or maloderant) was found inappropriate to 
the nature of the operation (due to the conditions at sea and the presence 
of a strong downdraft from the helicopters, which did not allow for their 
effective use)l" 

All less·lethal weapons used by the Israeli forces underwent legal 
and medical review prior to being authorized for use, and the soldiers 
receivei;I extensive training on them prior to deployment (see para. 120, 
footnote 441). A number of the Jess,Jethal weapons were specifically 
approved and issued for this operation, and the naval forces • which in 
the ordinary course of events would not use such weapons - received 
speeialized training on their use.911 Overall, the Contmander of the 
Shayetet 13 assessed that the paintball guns and other less•lethal weapons 
prevented harsher results and were effective when limited force was 
required.918 The commander of center B, commanding the force taking 

913 See Yo11Tube: lsrneU Pnintbnlf Allnck on lhe Mavi Marmara, www.youtube.com/ 
watch?v=c04Hirkx7iw (2010). 

914 1'estimo_ny Of Soldier no. 6, Inqllity Erpnnsicm of 20.9.2010, s11pra note 451, at 3. 
915 C11ief of Sfojfs Opm Door Ttslimo11y of 2.4.10.201D~supta note 554, at 14--15. 
916 711e Eiland Rewrt, supra n0t~_402, _at 92~93, 155-157; See also Additional Protocol I, supra 

note 292,_ art. 36, which provides fo_r the leg_al _review of weapons, means or methods of 
wmJare "to determine whetl;ler its employment would, tn spmc or aU drcumstances, be 
prohibited by this Prot'ocol or by any- other rule of international law applica_ble to the 
High ContiaCtirig-Pp.rty" .. Stich a revie\V often reties on m·edkal evidence regarding the 
potential or actual effect of such weapons. 

917 111t l;'i/aud Report, $11pra \10te4_02, ~t 92~93. 
918 TeStimony ot Commander Shayetet 13, /11quiry Expansion o/20.9.2010, supra note 451, al 

8-10. 
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over Boat 8000 and Gazze, expressed a similar opinion."' However, the 
stateltlents of the Israeli soldiers on board the Mavi Marmara indicate that 
these weapons were not always effective in stopping IHH activists who 
were intent on hanniil.g them.'" 

228. The term "lethaY' weapon, which is defined in the Ox£otd 
Dictionary as "Sufficient to cause death11

, is associ~ted with the more 
traditional weapons carried by the Israeli soldiers: the Glock 9mm 
handguJ', the 9 mm mini-Uzi and M•16 assault rifles. The weapons 
carried by the helicopter botne force were holstered, either attached to 
the equipment vests or t() the legs of the soldiers (in the case of the 9nun 
handgun) or strapped to their backs (for the mini-Uzi and M·16s).'21 The 
mini-Uzi, which is capable of automatic fire, was only used in the single 
shot .mode throughout the operation."' These weapons appeared to cause 
the majority of the deaths and serious injuries to the IHH activists.'" 

Estimating the nulnberof shots fired that .actually hit their target is 
very c;lifficult. From the xnilitary debriefings, it appears that, during the 
course of the operation on the MaviMarmara, the Israeli forces discharged 
308 rounds {from the soldiers' testimonies, it appears that 110 ro.unds 
were shot aimed at persons; an estilnated 39 hits were identified by the 
soldiers; out of which an estimated 16 participants were injured by sjlots 
to the ~nter 9£ mass), 87 bean bags, and 264 paint ball rounds.'" Tite 
nwnber ofrounds fired does.not in and ofitseU imply that the use of force 
was excessive. From the soldiers' testimonies; it appears tha.t a significant 
number of rounds were noHired directly at IHH activists. The IDF 
applied a graduated use of force, including the use of warning shots and 
deterring fire."5 When appropriate to limit the chance of causing death or 
serious injury, the Israeli military's graduated use of force also provides 

919 Testimony of_Comniai\der Of Center B, Id., at 34. 
92(1 T~stil't\9-ny o'soldierno. 1 i, lDFCompfetio11 Re~nseof7.11.2010,suprilnote486;T$limony 

of :soldier no. 22, ld.; P.nd Testimony pf SQ(dier no. 24,_ ld. 
921 Testimony of sci_ldier no. 5, Inijuiry EXpmtsi(lff of 20.9.2010, supra note 451, at 2·4; See also 

The ~i!nnd Rtport, supra.nQte402,_at 1-08-109'. 
922 Tlte Sr1and Report, sf1pm n0te402, at 104, 107. 
923 fd,,at 107-108. 
924 Jd., at 109; See also _te$timony of Commander Shayetet 13, Inquiry lb:ptHision o/ 20.9.2010, 

supra note 451, at 8, aCCQrding to him ff Ji.as been estimated that 10 of the roWtds were 
diiec_te_d to the bodli;osof lliH personnel, and about 50 lo their legs and the rest of them for 
warning only. 

925 The Eiland &potf, SJtpn1 no le 4021 at117i Allhough the definltiorurare not precise-, H seems 
that the dlstindion between warning _shots and deterring_ fire ls primarlly dete.tmined_ on 
the basis of where the rollnd U> a.imed. Wami!lg shots are diret.!ted av..'ay from the.targeted 
person, while deterring lire ls aimed at a sare locali9Jl but dose to an individual in order 
to provide a more direct wari;U.ng, Fot' cxai'uple, dwi.ng the operation, deterring fire wps 
direi;led at the sides and dei;k of the ship. 

260 I Turkel Cornrnission Report 

UNCLASSIFIED U.S. Department of State Case No. F-2010-04163 Doc No. C05330857 Date: 06/25/2013 

StateDepto05156 



UNCLASSIFIED U.S. Department of State Case No. F-2010-04163 Doc No. C05330857 Date: 06/25/2013 

for firing at file legs and feet of a person. This use of force appears to have 
resulted in the wounding of a number of the If!H acf;ivists. In determining 
whether such diSabling lire is excessive, l.t must be weighed against the 
alternative of shooting at the center of visible mass of the target, with 
increased like!iliood of death or serious injury. 

229. The evidence shows that the IDF soldiers made considerable use of 
graduatedforce during the operation; with soldiers switching repeatedly 
between less-lethal and lethal weapous, depending upon the threat being 
posed. 

Firing from Helicopters 

230. The Commission has reached the conclusion that the Israeli anuy 
did not fire any rounds from the helicopter. The only force that was used 
on the helicopters were. 3-4 "flash bang" grenades that were deployed 
from the first helicopter in the initial stages of the fast roping to attempt 
to stop IBH activists from interfering with the ropes. The accurate use of 
fireanns from a helicopter requires both specific equipment and specially 
trained personnel, wlthwhlch the helicopters were not equipped.'" 

A high aJ:\gle of the trajectory of wounds in some deceased IHH 
activists could have been the result ofa number of factors. First, some 
firing took place under circumstances where IliH activists were on top 
of or bent over one Israeli soldier who was lying on the deck while they 
were assaulting him."' Secondly, firing also took place from the roof 
down towards the Jlffi activists who were threatening the lPF soldiers 
art a lower deck.ml Finally, in some instances1 numerous rowtds were 
fired either by one soldier or by more than one.soldier to stop an IHH 
activist. who was a threat to the lives of then'l$elves or other soldiers.''' It 

926 See testimqny of Commanderof Sheyete~ 13, Inquiry EXpansion of20.9.2010, supm note 451, 
at 9'.'10; Tesl:in'tony of the pilo.t of Helicopter 1, Id.,_ at 2; Te.stimony the pilot of Helicopter 
2, ld., i:J,t 1·:2;_l'e_stimony the· pilotof_HelkOpter 3, /d.,_at 1-2. 

927 For examp_le; sCe the testfniony of soldier no. 1, l11quiry £xpa11$i<m of .Z0.9.2010, supra note 
451, at 2; Testimony of soldier.no. 2, Id., at2;Tesl:fmonyof soldier no. 3, Id., at 2. 

928 Fot ex~mple-, assefout in the testimony of soldier no.12, fd.,at4. 
929 Fol;' example,_see_ l:he foi>timony of soldier no. 2, Id., at_2, in di cat~ he fired 2~3 round,s to the 

ce~ter of ma~ altd_ be!Qw and pile ro.und lo the head_(the ooiidet te$ti6ed that after firlng 
the last-round the llill personal fell and.h~ c::eased fire); See Jilso the_ testimony of Soldii!t 
no. 7, Id., at 2, wh~ states he fired 5-6 roUI:\d& at a pCr$On r!-lMihg_at him with a club. 
For example, In firing at-an IHH pa,rticlp;1nt with.a pistol in his hand, soklier no. 13, ld., 
at 2,_ ~timates t_hat he, soldier no. 2 ·and-so)dfet no. 14 fired 15 rounds at that person; 
Simi_lady, Soldiers no. B, fd.; at 2, states that he anq no. 12 fired at the same group of IHH 
participants th.ti? a ten.Ing them with the weapons they had in their hands at lhe time (with 
Gl0<k pistols). 
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cannot be dlscqunted that some rounds impacted when the person had 
already started to fall. 

Use of Tasets and other Less-Lethal Weapons t<:> Effect Detention 

231. ·Inhererlt in the authority to use force under intemation~I 
humanitarian law is the power to de(ain someone who poses a .threat to 
the safety of mllitary personnel or who is interfering with the conduct 
of a mission. Similarly, Jaw enforcement notms provide for the use of 
force to "arrest" a person presenting a danger of death or serious injury or 
resiSlirig their authorlty.930 This question is particularly relevant to. the use 
offorce with less-lethal weapOlll! M•inst those persons who are asses_sed 
not t<;> have taken a direct part in hostililie.s an\! tQ wh0m the principles of 
"necessity" a,nd u_se of "proportionate force" apply as a matter oflaw. 

In a domestic law enforcement context, the questiol\ of when less­
lethal weapons such as conducted eµergy weapons can be used to carry 
out a detention, ha_s been considered in a domestic law enforcement 
cQritext, as such weapons are used by law enforcement officials as part of 
a use of force continuum against various levels of resistance (these levels 
can be generally categor~ as cooperative, passive resistance, active or 
defensive resiStance, assaajtive, and grievous bodily harn:i or death).931 

A particular focus has been on the use of Tasers as a method of "pain 
compliance" against persons who are passively ot defensively resisting 
arrest.'" It has been variously suggested that such weapons should be 
restricted to situations where a person poses an immediate threat of 
death or serious injury and no lesser options are available"'; the person 
is causing bodily harrn or poses a threat of imminent bodily harrn'"; or 
at levels above pa5sive resistance and cons!Mr banning their use against 
defensive resiStance.m However, it cannot be stated that there is a broad 

930 See U.N. Basic Pr,incipfts, supta no~ 810, at para. 9 (e.g. firearms can be used against 
someone who is presenting-a danger of al) tmnUnent threat Qf death or $edovs i.njiuy a.nd 
resistirtg the i'lulhority·of law enfOicemctit officials). 

931 See BmidWOOd Commlssfon on Co11dur:led fm:tzy Weapon Us!!, Phase.1Rllporl97 Oun. 18, 2009) 
(referring_to the Cariad_iari_Natloru\l 'U$e of Foic:e fra~01k); See alSO David A. Barris, 
1nser Use: Report '?f the U$e- of fqrce Working Group of AllegJumy O,unfry,- _Legal Studies 
Research Paper Series, Wotking Pap_er No. 2008·3~ 7 (2009) {for a shnilar use of force 
conlinuum applied in-the American context), 

?32 See }hrris, TnSer Use, sup_rn_note_ 93l;~r7-(Passive resistance is generally in:volvea not 
cooperating with commands and taking action such as lying down so that they can be 
carried away; The author ~ould extenc:l to tensing anc:l brai:_~g. Defensive resi:ilance is 
described as _"twlstmg, pulling, hot ding <Jnto fbced objects or flecing''}. 

933 Uss Thlln Letluil?; Tlle (Jseo/St11n Weapons In US Uno Bilforumcnt,AMN e:aTY INTERNATIONAi.. 

!;8(<~). 

934 See Brnidrvood Comm/$$10111 suprtr note 931, Executive Summary, Part 8, at para.2. 
935 See Harris, Tase_itlse, supra note931, at6. 
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consensus that the use ofTasers even in the situation of passive resistance 
ls unlawful.'" 

As a. result, the Commission concludes that the Israel! forces' use 
of Tasers to carry out the detention of civilians is not unlawful under 
international Iaw1 although it is the subject of considerable controversy, 
particularly when such force is used against persons passively and 
defensively resisting state officials. A s~ar conclusion can also be 
reached with respect to other less-lethal weapons, such as paintball guns. 

Analysis of the Use.of Force by IDF Soldiers 
during the Takeover Operations on May 31, 2010 

232. As .statec! above in the general assessment of the use of force, 
the i:natedal before the. Coi:ni:nission indicates that lethal force including 
fireanns was used by IBH activists against the !DF soldiers attempting 
to stop the Mavi' Marmara from breaching the blockade. In response, the 
IDF soldiers uSed force, ranging from. the use of flash bang grenades to 
live fire. There was less resistance encountered on the other vessels and, 
correspondingly, less force was employed by the IDF soldiers. 

233. The Commission has examined each instance of the use of 
force reported by the ibF soldiers in their testimonies, pursuant to the 
limitations dlsc;ussed below. Not only was the use of force undertaken 
by each S()ldier assessed, but the specific circumstances under which 
the use of force occurred and additional available relevant inforritation 
c<lnceming the ttse of force was also considered. 

234. Each use of force w~s assessed. according to the applicable law -
international humanitarian law. According to that legal regime, the use 
of force against civilians who are not taking a direct part In hostilities 
is governed by l_aw enforcement norms, whereas direct p_~rticipants can 
be targeted for such time they are taking part In hostilities. Thus, the 
Commlssion examined first whether force was used against a civilian 

936 Bud<ley y. Haddock, 292 fod. Appx. 791, 2008 U.S. App. LEXIS 19482 (Sep. 9, 2008 nth 
Cir.); See also Warren RkheyrPolicf_T11sero: Sxussli~ Fori:eor Ne~ssaryTool? (May28, 2009) 
(for reforen~e to the case_Qf Jf?llSe Buckley wher~the US Supreme COwt declined-k1 h_ear 
an appeal of a laWsuit of' a motorU;t agllinst-?1 _police officer wht:i !'tased~' Ille indi\'tc;luat 
for refusing to st1,rid lip and walk to-_ a p11trol car) nimilable nt wwW.csmonltor.corn/ 
USA/Justice/2009/0528/p02sOS•\lsju.html?cmpld=addthis_email&.$ms_ss::oemail&at_ 
xt--4_d1 f 8h 1713c34dS3,0. See al~ See Braidwood Ccmmission, supra note 931, at 67-69 {where 
the Commissioner was not satisfied that the normal use of conducted energy weapons 
violated the l)nile(l Nations Conven_lions against toi'ture_and other cruet, Inhuman and 
degrading treatment or punishment in customary international law). 
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taking a direct part in hostilities. Where it was determined that the 
person was a direct participant, an assessment of the use of force was .first 
made µSing the applicable rules of international hiunanitarian law. Uthe 
person against whon:t force was used was detennined not to have taken 
a direct parlin hostilities, that use of force was assessed solely under law 
enforcement nortns. 

235. Ash.as been noted, the Rules of Engagement (ROE) issued for the 
operation were developed in anticipation that the persons on board the 
Flotilla were civilians not taking Ii direct part in hostilities. The planned 
use of f9rce was based on the same principles as those applicable in a 
law enforcement context, will\ the ROE prirn;uily perinitting the use 
force in self-defense,"' In.a similar vein, the Israeli Government has ·on 
a number of occasions stated that fue force by uSed Israeli forces was in 
selhlefense."' Therefore, all the µSes of force were analyzed plll'Suant 
to law enforcement norms to confirm the degree to which the they fell 
within the scope of those norms, induding self-defense or defense of 
others. The assessment also served to highlight the degree to which the 
Israeli personnel .endeavored to restrict their actions to the limits of the 
ROE while being confronted with significant and unanticipated levels of 
violence on board theMavi Martnllra. This analysis indicates the challenges 
that can arise when a self-defense based ROE is applied to accomplish a 
mlssion in the context of an armec( confflct. 

The conclusions of this analysis are presented below. The detailed 
testimonies of the soldiers as well as their analysis can be found in an annex 
to. the report. The Conunission decided, while giving duewnsiderat:ion to 
article 539 A of the Military Justice Law 5715-1955, to privilege thls annex 
pursuant to its authority under Article 11 to the Government's decision 
of June 14, 2010, unless the government decides to lift this privilege. 
The Commission re.:ommends that the Government will examine the 
possibilily of making this annex public pursuant to its authority under 
law. 

937 However, lt should be noted that the use of graduated furce~ suc_h as lisJt Of le~-lethal 
weapons, are itot required ilfldet the generathamewi>rk of international humanitarian 
la~ whim using force ag~iost oombatan_ts or pers_ons ta_~g a direct pa.rt in h~tiliti_es. 

938 See:-Prfme Min/$trr's Ofkn Do(>r Ttsfimo11y, 3upm note 82; See also_ls_rael Ministry of Foreizn 
Affairs: Ga~ _Flotiltn; Ei«rp~ fro_m Press Confere11CI! with DM Bnrak, Cos Ashkemrt.i qnd 
Nm;it1l QJ111numdef Morom, www.'infa:gov.il/MFA/Govemment/Spee<'hes+by+I$raell 
+leaders/2010/Ca2a.,.flotiUa_press_conference_DM_Barak_CoS_Ashkenari_Naval_ 
Comm.attder_31~May~20l!).h_tm (2010) (quoting Naval Commander Mnjor Elfo.Zer Marom: 
"Once an imminent danger to life was seen, in order to defend themselves the soldiers 
had t9 operate-their weap_ora ... the soldier's llv~s were in danger; -they had to use llve 
ammunition to defend th!!Il\Selves"). 
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236. At the outset, a general comment is called for regarding the 
evidence before the Commission at the time it formed its conclusions, 
and the ability of the. Comrnission to dr<tw conclusions using the tools 
at its disposal. The analysis by the Commission is based primarily on 
the dO<:urnented testimonies of over 40 soldiers and commanders who 
played an active role in the takeover of the Mavi Marmara, as well of 
!he comnumders of the takeove.r of i:he other vessels in the flotilla, 
an<! <:>f other cotnmanders and soldiers who took part in the qperation 
on May 31, 2010. The Commission furnished written requests to IDF 
authorities seven times in order to deepen and expand the inquiries that 
were conducted,93~· Pursuant to these __ requests· for infonn~ti9n1 additional 
soldiers provided statemerits and soldiers who had already done so 
adde.d to their submissions, As a general rule, the Commission fotmd 
that the soldiers' accotmts were credible and tnistworthy. The soldiers 
gave detailed infonnalioit, used natural language, and did not appear to 
have coordiriated their versions. The sOldiers' accounts were e>:;amined 
meticU.louSly,-cr<?SSwreferen_ced_agai.I)st each other, and verified, as far as 
possible, against additional materials subillitted to the Commission. This 
included medical documents regarding the injuries to the soldiers, !DP 
inquiries regarding the amotmt and types of ammunition (paintballs, 
beanbag rounds, flash bang grenades, and live ammunition) fired during 
the yarioµs events and a. review of the magnetic media furnished to the 
Cpnuni~ion. 

237. The Commission's ability to construct a complete picture of the 
incidents in which force was employed by lDF soldiers is limited for a 
.number qf 1"asons. First, the incidel'lts on May 31,2.010, involved many 
participants, took place at night in several differentlocations and on a 
number of decl<s, and;,accordihg to the soldiers" testimonies, the violence 
surprised them with 1"spect to its intensity. By its very nature, the 
Commission's l\bility to. "dissect" the operation into its various components 
and, several months later, retroactively reconstruct each and every 
incident th"t took place during the operation is and cannot be perfect. It 
should also be noted thatthe soldiers' statements were only documented 
in writing and subfllitted to the Commission. The soldiers were not put 
on notice that their rights were implicated when giving their statements 
(which is th.e ordinary procee<!ings in a custodial interrogation or judicial 
proceeding) and they did not undergo cross-examination. 

939 For details of the Commission's requests for information to the TOF~ ~e supra para. 9, in 
th.is report. 
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Second, some of th~ flotilla participants were int.,11'.ogated fly the 
IsraeliPolice"" and byMililary h)tel.ligence/" and while their versions do 
indeed shed some light onwhat transpired on board the Mavi Marmara, 
nevertheless, it was not possible to conduct an organized examination of 
the IDF soldiers' use of force during the takeover events. in reliance on 
the.se accounts. n shou!Q. also be nole4 that.even the Military 'Intelligence 
investigators stated that the interrogations themselves were conducted 
under conditions that wete not sUited to such an inqUiry.'" In addition, 
and.as stated above, the Commission's req0ests to the captain of the Mavi 
Marmara .aI\d the chairman of the IHH, and its general invitatio)l to the 
other llotilla participants, to testify before !he Commission received no 
responses - except from two Israeli citizens who did testify."' Under 
these cltcuinstances, the analysis was based primarily on testimonies and 
materials that were submitted by Turaeli sources. 

T/tlrd, from the time the events occurred to the initiation of the 
various investigations, the scenes in which the events took place were 
not kept "sterile". Some of !he bodies of those who were killed were 
moved from·the places where they hacl been shot, .the bullets and shells 
found on !he.Maui Marmara were not collected in an organized manner, 
the various assault weapot\S used by thelHH activis.ts (knives, clubs, 
slingshots, etc.) were gathered in one location and not documented as 
they were apprehended, etc. The Commission will address this issue as 
part of the. discussiot'l of article 5 of the Government's decision of June 
14, 2010, whichwill be presented at a later time, and which relates to the 
method of examining and investigating the complaints that have been 
raised regarding violations of the laws of war, both in general and with 
respect to the eve11ts of May 31, 2010, in particular. 

fourth, the Israeli authorities do not have access to autopsy reports; 
but rather only to the reports from an external examination of the bodies 
of those Who were killed. As stated above, the reason for this stems from 

940 Overall, 42 o_f the flotlUa participants were questioned by the Israeli police. They were 
all given_nol:ke of theit_ right ta an atto_mey _and the queslion_s were tral\$1(\ted _to them 
(exd\lding_ thllse who were citizens. of Israel). The majority Of the participants refused to 
sign the staternen~. a l_arge p<>rtio(I. refUsed lO answer questions, and out of those who 
gaVe a sfutement, their versions were sparse and did now <illow for a complete picture to 
be reconstructed, 

941 Ovenill, 86 of the flOliUa parlidp~nts were questioned by the Military Intelligence. From 
reviewipg th_e reporl of that questi9i1lng.. it appears Utat a relaliv~ly small portion of the 
flotilla p.lrtidp;ui.f.S refei:red In. their _qu~stioning to lhe US1!' of force by the lDF soldier.;. 
Most of_-those tlo-tillit·pa_rtidpants.did not specifically tt;>fer to such events which would 
enable at legal ll!laly$IS of the use of fori;:e. 

942 See article 03/~10A2.415004 Mititary Jnleltlgtttce RePorl$, s11pm note 491, at 6. 
943 See supt a para. 9 m this report 
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the Turkish government's request, immediately after the event, that the 
Israeli government would not perform autopsies on the bodies of the 
deceasei:L'" As a. result, the guns;hoJ wouncls on the bodies cannot be 
linked to the. weapons used by the IDF soldiers and autopsies were not 
available to assist in trying lo determine who shot the deceased. 

Fifth, the Commission received magnetic media of various types that 
had been collected from the Mavi Marinara upon conclusion of the vessel's 
takeover. As stated, the magnetic media includes videos and photographs 
frotn digital cameras an.d vid.eo recorders used by the f19tilla participants, 
videos from the security cameras aboard the Mavi Marmara, videos, and 
recorclings from the JDF's recording devices. 1his material constitutes 
obj~ctive ·and reliable evidence. On· several occasions; the Colnmission 
asked the JDF whether all of the media that was seiz.ed had been furnished 
to the Colnmissiofi. On December 23, 2o10, the Commission received the 
response that all of the magnetic media that. had been collecll!d .on the Mavi 
Mam1arq and which was technically sound had been examined by the IDF, 
and that the relevant files ha~ been copied and given to the Colnmission,'" 
with the exception of one video in which 1HH activists are seen beating 
and videotaping the soldle..S who had been abducted inside the ship. That 
video was provided with the lOF response. That respo~ stated that "the 
examination of the relevant sources indicates that, other than this video, 
all of the material that was foUltd on the devices which were confiscated 
from the flotilla patliclpohts has been furnished to the Colnmission:•" 
On December 30, 2010, however, the Cprrunission rei:ei.ved another file 
of videos from the. IDF authorities, containing another copy of said video, 
as well as five additional videos in which lliH activists are seen beating 
and videotaping theIDF soldiers who were abducted inside the ship, and 
which wei:e not previously in the Com.mission's p_ossession. 

Thatsaid,severalhtmdredsofhoursofvideoevidencewasreviewed. 
Unfortul'.lately, the vost majority of it was. not helpful in resolving the 
illcidenls involving the use force and not all of the events recorded by the 
magnetic media can be matched with the soldiers' testimonies. A number 
of th• events documented in the magnetic media could match more than 
one of the events described by the soldiers, whereas, regarding other 

944 See: the letter from the TurkisJl ambassador to the Minist~r of Foreign Affairs (2June,2020) 
in a bindei from Rafi 6arack, marked as exhibit 169 in tha CQmm,ission's exhibits. 

945 See_IOF te~ponse-fo_r additiOl).al information of the ConunisSion from Dec. 8, 2010, edUblt 
158 In the ConunissiQn's exhibits'. Accordlng to the ID F's resporue, Ute lest of ~relevancy" 
was defined as ;1ny coM.ection directly or indirectly to the event, in conttast to pictures or 
priVate messages that were not connected to the event. 

946 lrf., at 2, art. 6; 
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events, it is not clear whether they are in fact described in the soldiers' 
testimonies. Thus; for example, after analyzing one oJ the videos in which 
a soldier is S!*!Il firing at an IHH activist armed with an iron bar who 
was att~cking hiln, the Commission was tillable to relate this incident to 
a specific event described in the soldiers' testimonies (this incident could 
possibly correspond to a number of different events that were described). 

238. The Corrunissiort took upon itself a complicated project, which 
had obvious limitations. It should be stated here that this analysis is 
particularly complex when it is conducte(l retroactiv~ly, under the 
fluorescent lights of the office and after the fog of war has dissipated. It 
is clear to the Co!lilnission that, especially with respect to the takeover 
of the Ma.vi Mal'11iara1 the IDF .soldiers were requlred to make difficult, 
split-second decisions regarding the use of force, under conditions of 
uncertainty; s\11'prise, pressµ:re, and in darkness, wi):h the perception of 
a real danger to their lives and with only partial information available to 
them. Further, in thissitualion, they were also aware of the fact that some 
of the IHH activists .on board the Mavi Mannara weie using firearms. 
These factors were taken into account when analyzing the force used 
during !he takeover event. Further, in a limited number of cases, there 
was inSufficient informatfon to be able to reach a conclusion regarding 
the circumstances surrounding the use of force. 

At the same time, to the extent possible, a proper assessment of 
the use offorce requires meticulous analysis. To a certain extent, the 
Coilurtission belleves that it was able to· analyze the soldiers' testimonies 
and draw ci:mclusions regarding the majority of the events described 
by the soldiers. When the Commission could not reach a conclusion 
regarding the use of force .with the tools at its disposal, this is stated. 

239. After an in-depth analysis of all the material in its possession, the 
Commission drew the following conclusions regarding the use of force: 

(a) The Co.mmission examined 133 incidents in which force was 
used (including events when live fire was employed; firing 
lesil"lethal weapons; shooting as a deterrent; threatening with a 
weapon; using a Taser, and using physical force under certain 
circ:unistances), which were described by over 40 soldiers who 
fast-roped onto the Mavi Marmara from the helicopters or who 
testified about the takeover actions from the Morena speedboats. 
This number also includes·• few incidents that wet<! depicted on 
the available relevant magnetic media and that did not correspond 
to the soldiers' testimonies. 

268 I Turkel Commission Report 

UNCLASSIFIED U.S. Department of State Case No. F·2010-04163 Doc No. C05330857 Date: 06/25/2013 

StateDept005164 



UNCLASSIFIED U.S. Department of State Case. No. F-2010-04163 Doc No. C05330857 Date: 06/25/2013 

(b) The large number of uses of force is reflective of the decision to 
look at all uses of force by IDF soldiers; the large number of IHH 
activists who· armed themselves to resist the c•pture of !he shirs 
attempting to breach the blockade; and the scope and scale of the 
violence offered by those activlsts. It should also be noted that 
the majority of the 11ses of forte involved warning or deterring 
fire and Jess-lethal weapons, Of the total number of uses of force 
reported by the soldiers, 16 incidents of hitting the center of body 
("center of mass") with rounds of live fire were reported. 

(c) Overall, the IDF rersonnel acted professionally in the face of 
extensive and unanticipated violence. This included continuing to 
swiJch back. and forth betwee0 less-lethal and lethal weapons in 
order to add.ress the nature of the violence directed at them. 

(d) The Commission found that127 tisesof force investigated appeared 
to.be in conformity with intei;national Iaw. In an additional six 
cases, the CommissiQn h;>s C\lndt;ded that it. has insufficient 
information to be able to make a determination regarding the use 
of force. Three out of those siX cases involved the use of live fire 
and three cases involv_ed physkal force; two incidents of kicking 
and one s!Pke with the buttof a paintball gun. 

(ej In five of the 127 cases, force appeared to be used against persons 
taking a direct part in hostilities; hOwever, there was insufficient 
ev_idence to conclude that the- force use4 was in accordance with 
law enforcement.-nonns. In. another five case~, the Commission 
CO!lclt;ded that force appeared to be used in acco;dance with law 
enforcement norms, but in two cases it was tlnable to determine 
whether !he person against whom force was used was a direct 
participant in hostilities and in three cases, it was determined that 
force .was used against civilians who were not considered direct 
partictparits. 
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Impact of the Planning and Organization of the 
Operation on the Use of Force 

240. In both situations of armed conflict and law enforcement, an 
assessment of Wheth.er there was appropriate use of force by State 
armed forces should include looking broadly at all of the surrounding 
circumstances, including the planning and .control of the operation."' 
Focusing on planning and .organization is relevant not only to the 
question of ove;all liability, bu\ it aiso reflects the reality that the 
actions 9f indivi\iual sol\iiers are in many cases directly impacted by 
!he information they are provided, the training they receive,· and the 
operational limitation$ resulting from planning decisions made higher 
up the chain of command. The analysis will now turn to some of these 
issues. In reviewing the planning.and preparation for the operation, the 
Commissi9n is particularly inindful of the danger of looking at a situation 
with. the benefit pf hin\isight. Effective operational planning requires 
considerable experience and the need to make professional judgment 
calls based on the available- information. In addition, a particular course 
of action may not be feasible for a wide range of reasons. · 

241. An operation designed to intercept a flotilla of sil< uncooperative 
ships on the high seas is complex. Air and naval forces had to be effectively 
coordinated. Further, the entire military operation, both during the 
operation and in the aftermath of the incident, had to be coordmated 
with the timely and professional proviSion of medical assistance and 
evacil•tion of both IDF and lliH injured persons. 

242. The placement of senio.r commanders on scene, including the 
Commander of the Navy, demonstrated the· seriousness with which 
this incident was viewed by the Israeli military. It also enhanced the 
situational awareness of the chain of command in order to help ensure 
tintely and effective decision making as the incident unfolded. The use 
of the special unit "Masada" and other law enforcement units, and the 
coorditlation across Goverrunent in order to handle the large number of 
passengers, reflected the realization that post-interception treatment of 
these potentially uncooperative civilians was best left to forces specially 
trained for those iypes of operations. 

947 See The Mccimn case, supra note 809, flt para~ 150 ("hl keeping with the importance of 
this provision (the right to life) in a democratic society, the Court must, in ma_ldng its 
ass_essment, subJect deprivations of l_lfo to the most careful scrutiny, parti_cularly where 
delibii.ra.te lethal forte ls used. taking into consideration not only the actions of the agents 
of the St.ate who a.ctut1lly administer the force but also all the Surrounding drcums1a·nces 
lncludi_ngsu_Ch tnat~rs as the planning and control of the aclions under examination"). 
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The decision to use the naval Special Forces unit, Shayetet 13, was 
in accordance With the normal international practke for naval operations 
even outside the context of annecl. conflict, partic11larty in light of the 
need for specialized trai/ling to board a moving vessel and for fast-roping 
onto the deckof a ship at night. Further, the training and exercises they 
unde..Went to familiarize themselves with Iess'lethal weapons and the 
graduated use Of force as well as the "mental preparafions" that they 
underwent ensured that they were well prepared for the mission of 
intercepting vessels with a large number of civilians on board!" 

243. From the materials bef<>re the Commission, it appears that the 
Israeli authorities did not have a forewarning of the violent reception 
planned by the )"Hf!. The inability lo identify urn: intentions had a direct 
impact o!l the pl<!Ilning and implementation of the operation. However, 
the lack of appreciation of the threat was not exclusively the result of 
incomplete intelligence gathering. 'Thr01.1ghout the planning process, 
whether }(loked at from a policy, operaliol'lal, or legal perspective, the 
scenario of an organized force armed with lethal weapons actively 
resisting the boarding attempt appears not to have been considered. Jn 
part, this assumption appears to have resulted from anticipation that the 
participants in Ifie fio!illa were all peaceful civilians as was the. case with 
previous flotillas on the same route. 

While a certain level of violence was anticipated during the 
strategic discussions held prior to the operation; and the possibility that 
there might be firearms present was mentioneQ. in these discussions,'" 
government witnesses appearing before the Conunission had difficulty 
identifying exactly what that meant in a practical sense at the time."' The 
planners of the operation seem not to have believed that the use of force 
would be necessary, except perhaps in isolated cases of s_oldiers acting in 
self-defense. Whether driven by a lack of information; confide!lce in the 
ability of the Special Forces and other Israeli units involved to handle any 
unanticipated situation; or a sense of "routine" that may have developed 
regarding these types of operations (although it was clearly underst(lod 
that this flotilla was differentand presented new challenges), the planning 
appeared to end with the assumption that any violence would occur at 

948 ld.1 at para. 183 (where the court rej(\Cted allegation that the t;hoice of personnel specially 
trained to combat terto.iiSmmean that it was inf.ended to kill the terforists}. 

949 Defe11se MiHister's Opttt Door Testimtmy, supra nole 70, at 33-34; Chief of Staff's Open Doo1 
Ttstiw~11y o/24.10.2010, supra note 554-/at 33, 38. 

950 Open Door Testimony -0/ the Oi1ector Genual of llie Minisf'Y of Foreign A/fa_its, supra note 
430, at 8; C/tlef i)/ Staffs Ope/t Door Testimony ofJ.4.10,7,0lO, s11pra note 554, at 10; Drfense 
Mi11fster's Open Door,Testimon.111 supra note 701 at 30-33. 
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the extreme lower end of !he conflict spectrum. This had a direct impact 
on operational tactics, the Rules of Engagement, and training before the 
operation. 

244. In any event, from the soldiers' testimonies it is evident that the 
possibility of a violent confrontation, on one level or another, did not.filter 
down during the planning process to th~ tactical level.951 The soldiers 
almost univers;tlly indicated that they expected low levels of violence, 
per])ap9 involving some pushing and limited .physical contact."' AJ; a 
result; the soldiers were surprised to find themselves in a situation that 
they ultimately viewed as combat.'" 

245. B:owever, in this context two additional factors must be 
emphasized: one, the presence of large numbers of civilians on the 
vessels limited the operational optiol\S. There was an understand.able 
and strongly held view across Government that a use of force against 
the ships could not be justified on moral grounds. Second, the training 
and preparation of the soldiers leading up to the operation was very 
thorough, w.ith a particular emphasis on the use of less-lethal Weapons. 
For the soldiers, the default position was to use less-lethal weapons until 
an opposirig threat forced the use of the lethal options. This preparation 
proved effective during the takeover of the other 5 flotilla vessels where 
the levels 0£ violence generally met the planners' expectation. 

246. In fact, the situation presented in this case is exactly the opposite 
of what occurred in the McCann case from the European Court of Human 
Righ~,where British authorities were faulted for making assumptions that 
led to a sense <if increased risk (Le., not considering that their intelligence 
assessments that a car bombing was imminent might be wrong) and for 
employing soldiers who were trained to automatically use lethal force.'" 

In the present case, the risk was 1mderappredated and the limitations 
in.the ROE with respect to the use of less-lethal Weapons (range, areas of 
the bcidy to be targeted, etc), while put in place to limit injury to civilians, 
proved very restrictive considering the situation faced by tl>e soldiers 
that fast-roped lo the Mavi Marmara. In this respect, the planning process 
has to account for possibilities that seem less likely, and include those 

951 The Eiland R_epprt, supra note402, at 62~63-. 
952 See_ the te&tiin.Or\y of wldier no. 1, 1"qili'iy Expansion of 20.9.20101 supra n<?te 451, at 1; 

Teatlmo-ny·of soldier no. _21 Id., at 1; Tes!Jn1olly of soldier no. 4, Id., a,t 1; Testhi\_9ny of 
soldier ilo. 6, Td., at 1; Tt:!Stimony of soldier no. 8, Id., at 1; Testimony of :;oldier no. 9, Id., at 
1; Testimony of soldier no. 10, /d,; at 1; 'J;esthrtony of *'ldier no. 15, Id., at 1. 

953 Sec th~ testim9ny of soldier n0.2, Id., af2; 'testimony of sol diet no. 9, Id., at 1; Tesl:imony 
of soldier no.10, Id., atl;Testi_mony of.soldier J\Q, 15, Id., at 1. 

954 Tlte McCann case, sup~a li.olt! 809, at para. 210·213. 
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scen•rios in !lie preparation of the soldiers before the operation. While 
conunanders rightly should be able !O rely on the known capabilities 
of personnel under their command, it Is evident that the soldiers were 
placed in a sil;uation they were not completely prepared for and had not 
anticipated. The anticipation of and planning for "worst case" scenarios 
could have better prepared the soldiers for the situation to which they 
were exposed. In preparing exclusively for less violent scenarios; the 
danger from a legal perspective is that the $O}diers might overreact when 
confronted wi.th suclt unanticipated threats. However, artd this should 
be emphasized, looking at the operation as a whole, that appears not to 
have happened, as the soldiers acted c<Jntinually to distinguish the types 
of threat posed in different situations, and they even switched back and 
forth between lethal and Jess-lethal weapons to address those threats. 
Th.is occurred also after it had become clear that the IHH activists were 
11$ing firearms. 

247. Questions regarding the adequacy of the planning also· arise in 
reviewing the naval command, which identified a few options for the 
graduated use of fotce to stop the. ships: the use of water hoses and 
malodorants. As outlined.above, most of these methods were ultimately 
rejected by the military itself as impracticable. In that respect, it is not 
dear why the naval command was not drafted or amended to reflect 
the actual Jlmited options that were available to l;>oard the ships. A 
dearer acknowledgement of these operational limitations during the 
preparation of the naval com.llland might have forced corislderation of 
other alternatives or-different courses of action . 

. \Imler the circumstances, at the time it became evident that 
boarding from the sea was going to be opposed, it was decided to or<ier the 
soldiers to fast·rope onto the roof and seize the bridge. As it fumed out, 
this placed the soldiers at an increased level of risk When the resistance 
to the initial boarding from the Mo.rena speedboats occun:ed, or when the 
rope was tied off when lowered from the first helicopter, another possible 
approacli might have been to temporarily withdraw in order consider 
other optloris,including warning the captain of the Mavi Mannara and the 
IHH participants that deadly force would be used if violent opposition 
persisted. As has. been rn:ited, the technical mei.lnS and operational 
docfrine for stopping vessels on the high seas, and particularly one the 
size of the Mavi Marmara, are quite limited. The large number of civilian 
pas5engers on board and the potential for collateral damage further 
increased the challenge. However, <;!ear warnings and the controlled and 
isolated use of force may have helped avoid a wider and more violent 
confrontation such as Ute one that occurred. Jn this regard, the warnings 
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issued to the Gaza flotilla should_ be reviewed to.determine whether they 
shm1ld more din.>ctly have indicated what action would be taken by Israeli 
authorities if resistance were to continue. Having an alternate plan when 
clear resistance was first shown (i.e. when it became evident that the 
IHH activists were in possession ol weapons and violentlJI opposed the 
boarding from the Morena speedl)oats) might have avoided the position 
of having to continue to land soldiers one by one into the midst of the 
waiting ffiH activists. 

However, the issuance of warnings would not necessarlly have 
been feasible or effective. For example; warning shots intended to atop a 
ship may have limited effect, depending on a number of factors, including 
the weather, the state of the sea, and the available weapons. Further, 
warning shots can only be t1Sed whe.n other ships or personnel will not be 
endangered. The presence of a large number of vessels taking part in this 
incident is therefore a significant complicating factor."' 

248. While the Commission has commented on the planning and 
organiza!ion of the mission, this critique shoµld not be interpreted to 
mean that the actual plan as developed by the Israeli military or the 
organization of the mission Jed to a systemic misapplication of force by 
the soldier.s involved or a breach of international law. 

955 See Allen, Umits on the Use of Fon;t,,$1pr11, note 337, at 87 (indicating when describing 
the Un.iOOd States Coast- Guard approach to using warning shotS and disabling fire in a 
law enforcement scenario: "{wJaming shots- are only used after other.slgnallog·methl)(ls 
have been h'ied without su~ess; Warni,nt shots are not used ·against a:lrcr!lft or under 
drcumstarn;:es.whew their ure might tndanger any pel'6on or p_roperty. Generally, 
warning shof.!1 are not used UnlesS the enfo~ent iutlts havi.? the capability to deliver 
disablin$ ~e if tfie wamJng shots ~re ignored. Disabling fire is the firing Of ordnance 
at a vesSel with the intent to dis:abJe it, with_minimum injury to· personnel or-damage to 
the vessel. Under the CGlJfP {Coast Guard Use of Fo_rce PoijcyL; dit>11bllng fire; 1$ to be 
di$contiri1,1ed whei) th,e vessel stops, Is disabled; enters the territorial sea of ~other State, 
or the sltUation changes in a manner t.llat introduces substantial ri$k to those aboard the 
noncompliant vessel"). 
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An AHemative Pe.rspective: Analysis of the Opening 
Acti1>ns :Under Law Enforcment Norms 

249, It would. be worthw)tlle to examine the influence of the tactics 
!hat were applied by the IDF at the opening stages of the capture of the 
Marmara, on the compatibllily of the operation with the requirements of 
necessity and proportionality, according to the Law JW'orcelllent norms. 
The issue to be discussed is whether it would be possible to argue that the 
initial choice of the IDF to apply unaggressive steps in order to capture 
the ship (due to lack. of lnforrnation concerning the anticipated intensify 
of the r~sistance to the capture) actually Jed to a more severe damage than 
thiS whiclt would have occurred, if more aggressive measures, to some 
extent, had been taken in the rust place. 

250. As described above, the initial step of the operation included an 
attempt to climb on to the ship from one of the Morena, without using 
increased force. In the course of this initial stage, the IDF used only 
"soft" measures in order to capture the ship, In response to the violence 
demonstrate<! )Jy the IHtt activists. The forces on the JJoat preferred to 
temporarily retreat, instead of using lethal weapon or severe non·lethal 
ones. In addition, the soldiers rappelled from the helicopter although 
ensure facilitated by violent means the access of the soldiers to the ship. 
At thiS stage only "flash bang" grenades, which did not pose any threat to 
the participants' llves, were used. 

Only subsequently to the fact that the lll.H group sev.,,rely and 
cruelly attacked the first soldier who had climbed down to the ship, 
and by this escalated the confrontation, the soldiers found themselves 
compelled to use a higher degree of force. 

251. Tue initial tactics which have been implemented by the IDF 
posed only a minll)lal threat upon the participants, while they imposed 
an increased risk upon the Israeli soldiers, in particular regarding to 
these who participated in the fast-;ope maneuver. As aforementioned, it 
should be emphasized that the IDF soldiers have initially used only rt<>n· 
lethal weapons in a very moderate mode, notwithstanding the substantial 
violence applied by the flotilla participants. These acts optimally fulfilled 
by themselves the requirements ofnecessity and proportionality according 
to the international human rights law. As much as the n<;eessity test is 
concerned, the participants did not suffer any damage during the opening 
stage at stake and therefore there is no need to examine whether any other 
tactics which could have caused a lesser damage had been available at 
this time. As much as the necessity test (in its narrow sense) is concerned, 
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given the fact that no damage has been caused within the opening stage 
of the operation, the balancing between the operational advantage and 
the damage been inflicted leads necessarily to the conclusion that the 
proportionality requiJement has been fulfilled at this stage. 

lildeed, the escalation started only after the aforementioned initial 
step bf the operation. One may contend that Ute escalation could have 
been prevented. \.( a more vigorous tactic would have been implemented 
against the participants in the flotilla (for example, by creating a "sterile 
zone", using . means like skunk bombs. It should therefore be examined 
whether the IDF was under any obligation accorcting to the intei;national 
law to use any more aggressive initial steps than these been appliect, in 
order to prevent the escalation whic;h subsequently occurred, leading to 
U1e necessity of using lethal weapons. 

252. It seems that a negative answer should be given to the 
aforementioned question. Al first, it is entire doubtful whether the 
implementation of more aggressive tactics at the beginning of the 
operation could indeed have lessen tl:)e damage caused to the participants 
of the flotilla, gi\l'en the fact that the ffiH participants were certainly 
determined to generate a violent confrontation. At the same. time, there is 
a reasonable basis to assume thaf more aggressive steps could have Jessen 
the risk and the injuries among the !DP soldiers (an aspect which docs not 
have any implicationS in relation to the international law obligations but 
rather only concerning the Israeli internal context). 

253. Secondly, the requirements of necessity and proportionality 
should be considered according to the information which was available, 
or should have been available, to the operational forces at the time of 
the operation. While implementing these requ4ements, special weight 
should be given to the subjective aspect (the good faitlt issue) and to the ex 
ante point of view, as opposed to the ex facto perspective. At the opening 
stage of the operation, the information available to the IDF was that 
no substantial violent opposition was likely to evolve. The subsequent 
escalation occurred withlna tense and violent situation, which involved 
decisions been immediately taken. We have already mentioned that in 
the context of violent confrontations, soldiers have frequently only partial 
infatinjition, which later on, in an ex post perspective, may be proved as 
being unreliable under the circumstances. 

We afotementioned that both the political and the military decision 
makers have acted in good faith, while taking into consideration the 
obligations of Israel under the international law during the preparation 
stages1 as well as within the operation itsell. Giving appropriate weight 
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to. Israel's obligations als.o fitted the general interest of Israel to avoid 
international delegit:imizatlon and damage to Israel's Image. 

254. Jn conclusion, th• initial stage of the operation, until the first soldier 
climbed down to the.Manriara, as well as the other aboV'ementloned stages, 
had been conducted. according to the iniemational Jaw. lndeed, looking 
at this issue. through art ex post perspectiV'e,. the non•aggress\ve tactics 
applied by the IDF at this stage, provided the JHH participants with .the 
opportunity to create a violent and high profile confrontation, generating 
an escalationwhlch involved the use of firearmS artd non-lethal weapons. 
Notwithstanding the aforesaid, the decision of Israel to implement a non­
violent approach at the initial stage of the operation .did no.I vi.olate in 
any sense its obligations under the in~tional law. A country does not 
violate the in!ernatiol)al law where it acts in a "soft" mode, hoping that 
the lawbreakers do not escalate the situation. The willingness to provide 
a· prospect of conducting and concluding ah operation without any 
violence at all should not be credited against the enforcing country. The 
violence which had been used by the IHH group served as the decisive 
factor leading to the escalation of viol.ence within the operation. 
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Chapter B: Conclusions 

255. The Commission has reached the followmg conclusions: 

• A vessel that attempts to breach a blockade is subject fo international 
law governing the conduct of hostilities: international humanitarian 
law, including the rules governing use of force. 

• The Israeli amted forces' interception and capture of the Gaza Flotilla 
vessels in international waters - seaward of the blockaded area - was in 
conformity wi.th customary international humanitarian law. 

• The tactics chos.en to intercept and capture the Flotilla vessels 
-induaing having Shayetet 13 naval commandoes board from Morena 
speedboats and fast-rope fromhelicopter onto the roof of the vessels -
was consistent with established International naval practice. 

• The participants m the Flotilla were predominantly an international 
group of civilians whose main goal was to bring publicity to the 
humanitarian situation in Gaza by attemptingto breach the blockade 
imposed by Israel, 

• Oh board the Mavi Marmara and the other flotilla vessels was a group 
of frIH and affiliated activists (the "frlH activists") that violently 
opposed the ISraeli bo;lfding. The IHH activists who participated in 
that violence were civilians taking a direct part in hostilities. 

• The force. used against civilians on board the Hqtilla was governed by 
the principles of "nece$$ily" and use of "proportionate force" associated 
with human rights based Jaw enforcement nomtS. However, the IHH 
activists lost the protection of their civilian status for such time as they 
directly participated in the hostilities. The use. of force against these 
direct participants in hostili.ties is governed by !he applicable rules of 
international humal\itarian law. 

• The Rules of Engagement for the. operation provided an authority to 
use force that reflected the nature of a law enforcement operation. 

• The IHHactivists carried out the violence on board theMavi Marintira by 
arming themselves with a wide array of weapons, including iron bars, 
axes, clubs, slingshots, knives, and metal objects. These wereweapons 
capable of causing death or serious injury. Further, the hostilities 
were condU~ted in an otganized _manner with IHH at::tivists, inter alia, 
operating in groups when violently assaulting the IDF soldiers. 
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• The IHH activists used firearms again$! the IDF soldiers during the 
hostilities. 

• The Commission has examined 133 incidents in which force was used. 
The majority of the u$es of force involved warning or deterring fire 
and less-lethal weapons. 

• Overall, the IDF persoMel acted professionally in the face of extensive 
andunanticipated vldlence. This included continuing to switch back 
and forth beh-1'.een less-lethal and lethal weapons in order to address 
the nature of the violence directed at them. 

• The Colhmi$sion has concluded .that in 127 cases, the use of force 
appeared to be inconformity with intemationaUaw. 

• In six cases, the Corrunlsslon has concluded that it has insufficient 
information to be abletomake a determination. 

• Three out of those six cases involved the use of live flre and three.cases 
involved physical force; two incidents of kicking and 'one strike with 
the butt of a gun. 

• 1rl flve out of the 127 incidents that appeared to be in conformity 
with international Jaw, there was insufficient evidence to condude 
that the use of force was also in accordance with law enfotcernent 
i;torms. However, in these Cl!SeS, force appeared to be used against 
persons taking a direct part in hostilities and, as a consequence, was in 
confortnity with international Jaw. 

• Theplanningand.organizationofthelDF~siontoen£orcetheblockade 

did not includ.e anticipation that there would be a violent opposition 
to the boarding, which had a direct impact on the operational tactics, 
Rules Of Engagement, and- training befOr~ the operation. However,. 
the focus of the planning and organization of the operation on a lower 
level of resistance did not lead to a breach of international Jaw. 
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Concluding Remarks 

Today, approximately five mori!hs after hearing the first testimonies, 
the Conunission is completing this part of its work by submitting this 
report to the Government ofisrael, For whom was the report writteµ? It 
was written, of cowse, for the Government of lsra01, but also fpr military 
persoIII\el and jurists stt+dying international hi.1nu\nltarian law, who rnay, 
perhaps, use it in tlte future for guidance and instruction; for the public, 
who irt all the confusion of irtfonnation wishes to know wh.at happened; 
and for ourselves, who sought with allour abilities to. arrive at the truth. 

After a journey full of obstacles and pitfalls, and after exhaustive 
investigations, inquiries, studies and discUssions, we unanimously and 
wholeheartedly summarize ow conclusions: 

The naval blockade imposed on the Gaza Strip - in view of the 
sccuri(ycircumstances and Israel's efforts to comply with its humanitarian 
obligations - was legal pursuant to the rules of international law, 

The actions carried out by Israel on May 31, 2010, to enforce the 
n~val blockade had the regrettable consequences of the loss of human 
life and physical injuries, Nonetheless, and despite the limited number of 
uses of force for whiclt we could not reach a conclusion, tlte actions taken 
were found to be legal pursuant to the rules of international law. 

'Now all has been beard, het<l is the conclusion of the matter.' 

Justice Ef ~~s ;tob Tiirkel 
Chairman 9f the commission 

~ 
Major-General (res.) Amos Horev 

Member of the·commission 

Lord David Trimble 
Observer 
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,L,'/ /c(, 
Ambassador Reuv~n Merhav 
Mef'Xlber of the c:omqiission 

dwi1// 
Prof. Miguel.Deutch 

Member of the commission 

1fJ1:Jt)/;o 
Brigadier-General (ret:) Kenneth Watkin 

Observer 
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Annex A: List of Witness~s Appearing Before the 
Comll\isslon, the Dates and Classifications 
of their Testimonies 

Annex B: Map of Gaza and the lattd border crossings 

Annex O Notice to Marines Aug. 2008 

Annex[): Map Qf the blockaded area 

Annex E: List of Goods on Flotilla Vessels 

Annex F: Map of the area wltere the takeovers 
of the flotilla took place 

Annex G: DraWing of the Main Manilara 
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Annex A: the List of Witnesses Appearhig Before the Commission, 
the Dates a11d Classifications. of their Testimonies 

Date ) Public testimony I Closed door testimony 
28.6.10 Opening meetlhg 
9.8. lO PrimeMlnister,Mr. Benjamin Prime Minister, Mr. Benjamin 

Netanyahu Net;inyahu 
10.8.10 Defense Minister, Ehud Barak Defense Minister, Ehud Barak 
11.8.10 IDF Chief of Staff Lt. Gen, IDF Chl~f of Staff Lt, Gen. 

Gaby Ashkenazl Gaby Ashkenazi 
24.8.10 Maj. Gen. (ret.) Gl.ora Eiland, 

Chair the IDF General 
Staff Expert Inquiry Team 
[meeting] 

26.8.10 Maj. Gen AvichalMendelblit, Maj. Gen Avichai Mendelbllt, 
IDF Chief Military Advocate IDF Chief Military Advocate 
General General 

31.8.10 Maj.-Gen. Eitan Dangot, MaJ.-Gen. Eitan Dangot, 
Coordinator of Government Coordinator of Government 
Activities In theTerritories Activities in the Territories 

13.9.10 Dr. Uzi .!\rad, Chairman of 
the Israel! National Security 
(:ou.ncil and the Prime 
Minister's National Security 
Advisor 

14.9.10 Mr. Meir Dagan, Director of 
the Mossad 

15.9.10 Mr. Yoss! Gal, Director General Mr. Yossl Gal, Director 
of the Ministry of Foreign General of the Ministry of 
Affairs Foreign Affairs 

12.10.10 Mr. Yossi Edelstein, Head 
of the Enforcement and 
Foreigners Division of the 
Population and Immigration 
Authority 
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12.10.10 Lt. Gen Benny Kaniak, 
Commander of the Prison 
Service 

13.10.10 B'Tselem: the Israeli 
I nformatlbn Center for 
Human Rights inthe 
Occupied Territories, Ms. 
Jessica Montel, and Mr. Eyal 
Hareuveril. 

13.10.10 Doctc;>rs for Human Rights, 
Prof. Tzvl Bentowitz, Mr. Ran 
Varon, and Dr• Musfafa Yassln. 

13.10.-10 Glsha: The Legal Center for 
Freedom of Movement, Ms. 
Tamar Feldman 

24.10.10 IDF Ch lefof Staff Lt, Gen. IOF Chief of Staff Lt. Gen. 
Gaby Ashkenazi Gaby Ashkenazi 

25.10.10 MK Tzlpi Livni, Leader of the MKTzlpl Llvni, Leader of the 
Opposition Opposition 

25.10 Sheikh Mr. Hamad Abu Dabus 

25.10 Mr. Muhammad Zidan 
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Annex B: Map of Gaza an.d the land border .crossings 

" . .. ; . . . •- . 
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Annex C: Notice to Marines Aug. 2008 

NO. 6/2008 All mariners be advised 
Wednesday, 13 Augu•t 2008 00:00 

No. 6 / 2008 13 August, 2008 

All mariners be advised: 

Ple.ase not the follPwing notice from the Israeli Nam;: 

1. The Israeli Navy is operating in the maritime zone off the coast of the 

Gaza Strip. fn light of the security situation, all foreign vessels are 
advised to remain clear of area A in the attached map. Bound by the 

following coordinates: 

B 

1. 34.10.02 

2. 33.56.41 

3. 34.29.28 

4. 34.13.06 

N 

31.46.08 

31.33.48 

31.35.42 

31.19.23 

Delivery of humanitarian supplies to the civilian population in the 
Gaza Strip is permitted through the land crossings between Israel and 
the Gaza Strip, subject to prior coordination with the Israeli Authorities. 

2. Vessels approaching the maritime zone off the coast of the Gaza Strip 
are requested to maintain radio contact with Israel Naval Forces on 

channel 16 and will be subject to supervision and inspection. 
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3. In accordance with the agreements between israel and the 

Palestinian Authority, entry of foreign vessels to the maritime zone 
adjacent!o the GazaStrlp is prohibited due to the security situation 

and in light of these agreements, foreign vessels .are barred. from 
such entry. 

4. This notice is published in order to e11Sure safe navigation and to 
prevent vessles from approaching areas in which their safety may 
be endangered due to the security situation in those areas. 

ADVISORY NOTICE (MARITIME ZONE OFF THE COAST OF GAZA 
STRIP) 
AUG. 11,2008 

I 

2 /\ 

/\RF./\ /\ 
F. 

1.JU0.02 
2. JJ.Sli.41 
3.34,29.28 
J, J.1.IJ.06 

N 
Jl,46.0B 
Jl.Jl.48 
Jl.J5.42 
Jl,19.Jl 
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Annex D: Map. of the blockaded area 
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Annex E: List of Goods 011 Flotilla Vessels 

Below is a list of all the goods unloaded from the flotilla's vessels. 

The "SOFIA": 

1 Electric scooters 143units 
2 Electric wheel chairs 128 units 
3 Batteries 198 unit 

4 Walls for movable structures 1.97 pallets 
5 Fib erg lass 10 pallets 
6 Medical equipment 234boxes 
7 Rubber boats (rescue) 1 unit 
8 Roof constructions 34 batches of 12 units -

400 units total 

9 Gallons of paint 89gallons 
10 Scattered cardboard boxes 11.7boxes 
11 Work tools and ladders 1641tems 
12 Ceramic fl oaring 35 pallets 
13 lumber 17 pallets 
14 Woode.n profiles 167 units 
15 Toys 17 boxes 
16 Boxes of clothing 131 boxes 
17 Schoolbags ?boxes 
18 Pipes 10 pallets 
19 Desalination device 2 containers 
20 Metal sheets. 9pallets 
21 Generator I unit 
22 Tents 19 u.nlts 
23 Tent gear 35 packages 
24 Water containers 3 pallets 
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The "DE.FNEY": 

1 Wheelchairs 138 units 

2 Boxes of clothing 463 boxes 

3 Sc.attered equipment 38boxes 

4 Electric tools 287boxes 

5 Me<)jcal equipment 2084 boxes I Items 

6 Toys 770boxes 

7 Generators 65 units 

8 Cardl:Joard Poxes 9 units 

9 Gallons of paint 121. gallons 

10 sc;'attered cardboard boxes 117cartons 

11 Work tools and ladders l49items 

12 Ceramic flooring 61 pallets 

13 Raw materials for building 858boxes 

14 Lumber 11 pallets 

15 Constructions for structures 978paliets 

16 Drywall 6 pallets 

17 _!'ipes 21 pallets 

18 Windows 2 pallets 

19 Electronic gear 23 pallets 

20 Food 49 pallets 

21 Bathroom fixtures 181 pallets 

22 Beds 85 pallets 

23 School gear 77 pallets 

24 Boxes with building equipment I structutes 164cartons 

25 Carpets 97pallets 

26 Industrial fabric 165 units 

27 Work tools 105 units 

28 Plasticfl)rindustry (profiles) 34 units 

290 I Turkel Commission Report 

UNCLASSIFIED U.S. Department of State Case No. F-2010·04163 Doc No. C05330!J§.7 Date: 0()/2512013 

State0epto05186 



UNCLASSIFIED U.S. Department of State Case No. F-2010-04163 Doc No. C05330857 Dat0:06/25/2013---.-

29 61ankets 176 pallets 

30 Sewing machines 12 units 

31 Elec.tr!c cables 645 pallets 

32 Floor tiles 18 pallets 

33 Metal 15 pallets 

34 Metal plates 63 pallets 

35 Metal profiles 104 units 

The"GAZZE"; 

1 Con<:r~te "Bales" 13.5!1 units 
2 Metal bars 304 units 
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Annex F: Map of the area where the takeovers 
of the flotilla t(lokplace 

' I 
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Annex G: Drawing of the Main Marmara 
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